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Through time he’s been travelling to look for a planet to settle down
as he makes the sky, the trees, the land and each different group of
people—like the Chinese, the English, the Europeans and the Aborig-
ines. Everybody has their own piece of land to live in. Then when he
found his resting place he went into a very, very deep sleep. As he
slept he started to dream into the future. It showed his people were
very very happy living in peace, killing only what they need to live
for their food.

As they go along they start to use fire, to cook, to cut shapes out
of trees, to carry their water and other objects. Then some of the men
started to cut out big parts out of the trees to make boats to go and
hunt and they were so in peace until the white people came out here.
Destroying the land itself cause their land was over populated. So they
sent a lot of the convicts out here to work, so they can start to build
the land up, put buildings in, farming and stuff. Then they started to
destroy the native people of this land.

Then the Rainbow Serpent started to go into a type of nightmare
dream. He sees in his dream how they destroyed a lot of animals we
will never see again. As it gets closer to the 19th century they start to
turn out cities—they called it the great country, the land of opportunity,
for the whites, but not for the dark people of this land. We were
thought of as the lowest class in this land of ‘theirs’.

As the spirit was still dreaming his nightmare he sees a lot of things
that are going to happen soon, like drugs, alcohol, deaths in custody.
He likes to see all different personalities living together as one, white
going out with dark people, dark people living with whites in harmony
and no racism. But the Rainbow Serpent can see this is not going to
be because a lot of the people today are still destroying us in devious
ways. When the spirit shall have woken you shall have a lot to answer
for what you have done to us. Then you had better watch out because
he is your judge and he will destroy you all in a very evil way.

HJ Wedge
12 February 1993
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Preface

NTIL quite recently almost everything written about the

Aborigines of this country was written by non-Aboriginal
Australians. With this in mind, and considering the fact that most
contributors are not Aboriginal, it would not be surprising if many
indigenous Australians initially viewed this book not so much
with a sense of deja vu, but more an emphatic ‘Here we go again’.
This would be grossly unfair on several counts.

First, unlike some self-proclaimed ‘experts’ of other disciplines,
whose self-interest was (and in some cases still is) served by
projecting Aborigines as a dependent people who require some-
one to speak on their behalf, most historians of my acquaintance
recognise the necessity for Aboriginal people to repossess their
own history. In this volume’s introduction, Ann McGrath states
specifically that most of the contributions were written by non-
Aboriginal authors and these do not claim to be ‘Aboriginal
History’.

Second, the non-Aboriginal authors in this volume played vital
roles in propelling the history of Aboriginal Australia to the
forefront of national debate. Henry Reynolds’ trilogy—The Other
Side of the Frontier, Frontier and Dispossession—dilacerated the myth
that this country was peacefully settled; Ann McGrath’s Born in
the Cattle, a poignant account of interaction between Aboriginal
women and European society, is now indelibly written into the
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country’s history; while Peter Read and Heather Goodall did
much to publicly expose the inhumane policies and actions of
the Aborigines Protection Board of New South Wales. Read, in
particular, has shown an assiduous commitment to Aboriginal
Australians. As well as his non-intrusive oral history transcriptions
such as Down with me on the Old Cowra Mission and Lost Children,
in 1982 he, in association with Coral Edwards, established ‘Link-
Up’, an organisation that reunites families whose members were
separated under the provision of the ‘removal’ policies of the
Aborigines Protection Board.

Third, accounts such as these are a vital part of the history of
the relationship between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Austra-
lians. By understanding the environment and atmosphere within
which this relationship was established, we can make better sense
of its legacies. Both indigenous and non-indigenous Australians
have a lot to learn about each other before reconciliation between
the two peoples can be realised. This book will go a long way
towards achieving that end.

Paul Behrendt

Director

Aboriginal Research and Resource Centre
University of New South Wales
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Introduction

N 1980 I had a home in Darwin with a delightful, though

sometimes pea-green, swimming pool. The property was a steal
because it was right next door to an Aboriginal community. On
my first real estate inspection, all the beige curtains along that
side of the house were drawn closed, although it was still daytime.
On my second visit, the vendor demonstrated how, if the dogs
barked too much, I could simply fire a few rifle shots into the
‘reserve’.

Unlike all the other houses in my street, Bagot’s large Aborig-
inal population had no pool and no telephone, so the new
non-hostile neighbours came in handy. After growing up in
Brisbane (where the Aboriginal family across the road was one
of the few I knew) and having also lived in Melbourne, I was
gratified to see so many Aboriginal survivors all around me, and
relieved they walked that ground with such dignity. Their speech,
singing, the occasional bouts of all-night chanting, the campfire
cooking smells, the goannas and bush turkeys who used my
backyard as a safe haven; it was all fascinating. But I got annoyed

Preceding page: Australia showing the Aboriginal population in
1991. BASED UPON INFORMATION CONTAINED IN DAVID
HORTON (ED.), THE ENCYCLOPAEDIA OF ABORIGINAL AUSTRALIA,
ABORIGINAL STUDIES PRESS, CANBERRA, 1994
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INTRODUCTION

when I woke to see little faces peering out from inside my mango
tree or came home to find shiny kids jumping out of the pool.
More disturbing were the number of emergency calls required
for police and ambulance.

With a sense of high purpose, 1 went to a special
neighbourhood meeting to argue for more facilities on Bagot. It
was attended by a local Member of Parliament, a man who had
grown up alongside Aboriginal people. Many Bagot residents
viewed him as family but I had seen him ignore them when they
waved. At this meeting, the MP proclaimed ‘border tensions’ in
a style evoking cowboy films. One Aboriginal man sat at the back
of the group but did not speak. My suggestion that Aborigines
should have a swimming pool received raucous laughter; similarly
public phones, everyone agreed, would only be wvandalised.
Neighbours suggesting the construction of a higher fence and the
closure of all gates which allowed pedestrian access to the ‘white’
streets gained enthusiastic support. Angry and sickened, I contin-
ued with my swimming pool campaign elsewhere, until politely
told by a Bagot community Councillor that they didn’t want one
in case somebody drowned. Exactly my problem but additionally,
they feared payback against the swimming-pool supporters.

Around the same time, Shiela, a Malak Malak woman from
Daly River, told me a story about the visit of some young
Tasmanians. ‘They said they were blackfellers but they weren’t
black!” she remembered.

They had white skin, red hair, they talked like white people. We
couldn’t believe them at first. But then they told us what had happened
to their people, how they had lost their land, language, business. They
had come a long, long way to see how us mob lived. We came to
understand them a little bit. We felt really sad for them people, they
were good young people and they were Aboriginal.

Boundaries, property rights, skin colour: Australia’s history, like
the land itself, remains contested ground. The fuller, Australia-
wide story is new to both Aborigines and non-Aborigines. It is
that story which this book is about. Contested Ground argues that
after British colonialism took hold in Australia, the people now
known as the Aborigines began to share a common past. But they
also had many different pasts. As well as differing clan traditions,
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CONTESTED GROUND

they were subject to particular conditions in the different colonies
and states.

‘Australians’ and ‘Aborigines’ are not mutually exclusive cat-
egories. All Australians, black and white, are bound together by
a collective past as well as a present; this past lives on today,
moulding and reinforcing national life. Australia’s history helps
explain the deep sense of injustice and the strong sense of
common historical experience shared by Aboriginal people. It
helps explain the economic, social and residential status of Aborig-
inal people and their attitudes to white Australians and the nation.
Aboriginal Australians do not forget their past; the story of their
dispossession lives within them and the memories are handed on
to future generations.

Irrespective of where their ancestors were born, all Australians
enjoy the spoils and suffer the consequences of the British
invasion. Yet as Pat Dodson, Chair of the Aboriginal Council for
Reconciliation, has stated: ‘So much of the injustice and inequity
is related to the lack of knowledge non-Aboriginal people have
about our history . . .’! More white Australians are finding an
increasingly urgent desire to study that past. Perhaps in doing so,
they will relinquish some of their fear and denial. To date
Aboriginal dispossession has led the colonising class to adopt
various stances, to develop a distinctive series of national mythol-
ogies. Aboriginal people too, have developed interpretations of
the past, of colonial takeover. The peoples have long compared
and depicted themselves, favourably and unfavourably, against the
other. The history of Australia has thus involved not only two
centuries of conflict and collaboration but also a prolonged period
of invention, of legend-making, on the part of both Aboriginal
and non-Aboriginal Australians.

This book provides a general history of Aboriginal-white
relations in Australian history. The national history chapter offers
a broad overview which stresses selected themes, especially Abor-
igines and the State, colonial authority, surveillance, crime and
punishment. A series of separate general histories then cover each
state and the Northern Territory. We start with New South Wales
as the place of the first British occupation, followed by its early
offshoots, which became Victoria and Queensland. Western Aus-
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INTRODUCTION

tralia, South Australia and the Northern Territory follow. All had
larger areas of undeveloped Crown land which have now become,
or have the potential to be returned as, Aboriginal territory. South
Australia and the Northern Territory have been placed consecu-
tively because of their close association. Tasmania, which receives
two chapters, has been placed last because of its unusual legacy
of denying Aboriginal existence.

The presence of two Tasmanian chapters came about because
the Pallawah author, Vicki Matson-Green, originally down to
write the Tasmanian chapter, had to withdraw from the project
unexpectedly. When eventually sent my substitute chapter for
comments, Vicki objected to its white authorship and tone and
was then in a position to write her chapter, so the deadline was
extended. Matson-Green’s chapter, chapter 9, emphasises the
twentieth century while chapter 8 focuses on the nineteenth.
Matson-Green’s chapter is placed at the end of the state histories
because it represents and serves as a fitting conclusion. It
demonstrates how, for Aboriginal Australians, regaining pride of
identity has been closely tied up with reclaiming the past as well
as the present. Matson-Green’s chapter highlights the distinctive
vision and insights Aboriginal people bring to writing their own
history and the inclusion of two different versions of one state’s
history also exemplifies the contested nature of all writing about
Aboriginal-white relations.

The final chapter, chapter 10, presents a survey of history
writing about Aboriginal topics, expanding on the controversies
of its politics and practice. It also contextualises the historical
background to the study of Aboriginal history from which these
chapters emerge. Readers interested in gaining more insight into
historiography, bibliographical clues or the editor’s scholarly and
political perspective might find this the best place to start reading.

Contested Ground is the first colony by colony, state by state
history of white—Aboriginal relations. Given the fact that Aborig-
inal matters were in the hands of the colonies and later states,
and still remain so to an extent, this approach would seem not
only practical but appropriate. The various authors have drawn
out some of the differences and similarities between the states but
this book highlights the need for further comparative analysis.
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CONTESTED GROUND

Indeed, many authors were reluctant to make sweeping compar-
isons between their focus state and others. This was partly due
to lack of existing studies along these lines but also due to a belief
that other regional factors were equally significant. This being a
general history, however, it was essential that authors gave special
prominence to the common threads, the shared experiences.

Important variables affecting Aboriginal communities nonethe-
less deserve attention.2 These include the date of first contact,
speed and intensity of settlement or invasion, the population of
intruders, type of land use, (for example: mining, pastoralism,
agriculture, urban) weapons and transport technology used, gov-
ernment policy, mission policy, contemporary frontier outlook,
including racial ideology, demand for labour or converts, demand
for sexual services of Aboriginal women. On the Aboriginal side,
factors included the ruggedness and extent of their land area, its
inaccessibility to horses, the existing Aboriginal ecology and level
of wvital resource depletion, population density and mobility,
ability to hide out, impact of or immunity to diseases, gender
imbalances in their populations, clan philosophy, prior intelligence
of invaders, resistance strategies, including weaponry and guerilla
resistance, desire to fight or co-operate, whether they had enemy
clans collaborating with white police and settlers. Such factors,
and many more, led to myriad regional variations.

Over and above these, however, each colony, barring Tasma-
nia, had its own legislation governing Aboriginal inhabitants. On
Federation, each state continued to enact specific policies for these
people, over whom the Commonwealth had no powers until the
late 1960s. All Aboriginal people in the respective states and the
Northern Territory thus shared a common experience of being
under ‘the Ordinance’ or ‘the Act’. While there were many
different histories around Australia, there were also many com-
monalities.

A number of Aboriginal authors were approached to write
general state histories for the Royal Commission into Aboriginal
Deaths in Custody (RCIADIC) from which this book emanates.
These included Jackie Huggins, Noel Pearson, Marcia Langton
and Errol West. Regrettably, with the exception of West, they
were unable to join the Commission’s History Project, though
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INTRODUCTION

most contributed significantly in other ways. Nonetheless, I am
pleased that this is the first national history to reflect significant
consultation with Aboriginal people. All chapters are written by
leading historians in their fields, originating as reports written for
the Royal Commission. But they have been substantially rewritten
to inform a wider readership. In order of appearance, the chapter
authors are myself, Heather Goodall, Richard Broome, Henry
Reynolds and Dawn May, Peggy Brock, Peter Read, Sandy
Toussaint and Maykutenner (Vicki Matson-Green). As well as
expertise in their respective regions, the historians were selected
because they had past records of engagement in Aboriginal polit-
ical issues and of working with Aboriginal communities and
organisations. They and myself as editor (previously as National
Co-ordinator of the History Project of the RCIADIC) were
required to liaise with the Aboriginal Issues Units in each regional
office of the Royal Commission. Consequently, the contents of
the papers were discussed with numerous representatives of
regional Aboriginal communities. Aboriginal leaders also advised
during the History Project, especially Pat Dodson, the first
Aboriginal Royal Commissioner, Marcia Langton, who headed
the Northern Territory Aboriginal Issues Unit, lawyer and now
Social Justice Commissioner, Mick Dodson and Errol West, then
a lecturer at the Riawunna Aboriginal Centre at the University
of Tasmania.

Although we generally attempted to use a common terminol-
ogy, there remain many difficulties in choosing the correct words.
The question of whether Australia was invaded or settled, which
is, after all, the fundamental premise of the nation’s establishment,
remains controversial and for many, an extremely disturbing issue.
‘Invasion’ and ‘settlement’ have become powerful signifiers for
political understandings and agendas. There are many different
ways of approaching the problem. Some historians argue that it
is a question of perspective; if you are Aboriginal, then it was
invasion but if you are white, it was settlement. But can it be
totally relative like this; is it only a question of what was going
on in people’s minds? Furthermore, are we more interested in
past participants’ mentalities or today’s minds reflecting upon
history? If we are concerned with contemporary understandings,
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CONTESTED GROUND

we would find that amongst the British in the early nineteenth
century, opinions differed sharply, with humanitarians concerned
about the usurpation of land from Aborigines. By the same token,
few of the British—convicts or officers—saw themselves as per-
manent settlers, let alone nation builders. Those men who first
ventured onto frontiers all over Australia were often prisoners,
military men with temporary postings, or travelling miners or
pastoral speculators looking for quick money. Aboriginal reactions
were also mixed and they did not always conceive of the strangers
as enemies; they had particular local words and concepts to
explain what we now know to be the beginnings of Australia’s
‘colonisation’. It would seem, therefore, that rather than being
interested in describing the ‘authentic historical moment’, it is
more imperative to find words to explain the long-term and
ongoing process and its impact.

A growing number of people believe a clear question of justice
is at stake, and that because Aboriginal people were killed and
lands stolen, it must have been invasion. With the High Court
Mabo case of 1992, the law was called upon to adjudicate the
premises of British takeover. The law can be rather complicated
in its interpretation of legal principle. Yet a complex reading is
probably more accurate than a simple dichotomy. And after all,
why is it always posited as invasion or settlement? Why not
invasion and settlement? Or settlement and invasion? In trying
desperately to achieve ‘political correctness’, there is a danger that
some aspects might be exaggerated at the expense of others.

This book therefore adopts a range of terms where they seem
most appropriate but it always stresses the intrinsically colonial
nature of power relations. The paradigm of race relations provides
an inadequate tool to explain the peculiar tensions between
indigenes and colonisers. Colonialism has wider explanatory
potential, for the conflict between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
people was not premised only on ‘race’ notions but upon the
wider power relations implicit in a colonial past. In this light, the
relationship of Aborigines to the nation also requires close exam-
ination. Important questions which all Australians must address
include the extent to which Aborigines were seen as outside the
white nation, by what means this was enforced and reinforced,
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and indeed why they were excluded so long from Australian
citizenship. The term ‘post-colonial’ is favoured by some but I
do not think it altogether appropriate; Aborigines have not gained
full independence. Since the British invasion, and even after
Federation, Australia’s history is still ‘colonial’ not only because
Aborigines continue to be colonised but because the country is
still subservient to an imperial power and at the time of writing
does not have its own head of state. Aborigines and non-Abo-
rigines alike remain subjects of the British Crown.

Today the term ‘Aboriginal’ is another topic of intense debate
among indigenous people and academics. Previously, it was state
legislation which defined who fitted the category ‘Aboriginal’,
according to skin colour, ‘caste’ and lifestyle, whereas today,
identity depends upon self-definition or community acceptance.
In this book the authors have most often used ‘Aboriginal people’
or ‘Aborigines’ for people of Aboriginal descent. ‘Aboriginal’
means people of the soil or indigenes but in Australia it identifies
a particular people. Many Aborigines, however, still have land
associations which provide a strong sense of belonging and a
specific identity. The terms Kooris or Murris are becoming
common currency in south-eastern Australia, as is Pallawah in
parts of Tasmania. For many other people their nationality, their
allegiances, are defined by their Aboriginality. A sense of a
common history is primary to that definition but so is a common
present, and something of an essential way of experiencing and
thinking about the world or ‘thinking black’. But this is compli-
cated by the inevitable cultural fusion which has taken place due
to exposure to the broader community and government assimi-
lationist policies. Some people are now claiming a dual identity,
for example ‘Aboriginal-Irish’. But generally, identity is a prime
example of the intersection of the personal, the political and the
history of both; it sometimes includes a process of self-discovery
and a public declaration, often symbolised by an empowering
switch of voice to that of the colonised. (See chapter 10 for more
on this issue.)

Herein non-Aborigines are distinguished as ‘whites’ or
“Whites’ and sometimes, where it seems appropriate, as ‘British’
or ‘Europeans’, terms denoting either cultural or ‘racial’ origins.
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The term ‘white’ is not so much a description of skin colour as
a label given by others; no one is really coloured white, red or
black. In New Zealand, the categories Maori and Pakeha are in
popular usage. In the Australian case, the hundreds of Aboriginal
dialects make a common term problematic. In the Kimberleys it
is ‘gadia’. In Arnhem Land the whites are called ‘balanda’, a Dutch
derived word adopted from the Macassarese.

Most of the history contained in this book is not claiming to
be ‘Aboriginal history’, that is, to tell the story from an Aboriginal
perspective. It is predominantly written by members of the
colonising class and it is about the relations between two peoples
entwined in the process of colonialism. Any study of Australian
colonialism is inevitably a product of the very subject it seeks to
write about. Acknowledging that most of the authors are inevi-
tably implicated, we nonetheless share a strong concern for justice.
Our work as historians attempts to fight ignorance and hopefully
will contribute towards redressing some of the wrongs of the past.
But we are still influenced, enriched and entrapped, by culture-
bound and often insensitive traditions such as humanitarianism,
liberal philosophy, New-Left scholarship and feminism. We
believe, however, that greater knowledge brings greater under-
standing and hopefully this will bring change.

The Mabo debate led Australians, with or without mango
trees, to fear the symbolic sanctity of their backyards. Contested
Ground tells a story which is essential to Australia’s history, one
which is much more than just a struggle for real estate. As the
Aboriginal leader Galarrwuy Yunupingu stated, ‘when you take
away someone’s land, you take away part of their insides’.> The
contested nature of Australian history and of its soil and sea has
flavoured the questioning of our national identity; of what we
should celebrate, of who can celebrate. It has raised many ques-
tions relating to symbols like the flag, the anthem and more
fundamentally, the monarchy and our Constitution. In consider-
ing what we hope to achieve for the centenary of Federation in
2001, the issue of Aboriginal reconciliation has become the most
important issue of all.
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The Weekend Australian, 30-31 July 1994, p.7.
2 A. Markus considers a framework for these in ‘Through the Past

Darkly’, Aboriginal History, vol.1, no.1, which informs the proceed-
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3 Personal communication to author, 1986.
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1
A national story

ERRA nullius, or unoccupied land, was the legally endorsed

premise of the British occupation of Australia. This conve-
nient imperial fantasy has long shaped Australia’s past, and history
writing and teaching has provided it longevity in both law and
the popular imagination. Dissenting voices were heard; humani-
tarians and experts in jurisprudence worried that the Australian
colonies were out of step with other ‘new world’ countries such
as North America and neighbouring New Zealand.! Nonetheless,
terra nullius remained firm, being only one of many hypocrisies
implicit in colonialism. In Australia a collective consciousness of
denial emerged. Unlike the ‘dark continent’ of Africa, full of its
‘conquered’ peoples, twentieth century Australia became the
‘empty continent’. Its history books attempted to fill Australia’s
vast spaces with stories of male discovery, exploration and above
all, with ‘settlement’, which became, in the Australian context, a
euphemistic term for conquering by force and outnumbering the
indigenous population.

Australian history can be summarised as the story of how
Aboriginal peoples lost a continent and how the invaders gained
one. While opponents of Aboriginal rights argue that land rights
or native title will divide the nation, any study of the past reveals
that from the earliest times, the British set about creating bound-
aries and social divisions; the land and its riches were divided up
in increasingly uneven portions between the newcomers and the
Aboriginal people.



CONTESTED GROUND

It is deceptive to assume that ‘colonial Australia’ ended with
the coming of the twentieth century, or that successful British
settlement meant the end of ‘colonial’ relations between Aborig-
ines and non-Aborigines. For the first three decades after
Federation, the conflict over land, river and sea was still proceed-
ing. Forced relocation and dispossession continued during the
decades which followed. Since the British invasion, colonial
relations were entrenched not only by land takeover but also by
a wide variety of ideas and beliefs, and by the economic, legal,
political and social structures which institutionalised and perpet-
uated them.?

Some areas have been more effectively colonised than others,
and it is in the less populated regions such as the Kimberley, the
Pilbara and Kakadu where Aboriginal traditional ties with the land
are strongest. The success of colonialism therefore became a direct
gauge of Aboriginal dislocation. First meetings between old and
new residents were coloured by the forces and languages of
imperialism and colonialism, although these encounters were
sometimes the most open-hearted and hopeful moments of all:
times of potential diplomacy before the use of capture or force.

In the short and long term, colonialism drastically jeopardised
the personal liberty of Aborigines. They immediately lost choices
over movement and residence, which was especially devastating
for a people for whom travel was a necessity. Their lifestyle was
frequently dictated by governments and Christian missionaries
who wanted them to become sedentary, or remain under control
on their ‘settlements’. Aboriginal families also suffered the extreme
trauma of having their children taken away to dormitories or
distant towns. Association with their own Aboriginal parents and
kin was said to be degrading or subjecting them to neglect. Girls
and boys were segregated and taught to conform to sex roles
approved by an outside culture.

The carve-up of Australia was thus not only about land and
property. It separated Aboriginal families, and broke the hearts
and minds of individuals—variously Aboriginal children, men and
women. Kidnappings of both adults and children were frequent.
Crippling changes to Aboriginal lifestyle and land-use patterns
were imposed. Individual colonisers were horrifyingly brutal, but
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blame cannot rest solely on their shoulders, for Australia’s col-
onisation originated in and was implemented by the State with
popular endorsement.

It is a truism that colonial intrusions initially polarised those
in Australia into two camps: the coloniser and the colonised. Yet
paradoxically, the two camps could not remain totally divided
physically or mentally; it was the very nature of colonialism that
coloniser and colonised came together. In many such meetings,
murder, rape, pillage, deceit occurred, but there was also co-oper-
ation, affection, generosity, loyalty, even love.

As well as a history of conflict and domination, there was also
a history of negotiation, compromise and exchange between
Aboriginal people and colonisers. Alliances were formed. Aborig-
inal midwives delivered white women’s babies and Aboriginal
women nurtured, even suckled, these children. Lonely white men
relied upon Aboriginal women as lovers and de facto wives.
Aboriginal women had children by white men. Bodies, words,
culture, art, aesthetics, ideas, images became entwined in a com-
plex physical and mental dialogue which continues today, and is
most evident in human reproduction and cultural exchange.3
Children of mixed Aboriginal and European descent were born
and grew up in varied contexts, but amidst the environment of
Australian colonialism which generally defined them as illegiti-
mate, partially or fully excluding them from the nation and full
citizenship.

As well as creative exchanges and possibilities of cultural
convergence, colonialism was delimiting. All Australians inevitably
become prisoners of such forces. Aboriginal people recognise this,
portraying their people, in literature and art, as prisoners in their
own country. Their high imprisonment rates make this more than
a metaphor, yet the image is particularly appropriate for a nation
which commenced as a prison colony. When the imported
convicts were freed, the indigenous people became their captives.
The history of colonial and State authority over Aborigines—of
institutionalisation, law enforcement, detention, imprisonment,
and the role of police—have been fundamental in shaping their
lives. Aboriginal individuals and communities interacted with
these systems of policing and control, co-operating with and
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resisting them according to their respective goals. Yet the con-
fining power of government policies and practices often made it
difficult for Aboriginal people to escape.

The overarching power relations of colonialism meant that the
colonisers would win over the colonised. Yet, like all colonisers,
there remained a nagging doubt about the tenure of their victory.*
Many Australians still feel an emotional need to protect their
spoils, refusing to share the country with Aborigines. Others listen
to pangs of conscience and yearn for a fairer country. The Mabo
decision of the High Court in 1992 overruled the legality of terra
nullius, but it has not yet erased its legacy from the present. Nor
has it overturned non-Aboriginal understandings of Australian
history, and these in turn shape present public opinion. As is
discussed more fully in chapter 10, from Federation in 1901 until
the 1970s, Aborigines hardly appeared in national history books
except as a backward people easily ‘pushed aside’ by virile
colonisers. The act of history writing has always been political,
and Australian historians had and still have a special role in nation
building.

Australia’s past cannot be truly understood unless it is analysed
as a colonial history, and as the founding premise of Australian
colonialism, ferra nullius shaped the way this history unfolded. It
dictated the basis of property ownership, and influenced the
structures of fundamental Australian institutions, including its
government. Following British takeover of their land, Aboriginal
peoples lost their sovereignty, or their dominion and authority
over the land. Consequently, Australian colonialism made Abor-
igines foreigners in their own land, intruders in their own
dwellings. To exemplify this, early governors such as Macquarie
in New South Wales required Aborigines to carry passports in
order to travel in their own lands. Otherwise they would be
treated as enemy aliens. Significantly, these passports were con-
ditional upon Aborigines agreeing to give up their hunting
implements, their bush economy and to stop associating with their
families. Governor Arthur had the same idea for Tasmanian
Aborigines; he planned to capture Aborigines living near the
settled districts, and compliant ‘chiefs’ were to be issued with ‘a
general passport’ signed and sealed by the governor.>
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In the next century, with national Federation, white Austra-
lians remained deeply insecure about their hold on the large
continent, by then based not only upon terra nullius but upon a
belief in racial superiority and an understanding that the land be
fully colonised and developed. One of the first Bills passed became
known as the ‘White Australia Policy’ and one of the earliest
Royal Commissions which followed was into the white birthrate.®
Racial exclusion became central not just to the takeover of the
land but to the self-image of the new nation. Although Aborigines
were excluded from citizenship in this nation, white Australians
saw fit to appropriate Aboriginal words, bushcraft skills and local
knowledge and later their traditional art and symbolism. But the
Aboriginal people were excluded from an active role in culture-
making. Aborigines were literally a ‘captive audience’ forced to
look on as white Australians narcissistically admired themselves,
constructing and defining the nation as a young country, as
superior, as blessed.

When the new nation celebrated its unblemished whiteness
amidst Asian seas, Aborigines became an annoying anomaly. In
the nineteenth century it had been thought that Aborigines would
eventually go away. Either they would follow Tasmania’s lead
and virtually disappear or they would eventually be ‘bred out’
through intermarriage. Whites and colonial governments often
helped the process along. Against the tide of colonialism, Abor-
igines, defined as ‘primitive’, were the doomed race. In some
areas, programmes were attempted to ‘civilise’ the women so they
would be eligible for ‘nice white men’, eventually breeding out
‘the colour’. In the 1950s, assimilation promised to destroy
Aboriginality by enforcing social conformity. But Aborigines
refused to go away. Indeed, there was virtually nowhere for them
to go, and like many other indigenous people, they faced a long
struggle for their rights.

Terra nullius provided a powerful rationale and became part of
Australian nationalism. The all-white Australian Natives Associa-
tion adopted the term ‘natives’ for themselves and from the 1880s
wanted to define the non-Aboriginal Australian-born as Australia’s
only ‘aborigines’.” Even the bushman legend, with its image of
the ‘typical Australian man’ grew out of such denial. Features of
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Aboriginality were borrowed so that white men could feel or
prove themselves better Aborigines than the Aborigines them-
selves. The essence of Australian manhood, according to the
working man’s legend, was to be ‘a rolling stone’, a traveller,
practical, laconic, collectivist, matey, the very image of ‘the
Aboriginal other’ as perceived by white Australians. This white
primitive, superior to Aborigines in the ever-threatening bush,
was the Tarzan-like ‘noble savage’ recently metamorphised as
Crocodile Dundee.?

In line with such national ideals, Aboriginal mothers were
excluded from the maternity bonus and their elderly from the
pension. The well-being of the Aboriginal people, considered a
dying race anyway, was thus best kept low on the national agenda,
if not forgotten altogether. The states, rather than the nation,
were given responsibility for Aboriginal policy, and Aboriginal
people were not even counted in the National Census. Until
1967 Aborigines were excluded from Australian egalitarianism and
from democracy; it was only with the referendum of that year
that all Aborigines were officially enumerated and learnt of their
right to vote in Commonwealth elections.” Wage and other
struggles followed.

Government policies frequently separated Aborigines from the
wider community, and forced them to live on islands or reserves.
Many of these were run like internment camps, quarantine stations
or prisons. Like foreigners, Aboriginal school children fortunate
enough to get into public schools were constantly asked ‘where
do you come from?’ In the 1950s and 60s, some Aborigines were
required to carry official documents which classified the owner
according to ‘caste’. Called ‘certificates of exemption’ because they
exempted the holder from Aboriginal legal status, they had to be
carried at all times. These passports to White Australia entitled the
holder to enter public places like hotels and to receive other
entitlements such as pensions or mainstream education for their
children. Like the earlier passport, rights were conditional upon
holders giving up an ‘Aboriginal lifestyle’ and relinquishing contacts
with Aboriginal kin and friends. If noticed disobeying these stric-
tures, certificates could be confiscated by police. Like enemy aliens,
Aborigines were often singled out and detained by police. Their
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Inspection by members of the Aboriginal Welfare Board, Dubbo
area, 1965. The State held great power over Aboriginal families.
Four authoritative yet uncomfortable-looking men in suits and ties
inspect the humble home of a woman caring for her children.
GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE COLLECTION, STATE LIBRARY OF
NEW SOUTH WALES

disproportionate representation in gaols suggests they were, and
perhaps still are, being punished for their ethnicity and their
colonised status rather than merely for their crime.

The wvarious colonial and later State and Commonwealth
governments introduced numerous Aboriginal policies which led
to intrusions into most aspects of Aborigines’ everyday lives.
These included inspections of camp sites and other residences,
and limitations upon their mode of living, work, financial and
leisure activities. Institutionalisation became a dominant theme in
Aboriginal lives. Non-Aboriginal people discriminated against
Aborigines in many ways, which affected their education, housing,
employment, income and, worst of all, their self-esteem.

White Australia’s era of nationhood has been a confusing and
destructive time for Aborigines. Many Aborigines are bitter and
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A white woman with two Aboriginal children at Aborigines Day,
Martin Place, 1964. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE COLLEC-
TION, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

angry—totally fed up with the impositions of white society. They
consider it has robbed and cheated them, not just of land,
resources, and fair wages, but also of their Aboriginal families,
love and identity. Along with the positive struggles come attempts
to smother Aboriginal identity, anger and aggression expressed in
domestic or other violence, and the self-destructive resistance of
alcohol abuse. It is mistaken to say that no Aborigines have given
up.

While successive governments attempted to curb distinctive
Aboriginal behaviour through policies of ‘civilisation’ and
‘assimilation’, many Aborigines resisted total domination by con-
tinuing to maintain culturally distinct goals. Against a backdrop
of racism and Eurocentrism, Aborigines struggled for land and
residential rights, and recognition as equal human beings. From
the 1960s, Aborigines and supporters conducted struggles for land
rights, civil rights and equal wages. They had many successes,
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though Aboriginal activists are still struggling for national land
rights, compensation and greater control of their own affairs. Since
the 1970s, a large number of Aborigines have let go of the shame
they were taught and have spoken out more openly about what
it means to be Aboriginal. A cultural renaissance has occurred
throughout Australia as Aborigines previously denied access to
their past culture have sought to gain as much knowledge as they
can. Across the country much sharing and exchange have fol-
lowed, accompanied by an increasing pride in Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander identity.

Pan-Aboriginal pride was epitomised by the huge gathering at
the anti-Bicentennial march in Sydney in 1988. While many other
Australians celebrated national ‘beginnings’, Aborigines from
throughout Australia and their supporters drew attention to tens
of thousands of years of occupation and, since colonialism, to
great injustice. Above all they celebrated their survival as a people.

AN ABORIGINAL WORLD

Aboriginal people have an ancient history of owning the land we
now call Australia. It is only since the 1992 Mabo decision that
this seemingly obvious fact was acknowledged in an Australian
court of law. In the 1980s, attempts to officially recognise prior
Aboriginal occupation or ownership in state legislation met ner-
vous reactions. Even at the time of writing, it is not recognised
in the national Constitution. Yet Aboriginal history proceeded
autonomously from Europeans for longer than we can imagine.

The Australian continent’s little-known history of Aboriginal
civilisation dates back somewhere between 50 000 and 100 000
years. Archaeological investigations and improved dating tech-
niques promise further breakthroughs. Regional dating variations
are not particularly significant, because they reflect the limited
nature of archaeological research. Aboriginal people had to adapt
to dramatic climatic changes, which affected not only food
resources but the very divisions between land and ocean.!0
Aboriginal people share and continue to share important historical
knowledge through Dreaming stories, clan sagas, song cycles,
dance and art. For them, history is written in the landscape itself;
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the land is not just a text book for history, it is history and history
is the foundation of their present-day lives.

Aboriginal people may have occupied the same area for longer
than any other people in world history. They cannot be cast as
another minority ethnic group as an immigration which occurred
so long ago cannot be compared with one which commenced
little more than 200 years ago. While migration is undeniably a
central part of white Australian experience, it is not a significant
part of Aboriginal history or consciousness. Indeed, Aboriginal art
of an extremely sophisticated kind predates the earliest examples
of European art.!!

Many Australians have mistakenly imagined there were few
Aboriginal people and that they only lived in the middle of the
desert. They have no idea that Aboriginal people once lived in
what are now their backyards. Population figures in 1788 are
estimated at 750 000, with the densest populations in New South
Wales and Victoria, along the coast and rich water courses.'? The
diversity of Aboriginal land-use patterns, food sources, technol-
ogy, clothing, and shelter is not widely known. For example,
Aboriginal people in western Victoria wore fur cloaks and lived
in relatively permanent villages with stone housing. In warmer
resource-rich areas, Aboriginal people stayed for months at a time.
Careful land management techniques were applied to harvest food
resources and sensitive and skilful methods were used to hunt
game. Hunting and gathering required great physical agility,
dexterity and a detailed knowledge of animals and land. Aboriginal
people enjoyed a balanced diet and good health, having been
naturally quarantined from many of the diseases which affected
Europeans.

The social and economic organisation of Aboriginal groups
varied greatly throughout Australia, but some general observations
can be made.!3 Torres Strait Islanders had a distinctive culture,
with close links to Melanesian peoples. They had a more village-
oriented lifestyle with market gardens and different traditions of
dance, art and belief. Mainland and Tasmanian Aboriginal people
had a relatively egalitarian social structure where age, gender and
totemic and land affiliations were important demarcations.
Women usually provided the staple food supply, owned and had
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special responsibilities towards sites in the landscape, associated
song cycles and what became known in English as ‘Dreaming
stories’. Women exclusively controlled the secret ceremonies of
reproduction, and their maternal function as child-rearers was
highly valued. Men also played an important role in nurturing
and teaching children, and a wide network of kin had special
responsibilities towards each child. When a baby was born, she
or he immediately had a niche in a complex cosmology defined
by Dreaming songs and stories. Identity was secure, and the child
had a variety of land relationships via its conception Dreaming,
and via inheritance through father and mother. The child would
gradually be introduced to responsibilities towards land and kin
and the strict marriage rules. Values taught included sharing,
respecting the wisdom of age, protecting the young, gentle
treatment and close observation of plants and animals, respect for
the dangerous spirits, avoidance of prohibited sacred places and
the fulfilment of kinship obligations.

Families and clans travelled the land during the year, harvesting
resources when the opportunity was available, and looking after
special sites to which they had responsibility. Men and women
separately facilitated the reproduction of resources through ritual
nurturing. They also spent much time working or negotiating
business in the company of their own gender. Decision-making
and law enforcement were divided between men and women,
and ultimate power was often accorded on the basis of custodial
obligations towards relevant land or kin. As with history, the
tablet of the law was the landscape itself, explained through
Dreaming stories as people travelled. Dancing and singing, story-
telling, drawing, painting and sculpture took place all year round,
and were an entertaining means of education.

While women were in charge of their own business, sacred
and secular, men’s power was generally more highly valued in
matters of law and punishment concerning the larger group. In
some areas, however, women’s law was extremely powerful and
older women held high status.!* Large gatherings of many clans
took place from time to time to conduct marriage, funerals and
religious business, including the male initiation ceremonies. Ritual
confrontations were also staged to avenge wrongdoing, and other
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transgressions could be punished by death, spearings or sorcery.
For various reasons, usually to protect them from a lingering death
or a poor quality of life, babies were sometimes killed at birth.
As untimely deaths and transgressions against the laws of the land
had to be punished, revenge killing and terrifying sorcery were
fairly common.

DISPOSSESSION

Aboriginal groups encountered other outsiders before the British
arrived. In the Northern Territory and parts of northern Queens-
land, Macassan trepang gatherers had been interacting with
Aboriginal people off the coast since at least 1700. Relatively
harmonious relations existed, with trading and employment of
local Aboriginal men and women. Such items as glass were
incorporated into Aboriginal tool-making, and Macassan words
became part of their language. Some intermixing occurred, and
the all-male crews engaged in sexual associations with the local
women, but they were temporary visitors and not interested in
land take-over.

The history of Aboriginal dispossession is central to under-
standing contemporary white—black relations. Colonial takeover
was premised on the assumption that European culture was
superior to all others and that its bearers could define the world
in their terms. According to European conventions, a colony

could be established:

by persuading the indigenous inhabitants to submit themselves to
its overlordship;

by purchasing from those inhabitants the right to settle part or
parts of it;

by unilateral possession, on the basis of first discovery and
effective occupation.!>

British possession of Australia was declared according to the third
option; and the land was thus defined as ferra nullius. In 1770
Captain James Cook and Joseph Banks considered there were few
‘natives’ along the coast. They deduced that Aborigines had no
property rights because they had not laboured to ‘subdue’ the
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land by agricultural cultivation. Their observations were later
proven incorrect, with the governors of the first settlements soon
finding that Aboriginal people lived inland, and had special
territories and associations with land on the basis of inheritance
and spiritual affiliations. Nonetheless, the terms of British occu-
pation were not amended.

In the first hundred years of settlement there was not consensus
about the basis of British sovereignty. Governor King commented
in 1807 that Aboriginal people were the ‘real Proprietors of the
Soil’, and lively debate over the issue continued from the 1820s
to the 1850s.1¢ The justice of the British takeover was far from
clear, for what happened in the Australian colonies was out of
step with international trends. At the same time, however, the
nature of Aboriginal land-use did not fit western definitions of
ownership or occupation. In response to Nabalco mining plans,
the Yirrkala people of the Northern Territory presented a bark
Petition to the Federal Parliament in 1963; after a Supreme Court
Hearing, Justice Blackburn stated in his 1971 judgement that all
rights to the land were extinguished after 1788, and that because
native title had not been legislated by the British, it was not part
of the Australian law.!'7 This was overruled by the Mabo judge-
ment of the High Court of 1992. The majority rejected the
legality of ferra nullius, arguing that native title existed to tradi-
tional lands ‘where it has not been extinguished’.!8

The absence of a treaty was regretted by Governor Arthur
after his Van Diemen’s Land (later Tasmania) experience. In a
letter to the Select Committee on Aborigines which reported to
the British House of Commons in 1837 he wrote: ‘On the first
occupation of the colony it was a great oversight that a treaty
was not, at that time, made with the natives, and such compen-
sation given to the chiefs as would have deemed a fair equivalent
for what they surrendered.” Had this happened, he considered
‘that feeling of injustice which I am persuaded they have always
entertained, would have no existence’.!” His advice may have
influenced the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi.?

Earlier misinterpretations of Aboriginal population, land-use
and style of occupation have ramifications today in popular
assumptions and in Australian law.2! Past Aboriginal negotiations,
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for example, have been largely omitted from our history, with
Aboriginal people portrayed as powerless victims. Even where
diplomacy occurred, it is dismissed in a derogatory fashion. Some
pastoralists said Aboriginal people ‘gave away’ their land in return
for flour and sugar, or they ‘gave away’ their children. They failed
to acknowlege that loaning children was one of the only ways
the Aboriginal people could obtain the right to camp on tradi-
tional lands. Rather than being seen as diplomatic efforts,
successful adaptations by Aboriginal people have been trivialised
as confirming the attractions of civilisation.

The Batman-Kulin treaty of 183522 (discussed further in chapter
3 on Victoria) is significant as it was perhaps the only formal treaty
negotiated with a group of Australian Aborigines.2> The Kulin were
active agents who negotiated and permitted temporary access to
their land in exchange for reciprocal rights to European resources.
Batman’s treaty was declared invalid by Governor Bourke, not
because it was deemed Aboriginal people were not entitled to it
but because it was carried out by a private citizen rather than the
Crown.2* George Augustus Robinson, who was employed to
conduct a conciliatory process with Tasmanian Aboriginal people,
negotiated an unwritten treaty in the 1830s, resulting in their move
to Flinders Island.?> The Tasmanian Aboriginal people demanded
special conditions, including regular trips back to their traditional
land and the right to pursue their own culture, but these promises
were broken.2¢ Throughout Australia, Aboriginal people attempted
to negotiate with those who first occupied their respective lands
and although mutual compromises were sometimes reached, these
had no legal standing.

Influenced by the 1830s peak of the British humanitarian
movement, the South Australian Colonisation Commission
included a preamble in its Act that South Australia was classed as
‘waste and unoccupied lands’, the Colonial Office was concerned
that this conflicted with their policy. They introduced amend-
ments which allowed for a Protector to ensure ‘occupation and
enjoyment of the natives’, requiring their agreement or voluntary
sale of land before occupation. The Commissioners ignored these
clauses in the Letters Patent by conveniently claiming that Aborig-
inal people did not ‘occupy’ the land.?” Such lobbying, however,
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did achieve acknowledgement of the Aboriginal people’s right to
travel over, to hunt, gather and reside upon pastoral leases.

Racial ideas went hand in hand with British imperialism, from
the Christian notion of ‘the chain of being’ where blacks were
ranked as inferior and white Christians at the summit, to the rise
of anthropology, which turned such ideas into a sustaining
‘science’. Their findings were later applied in Africa, Australia
and other colonial contexts, providing justification and informa-
tion to facilitate the implementation of colonialism. Theories like
Social Darwinism, popularised by Herbert Spencer in the 1870s
and beyond, predicted that the extinction of ‘inferior races’ in
the wake of ‘colonial progress’ was inevitable. The disease and
ill-health Australian Aboriginal people faced in the late nineteenth
and early twentieth century only reinforced belief in their inev-
itable disappearance.?® Despite the efforts of missionaries like J.B.
Gribble in Western Australia and humanitarians in other colonies,
the general public was relatively complacent about Aboriginal
suffering, and subsequent government policies took on a short-
term palliative nature.

Government policies and racial theories were intertwined, but
anomalies and conflicts occurred between theory and practice. As
suggested in the introduction, approaches taken within various
colonies and states also reflected the peculiar demographic and
other circumstances in each. Such factors as the impact of the
military, the convict population, free settler agriculturalists and
pastoralists, miners, the density of the settlement, the time at
which it was settled, the state of British and other western
technology, especially weaponry were influential.

FRONTIERS

The physical dispossession of Aboriginal people from their land
was quite a different phenomenom to their legal dispossession. In
the face to face contact, the process of colonial takeover featured
both conflict and co-operation. Many Australian colonisers, espe-
cially its men, personally implemented the usurpation of land.
The story often became violent as Aboriginal people and whites
battled for land and other resources.
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The Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody,
which reported in 1991, was in part prompted by a belief that
foul play or murder was responsible for those recent deaths.
Aboriginal people’s suspicions can be explained by their historical
experiences, as well as by police behaviour after the deaths. Passed
down through the generations, frontier violence created a distinc-
tive ‘popular memory’ or historical consciousness. A certain
patterning in these stories, a logic of events, explains the predic-
ament of the individual and the group. Past lessons create a basis
upon which to assess the present, and contemporary events
reinforce them. That Aboriginal people and others often believe
that police or gaolers have killed those who died is a serious
indictment of Australia’s colonial past, as well as proof that the
present society has in no way reassured them that that past is
over.

Aboriginal elders still ponder the injustices of colonial warfare
as they narrate stories of past generations. The late Phillip Pepper,
a Kurnai man of eastern Victoria, wrote: ‘The white come here
and took it by force with a lotta blood bein’ shed by the
Aborigines, they really died for their own country and got nothin’
in return.’?

Amy Laurie, a Gurindji woman, spoke of how her grandchil-
dren could not understand why the past generations had not
fought back harder when attacked. The elders explained:

“You know why we bin let ‘em shoot we. Why? We
frightened? No, we never gotim rifle.” And we didn’t care, they
reckon, “We can die in our own country.3?

Aboriginal perceptions of threat by various forces in white society
have been perpetuated by a long heritage of control with often
harsh means of enforcement. The theft of their land has made
them sceptical of white justice. Frontier periods throughout
Australia were the shaping times of colonial authority. Early
violence against Aboriginal people was an expected ‘price’ of
colonial expansion. What was not bargained for was that the cost
to the indigenous people would be so difficult to redress, and
that they would not only survive as a people but refuse to give
up their struggle for forms of compensation.

16



A NATIONAL STORY

Amidst the peaceful sounding ‘settling’ we read about in earlier
history books, a lot of ‘conquering’ of the original landowners
took place. In order to make way for British rule and its law to
take effect, flagrant disregard of this same law was generally
accepted. There were also implicit contradictions in imposing
such rule in a ‘new’ land, for British justice had not been designed
to cater equally for people of other cultures, let alone those in
the relationship of the colonised. Edicts on paper which required
humane treatment of Aboriginal people were not carried out by
frontiersmen. Often they were window-dressing to appease the
powerful British anti-slavery movement. Furthermore, British
statements that Aboriginal people came under the ‘protection of
the Crown’ were inappropriate when they had not chosen to be
invaded and taken over as ‘subjects’.

The frontier period thus set the tone of ‘law and order’ to be
imposed on Aboriginal people. Tragically, force or its threat
became the key means of establishing British justice. Australia has
many unrecorded battlefields, and the number of Aboriginal
people killed by the newcomers during the frontier era probably
exceeds 20 000.3! Forcibly dispossessed of their land and tradi-
tional livelihood, retreat, starvation and migrations to the fringes
of white occupied areas or reserves became inevitable. Through
its legacy of fear, violence had a lasting impact on Aboriginal
people, as was intended. Once they had come within such
influence, they would be more likely to obey not just British
laws but any instructions given to them by any white person.

Many white frontiersmen literally took the law into their own
hands; as colonisers they felt empowered to ‘do their job’ by
participating in conquest. Ordinary citizens thus remained closely
involved in ‘keeping the blacks in their place’. Community
acceptance of violence was so widespread that those who objected
were branded fanatics.32 The legal authorities seldom intervened,
providing tacit approval of such actions.

Different styles of violence and techniques of subduing Aborig-
inal people were employed. This applied even in the earliest,
more conciliatory contacts. In 1788, the Eora people who met
the first British arrivals at Botany Bay were given displays of
musket fire in order to instil a sense of fear of British weaponry.33
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The British wanted to be respected and to dominate; to leave no
doubt as to who was in charge.

A series of kidnappings was another stragegy used to command
authority, the most famous being of Bennelong, forcibly kept in
British custody with chains, bolts and guards. Hostage-taking was
practised to acquire intelligence of the original occupants and to
force the establishment of diplomatic ties. After Bennelong was
returned his freedom, some promising co-operation and co-exis-
tence eventuated at Port Jackson and northwards. Conflict
intensified, however, as pastoral settlement expanded on the
Hawkesbury in the 1790s, then later on the Bathurst plains and
along the Hunter in the 1820s. It grew worse during the 1830s
and early 1840s along the Macintyre, Gwydir and Namoi, with
the famous Myall Creek massacre of 28 Aboriginal men, women
and children in 1838. Aboriginal spokespeople repeatedly appealed
to have their best hunting areas protected from intruders, but to
no avail.3*

Western Australia was invaded by the British in 1829 and
competition for land and resources led to violent struggles. Overt
cruelty is remembered in many Aboriginal oral histories, and in
1835 Governor Stirling led a punitive raid in Pinjarra where an
estimated eleven Aboriginal people were killed. In 1833 an
Aboriginal man from the south-west, Yagan, was shot and killed,
and his smoked head placed on public exhibition in Britain.3>

From the 1840s in Queensland, frontier violence was used to
ruthlessly dispossess Aboriginal people. The later occupation of
the state, especially in the north, brought advanced rifle and
revolver technology, plus the accumulated experience of past
conflict in the southern colonies. The strong humanitarian lobby
of Sydney and Melbourne was absent and the Native Police Force
were brutally effective. The graziers’ parliamentary power enabled
them to clear and ‘settle’ the land unimpeded, which meant
quelling all Aboriginal opposition. Queensland’s vastness and the
isolation of many pastoral and mining outposts caused a more
protracted frontier struggle than in south-eastern Australia. By the
1880s and 1890s, the era of frontier violence was largely over
and colonial ‘order’ had been imposed.

Queensland frontiersmen, like others, consistently carried guns
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in case they encountered ‘hostile’ Aboriginal people; they were
in ‘enemy territory’. Deaths of Europeans met calls for vengeance.
It was indeed doubtful Aboriginal people were being ‘protected
as subjects of British law’.3¢ In Queensland possibly 10 000
Aboriginal people and at least 1000 Europeans died as a result of
frontier conflict. The chronic anxiety induced by this situation
affected both sides. As the Chief Protector of North Queensland,
Archibald Meston stated, Aboriginal people had lived for years
‘in a state of absolute terror’ and consequently behaved ‘like
hunted wild beasts’.3” Such a fearful people were likely to put up
less resistance when rounded up onto reserves.

In the Northern Territory the Aboriginal people’s first
encounter with outsiders was often with Macassarese trepangers
or Chinese goldminers. It was the last area to be continuously
occupied by the British, though with limited economic success.
The British soon abandoned outposts such as Fort Dundas (1826),
Raftles Bay (1828)38 and Port Essington (1838), leaving a legacy
of disease,?® violence and introduced animals. For decades after-
wards, the non-Aboriginal population remained very low until
the building of the Overland Telegraph Line in the 1870s. As
elsewhere, pastoral expansion was accompanied by heightened
conflicts, the massacres continuing up to the 1920s and 1930s in
Central, north and Western Australia.

Atrocities against the indigenes were often hidden from the
public records. The British knew well the implications of com-
mitting deeds to paper which, although publicly condoned, did
not conform to the ‘letter of the law’. The frontiersmen clothed
violence in euphemisms such as ‘dispersing’, ‘breaking up’, ‘shak-
ing up’, ‘giving a fright’ and ‘teaching them a lesson’. While
frontier warfare was considered men’s business, white women
sometimes participated.40

The violence was certainly not one-sided; Aboriginal people
often used force against the strangers, posing a serious danger.
Australia-wide, at least 3000 Europeans were killed and another
3000 wounded by Aboriginal people attempting to impose their
law on Europeans.*! Their opposition to the newcomers has often
been portrayed as a pan-Aboriginal desire to rid the country of
whites, but this is a misinterpretation of Aboriginal culture.*2
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Individual Aboriginal people fought for a variety of reasons. They
were generally carrying out their own law, and defending their
land from intruders. The British had come uninvited; they had
not followed the required protocol of introductions by elders to
the land’s spirits and contemporary custodians.

Disease also left a shocking legacy of death and fear. Intro-
duced diseases such as smallpox, and malaria in the north, had
devastating effects on many Aboriginal groups, even before they
came into actual physical contact with Europeans. Populations
were halved or virtually obliterated; the severe depopulation
caused personal suffering and community crises, placing survivors
in a weakened position. Noel Butlin labelled disease as ‘our
original aggression’#?, and although there is no strong evidence
that it was intentionally used in Australia as a means of subduing
Aboriginal people, closing off access to land and food resources
and poor medical assistance constituted neglect if not malice. By
the late nineteenth century and until the 1950s, white health
experts were largely motivated by the perceived threat of conta-
gious diseases to their own people.#

While in many areas, disease proved to be the main factor
responsible for Aboriginal deaths, susceptability was enhanced by
the trauma of dispossession, unavailability of traditional food and
water supplies, bans on traditional weapons, the unhygienic results
of being required to wear European-style clothing, and the lack
of immunity to introduced diseases. Alcohol and tobacco also
played destructive roles.

Colonies differed in their scale of depopulation. The south-
eastern peoples were badly hit by smallpox whilst the northerners’
contact with Asia gave them greater immunity.*> A speedy decline
was suffered by the Eora of New South Wales, the Port Phillip
peoples and the Tasmanian Aboriginal people, several of their
clans being rapidly destroyed. The intruders, principally made up
of convicts shipped out against their will, stole food, weapons,
and raped Aboriginal women. The desperation of the hungry
whites to establish self-supporting industries, especially sheep-
grazing, led to a push for land and disregard for the original
inhabitants. Van Diemen’s Land settlers and the ex-convict pop-
ulation was little interested in humanitarian concerns. The death
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toll of Aboriginal people from violence and disease was shocking,
and continued to worsen after they were exiled to smaller
islands.#6 Of the three or four thousand inhabitants in Van
Diemen’s Land prior to the 1790s, only a couple of hundred
people survived the 1830s. However, the islanders of Bass Strait,
who had formed a community with men of the sealing industry,
managed to survive as a distinct and defiant people.

Where there was less competition for resources and land,
Aboriginal people had more chance to pursue their traditional
economies. Furthermore, the hotter, northern and desert regions
and areas without ports or reliable water supplies were less
desirable to the newcomers, giving indigenes more time to
develop survival strategies. There were fewer intruders, and mar-
itime industries such as trepanging, pearling and fishing often
relied upon Aboriginal labour and even company. A proportion-
ally higher non-Aboriginal population also led to greater
inter-mixing and mergence of the peoples. Generally the less
successful the enterprises, and the less land-intensive the indus-
tries, the greater the chances for Aboriginal survival and relative
independence.

LAND AND LABOUR

Aboriginal people as a whole have been especially vulnerable to
fluctuations in the labour market. While some were attracted by
the lure of tobacco, tea and rations, many lost their traditional
economy and were subsequently forced into exploitative labour
arrangements. A large proportion of Aboriginal people continued
to support themselves independently in the late nineteenth and
early twentieth century, but government policies often curbed
Aboriginal entrepreneurism, such as bartering, selling fish and
skins.

The desire of the British to establish their own economic
security led to the dismantling of Aboriginal self-sufficiency.
Foraging was considered an inferior pursuit, and more signifi-
cantly, it clashed with British land-use requirements. Although
Governor Macquarie, like Phillip, respected individual Aboriginal
people, good intentions were outweighed by other colonial
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imperatives. Macquarie was aware of the many Aboriginal protests
from the Daruk regarding the takeover of too much of their
choice riverbank land. He broke promises of no further expan-
sion, and classified violent Aboriginal protests and crop destruction
as unruly behaviour. Macquarie’s desire to change the Eora and
other groups became especially pronounced after continuing vio-
lence on the Hawkesbury and interior. In 1816, he issued a
proclamation prohibiting Aboriginal people from practising their
hunting and customary law; they could not carry traditional
weapons near town or conduct ritual fights. Gatherings of more
than six people near a farm would result in ‘enemy’ status.*’
Macquarie’s ‘passport system’ offered protection only for those
who surrendered. In reward for ‘disarming’ and presumably giving
up hunting with spears, they would be provided with land to
‘obtain an honest and Comfortable Subsistence by their own
Labour and Industry’. Also supplied were six months’ food, a hut,
tools, wheat, maize, potatoes, clothes, and ‘one Colonial Blanket’.
They were thus exhorted to ‘relinquish their wandering idle
predatory Habits of Life’. Any truce was to be conditional upon
Aboriginal acceptance of British rules, including adoption of
British cultural mores, and the rejection of Aboriginal political,
legal, work and family structures.

From the earliest decades of white settlement at Port Jackson,
Aboriginal people were encouraged to become farmers. Some Eora
took up land at Elizabeth Bay and Blacktown, with male elders
selecting areas near traditional estates. Aboriginal people may have
hoped to prevent the land’s destruction by outsiders, but a convict
was appointed to establish a market garden and British aesthetics
were also imposed, with convicts building a ‘romantic road’.*
Before long the Aboriginal people deserted the farms.

Later they saw farming as a means to family independence and
established successful farms in Victoria, New South Wales, South
Australia and Western Australia. The Cumeragunja people’s fight
for their farms is narrated in the film Lousy Little Sixpence. The
Lake Tyers people of Victoria also mounted a protracted struggle
to retain their own land. South Australian Aborigines’ demands
for farming land were supported by a superintendent of the
Aboriginal mission at Point Pearce. F. Garnet believed that the
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granting of land for farms was a means of keeping them from
becoming ‘outcasts of society’ who ended up in gaols.*® Never-
theless, governments remained insensitive to Aboriginal needs and
successes at self-sufficiency, favouring the white farmers who
demanded that good land be handed over to them. All types of
land allocated for Aboriginal use was frequently resumed. Inse-
curity of Aboriginal tenure reflected that key tenet of colonialism,
to ‘colonise’ with their own people, to take over Aboriginal land.
If Aborigines occupied land, it must by definition be wasted or
wasteland. Throughout Australia, Aborigines thus suffered not
one, but many dispossessions.>Y

Strong demand for Aboriginal labour sometimes led employers
to accommodate Aboriginal cultural priorities. This was especially
true in the more remote areas where insufficient white or
imported coloured labour was available, and Aboriginal people
became indispensable.5! In inland New South Wales, Queensland,
Western Australia, the Northern Territory and parts of South
Australia, skilled Aborigines could shape the terms of their
employment. Oversupply of Aboriginal labour, however, often
lowered financial rewards.>?

Nonetheless, labour market demand probably influenced levels
of anti-Aboriginal violence and it also dictated the location of
Aboriginal reserves. Many stories are told of northern pastoral
employers hiding suspected murderers from the police because
they were good stockmen.>3 Here economic interests, and perhaps
also mutual respect, had primacy over white solidarity. When not
required for employment, there was not the same need to keep
workers healthy, in the habit of employment, and out of gaol.
During the Great Depression of the 1930s, Aborigines were not
entitled to the same welfare as other Australians. Later rural
recessions similarly hit Aborigines hard, and, it seems in some
New South Wales towns in the 1970s their imprisonment rates
simultaneously rose. (See chapter 2 on New South Wales.)

World War I and II provided Aborigines with an opportunity
to enlist as soldiers and be paid and treated on a more equal
footing. Elsewhere Aboriginal labour was greatly underpaid, and
only in the 1940s and 1960s did the struggles for equal wages
receive support from the wider community. Prior to the 1960s,
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in the Northern Territory and Western Australia, Aboriginal
people were often only paid in rations and some work clothing,
with no proper housing provided. In Queensland, a cash wage
was required from the 1900s, but a proportion of this was held
in trust by the State. The government wanted to subvert the
Aboriginal people’s sharing ethic and encourage thrift and savings,
which the Aborigines saw as shameful greed. Although a small
cash wage was introduced after the 1940s, many Aboriginal people
in Queensland, the Northern Territory, New South Wales and
Western Australia> were never paid their due wages and their
lifetime earnings were returned to consolidated revenue. In the
1930s the Northern Territory (excluding Central Australia)
account was balanced at 3000 pounds but little attempt was made
to distribute it to its rightful owners. Northern Aborigines were
forbidden from purchasing cars or other prestigious items as these
were considered too good or too frivolous for an Aborigine.> In
1934 the Western Australian Aborigines Department held 2400
pounds in trust®® and Queensland trust money totalled a startling
293 549 pounds.’’” The Northern Territory Chief Protector had
set up the Aboriginal Medical Benefits Fund to urge employers
to take responsibility for work accidents and employees’ health.
The Federal Government confiscated most of this money for
consolidated revenue and would not even permit its expenditure
on ‘Christmas cheer’ for the children in the ‘half-caste home’.58
Aboriginal people were thus deprived not only of fair wages, but
workers’ compensation, medical treatment and the right to freely
spend their money.

Wage discrimination meant Aboriginal people lacked ‘the
family wage’ available to other Australians, and bank loans were
out of reach. In many states Aboriginal people were prohibited
from buying land. They were not entitled to the maternity bonus
introduced in 1912, to the dole, to various forms of welfare,
including old-age pensions, to the same health or educational
facilities as Europeans. Their camps rarely had the basic facilities
of running water, power or sewerage.

Little money was spent on providing facilities for Aboriginal
education. Public education was designed for white children who
spoke English as their first language. Aboriginal knowledge and
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learning styles were ignored. Mission teachers were often
untrained, and inferior facilities for state teachers in Aboriginal
schools also ensured sub-standard education. Hoping to maintain
their cheap labour force, pastoralists were generally opposed to
schooling resident Aborigines. During the 1930s some unions such
as the IWW (Industrial Workers of the World) attempted to
educate Aboriginal people about their rights, though others pro-
tested against their employment, seeing Aboriginal labour as a
threat to their conditions. Eventually some Aboriginal labourers
found union allies who supported their mobilisation for better
conditions, as in the 1946 Pilbara strike and the Wave Hill
walkoffs in 1966 and in the Victoria River district 1972-73.

Although Aboriginal people showed outstanding ability at
prestigious occupations such as exploration, detective work,
stockwork, and army work during the wars, state training schemes
invariably placed them at the bottom rung of the labour hierarchy.
From Macquarie’s time through to the 1960s, any training
schemes for Aboriginal girls stressed domestic service, a job
disliked in a society with egalitarian aspirations, while the boys
were to be trained as ‘rural apprentices’. Aboriginal girls and boys
taken from their parents were required to perform the most
menial and poorly paid occupations and had no choice about
employers. If they left employment, they were punished, some-
times in homes for juveniles, while their exploitation as cheap
labour was justified as ‘uplift’ and ‘civilisation’. In reality it meant
no education other than domestic training, and a lonely life as
virtual orphans. Many lost all contact with their real families.
During their service in other people’s homes, girls who became
pregnant were sent to unmarried mothers’ institutions, where they
were given little choice but to consent to their babies’ adoption
by white families.

Aboriginal people were expected to fit in with a western-style
labour system but they were not entitled to its privileges.
Although excluded from many types of work, they excelled and
were highly sought after at rural work such as horse breaking,
mustering, fruit planting and picking. Outdoor and seasonal work
appealed, as they often enabled greater flexibility and travel to
visit distant kin. In many cases they allowed people to be based
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Patricia Kemp, aged 2 years, with Jenny, South Australia. White
station children were often cared for, if not reared by, Aboriginal
nannies. NATIONAL LIBRARY OF AUSTRALIA

near or on their traditional land and range area. Aboriginal people
often demanded more flexible work arrangements where they
could leave jobs to visit people or places, or conduct ceremonies.
In many places this included continuing their traditional bush
economy.

In rural towns, where so many Aboriginal people still reside,
employment networks are family-based and often totally exclude
Aboriginal people. The same applied to urban centres. As Mum
Shirl, who grew up in Sydney’s inner suburbs, stated in her
biography, she had little to do with whites ‘except that we
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shopped at their shops, and always had to go to them for jobs
and work, but mostly we seemed to be with each other’.5?

THE LAW

Since colonisation, Aboriginal people experienced an anomalous
position in relation to British and Australian law. Prior to and
after contact, Aboriginal communities had their legal system, with
its internal logic and rationale emanating from the holistic phil-
osophy of the Dreaming. Rather than abstract principles of justice,
their laws were evoked more directly and on a more personal
basis to maintain or regain community harmony.® Theoretically,
Australian courts have held that British laws applied to Aboriginal
people and whites alike ‘except to the extent that the legislature
had seen fit to make differences or to allow exceptions’.¢! Tribal
law was to an extent accommodated by the Western Australian
Native Courts between 1936 and 1954. Yet whereas ‘tribal
custom’ was taken into account in mitigation of a sentence, it
could not be a complete defence.%?

Usually Aboriginal people were subject to British and later
Australian law, and additionally to a range of special laws which
prohibited and restricted Aboriginal movements and associations.
While theoretically they were to be treated as British subjects,
they suffered ‘severe disabilities in the courts’.®®> They were not
given equality of legal status, yet were perceived as law-breakers.
In many colonies, legislation entitled police and justices of the
peace to extraordinary powers over Aboriginal people. Pastoralists,
miners and other employers of Aboriginal labour were often
appointed as justices of the peace and magistrates. They tried cases
relating to their own or their neighbours’ employees, and sent
out their station’s employees to assist in police efforts to quell
Aboriginal actions.®* In Western Australia, for example, Aboriginal
Protectors had special duties to ‘minimise the annoyance caused
by the Aboriginal people’ which included their nudity and beg-
ging. In 1849, Aboriginal people could be tried summarily for
criminal offences (excluding murder, arson, rape) by two or more
justices of the peace and sentenced with up to six months
imprisonment plus corporal punishment for male offenders.¢
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This court room scene depicts a trial of Aborigines for murder at
Franklin Harbour in December 1855. Three men were subse-
quently hanged in January 1856. The man standing near the seated
witness is a native interpreter. Admittedly the artist has trouble
with faces, but the Aboriginal figures look less than human.
MITCHELL LIBRARY, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Many legal impediments affected Aboriginal people.®® In some
colonies they could not press charges, were held corporately guilty
for the crimes of others, and were not permitted to give evidence
because they were pagans. But even the lifting of restrictions on
giving evidence meant little. The justice system was especially
alienating for people who were not familiar with western culture.
Aboriginal people often understood little English, and thought
they were to provide required answers rather than the ‘objective
truth’.¢” Juries were almost exclusively white, and rarely sym-
pathised with the Aboriginal defendant or believed Aboriginal
witnesses. Even if a white man had provoked the attack, the
lesson had to be taught that Aboriginal retaliation was unaccept-
able. In the 1920s and 30s, numerous cases which Charles Rowley
described as ‘spectacular injustice’ occurred through the courts.
These highlighted the conflicts between traditional Aboriginal and
British style law. But even more, they drew attention to the fact
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that Aboriginal people were not receiving justice under the
Australian system. Race had long been a crucial factor in admin-
istering justice, as demonstrated by studies of the 1888 rape case
of a Victorian Aboriginal woman and of rape cases concerning
Aboriginal men.®® Except in the most blatant cases, it was a
tradition for whites to be acquitted for the murders of Aboriginal
people. In a survey of the North Queensland circuit court
between 1882-94, only a quarter of Europeans charged with
violent offences against Aboriginal people were found guilty, and
none were to be executed, despite the high proportion of murder
cases.®”

In Northern Territory murder trials from 1884 to 1911 all
nine Aboriginal people charged with murder of whites were found
guilty, and three were executed. In the cases where whites were
charged, they were very rarely found guilty, and the murderer
was released after a short term. In 1913 Judge Bevan wrote to
the Administrator:

Juries will not convict a white man for an offence against a
black, certainly if the evidence is that of blacks, whereas on
black evidence there is no difficulty in the way of securing a
conviction against a black . . . The jury system may have
worked well where the population is all one colour, but the
introduction of racial antipathies goes far to undermine the
principles of trial by Jury.”0

Some of the scandals which occurred in the 1920s and 1930s in
the far north related to police actions against Aboriginal people
(for example, the Coniston and Forrest River massacres’!). Others
involved suspicious deaths in police custody, such as that of Dolly
of the Borroloola district. Constable G. Stott was charged with
her assault but acquitted. The Supreme Court Judge stated that
all the Aboriginal witnesses were ‘liars’. Aboriginal witnesses had
their images tarnished by being treated as criminals; in frontier
areas, they were often chained and imprisoned until the hearing.
In 1934 an Aboriginal man, Tuckiar, was charged with the
murder of Constable McColl, and Judge Wells found him guilty,
despite corroborated evidence of provocation. Aborigines alleged
that McColl engaged in intercourse with Tuckiar’s wife and
refused to compensate the husband. The High Court overruled
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Wells’ decision, unanimously ruling that Tuckiar should be
released into the custody of the Chief Protector. However,
Tuckiar mysteriously disappeared the next day without trace.
Another man, Willaberta Jack, who was charged with the shoot-
ing murder of a white pastoralist (1929), was found dead soon
after his acquittal—officially due to ‘influenza’.’? Humanitarians
agitated for the establishment of Native Courts as in the Mandated
Territory of Papua New Guinea, but their calls were largely
unsuccessful.

DETENTION PATTERNS

Aboriginal detention rates have not always been as high as they
are today; indeed their escalation is a relatively recent
phenomenom. In the nineteenth century, Aboriginal ‘crime’ was
more likely to be punished by frontiersmen than police. For most
of the twentieth century, missionaries, government reserve super-
intendents and employers exercised discipline over Aboriginal
people. The greatest increase in official Aboriginal detention has
occurred since the 1950s, when increasing numbers of Aboriginal
people moved into towns, and the government encouraged their
incorporation into the wider community.

Prior to the Assimilation Policy, a separate system of justice
operated for Aboriginal people living on reserves. In Queensland
and Western Australia, reserves had their own courts, prisons and
punishments. Aboriginal people charged and held in their lock-
ups do not appear in state or Territory police or prison records.
Segregation policies therefore meant not only separate living
places but special sets of regulations and an insular, subjective
judicial system. In a survey of courts presided over by Queensland
reserve superintendents from 1959 to 1962, Colin Tatz found that
almost every defendant pleaded guilty, and virtually all were found
guilty. He pointed out how trivial behaviours from ‘untidyness’
to ‘immoral conduct’ were punishable with incarceration and
argued that the judicial system contravened key principles of
natural justice. The superintendent or missionary knew the per-
sonalities involved, there was no court of appeal, no legal
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assistance offered, and the accused could be banished for an
unlimited time.”?

Greater association with police meant not only greater surveil-
lance but a tendency for Aborigines to be perceived as
law-breakers and undesirables.”7* Special state legislation placed
Aboriginal people under a set of discriminatory prohibitions
between 1900 and 1960. Furthermore, Aboriginal people’s loss of
land and lifestyle factors made them especially susceptible to
charges of loitering, vagrancy and petty theft.”> The charge of
‘vagrancy’ assumes ‘respectability’ is linked to a fixed residence,
and the carrying of a certain amount of cash or savings. These
notions were inimical to an Aboriginal travelling lifestyle with
reciprocal sharing principles.

Cattle spearing was one of the most common crimes in pastoral
districts until the 1930s. Aboriginal people felt justified in taking
animals for food off their traditional lands but this conflicted with
western property principles. Europeans had freely taken Aboriginal
foodstuffs, killing their game foods, and even abducting women
and children. Absence of native title made Aboriginal use of open
space trespass. In the 1990s, Aboriginal cultural factors relating to
use of ‘public space’ and white perceptions of their residential areas
as public similarly led to disproportionate arrest rates.”®

Discriminatory legislation banned alcohol to people classed as
Aborigines until the 1960s or thereabouts. Legalisation of alcohol
consumption for Aboriginal people is often cited as the chief cause
of increased detention rates. Available figures show, however, that
the trend towards higher rates of incarceration had commenced
some years before the legalisation of alcohol consumption.
Increased rates of incarceration in police cells and prisons coin-
cided with the time that other types of Aboriginal
institutionalisation were phased out. The Assimilation Policy of
the 1950s led more Aboriginal people to move into towns,
resulting in greater visibility than when ‘locked’ away on reserves
and missions. In the 1960s and 70s, greater mechanisation, rural
recession, and to a lesser extent, the introduction of equal wages
in the pastoral industry, led to higher unemployment rates. Less
employer control and the disbandment (sometimes enforced by
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employers) of supervised work-related camps had a similar effect
to shifting Aborigines oft the reserves.

Only scattered historical statistics exist on Aboriginal detention
rates and incarceration, as separate records for Aboriginal people
were rarely kept, but the South Australian statistics provide a
spiralling example. The rates of South Australian Aboriginal
people in the prison population during the nineteenth century
were fairly low—varying between 2 and 7 per cent. From
1905-30 ‘black and coloured’ represented 2.4 per cent admissions,
or less than 1 per cent of the Aboriginal population of South
Australia. In the years 1956—69, the proportion of admissions
steadily rose to 25 per cent of the total. Until the late 1940s,
Queensland’s Aboriginal people represented only a small though
not insignificant percentage of the prison population. Reflecting
the tightening reign on reserve dwellers, from 1901 numbers held
in prisons decreased, with 6.7 per cent of the prison population
in 1902 and 1.4 per cent in 1931. In Western Australia during
the 1950-58 period, the rates of convictions for Aboriginal people
were climbing steadily, with a more rapid jump between 1955
and 1960. By 1965, Aboriginal people in Western Australia
represented 30 per cent of the prison population, compared with
an estimated 2—3 per cent of the overall population.

Of Aboriginal people who were charged, most offences were
relatively minor, against ‘good order’. Drunkenness and obscene
language were amongst the most common charges. In her study
of Aboriginal people charged in Western Australia, Eggleston
found that sentences discriminated against Aboriginal people, with
prison sentences much more likely for Aboriginal offenders.
Minor convictions soon led to long criminal records.”? C.D.
Rowley’s 1965 survey of Victoria, New South Wales and South
Australia found that Aboriginal people were subjected to dis-
proportionately high charge rates. In common with wider
patterns, very few women were charged. Men were thought to
require this type of discipline and had a greater interest in alcohol.

Poverty cannot be overlooked as a factor which precipitates
crime. In biographies by now ‘respectable’ Aboriginal people, they
reminisce with some amusement about theft as a necessary means
to acquire things other people took for granted. Ruby Langford
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Ginibi thus appreciated the stolen money she was given for
groceries when all her children were hungry, or the thoughtful
present of turf for her backyard from a prison renegade. On her
wedding day Mum Shirl’s complete bridal outfit was ‘hot’.78 No
sense of wrongdoing emerges in recalling these events, but rather
a recognition of occasional theft as a worthwhile survival strategy.
The hard work required to survive as an Aborigine—tough, often
tragic lives combined with police harrassment—Iled Langford to
consider it unsurprising and not particularly ‘serious’ that one of
her sons would have more than one conviction for firing guns at
police cars.”?

The police, legal institutions and the media have often con-
ceptualised Aboriginal groups as criminal classes, leading to
increased detentions. Relations are seen as consorting with
‘criminals’ and despite the minor nature of their offences, the repu-
tations of others are tarnished accordingly. The criminalisation exp-
erience is sometimes passed down through generations, to become
a seemingly ‘normal’ way of life. Incarcerations in the family thus
become a common experience for many Aboriginal families.

The wide array of other institutions to control Aboriginal
people involved high degrees of confinement and isolation.
Children’s institutions were not only rigidly disciplined but puni-
tive. At Carrolup Settlement in Western Australia, young children
were confined in a lock-up known as the ‘Boob’. The case of a
girl punished for over 60 days because she tried to return to her
family was not uncommon.?? Reserve managers in Western Aus-
tralia exerted control over marriage, diet, child-rearing,
employment, and greatly restricted movement off reserves.
Queensland reserves had similar policies: Aboriginal people who
rocked the boat by requesting their own earnings, which were
held in trust funds, could be banished to Palm Island. New South
Wales reserve dwellers who complained about unfair withholding
of rations were punished by their own or their children’s banish-
ment.3! Exile on another reserve far from kin and community
was a way of keeping Aboriginal people subservient to the wishes
of the Board and deterring political activism. Aboriginal people
had virtually no recourse to appeal such decisions.

Once Aboriginal people moved nearer to centres of white
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settlement, any non-conforming behaviour became more visible
and likely to meet opposition. Rising tensions between Aboriginal
people and local communities were fuelled by many factors, and
during the 1970s and 80s some local councils in New South Wales
colluded with police and other authorities to improve their ‘tidy
town’ image.82 Arrest rates rose rapidly, and media reports of ‘race
riots’ further exaggerated the tensions.

The rhetoric and rationales for earlier protectionist policies
were premised on paternalistic notions which defined Aboriginal
people as a ‘child race’ requiring the sort of ‘supervision’ (the
word ‘surveillance’ was thus not used), the ‘gentle hand to guide’
that children required. They were therefore to be controlled and
punished in a different way to other adults. Assumed too mentally
immature for responsibility for their actions, the prison system
was not necessarily seen as the logical place for them, or at least
not the first point of recourse. But after the 1950s, international
opinion pushed Australia closer towards granting equal rights to
Aboriginal people. A process of ‘exemptions’ in various states gave
Aborigines the right to drink alcohol, though to gain a certificate,
one had to reject links with Aboriginal lifestyle and kin. Without
‘cood behaviour’, most certificates could be cancelled.®3 In many
towns, Aborigines were still excluded from public areas such as
swimming pools and shops, prompting Charles Perkins to organise
the Freedom Rides of 1965.

If Aborigines did not conform to the cultural strictures of the
colonisers’ society or fulfil their expectations as amenable servile
workers, they were categorised as ‘bad types’ who needed policing.
Incarceration through the gaol system was the updated method of
control, exclusion, and discipline. That prison could become a key
normative institution to teach ‘civilisation’ to the indigenous
people is one of the implicit contradictions of colonialism.

PUNISHMENT AND SURVEILLANCES$*

Aboriginal people as a group have been the target of various forms
of discipline and surveillance—starting often through the barrel
of a gun during the ‘frontier’ eras, then changing into the
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restrictions affecting mobility and personal liberty policed by
mission and reserve authorities.

Changing attitudes to crime and punishment accompanied the
social sciences of psychology, psychiatry, criminal anthropology
and criminology.?> In the nineteenth century, alcohol and the
vices of civilisation were considered factors which led Aboriginal
people to gaol. In an 1887 report on the management of Queens-
land prisons, imprisonment was considered to have no meaning
for Aboriginal people and no deterrent effect. Recommended
instead was solitary confinement, of which Aboriginal people were
terrified. Although they were to receive the same diet as white
prisoners, they were segregated from them.8¢ After the experience
of Van Diemen’s Land, and imprisonment elsewhere, it was found
that Aboriginal people did not survive when confined. This was
noted in a medical report on Aboriginal people detained for
mental health reasons. Imprisonment on an island was considered
preferable to ‘close confinement’ which was ‘prejudicial to their
health’ ‘though tempered by many unaccustomed comforts’ it was
‘the great factor in shortening life’.87

Physical punishment of Aboriginal people continued, despite
its rejection as brutal in nineteenth century Europe.’8 In frontier
regions, physical punishment was even more common. Settler
folklore included the belief that Aboriginal people had especially
thick skulls and it was almost impossible to strike hard enough
to kill them.? In Western Australia, justices of the peace could
legally lash male offenders 24 times in a row.?? Native Police
were flogged, and troopers, missionaries, employers and reserve
managers all considered this an acceptable means of punishing
Aboriginal people. One New South Wales reserve manager car-
ried around a rifle, firing occasionally for effect, while another
belted people with a baton.”! Reverend James Watson of
Milingimbi admitted in 1925 to using the stockwhip on Aborig-
inal men, allegedly to punish them for assaulting their wives.”2
Judge Wells of the Supreme Court of the Northern Territory
stated in 1938 that ‘the only punishment aboriginals appreciate,
is a flogging. This has been suggested as the proper punishment
for aboriginals by many who know them.” For more serious
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Men being brought into a police station in neck chains, ¢ 1920.
Dozens of photographs of Aborigines in chains provide evocative
evidence of the style of white justice against Aborigines. BATTYE
LIBRARY, LIBRARY BOARD OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA, 68174P

offences, he recommended execution, and was angered when the
government commuted death sentences to life imprisonment.”3

Neck and leg chains were used on arrested Aboriginal prisoners
in the Centre, north and parts of Western Australia until the 1930s,
even though the nearest police lock-up was miles away. Aboriginal
chain gangs also conducted road works. H.D. Moseley, who
headed a 1934 Royal Commission to consider the ‘Aboriginal
problem’, determined that neck chains were humane.”* On the
one hand, the need for chains implied great success as escapists,
but the symbolism of such entrapment and the discomfort it
brought was a powerful demonstration of colonial authority.

A continuing Australian tradition of differential treatment in
enforcing ‘ustice’ reflects the deeper conflicts ensuing between
coloniser and colonised. Vengeance policies were commonplace
and remained so into the twentieth century. In the 1930s, when
Aboriginal people murdered a white man or Japanese men, as in
the Caledon Bay murders, the government sent out police-led
‘punitive expeditions’. A Board of Enquiry was set up in 1935
to investigate cases of ‘ill-treatment’ by Constable McKinnon and
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others in Central Australia. It was revealed that police whipped
and thrashed station Aboriginal people. The Board recommended
that the managers report any cases of ill-treatment of Aboriginal
people, but it is doubtful this was put into practice. In response
to humanitarian pressure from the south, the Superintendent of
Police, A.V. Stretton, advised police the following year that they
should be ‘carefully guarded’ in their actions towards Aboriginal
prisoners. Stretton advised ‘discretion with firearms and recom-
mended the use of lighter chains; he banned punitive patrols and
the use of violence in interrogations’.?

As traditional forms of Aboriginal justice and punishment were
not recognised, Aboriginal people were sometimes charged and/or
punished for enforcing their laws. Punishment might entail a
spearing in the leg or an execution.”® An 1887 Report on
Queensland prisons lamented the injustice of Aboriginal people
being punished twice ‘by the law of the race which has dispos-
sessed him of his hunting grounds and taught him the vices of
civilisation’. In many cases, however, unless they concerned a
non-Aboriginal person or were carried out in the eyes of the law,
government authorities ignored intra-Aboriginal violence.

When the ‘civilisers’, especially missionaries, wanted to curb
the violent traditional punishment they commonly did so by using
violence themselves. Aboriginal people’s supposed closeness to
brutes was justification for corporal punishment. Physical suffering
was imposed to make Aboriginal people less of a threat to whites.
For good colonising motives other contemporary values could be
suspended. Yet it is a strange paradox that such punishment, then
considered uncivilised in western societies, was condoned as a
means of ‘civilising’ the Aboriginal people.¥

While the aim of a gaol punishment for non-Aboriginal people
was to deprive the offender of individual liberty, this was not
considered enough to bring home any message to Aboriginal
people. Colonial conquest had already deprived Aboriginal people
of their past liberty, including the sites at which they could drink
water, hunt, camp and meet their kin. They were denied citi-
zenship rights and the reserve system did not permit them to
make decisions about their own lives; its rigid social order was
supposed to be a crash course in civilisation but it meant Aborig-
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inal people were often cut off from the outside world and were
not allowed to manage their own affairs.”®

Thousands of Aboriginal families were thus kept in a form of
custody on segregated reserves. Custody has been defined as ‘safe
keeping, protection, charge, care, guardianship’ as well as the
more judicial ‘the keeping of an officer of justice; confinement,
imprisonment, durance’.?? Supervised missions and reserves were
highly regimented. While the Northern Territory had more of a
laissez faire policy than the states, from the 1930s, systematic
records listed data relating to names, tribe, spouse, offspring,
medical history, employment record, and police convictions. In
1932, the Chief Protector of Aborigines ordered each Aborigine
in the Darwin district to be issued with a bronze numbered disk
after a medical inspection and taking of fingerprints. Aborigines
were supposed to wear the disks around their necks on red tape
provided, but they refused to do so, labelling them ‘dog tags’
after another recently introduced government initiative. Aborig-
inal people of mixed-descent were subject to greater scrutiny,
taken from their parents at a young age and forced to live in
sub-standard accommodation which was both overcrowded and
a fire hazard.

The New South Wales managers of government reserves were
ill-trained and unpredictable. Backgrounds in management or
experience with Aboriginal people were not required, but rather
‘firmness’, and a head for paperwork and figures. Former police-
men, colonial administrators, regimental sergeant-majors and
prison warders were welcome.! A manager’s duties included
teaching children and maintaining school records, writing daily,
weekly, monthly and annual reports, inspecting and repairing the
houses and equipment, entertaining official visitors, collecting rent,
supervising work gangs, distributing rations, and enforcing an array
of mostly petty regulations.’®! Some managers were decent but
there were no real curbs on managerial conduct, and with co-oper-
ative police and magistrates, the place could become a ‘concentra-
tion camp’. Aboriginal people recall tyrannical managers constantly
calling in the police to remove people from the mission—as Les
Coe explained, they ‘treated you like bloody mongrel dogs’.102
While prisons might be seen as the most extreme example of
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institutionalisation, their structure and motives were not entirely
dissimilar to Aboriginal reserves; as such they were part of a cultural
continuum of discipline and socialisation.

Aborigines, however, did not, and today do not, see imprison-
ment as shameful. The mother of one young man who was found
hanged in gaol stated that he was not afraid of prison, as though
this was proof of masculinity or personal strength. It was certainly
something well within the realms of personal or family experience.
Past institutionalisation of self or parents on a regimented mission
or reserve could even make it seem like ‘home’. These formative
experiences were probably interpreted as punishment or discipline
anyway although children could be detained in delinquents homes
on the basis of their colour alone. Although Aboriginal people at
first feared gaol it later become a challenge, a test of one’s ability
to cope with this white controlled environment. Fear of possible
death could add a further edge to this ‘trial by ordeal’.

The elderly Gurindji woman, Amy Laurie described her life-
style during the 1960s and early 70s:

When I was a drunken woman the police got me for
drunk-an’-run-around, and that’s why I left the grog. I used to
end up in gaol all the time—three months. They didn’t think
about me, an old woman, but I spent three months down
Broome. Five times I went there. Oh, I used to have a good
ride too—down and back! I reckon gaol is alright. They feed
you really well, and pay you, so you come back with your own
money when you work around. They used to ask me, ‘How
come you come back in gaol again?” “Why? Because you have
everything here.” Oh, I don’t like it now.103

Amy had alternative explanations of why she gave up drinking.
Gaol may have had an element of travel and adventure, and
although the living conditions were comfortable compared with
what she was used to, she hinted at the loneliness and isolation.
Aboriginal attitudes to gaol highlight the material inequalities in
Australian society and even the ludicrousness of punishing people
whose ordinary lives would be considered punishment by those
belonging to most other groups.

But material ease is not everything. Socially, gaols were of
course lonely and threatening, and it was difficult to get away
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from the tensions associated with white people and strange Abor-
igines. There is also evidence, however, of Aboriginal solidarity
in gaols, exchanges of song cycles and ritual business between
clans.1%4 Then there are the possibilities of an evolving Aboriginal
‘gaol culture’. Unfortunately suicide by hanging has become an
option within this cultural framework.

Aboriginal spokespersons have stated that membership of the
colonised class makes them feel confined and imprisoned, and so
to be actually locked up in a gaol is the last straw. This is a
telling reflection of Aboriginal consciousness about their position
in Australian society. Aboriginal perceptions of and reactions to
custody are closely linked with the intricacies of colonial power
relations. Aboriginal people are perceived and perceive themselves
as ‘losers’ in a conflict where white Australians were victorious,
having celebrated this for many years in works of history and
nationalistic ceremonies such as Australia Day. Colonialism did
not start and end on a specific date. If we accept that it is the
story of one group’s attempt to gain and maintain hegemony over
another group, then it never ends because domination can never
be total. The exception is when the group subject to colonialism
is totally obliterated.

RESISTANCE TO COLONIALISM

Aboriginal people have occupied an ambiguous place in the
Australian nation. After 1942, under Japanese attack, Australia
faced 1its greatest outside threat. Thousands of Aborigines rallied
to defend the land against the enemy but others revealed their
understanding to be quite different. The Australian Government
was nervous about their loyalty, fearing a fifth column amongst
their ranks, especially in remote areas. Waddi Boyoi wanted to
negotiate peace in the north-west without anyone getting killed;
he reasoned, why not let the whites have one bit of his land and
the Japanese the other bit; the local Aborigines would have some
left too and they could all share his traditional land.!%> Many
Aborigines thus continued to see themselves as the real landown-
ers, and indeed in the north, they had only recently been usurped
by what became White Australia.
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The tragic heritage of colonialism poses a huge problem for
Australian society. Until recently even ‘sympathetic’ and well-
informed white Australians described the situation of Aboriginal
people as the ‘Aboriginal problem’.1% Popular conceptions con-
tinue to frame the issue this way, asking “What is the solution?’
as though it will be ‘solved’ by non-Aboriginal people. Earlier
administrators such as C.E. Cook, Chief Protector of Aboriginal
people in the Northern Territory in the 1920s, perceived ‘the
Aboriginal problem’ as a ‘half-caste problem’ because the ‘full-
bloods’ would die out. Aboriginal survival was therefore the
‘problem’, as it made things rather messy. Only in Tasmania did
colonists believe the colonising process was complete. The quest
for ‘real Aborigines’ still appeals to many Europeans today as a
means of excluding less physically identifiable people of Aboriginal
descent. Lowering the numbers is one way of lessening the
‘problem’. This extinction myth, perhaps convenient for white
residents, is repeatedly challenged by Tasmania’s Aboriginal pop-
ulation. It is no coincidence that a spokesperson like Michael
Mansell reacts to past non-recognition by making himself and his
people’s survival so visible.

As we have seen, the surveillance of personal lives, sexual
relations, hygiene, child-rearing and general housekeeping became
very intrusive in the ‘welfare’ era. Aboriginal women and men
were not given the chance of self-policing but had to put up
with inspectors and police with great powers over their financial
security and family life. Heavy surveillance of Aboriginal families
led to greater institutionalisation and police and prison detention
rates. As an easily identifiable and disadvantaged social group, they
continue to be greatly over-represented in charge and detention
rates. Western Australia has the worst record of 29 times the rates
for non-Aborigines. In a depressing irony, the State thus ensured
that many of the Aboriginal people have become a type of convict
class in contemporary society.

Aborigines’ relationship to the nation has remained ambiguous,
leading many to argue that they now wish to be recognised as
an indigenous nation, or nations within the nation. Aboriginal
people have long suffered a protracted campaign of exclusion from
the public sphere; until the late 1960s and early 1970s they could
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Government policies emphasised health issues and targeted
Aboriginal parenting practices. Mothers such as these Delissaville
women were told to care for their babies in the 1950s fashion of
regimented routines and western hygiene products. Yet basic
infrastructure such as running water was often unavailable to
complement the lessons. The official caption to this photograph
reads: ‘The Baby Clinic and Mothercraft Centre is a greatly valued
amenity enjoyed by the residents of the Delissaville government
settlement, in the Northern Territory. Aboriginal mothers have
taken to the system with enthusiasm; and with great benefit to
themselves and their families.” AUSTRALIAN NEWS AND INFORMA-
TION BUREAU, PHOTOGRAPH BY J. TANNER, L25349

be officially excluded from main streets, parks, public swimming
pools, public bars, the census and the vote. Exclusions now

continue surreptitiously and police are sometimes used to imple-
ment them. It is hardly surprising then, that Aboriginal resist-
ance to white authority is often specifically directed against the
police.

As earlier discussed, the history of Aboriginal groups has varied

a great deal regionally, with some clans suffering devastating
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depopulation. Others retained more autonomy, language, cultural
knowledge, and land associations. In the case of the Torres Strait
Islands, a relatively independent employment history, geographic
separation and cultural differences also set them apart. In northern
Australia, a later frontier, a history of economic failures and a
small non-Aboriginal population enabled Aboriginal people to
maintain a certain autonomy over their lives and to a relatively
large extent, maintain traditional land associations and spiritual
lives. The Northern Territory Land Rights Act 1976 helped lead to
cultural revitalisation and provided a power base as well as many
side benefits such as negotiation, legal and employment experi-
ence. Sometimes reserves or pastoral stations formed a basis for
community organisation. The largest reserves were in Queensland,
Western Australia and the Northern Territory. Earlier State edu-
cation on the Queensland reserves has had spin-offs in Aboriginal
people who are better educated than those in many other regions.
Smaller reserves, such as Lake Tyers in Victoria, have also enabled
Aboriginal communities to use these bases for mobilisation.
But the more repressive the regime, the more likely it was that
those who left the reserves would rebel and angrily assert their
rights.

The reserves system has, however, also created a legacy of
helplessness and inadequacy. While a strong sense of shared
identity emerged from such institutionalisation, ‘inmates’, as they
were often called!?’, were deprived of decision-making powers
over their lives and that of their families. They were denied
management of many aspects of their own affairs, including their
bank accounts, their children’s schooling, whether they exercised
their democratic rights. During the 1980s, governments in these
states persistently blocked or limited land rights and have not
encouraged Aboriginal studies education.

Racism and colonialism were far more powerful forces than
sexism in the lives of Aboriginal people, however, Aboriginal
men’s historical experiences certainly differed from women’s. In
the colonial context, women were expected to centre their lives
on the family, which in the twentieth century came to mean the
nuclear family in a suburban house, while the male was expected
to be the breadwinner. The gender-power relations of colonialism
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A group of boys wearing Boys Brigade uniform, Ooldea, salute
the British flag. Here the potent symbols of uniforms, flag and
militaristic regimentation suggest that ‘civilisation’ was being
taught to Aboriginal boys amidst desert dunes and spinifex. SOUTH
AUSTRALIAN ABORIGINAL HERITAGE PHOTOGRAPHIC COLLEC-
TION, DEPARTMENT OF STATE ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS

meant that Aboriginal women were in demand by colonial men
but relationships between Aboriginal men and white women were
taboo.

Both men and women suffered conflicting pressures from their
own communities and white authorities.!® They often resisted
European pressures, preferring extended family arrangements even
though they might break housing rules, and more flexible working
arrangements which left them more vulnerable in the labour
market. But the loss of independent means of production, virtually
no land or chance to accumulate capital, and their confined lives
on reserves severely curbed opportunities. Whenever the job
market shrank, Aboriginal men found themselves unemployed and
they were also excluded from white male focal points. While they
were not permitted into public bars in many states until the 1960s,
alcohol, obtained illegally, offered an escape from humiliation, and,
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as in many countries, it continues to be more popular amongst
men than women. In some communities there are few other means
by which men can prove their manliness and worth. The old rituals
have gone and new initiations are sought. Puberty, a desire to
prove manliness, drinking and gaol are not uncommonly linked
amongst Aboriginal men. Girls and women suffer drug abuse,
alcohol-related domestic violence and high rates of early death.
The sorts of pressures they face are little understood.!%?

Earlier Aboriginal heroes like Pemulwuy in New South Wales,
Nemarluk in the Northern Territory and Pigeon or Jandamarra
of Western Australia, made amazing escapes from police and
prison confinement. Similarly Aboriginal bushrangers or warriors
such as Rebel, Mosquito and Murdering Tommy were admired
for their defiance of the white military and police. That Aborig-
inal people are not ashamed of having been in gaol also expresses
their defiance towards the white legal system. Aboriginal people
continue to daringly escape today, though the long periods of
imprisonment that result make it a rather tragic form of resistance.

Throughout Australia, Aboriginal individuals and families were
engaged in more positive struggles. To maintain as much indepen-
dence and family unity as possible has been difficult but for those
who succeeded, worthwhile. Many battled to stay off reserves,
while others just kept to themselves, avoiding police or other
authorities and bureaucratic control. Less is known about these
people than those who were under constant surveillance. Amongst
those who came under rigorous control were many who struggled
to retain personal space. Some did so through the forbidden
pleasures of gambling, petty theft, swearing or drinking.

The political struggles of Aboriginal people had a profound
impact. Spokespersons like William Cooper waged patient and
ingenious battles through lobbying politicians for human rights and
political representation, while the Cumerangunja people staged
strikes to protest against infringement of their rights and attracted
union and community support. Struggling for decent living con-
ditions and pay, Aboriginal pastoral workers went on strike in the
Pilbara in the 1940s, and in the Northern Territory in the 1960s
and 70s. Land rights were also fundamental to their protests. The
people of Noonkanbah and Mapoon staged lengthy campaigns to
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protect their land and community from desecration and displace-
ment by mining. The Day of Mourning staged on Australia Day,
1938, was a national meeting of Aborigines which demanded
citizenship and human rights. The persistent lobbying by the
Federal Council for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advance-
ment (FCAATSI) and the footwork of activists like Kath Walker
(later Oodgeroo Noonuccal) that achieved the successful result of
the 1967 Referendum. Henceforth Aborigines would be counted
in the national Census for the first time and the Commonwealth
could override state powers in regard to Aborigines.!'® More
recently, Aboriginal leaders like Pat Dodson have done outstanding
work towards national reconciliation, while highly skilled advo-
cates and negotiators such as Noel Pearson, Mick Dodson, Marcia
Langton and Lois O’Donaghue helped achieve the historic victory
of national land rights under the Native Title Act 1993.

Throughout Australia, Aboriginal people have resisted the total
domination of the newcomers over their land, bodies and minds.
But they have also lent their trust to the newcomers, and openly
shared these things with them. The history of negotiation, inter-
action and co-operation between Aboriginal people and
Europeans still needs to be told. Aboriginal people worked for
the white people, they married and cohabited with them, espe-
cially the women, and raised families. Aboriginal people shared
their knowledge of the landscape and their bush expertise, as well
as their Dreaming stories, their art, their ritual songs and dances.
Aboriginal people have often reached out with hope and trust to
forge a better future for themselves and for white people in this
country. The only way a better future can happen is if both sides
are willing to cross that colonising divide and talk about making
amends for the past. Land rights are a priority but this must also
happen in regard to education, health, employment, in changing
attitudes, and above all in Australians opening themselves to the
stories of the tragedies as well as the stories of healing, of
co-operation, of negotiation and reconciliation.

The case reports of deaths in custody are revealing examples
of how the history of colonialism and especially State intrusion
have tragically affected Aboriginal families and individuals. Biog-
raphies and autobiographies of people like Margaret Tucker,
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Margaret Tucker at Aboriginal
demonstrations at the opening of
Parliament by Queen Elizabeth, 6
March 1974. COURIER MAIL

Charles Perkins, Grant Ngabidj, Jack Sullivan, Ruby Langford
Ginibi and Ida West tell stories of struggle and survival, often
humourously, and often with much hope for the future. It is
important that all Australians take urgent heed of both the
tragedies and the stories with happier endings. As the acclaimed
writer and artist Sally Morgan eloquently wrote:

In the telling we assert the validity of our own experiences and we
call the silence of two hundred years a lie. And it is important for
you, the listener, because like it or not, we are part of you. We
have to find a way of living together in this country, and that will
only come when our hearts, minds and wills are set towards
reconciliation. It will only come when thousands of stories have
been spoken and listened to with understanding.!!!

NOTES

1 See A. Frost, ‘New South Wales as Terra Nullius: The British
Denial of Aboriginal land rights’, in S. Janson and S. Macintyre
(eds), Through White Eyes, Allen & Unwin, Sydney, 1990, origi-
nally in Historical Studies, vol.19, no.77.
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For a more detailed study of various periods of Aboriginal-white
relations, with a special emphasis on the gender relations, see A.
McGrath, Chapters 1, 6 and 12 in P. Grimshaw, M. Lake, A.
McGrath, M. Quartly, Creating a Nation, McPhee Gribble/Pen-
guin, Ringwood, 1994.

For more on these themes, see ibid, pp.87, 91; H. Reynolds, With
the White People, Penguin, Ringwood, 1990 and in my other
forthcoming work on gender, Aborigines and colonialism.
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2
New South Wales

HE relations between Aboriginal people and their invaders
on the lands which became New South Wales share many
themes with the histories of other states within Australia. Yet
there are also unique elements. It was here that the first and
therefore the most unpredictable encounters occurred between
Aboriginal land owners and invaders. These initial meetings took
place without the burden of precedents and betrayals. The unique
nature of relations stems also from the length and intensity of
colonisation in this first Australian state. Here history has moved
far beyond a violent but simple frontier battle into a long and
complex interchange between coloniser and colonised. Progress
has not been easy or inevitable and each change has had to be
fought over in what seems at times an endless series of conflicts.
Yet New South Wales, despite its lengthy colonisation, has
also seen some extraordinary flowerings in Aboriginal society, as
its members have developed innovative strategies for creating a
future in the very changed conditions they face. This chapter will
chart the complex interactions of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
people in New South Wales, from those brutal but sometimes
ambiguous frontiers of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries,
to the complex shifts and challenges of the twentieth.
Out of the dense web of the past two hundred years, this
chapter will have a special focus on the twentieth century. The

55



G 100 200 300

Kilometres

__/ - a
~ ¥
l_'_'_'_'_ T B I
. Moree
Brewa‘rrma d Graften »
* Walgetl

Armidale

«Tamworth

Kamilarai *{ Pt Macquarie

Barkindji
*Broken

i */ Taree

1
. Wellington
Condobolin
| Lake Cargetligo Forbes 'Ora%geh le
P sBathurst
L W}md]um cCowrn § >OISYDNEY
- . Grl.fflth &A* &9
N LA @ 5
ks rﬁ\>/‘. ejunee * 255 )

\ WaggaWagpa
. ..

Tumut Pacific Jcean

Cumeragunjau;ﬁ ) :\‘];:r.y/‘“‘

NEW SOUTH WALES

state’s twentieth century history, especially the post World War
II decades, has been less well explored in historical analyses. The
course of events in the long colonised and densely settled eastern
states were by then influenced by very different forces from the
harsh frontier conditions which predominated in the tropical
north and west.

The histories of each state have not, of course, been isolated.
During the early twentieth century, the emerging, sophisticated
Aboriginal political organisations of the south-east, in particular
in New South Wales and Victoria, were to become actively
involved in the political campaigns around the conduct of the
invasion as it proceeded in the more remote areas from the 1920s.
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At the same time, the cultural and social concerns which Aborig-
inal people in both remote and long settled areas shared, have
resonated with and stimulated each other’s strategies and
organisational directions from at least the 1930s. The politics and
perceptions of white Australians in each state have also interacted,
but have never been identical. The twentieth century has been
the time when ‘policy’ in relation to Aboriginal people reached
its greatest expansion, and the contrasts as well as the similarities
in each state’s policies can expose a great deal about the internal
relations between Aboriginal people and whites at that time. For
all these reasons, the twentieth century is important as a rich focus
in any study of the basis of current conditions.

Race relations in New South Wales have often appeared in
public manifestations to be simple, two-sided conflicts between
black and white. When events are examined in detail, however,
it becomes clear that each side was made up of different interest
groups, sometimes in uneasy alliances but often in outright
conflict themselves. Continual tensions arose, for example,
between groups within the colonising society. Rural whites have
often sought to remove or to incarcerate Aboriginal people. The
metropolitan bureaucracies of London and later Sydney have
frequently aimed to assimilate Aborigines, reluctantly or not, into
those very same rural white populations. So policies have been
marked by inconsistencies in conception or implementation, and
some have been quite openly sabotaged by white interest groups
at the local level. Aboriginal resistance too has altered the course
of many policies; some were abandoned as unworkable in the
face of Aboriginal intransigence and others transformed to obscure
their intent. There have been tensions within Aboriginal activist
organisations, some reflecting differences in regional conditions,
and others exposing differing strategies in coming to terms with
colonisation. Finally, there have been tensions, too, between
Aboriginal groups and the white groups with whom they have
formed alliances, suggesting the divergent cultural and philosoph-
ical bases from which they developed their politics.

This chapter will explore some of those complexities, tensions
and ambiguities in the interactions between Aboriginal and non-
Aboriginal people. While there are many facets to such complex
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relations, there are some ongoing themes which can be traced
through this history. One is the persistence with which Aboriginal
people have developed strategies for surviving and developing
within the constraints of the colonial situation. The priority given
to particular demands by Aboriginal political movements has
varied with time, however, and this chapter will examine the
conditions which sometimes thrust land rights to the front of the
agenda and at other times saw civil rights emerge as the most
urgent demand.

Another theme traced in this chapter will be the increasing
control which the government has tried to exercise over Aborig-
inal people. The conventional interpretation of colonial race
relations has been that the greatest restrictions on Aboriginal
people were exercised during the late nineteenth century, and
that they were then steadily eased as a result of growing enlight-
enment among whites over the twentieth century. This view of
the past has tended to rely on the titles of policies, such as
‘Protection’, “Welfare’, and ‘Self~-determination’, as if these really
did define the goals and practices of government. It has been
assumed that the passage from one policy to another marked a
reduction in control and an improvement in general conditions.
There has also been a tendency to view policy as the most
important element in determining the course of events, an inde-
pendent element created and then carried out on the basis of
considered decisions of government.

The New South Wales record shows a very different story.
Shifts in economic conditions, particularly the depressions of the
1890s and 1930s, and also the rural recession of the 1960s, were
the catalysts of each major increase in the controls over Aborig-
ines, regardless of whether the name of the current policy
changed. The policies themselves were implemented unevenly
according to the different economic conditions in each region of
the state, and the degree of local white hostility to the
government’s intentions.

The goals of Aboriginal people themselves have been just as
important as policy in determining the direction of change. They
persistently tried to regain land, to sustain social relations within
communities with distinctive cultural characteristics, and to gain
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recognition as citizens with a right to equality of opportunity.
Their attempts to pursue such goals were entwined with efforts
to defend themselves from the interventions of government policy
or the attacks of local white townspeople. Aboriginal resistance
affected the implementation of government policies. The local
conflicts which arose when Aborigines refused to accept discrim-
ination generated new policies in turn. This chapter takes as its
mainspring the attempt to trace the interactions of these three
forces: the economy and its social outcomes, government policy
and Aboriginal interests.

OVERVIEW

A relatively high proportion of the Aboriginal population survived
the initial severe violence of the invasion in New South Wales
and began to rebuild their communities. In many areas Aboriginal
people had struck a tenuous economic and social balance with
local whites by the 1860s. In farming areas, Aborigines had
frequently regained a portion of their traditional lands, as a
residential and sometimes economic base. In pastoral areas, they
had established an apparently secure economic role in the pastoral
industry and lived in camps with access to their traditional lands.
These mutual but fragile accommodations began to break down
as a result of the 1890s’ depression and the rise of cultural and
biological chauvinism during the early 1900s. A series of major
losses of civil rights followed, such as expulsion from public
schooling, exclusion from the Federal franchise, and denial of
State benefits, including unemployment relief. State intervention
into their family and cultural life was intensified after 1909 by a
‘Protection’ policy which aimed to ‘disperse’ them. Aboriginal
people faced a renewed loss of their lands through the 1920s, a
loss they fought by developing an organised political campaign to
restore their land rights.

Then during the 1930s’ Depression, the ‘Protection’ policy
changed its fundamental goal as the government capitulated to
the demands of rural whites for segregation. ‘Protection’ now
came to mean enforced concentration of the Aboriginal popula-
tion on a few central reserves, stripping them of any choice in
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where they would live. This shift in policy fundamentally attacked
all Aboriginal peoples’ previous attempts to live in some contin-
uing association with their traditional lands.

These assaults on their rights were opposed by Aboriginal
political organisations in the 1920s and 1930s, and they advanced
a positive platform of reforms demanding land and civil rights.
The pace of discriminatory and restrictive control slowed as a
result of the successful Aboriginal recruitment of white support
but also because of the manpower needs of the war economy in
the early 1940s. The postwar “Welfare’ administration, however,
simply shifted the approach in Aboriginal policy to one of
intrusive monitoring and attempted behaviour control. The Wel-
fare Board’s ‘Assimilation Policy’ retained many of the most
destructive ‘Protection’ legislative powers over Aboriginal fami-
lies. Aboriginal organisations developed a sustained campaign to
restore civil rights and called again for secure Aboriginal land.
Yet just as victories in the struggle to protect Aboriginal civil
rights appeared to have been won during the late 1960s, another
expansion of bureaucratic surveillance occurred as the rural econ-
omy began to decline.

A dismantling of the ‘“Welfare’ apparatus led to a proliferation
of the sites of control to state housing and social welfare bureau-
cracies. At the same time, the loss of formal ‘Welfare’
management over Aboriginal people led local white rural and
urban authorities to call increasingly on police to impose ‘law
and order’ by restricting and controlling, by violence if necessary,
the area’s Aboriginal community. Aboriginal political responses
were to draw on new federal funding to challenge successfully
the rural residential segregation which had propped up racial
discrimination, to take control over providing legal services to
Aboriginal people increasingly under pressure by the police and
to link their land demands in New South Wales with those of
Aboriginal people in other states.

The 1960s and 1970s also, however, saw a rising degree of
frustration expressed by Aboriginal people. The strengthening of
the Aboriginal voice in politics, increased access to education and
a broadening of white support were countered by the recognition
of how deeply entrenched was institutional racism in both rural
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and urban situations. The heightened expectations generated by
increasing Federal Government funding were undermined by the
loss of most avenues of economic independence as employment
was lost when the rural and industrial sectors contracted. These
decades generated innovative formulations of Aboriginal aspira-
tions, including self-determination and then sovereignty but many
fundamental tensions remained unresolved.

In tracing the history of colonised New South Wales, how-
ever, it is important to recognise as a starting point that this
history is the result of conflict between two complex societies.
Some understanding is needed of the dense, rich Aboriginal
populations who owned and managed the land in the south-east
of the continent before the British invasion began.

ABORIGINAL AUSTRALIA

The Aboriginal societies of south-eastern Australia had developed
a range of patterns of land management and cultural organisation.
The language groups which belonged to the fertile coastal lands,
like the Dharuk, Gandangara and Kuringgai around what became
Sydney, and the Bundjalung on the far northern rivers, were
living almost sedentary lives on relatively small, closely settled
holdings. From there, they harvested the rich resources of the sea
as well as the estuaries and inland wooded areas. Those groups
who lived to the west of the mountain ranges were the custodians
of far larger tracts of land. They harvested the broad grasslands
of the inland plains; pastures they had created by firestick farming.
They moved over their lands in established patterns, collecting
and storing the grass-seed for their own baking, and hunting the
kangaroo, emu and the other game which were also sustained by
the grass pasture.

The inland plains populations were particularly densely settled
around the large river systems. In the south, along the banks of
what became the Murray, the fishing resources were so plentiful
that the Jota-Jota and other related language groups had built
stone villages for their virtually sedentary lifestyles. In the north,
at the junction of the lands of the Ngiyaamba, Yualiai and
Murawari peoples where Brewarrina now stands, the largest of
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the Darling River fish traps was built. This was a complex
engineering endeavour, built from stone over many hundreds of
metres at a point of rapid fall in the river bed, to allow the
owners to harvest fish in any season, no matter how low or high
the waters were running.! These harvesting techniques supported
a far higher Aboriginal population than Europeans have supposed.
Many demographers now believe that a conservative estimate of
the overall Aboriginal population of Australia just prior to inva-
sion is 750 000 people, with others suggesting three million may
have been possible. A large proportion of the population lived in
the fertile south-east.?

These Aboriginal societies had a complex land tenure, in
which association with land might be inherited from both parents
or by birthplace, and which gave an individual highest authority
only in relation to the land to which he or she held the heaviest
custodial obligations. Yet despite the local focus of individual
power, everyone in each language group was linked with many
others in great cultural, social and trading networks which
spanned wide areas, far beyond what are now the borders of New
South Wales. These networks were channels of dynamic cultural
and economic exchange, displayed most spectacularly in regular,
large ceremonial meetings. There are archacological analyses
which now suggest that this dynamism involved competitive
exchange cycles and expansion of territorial range and influence
in some areas. Significantly, there is no evidence of widespread
or endemic warfare among these societies, suggesting effective
strategies for the resolution of conflicting interests.3

THE INVASION BEGINS

The British invasion began in 1788 around what was to become
Sydney. The legal basis for this was confused at the time, with
no clear British claim as to the grounds on which they were
acquiring the land. There were also many misapprehensions held
about the Aboriginal inhabitants, with the British believing ini-
tially that there were very few Aborigines living in Australia, that
those few were clustered around the coast and that they had no
sense of property or ownership in land or in anything else.*
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The first personal contacts between the land-owning Eora
group of the Dharuk people and the English and Irish invaders
were exploratory on both sides. Cook’s journals indicate that
Aboriginal land owners tried to prevent the Europeans’ landing
in 1770, and during the first months of the Port Jackson settle-
ment, the Eora made it clear that they deeply opposed the clearing
of their land.5 Yet there were also examples of Aboriginal interest
in Europeans and their practices, as well as of their attempts to
teach the newcomers both language and proper social behaviour.¢
The Europeans brought with them not only expectations about
the Aborigines but assumptions about what was ‘natural’ and
‘proper’ and ‘good’. Images of austere but noble ‘savages’, such
as reported by James Cook in 1770, were hopelessly entangled
with old concepts of the ‘Great Chain of Being’, in which
‘hunters and gatherers’ were placed on the lowest order in
creation. The rising Christian Revivalists brought conflicting
dimensions to this body of popularly held knowledge. While the
Reformers’ concern for humanity played a major role in the
ending of slavery and the later interest in the rights of colonised
indigenous people, the evangelist wing of the revival held a crude
contempt for heathens.”

Yet there was still a period of possibilities for experimentation
in relations, for hope as well as fear. There were many ambiguities
in the recorded contacts between Governor Phillip and Benne-
long, for example, the Dharuk man kidnapped by Phillip in order
to be ‘civilised’, or between Aboriginal women like Bennelong’s
partner, Barangaroo, and the British men such as Watkin Tench.
Each brought to the encounter not only vastly unequal power
but also different culturally created expectations on which they
drew to try to interpret the other socially and sexually.® Only
later did plague, hunger, greed and violence close down those
possibilities to a narrow range of bitter and degrading stereotypes.

The birthing of Warreweer’s baby in Sydney in 1791 offers a
glimpse of the ambivalence present in early contacts. The birth
took place in the presence of Eora midwives but with a group
of white women watching as well, suggesting a degree of mutual
trust and frequent contact. Yet the events also demonstrated the
distance between the world views of the two groups of women,
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and the white women’s insistence on cutting the cord with scissors
and on washing the baby, against the conventions and beliefs of
the Eora midwives, demonstrated both the technology and the
arrogance which would contribute to later mistrust and anger.”
The intimacy of these early contacts continued to occur as many
Aboriginal women became, willingly or unwillingly, servants or
sexual partners to whites. Yet the hostility of war and colonial
repression were to force wide social distances between Aborigines
and whites and there has been little public acknowledgement of
such close relationships and the knowledge which must have
flowed between both groups of people.

The British had brought their own, convict, labour force, so
they did not initially need much Aboriginal labour. There was
little real pressure to cultivate peaceful relations with the indigen-
ous land owners, and a series of incidents of conflict had already
taken place to sour relations by late in 1789, leading to an
ominous gathering of Aboriginal people around the British camp.
Then a tragedy of proportions barely grasped by whites began:
smallpox, along with other infectious diseases such as influenza
and measles, took hold in epidemic form throughout the Aborig-
inal groups. Disease wiped out or decimated many clans among
the Kooris around Sydney but then extended its devastation far
beyond the range of white settlement, spreading along the densely
populated coastal and inland river valleys. Most of the Aboriginal
groups met by white explorers in the following decades had
already been savaged by terrifying new illnesses.!?

The invaders were soon engulfed in a lesser crisis of their own
as their initial farming attempts failed in the unfamiliar land.
Starving and with no interest in the needs of Aboriginal owners,
the colonisers pushed out to take over the fertile river banks of
the Hawkesbury and Nepean Rivers west of Sydney. These lands
were the main source of yam cropping for the Dharuk owners,
who were forced to take up arms despite their weakened state in
the wake of the epidemics. The Dharuk sustained their guerilla-
style resistance fighting along these river lands from 1790, in the
face of a series of engagements with troopers, until a major leader,
Pemulwuy, was shot and killed in 1802. To the south-west, the
neighbouring Gandangara were offered some respite when Gov-
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ernor King promised in 1804 that they would be undisturbed on
the upper reaches of the Nepean if they left the white farmers
alone further downstream. This promise was broken by uncon-
trolled white expansion, and soon the Gandangara too faced
‘punitive expeditions’ and an apparently final massacre at Appin
in 1816.11

This relentless military ‘pacification’ was to be repeated but
the outcome of the invasion was always more complicated than
the invaders might have hoped. As the Kooris, Murris and
Wiimpatjas of the rest of what became New South Wales were
to do, the Gandangara demonstrated a breathtaking resilience.
Despite the onslaught, they retained the resourcefulness to
regroup. By 1876, they had successfully regained some of their
own country in the Burragorang Valley through negotiations with
the local Catholic church, and on this land they developed a
farming base which they worked independently until the 1920s.12
Ravaged by disease and violence, they nevertheless retained not
only the will to resist the invasion of their lands but flexibility
in the methods they chose and the outcomes they sought in
negotiating with their invaders.

The invasion continued, taking many forms over time and
distance. The international demand for Australian wool in the
1820s and 1830s meant that the invasion of the central grasslands
was the most rapid and brutal. Aboriginal game and harvesting
resources were devastated as thousands of sheep were herded
across the Great Dividing Range within a few years. Driven by
the profits to be made on world markets, invading stock owners
had high motivations for demanding rapid security on the inland
grassland pastures. A terrible toll in Aboriginal lives was taken by
both military and private massacre parties engaged in the relentless
‘pacification’ of the western plains. Conversely, Aboriginal armed
resistance was the most urgent on these grasslands in response to
the scale and pace of the invasion.

Some of the fiercest fighting and the most ruthless massacres
took place on the grasslands countries of the Gamalarai and
Ngiyamba in the north-west, where Myall Creek, Waterloo
Creek and Hospital Creek are the best known but not the only
slaughter grounds.!® Although both sheep and cattle owners ini-
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tiated violence against Aboriginal land owners, the cattle runs
developed the most sustained arguments against Aboriginal pres-
ence, insisting that cattle were frightened by the mere sight or
smell of Aborigines. The levels of violence in these north-western
areas showed a pattern of greatest ferocity where cattle were being
run, compared to sheep runs.!* Another grassland people to suffer
intensely were the Wiradjuri in the south-west, where
Windradyne led the eastern clans in a campaign of guerilla
resistance which caused the declaration of Martial Law at Bathurst
in 1824.15 The Paakantji, seed harvesters of the western Darling,
also resisted militarily and succeeded in driving stockholders off
their river lands for a decade during the 1850s.1¢

Differences had begun to open up between the colonial British
in Australia and their metropolitan superiors. The rising influence
of the evangelical reformers and anti-slavery organisations forced
the British Colonial Office to demand that administrations in all
the Australian colonies recognise native title and usage rights over
pastoral lands. It was widely acknowledged in both New South
Wales and in Britain by the 1830s that Aboriginal people did
have a well defined sense of property in land. The reformers did
not believe that the British settlement of colonies should not go
ahead but they believed that it should be done on a just basis.
For them, surrounded by the nineteenth century success of
capitalist expansion, a just colonisation meant one in which
indigenous people’s property rights were recognised and a fair
‘equivalent’ was paid to them in return for their lands.!?

During the 1830s the reformers held power in London and
directed their efforts to securing a recognition of Aboriginal
property rights in the newer Australian colonies such as South
Australia, where the avoidance of convict transportation seemed
to allow hopes of a more equitable society being established.
Although failing in this goal, the Reformers during the 1840s
attempted to include the recognition of native title rights to
Crown lease land in the legislation of 1842 and 1847 which
regulated the pastoral expansion of New South Wales. Earl Grey,
the Colonial Secretary of State for Colonies and sympathetic to
the Reformers, instructed New South Wales Governor Fitzroy in
1849 to enforce an interpretation of the Land Acts which guar-
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anteed Aboriginal access to their traditional lands in a form of
dual occupancy with pastoralists, in which Aborigines and squat-
ters had ‘mutual rights’. Grey’s instructions called for further steps,
including the establishment of small, agricultural reserves as
allowed for in the 1842 Act, and the provision of medical and
other assistance to Aborigines.!8

The pastoral lobby was powerful in New South Wales at the
time and continued to defend squatters and their employers who
participated in widely known massacres of Aboriginal land owners.
A restriction on Crown pastoral leases was anathema to them,
and their opposition defeated the implementation of the instruc-
tion, although it did not invalidate Grey’s interpretation of the
1842 Act.!” Fitzroy proceeded, however, to act on the recom-
mendations of his Commissioners for Crown Lands, the officials
charged with administering the far extents of the squatters’ runs.
These Commissioners had been uniformly supportive of Grey’s
proposals to restrict the rights of Crown lessees but as a less
favoured option, a number of them suggested areas within their
jurisdictions to be set aside as reserves. These were each about a
square mile and were suggested because Aborigines already used
them as camping or ceremonial sites.20

In 1850, around 40 of these areas were approved as reserves
across the new pastoral districts, which were outside the longer-
settled ‘Nineteen Counties’ around Sydney. Some were no more
than police paddocks but others were important havesting sites,
such as the Brewarrina Fisheries, and carried the force of police
protection to stop whites fishing there or interfering with the
structure, a protection which was still being actively enforced in
1906. Others, such as the site at Boobra lagoon on the Maclntyre
River, recognised the great significance of the lagoon as a Rain-
bow Serpent site to the Bigambul people and was chosen because
they insisted on camping there despite continuing violence from
squatters aimed at driving them away from their country.2! The
British Colonial Secretary of State saw these areas of land as
recognitions of Aboriginal people’s ownership of land. The New
South Wales Governor spoke of them as ‘privileges’ rather than
as rights but their very existence was an acknowledgement of the
widespread awareness in the colony as well as in Britain of the
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need to make some ‘recompense’ for the enormous loss sustained
by Aboriginal land owners.22

Aboriginal owners made little additional use of these reserves
at the time they were notified, for two reasons. One was that
they were still struggling to maintain their ownership rights and
access to the whole of their language and clan areas of land. They
had resisted invasion violence and moved away from threats when
they had to but they had tended to move around to safer places
within their own land, rather than migrating away from it
altogether. As long as some access remained to the rest of their
lands, any acceptance of the small reserves might be seen to
suggest that Aboriginal owners were withdrawing their claim to
the whole of their land.2 The other reason for Aboriginal
disinterest in asserting particular association with these early
reserves was that the state of the economy and the political climate
changed dramatically in 1851.

The relentless pace of the invasion had already been slowed
by the collapse of world markets for wool in 1840, affecting
particularly the north coast and the far west. In these areas, the
level of violence was reduced and opportunities were created for
more varied and innovative forms of resistance, including abduct-
ing stock and sabotaging agriculture.2* It allowed, too,
for Aboriginal people to develop negotiation and survival strate-
gies to take advantage of the situations where employers,
particularly sheep owners, were coming to value Aboriginal
labour. Then, the gold rushes which began in 1851 rapidly drew
most white workers away from the pastoral runs. Suddenly,
squatters were desperately seeking labour and they turned to
Aborigines.

Within two years, Commissioners for Crown Lands all over
the state were effusive in their praise for Aboriginal stock workers
for both sheep and cattle. Many Commissioners reported that the
pastoral industry in their area could not survive now without
Aboriginal labour and stock owners frequently stated that Aborig-
inal workers were to be preferred to whites, being more careful,
more reliable and less cruel to the animals.?> Violence against
Aboriginal people virtually ceased on any large scale and Aborig-
inal land owners had largely undisputed access to their land once
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Workers and elders: Aboriginal lambmarkers, Welltown, 1900, and
tribal elders at Bora Ceremony, Tallwood, 1895. These photo-
graphs depict the same group of men, from the Aboriginal
community at Tallwood, on the Queensland—New South Wales
border. They were able to fulfil their ceremonial obligations as
traditional men at the same time as they took part in the
specialised work of European pastoralism. BICENTENNIAL COPY-
ING PROJECT, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

69




CONTESTED GROUND

again. Small reserves were irrelevant to Aboriginal people in this
context. By the 1870s, however, these reserved areas and the ideas
embodied in the reserves were to be taken up again by Aboriginal
land owners.

The employment which Aboriginal people took up in the
1850s ranged across the unskilled and semi-skilled work of devel-
oping rural capitalism. Many men and women were employed as
stock workers, shepherds and shearers, with little early evidence
of employers making the gender assumptions which limited such
work among Europeans to men. Although some of this work was
for rations only, and much of it was in exploitative conditions,
there were some Aboriginal workers receiving cash wages equal
to whites, particularly in the shearing sheds.2¢ In the agricultural
areas, Aboriginal workers were also employed in the various stages
of farming and harvesting, and in some areas they took up
specialised areas of manufacture, notably in the Macleay and
Nambucca River valleys, where Aboriginal men began to learn
the crafts of boat building.

In all these regions Aboriginal women became domestic work-
ers as well as outdoor labourers. From as early as 1849 they were
being employed in the trusted positions of nannies to station
managers’ children in the north-western areas.?’” They did both
this intimate domestic work and the heavier work of laundering
and cleaning for countless pastoral concerns, a role which con-
tinued until the mid-twentieth century in many western areas.
When the gold rushes abated, the numbers of white labourers
rose in most areas but Aboriginal people had forged a distinctive
place for themselves in the rural workforce. Aboriginal women
were often the only available domestic labour, and Aboriginal
men continued both to fill skilled jobs as shearers and to be
recruited as seasonal labour for the busy times like mustering,
lambmarking and harvesting.

By the 1860s, however, a process had become evident which
would be repeated for all rural labourers, Aboriginal and white.
A whole category of work was eliminated by changing technol-
ogy. In this first case it was shepherding which was made
redundant by the introduction of fencing.
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REGAINING LAND

A wave of intensification of European land use was made possible
by fencing and other technological changes, and pushed along by
the rising white population after the discovery of gold. Closer
settlement legislation in 1861 was just the first of a series of
government responses to populist demands to settle more whites
on the land. Disputes between whites over land increased and in
the process of settling one of these, the Privy Council in 1889
was forced to make a determination on just what the legal basis
for the colony’s foundation had been.

The Reformers’ 1830s recognition of native property rights
no longer attracted support in a Britain embittered by rebellions
in Jamaica and by the rising popular attraction to biological
determinism and ‘Social Darwinism’. The Privy Council decided
that the most convenient basis for the holding of real property
was the legal fiction that Australia in 1788 had been ferra nullius,
a land ‘desert and uncultivated’, with a population which had no
political structure with which to negotiate and no property
rights.28 It is ironic that this 1889 decision should have been made
at the very time when Aboriginal people in New South Wales
were being most successful in reasserting their rights to their
traditional lands.

The pressure of intensifying white land settlement after 1860
began to disrupt the fragile truces which had been achieved
between Aborigines and settlers in some areas. As south coast
pastoral properties were broken up for farming to feed the gold
fields, and then south-western runs fenced and reduced in size,
then converted to wheat farms, Aboriginal land owners found
their camps once more unwelcome and their access to their lands
again obstructed. The Aboriginal response was to begin to use
new strategies to regain control over at least some of their own
country. The idea of a small piece of land now seemed much
more attractive, offering Aborigines secure residence within their
own lands and forming an acknowledgement of their interests in
the whole of their traditional country. Petitions, deputations and
alliance with local whites replaced guerilla tactics now, as Abor-
igines in the south-west and along the coast in the 1870s made
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the State Government aware that they were seeking farming land.
Some Aboriginal groups were impatient with such methods and
simply moved onto vacant land within their traditional country
and began planting crops, either without legal recognition or with
only the tenuous hold of a permissive occupancy.

Many Aboriginal people did put their demands for land on
paper, and they made three points consistently. First, they said
they wanted the land for economic independence by hunting or
farming, often using terms like ‘selection’ to emphasise their
interest in economic independence as well as in a refuge from
the harassment of white invaders. Second, they were adamant that
they did not want the power to sell the land but wished to secure
it in perpetuity, for their children and all their later descendants.
Thirdly, they wanted land within their own country, their tradi-
tional lands. William Cooper was a young man petitioning
government for some of his family’s lands around Cumeragunja
on the Murray in 1887 when he made this point in language he
hoped white politicians would understand, saying he wanted to
secure ‘this small portion of a vast territory which is ours by
Divine Right’.2?

Some of these reassertions of land holding were finally
acknowledged by the government in the 1880s, when it began
again to gazette small portions of Crown land as ‘Reserved for
the use of Aborigines’. Of the 114 reserves gazetted by 1895, 72
(63 per cent) were declared over land already independently
settled and under crop to Aboriginal farmers or with Aboriginal
owners ready to take up the land immediately. In most cases,
Aboriginal families continued to live on and farm these lands for
decades, entirely without British intervention or control.30

There were some regions where British land-use was changing
so fast that Aborigines were pushed entirely out of employment
and away from any access to their country for traditional social
activity or subsistence harvesting. In the south-western wheat belt
and on the south coast there was clear evidence of Aboriginal
poverty and distress by the 1870s. Aborigines from these areas
moved to towns where they demanded boats for fishing and other
compensation for loss of livelihood. When south coast Kooris
moved to Circular Quay, the government found their poverty as
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An Aboriginal man on the Hawkesbury River with his garden.
Corn was a common crop on all the coastal Aboriginal farming
areas. Undated, but before 1930. MITCHELL LIBRARY SMALL
PICTURE FILE

well as their lifestyle too embarrassing to be ignored, and it finally
responded to missionary pleas to allow them to control and
evangelise those groups.3!

The State Government set up the Aborigines Protection Board
in 1883 to monitor the church activity and to give out rations.
The Board had, however, very few other clear-cut duties, no
legislation and very little power, other than that which was already
vested in the police officers who were its agents across the state.
In fact from the 1880s to the early 1900s the Board took action
only in response to pressures applied to it. It responded to mis-
sionary and philanthropic calls for supervised aid to Aborigines in
some areas but it also responded to Aboriginal calls for independent
control over land by gazetting and handing over, free of any
supervision, the independent reserves. Yet again, it responded to
white employer calls—this time on the northern slopes—to sub-
sidise their Aboriginal pastoral workforce with rations in the
off-season. Reserved areas were proclaimed to secure their resi-
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dence close to the properties which were being divided by ‘closer
settlement’ but which retained high labour needs.32

Aborigines experienced mixed conditions from the 1860s to
1890s. In some areas they were working for rations only, in others
they were employed for wages, and elsewhere were living by a
combination of seasonal employment and traditional subsistence
harvesting. Women were widely employed in domestic positions,
sometimes casual and often for food rather than for wages but
their work formed an important securing link with white popu-
lations. Like working class children in rural areas, Aboriginal
children were also employed by whites as servants, baby-sitters
and labourers, in totally unregulated and often exploited situa-
tions. The outcome of this involvement was that in the 1880s,
despite some regional poverty, Aborigines were 82 per cent
self-sufficient due to some combination of these activities.33
Although there was a significant degree of exploitation, there
were very few Aborigines living on white ‘charity’ at that time
and the development of the Aboriginal farming base in the 1880s
enhanced their economic conditions.

Not all the independent farming was self-sustaining. The
family wheat blocks on Cumeragunja on the Murray, for example,
were farmed so skilfully that they yielded at or above the regions’
average ecach year but they were very small. In this region 500
acres was regarded as a ‘living area’ but the Aboriginal family
blocks were only 27.5 acres, which could never support a family,
and so Kooris there remained dependent on seasonal labouring.
In the Burragorang Valley, however, and on the north coast from
the Hunter Valley to the Bellinger River, Kooris had been able
to secure small areas of highly fertile land, which by the mid
1880s were supporting around one hundred extended families by
mixed farming and some dairying. Aboriginal farmers, like the
Drews at Kinchela and many others, took up material aspects of
British rural life, acquiring sulkies, comfortable home furnishings
and pianos. Yet they retained an active ceremonial life and taught
their children Gumbainggirr and Dhangadi as first languages, using
their modest economic and land security to sustain their rich
traditions.3*
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‘FREE, SECULAR, PUBLIC’ AND SEGREGATED

At the same time, Aborigines were seeking access to the institutions
of white Australian public life, in particular the new ‘free, secular
and public’ state schools. This occurred first in the areas where
farming had given an added economic confidence, the south-west
and the north coast but during the 1890s, Murri pastoral workers
too began calling for schools to be set up on the remote properties
on which they formed the major workforce, such as Goondabluie
north of Walgett. They all met with resistance from local white
citizens, whose complaints were eventually and somewhat reluc-
tantly supported by the State Department of Public Instruction.
One by one between 1880 and 1902, the public schools of New
South Wales were closed to Aboriginal children.

This was not an impersonal decision by Sydney-based admin-
istrators but a series of bitter local struggles, in which white
citizens opposed Aboriginal parents face to face and forced their
children out of the schools. The reasons they offered were usually
that Aboriginal children posed a threat to the health of whites
but whenever these claims were investigated they were found to
be baseless. The major health problems cited were always nits
and lice, conditions from which all working class children suftered
throughout the state. The real anxieties held by white parents
appear to have been that school would encourage close social and
perhaps later sexual relationships between their children and
Aboriginal children, an outcome which had ramifications for local
status and power.

Eventually, the constant white protests wore down the central
administration, and in 1902 the Director of Public Instruction
issued a regulation which allowed a public school to be racially
segregated if there was any complaint by any white parent.
Aboriginal parents in many towns repeatedly challenged these bans
but the racial segregation of New South Wales public schools was
maintained officially for over 40 years, and in reality until the
1960s. Until 1973, all Aboriginal children could still be tempor-
arily excluded from a public school if one Aboriginal child was
believed to be suffering an infectious disease.3>
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DEPRESSION, DISPOSSESSION AND DISPERSAL:
1890s—1920s

The Depression of the 1890s was extremely difficult for Aborig-
ines and many were forced out of work. As there was no general
dole, these unemployed Aborigines sought temporary aid on the
Aboriginal ration lists, which suddenly increased the economic
demand on the Protection Board. It was concerned that this
would be a permanent drain on state resources but, of more
significance, the Board’s members were alarmed at what they took
to be a rapid increase in the numbers of non ‘full-blood’ Abor-
igines which the unemployment lists revealed. At this time, there
was widespread alarm at the declining birthrate among the white
population. State parliamentarians were afraid that the Board was
fostering the increase of a group with different cultural values to
Anglo-Australians. In those years of Federation and ‘White
Australia’ sentiment, such fears were a powerful motive to change
direction, and by 1904 the Protection Board had begun to seek
strong new legislation to break up Aboriginal communities.

The Board most frequently referred to its new policy as
‘dispersal” and this accurately conveys its aims, if not the real effects
of the policy. It is, therefore, a more appropriate description of
the policy than the conventional assumptions that the Protection
Board sought to ‘segregate’ Aborigines. Its first legislative base,
gained in 1909, gave no powers to confine, nor did the Board seek
such powers. Instead, it empowered the Board to expel Aborigines
from reserves and managed stations and to force them to move
away from any town or reserve. The Board believed it was
necessary to push adult Aborigines into the white working class as
isolated labourers, and aimed to make them live independently of
government and separate from any other Aborigines.3¢

The most intense Board activity was focussed on children,
over whom it gained powers in loco parentis in 1915. The Board
took over an already existing system of managing working class
children, which had been in existence for decades under the State
Children’s Relief Department and had functioned to police work-
ing class families and turn their children into domestic servants
and labourers. The Protection Board, however, added its own
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aim, expressed many times in its annual reports, which was to
‘save’ as many children as possible by removing them from the
Aboriginal community to be trained and indentured as domestics
and labourers, and, most importantly, to be taught to forget their
families. The children were never to be allowed to return to their
homes. The Board’s goal was the eventual ‘withering away’ of
Aboriginal communities altogether.

The impact of this policy fell most heavily on girls, as racist
dogma encouraged fears about their sexuality and whose fertility
was seen as a great threat to the goal of reducing the Aboriginal
population. The Girls’ Home at Cootamundra was established first
in 1912, reflecting the Board’s aim to cut the Aboriginal birthrate
by taking away girls at puberty. They were to be indentured from
there as domestics, unfree labour to meet the demand from middle
class homes, which in Sydney were increasingly deprived of
servants by the movement of white working class girls into higher
paid factory work.37

As the economy began to improve after 1904, the closer
settlement movement, which aimed to establish more small-scale
white farmers on the land, was renewed. Whites began to view
the continuing success of the independent Aboriginal farms with
acquisitive interest. From 1905, the Protection Board came under
increasing pressure to revoke these reserves in favour of white
settlers. This pressure intensified and local Lands Department
officers frequently demonstrated sympathy with the white claim-
ant. By 1914, Lands Department action had forced a number of
bitterly-protesting north coast Aboriginal farmers off their land.
The First World War added the emotive pressure of the Returned
Servicemen’s Resettlement schemes, and by 1917 the Protection
Board had ceased its earlier defences of Aboriginal tenure and
agreed to revoke as many of the small reserves as the Lands
Department should request.

Percy Mosely’s case at Ballengarra was just one example of
what this meant for Aboriginal farmers. In 1917 Mosely and his
family were forcibly evicted from his farm in mid crop because
the Local Lands Board had given a white man a lease over the
reserve lands. Mosely travelled to Sydney to protest and received
some sympathy from the Protection Board, who offered him
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Aboriginal women took on the
role of nanny or nurse to white
children from early days. Only in
1912 did the Aborigines Protec-
tion Board institutionalise their
job by sending young Aboriginal
indentured servants to be nannies,
thus making it synonymous with
the hated ‘apprenticeship’.
BICENTENNIAL COPYING PROJ-
ECT, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW
SOUTH WALES

money in compensation for his lost harvest. Mosely refused the
money and returned to badger the Local Lands Board for the
restoration of his occupancy. He was repeatedly overlooked when
the lease renewals were made but he persisted in demanding access
to the lands, and in 1924 he was still there. He had negotiated
a private sharecropping arrangement with the current white lessee,
who allowed Mosely to crop some of the land in return for the
use of Mosely’s pair of Clydesdale draught horses.38

This pressure for revocation led to the loss of 13 000 acres of
Aboriginal reserve between 1911 and 1927, half of the total
Aboriginal reserve land in the state. Of the land lost, 75 per cent
was from the north coast, and all of it was fertile, independently
settled Aboriginal farming land.?* Bellbrook and Burnt Bridge on
the upper Macleay were two of the very few such reserves which
survived the 1920s, saved from alienation only by their relative
remoteness and lower fertility.** One of the most productive farms
had been the Kinchela lands settled by the Drew families at the
mouth of the Macleay. These were lost not to white farmers but
to the Protection Board itself, to set up more of the machinery
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for the most destructive aspect of its dispersal policy, the removal
of children. Kinchela farm, which had been a flourishing symbol
of independent Aboriginal survival strategies, became Kinchela
Boys’ Home, a feared place where boys removed from their
families were kept in loneliness and often abuse, in order to teach
them to forget their Aboriginality.

The Board’s dispersal policy generated turmoil among New
South Wales Aborigines as they were expelled or forced off
reserves or as they escaped to protect their children from
‘removal’. The loss of the self-supporting farms was devastating,
especially on the north coast but the improved employment
conditions of the 1920s allowed Aborigines some flexibility to
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move to new areas away from Board threats to their children.
There were never more than 15 per cent of the Aboriginal
population under Board managerial control over these years. The
Board had created an illusory dispersal, reducing its ration lists
from the inflated numbers of the Depression but generating large
population increases in town camps beyond its control. There
Aborigines continued to regard themselves as Aboriginal, main-
tained their extended family relationships and obligations, and
were most definitely regarded by whites as Aboriginal.

The Board did, however, succeed in reaping a bitter harvest
of children. More than 1500 Aboriginal children were taken from
their families between 1912 and 1938, at a time when the total
known Aboriginal population of the state was only between 6000
and 10 000. As it was young women whom the Board most
wished to control, the majority of the children taken were girls
between ten and fourteen, who made up over 80 per cent in the
first decade and then around 70 per cent by the 1930s.4! These
children were interned in the Board’s ‘Homes’ for training then
‘apprenticed’ as indentured domestic servants. Most of them faced
hard, exploited work, extreme isolation and, for both girls and
boys, the frequent terrors of sexual abuse. Margaret Tucker and
Jimmie Barker were the first Aboriginal ‘apprentices’ to write
about these experiences but now other equally painful personal
accounts have been recorded, confirming the abundant official
documentation of their harrowing experiences.*?

For many other Aboriginal children there are few accessible
records. Those whose skin colouring was fair were channelled
into the Child Welfare system, where their Aboriginality was
officially denied. The racism which flourished in these institutions
was no less destructive for being covert.*3

These young people seldom acquiesced in their treatment,
whichever the network into which they were sent. Despite
attempts to obstruct them, one in five of the children taken by
the Board absconded and around three-quarters of them returned
eventually to their own or another Aboriginal community. Mar-
garet Tucker and Jimmie Barker are both examples of the way
this brutal process actually galvanised their determination to fight
back politically throughout their lives. Even for them, however,
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Aboriginal women also worked as domestics, casual and perma-
nent, on properties and in towns in the agricultural areas of New
South Wales. This photo of Lulu and Clara, taken at Rolland’s
Plains near Kempsey in 1925, documents the seldom-recorded
work done by Aboriginal women of all ages. Such work often
created a fragile economic link with towns which aided Aborigines
in their struggle against forced removal. BICENTENNIAL COPYING
PROJECT, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

the cost was terribly high. The emotional scars borne both by
the children and their families form a stark and enduring monu-
ment to racism.*

The Board had not expected white resistance to its dispersal
policy, which had been formulated to appease Treasury and
parliamentary fears. The policy had led, however, to great
increases in the Aboriginal populations camping close to country
towns, which meant more Aboriginal demands for school access
for their children, more competition between white and Aborig-
inal workers and greater visible Aboriginal presence on the town
streets. This was also a time when the general concepts of the
eugenics movement were widely circulating among whites, a
movement seen as ‘scientific’ and ‘respectable’. This gave weight
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to its proposals for confinement and sterilisation as a ‘solution’ to
the ‘problems’ of poverty, delinquency, ‘unregulated’ sexual activ-
ity and chronic poor health, as well as to the then incurable
venereal diseases. Demands to confine Aboriginal people appeared
to be totally consistent with such widely held and authoritative
beliefs.+>

Local councils began to hector the Protection Board in the
early 1920s, demanding that it acquire for the first time the power
to round up and confine Aborigines, which of course was pre-
cisely the opposite of the Board’s own goals. Bitter struggles
developed over the decade, with Moree a typical example, where
the Aboriginal population had increased due to the Board’s
closure of its station at Terry Hie Hie.

Throughout the 1920s, the Moree Municipal Council system-
atically used denial of services, then evictions, demolitions, mass
gaolings and disenfranchisement to try to move the Murris of the
town’s ‘Top camp’ to a new reserve two miles away from the
town boundaries. The Council favoured this site because it was
close enough to recruit Aboriginal workers but far enough away
to be out of sight. When Murris still refused to move, and gained
the support of the local Methodist minister in their determination
to hold their ground, the Council initiated the segregation of the
local school. It then succeeded in calling in the Child Welfare
Department on the pretext that the Aboriginal children were not
going to school. The children of the most vocal protesters were
indeed removed and so everyone else was under threat. Even
then, only the families with young children were finally coerced
into moving to the new reserve, where an unfurnished shed had
been set up to serve as a ‘special’ Aboriginal school.4¢

More informal means of control became widespread: police
harassment to enforce illegal curfews and vigilante gangs to
discourage Aborigines from town streets.*’” Aborigines resisted
such pressure in a number of ways, sometimes organising peti-
tions, as did the Kooris at La Perouse and Batemans Bay, or taking
legal action, like the Roberts families at Lismore. Yet their great
vulnerability lay in the Board’s power over their children, par-
ticularly if the local school closed its doors and the parents could
be accused of failing to secure an education for their children.
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Not only in Moree but in Yass, Walgett and many other towns,
Aboriginal parents found that to protest a school segregation or
to try to live in the town of one’s choice, meant losing one’s
children to the Aborigines Protection Board or the Child Wel-
fare.48

FIGHTING BACK: 1920s

The strength of Aboriginal resistance to the dispersal policies was
just as much a shock to the Board as white opposition had been.
The families of children under threat opposed the removals,
confronting Board and police officers who tried to steal children,
or fleeing to safer places. Communities like Cumeragunja opposed
the seizure of their family farms and the expulsions of individuals
from the station with a series of law suits and then with sustained
civil disobedience in the early 1920s. The Kooris of the north
coast, hardest hit by land losses and, later, by the removal of
children, formed a public and organised movement in 1924, the
Australian Aboriginal Progressive Association (AAPA).

Soon linked with south coast and Sydney communities, the
AAPA strongly protested the loss of the lands and of children.
The organisation held rallies of up to 500 people in towns along
the coast from 1925 to 1927, where speeches were made by senior
men in their own languages, ceremonial leaders who had until
recently also been farmers. They called on the government to
restore their traditional lands, their farms and their children. The
AAPA petitioned Parliament and press, bitterly condemning the
Board for tolerating the sexual exploitation of the young girls
who were ‘apprenticed out’ and then sent home pregnant. Beyond
this, the organisation organised secret support networks for girls
abused in this way. Fred Maynard, the Hunter Valley Koori who
was a major spokesperson for the AAPA, demanded the acknowl-
edgement of the achievements of Aboriginal civilisation which
had developed the social egalitarianism for which so many trade
unionists and other Australians were striving. He called for
enough land for self-sufficiency for each New South Wales
Aboriginal family and for recognition of cultural difference, with
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Aborigines allowed free access to public schools but, like Catholic
and other religious groups, also able to run their own schools.#

This organisation gained considerable public support from
white nationalist groups like the Australian Natives’ Association.
While it could not stem the loss of lands, the AAPA caused
enough public embarrassment to force the Protection Board to
modify the child removal policy. Children were thereafter allowed
to return home at the end of their indentures. However, as most
of them were girls, the Board still felt it could interfere in their
lives and it instructed its managers to ensure that ex-apprentices
married rapidly and lived ‘respectable’ lives. These young women
continued to bear the brunt of the Board’s attempt to culturally
indoctrinate Aborigines. They found themselves hurried into these
‘respectable’ but often inappropriate marriages, then had their
homes constantly under intrusive scrutiny, and knew that their
children were always vulnerable to removal if they did not satisfy
the Board’s inspectors.

A NEW DEPRESSION LEADS TO SEGREGATION:
THE 1930s

The 1930s’ Depression interrupted the Aboriginal political move-
ment by closing oft the few economic options they had had in
the 1920s. The Protection Board, in a bid to meet the shortfall
in its budget in the first lean year of 1929, appealed to the
government to allow it to take control of the recently granted
child endowment payments to Aboriginal families. It argued that
Aborigines could not handle the cash but the only complaints the
administering body had made was that some Aborigines were
underspending their grants. Nevertheless, the Board was granted
control over all Aboriginal families’ child endowment and used
the additional funds to cover the cost of its increasing ration lists
as Aborigines were thrown out of work.

Aborigines faced heavy job losses but were systematically
refused the new State unemployment benefits in New South
Wales. In Victoria, Aborigines were eligible for the dole like any
other workers but the Department of Labour in New South Wales
decided that Aborigines would first have to prove they had
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‘performed a white man’s work’ before they would be given any
relief. This was a test which no one ever defined. In practice it
became an excuse for the issuing officers, who were the local
police, to exclude most unemployed Aborigines. Despite protests
by both Aboriginal workers and the Protection Board, Aborigines
were forced to turn to Board rations, which were equivalent to
only half of the meagre unemployment food relief available to
white unemployed. Aborigines were also usually excluded from
work relief, which was administered by local government, unless
there was some particularly heavy or unpleasant work to be done.

Increasing numbers of Aboriginal people were forced onto the
Protection Board’s resources. By 1935, over 30 per cent of the
known Aboriginal population was under the direct and dictatorial
control of Protection managers and many more were on reserves
under the surveillance of the police. The Board was forced to
admit the failure of dispersal. Aborigines had not disappeared or
‘merged’ with the white working class. Now more people than
ever, over 10 000, were identified as Aboriginal by collectors of
the census, who, as it happened, were also the police.50

The Board’s limited finances were unable to meet the sudden
demand. No new housing or services could be provided between
1929 and 1935 for the massive increases in station and reserve
population, which were often carrying twice the population who
had lived there only a year before. The poverty and sudden
overcrowding caused major epidemics of respiratory and eye
disease which swept the managed stations in 1934 and 1936. The
Board responded by finally giving in to town demands for
segregation. In addition, the Board believed that it could only
fund improved living conditions on a reduced number of large,
centralised, managed stations. So in 1934 it formulated a policy
to ‘concentrate’ all Aborigines on these newly expanded stations
from which they would not be free to leave until they had been
‘educated’ or ‘trained’ to live in ways acceptable to whites. The
policy of resocialisation, previously only applied to the children
removed from their communities, was now extended to all adult
Aborigines as well.

Under the resulting 1936 amendment to the Protection Act,
all Aborigines, including those of ‘light caste’ who had previously
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been told they were not Aborigines at all, were to be confined
for as long as it took to reshape their lives. For the Board, this
was a programme with an end in sight, ‘assimilation’ into the
white community, a delayed but eventually more effective
‘dispersal’. For local government councils and rural white com-
munities, the end was the confinement itself, which they fully
expected to be permanent. This was consistent with the contin-
uing dominance of eugenics-inspired beliefs that permanent
confinement was the answer to both social and health ‘problems’.
Enforced concentration began in 1934 and continued until
1939, although it was implemented unevenly across the state.
Aborigines called it the ‘Dog Act’ because it meant they could
be carted around and penned up like animals. The most dramat-
ically affected were Aborigines living where the rural economy
appeared to be undergoing the greatest restructuring, in the
western and north coast pastoral industry areas where the largest
properties were again being broken up. Whole communities of
Aborigines were moved hundreds of miles by cattle truck and
dumped on Protection Board stations at Menindee, Brewarrina,
Toomelah and Burnt Bridge. Aborigines protested bitterly but
they had been made even more vulnerable by the legislative
changes of 1936, which brought anyone ‘deemed’ by a magistrate
to be ‘Aboriginal’ under the power of the ‘Dog Act’. Particularly
if they had young children, Aborigines had few real choices. Even
so, many only acquiesced in the transportation after threats at
gunpoint, like the Murris moved from Angledool to Brewarrina
in 1936. Others stayed in the new ‘concentration’ stations only
so long as economic conditions forced them into dependence on
Board rations, like the Wangkumarra of Tibooburra in the Corner
Country, who were dumped 200 hundred miles away at
Brewarrina in 1938. They were still 80 strong in 1940, despite
the deaths of many of their old people, and with the first hint
of improved job chances, they chose to defy Protection Board
threats and to walk the 190 miles back to their country.>!

COALITION FOR CITIZEN’S RIGHTS: 1930s

The massive loss of economic and civil rights suffered by Abor-
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igines in the 1930s meant that when their political movement
reemerged, its focus had shifted. This time a coalition of regional
movements was formed. The Cumeragunja community had linked
with others in south-western New South Wales and Victoria in
1934 to form the Australian Aboriginal League (AAL). This was
led by William Cooper, now an elderly man who had farmed
the land he had petitioned for in 1887 but had been driven away
early in the 1930s by poverty and Protection Board persecution.
He wrote the AAL letters which protested the New South Wales
economic discrimination which excluded Aboriginal workers from
the dole. The broader AAL policy drew on long-held
Cumeragunja aspirations for restoration of their land. In a decade
when irrigated farming was widely regarded among the white
community as a panacea for unemployment, the AAL proposed
a realistic plan for the redevelopment of the family farms pro-
gramme all over New South Wales. Its focus was on the Riverina,
where Cumeragunja would be the pilot project using a well-
researched irrigation scheme.52

The west and north-western communities of New South
Wales developed the Aborigines’ Progressive Association (APA),
led by Bill Ferguson, Pearl Gibbs and Bert Groves, which pro-
tested not only economic discrimination but also the enforced
movements which were throwing the western communities into
turmoil, and led to the appalling conditions on the Protection
Board managed stations. Their demands were for immediate equal
civil rights, an end to the Protection Board and for a long-term
plan of land settlement. Both the AAL and the APA drew on a
somewhat uneasy mixture of Christian and Left-wing supporters.>3
On the north and south coasts, the AAPA was reactivated with
Jack Patten as spokesperson, opposing Protection Board control
and calling for restoration of Aboriginal lands, including the
reserves taken in the 1920s. This organisation, although now
renamed the Aborigines’ Progressive Association like the western
organisation, still drew on white support from the nationalist
groups which had backed the AAPA in the 1920s. Some like the
Australia First Movement had moved far to the right during the
Depression and now advocated a virulent anti-Semitism and
support for a White Australia. However, the Movement hated
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British control over Australia and so did not wish to make
biological race the essential foundation of its nationalism. It placed
a high value on Aboriginal culture as this seemed to offer a rich
body of symbols and traditions for a distinctive sense of Australian
identity. This cultural interest led the Australia First Movement
into active support for the Aboriginal political movement.

For each of the Aboriginal movements, the deterioration in
access to civil rights had made this issue the most urgent demand,
with land issues shifting to a long-term goal. These movements
called for ‘Full Citizen’s Rights’, a demand which was
immediately recognisable to the growing numbers of white sup-
porters in Christian and Left-wing organisations, who believed
that Aborigines had adopted the liberal platform of equal civil
rights for all. One of the most successful and symbolically
significant Aboriginal protests was the declaration of a Day of
Mourning in 1938 to mark the Sesquicentenary of Australian
settlement.

The strong increase in white support for the Aboriginal
movement pushed the government into reorganising and renam-
ing the Protection Board as the Aborigines Welfare Board in
1939. The new Board included anthropologists and later a token
Aboriginal position but the old ‘Dog Act’ legislation was retained
and real power never left white hands. Aborigines bitterly rejected
the new bureaucracy, insisting: ‘We are not savages, sinners or
criminals. We do not need anthropologists, clergymen or police-
men to look after us.’>*

The most moving demonstration of Aboriginal distress
occurred at Cumeragunja in 1939. Despite William Cooper’s long
and patient correspondence, the Board contemptuously rejected
the AAL’s irrigated farm proposals. Then mismanagement and
victimisation by the Board manager pushed Kooris there to such
a state of outrage that they walked off the land they had been
fighting to regain for 50 years. The Cumeragunja people set up
a protest strike camp on the Victorian side of the Murray River
at Barmah. They stayed for nine months, despite arrests, harass-
ment and a freezing winter. Supported by Melbourne-based
activists like Margaret Tucker, they mobilised press cover and
trade union support to demand the restoration of their farms and
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an end to Board rule. While they achieved the dismissal of the
manager, they did not regain their independent lands, and many
moved to Victorian fruit towns like Shepparton or to Melbourne,
where they formed the nucleus of later political activity.>®

ASSIMILATION BY SURVEILLANCE: 1940s TO 1960s

The war generated such a change in the economy that Aborigines
found themselves suddenly freed from economic dependence on
the Board. By 1948, only 21 per cent of the Aboriginal population
remained under managerial control on stations and 96 per cent
of Aboriginal men were employed.>¢ Aborigines had moved to
areas where the Welfare Board had little means of control and
where new work opportunities had arisen. The Welfare Board
was forced to admit the failure of its ‘confine and educate’ plan,
yet it was plagued by new and rising protests from white towns-
people about the increased presence of Aborigines in towns like
Moree, Coffs Harbour and Griffith.

In 1948 the Board formulated a new version of its re-educa-
tion policy. In the aftermath of Nazism, general public opinion
had become less sympathetic to eugenics-inspired confinement
plans, at the same time as changing economic conditions made it
less practical. So the Board set aside plans to concentrate Abo-
rigines by active relocation, and began to construct a system of
surveillance, which was aimed at monitoring those Aborigines
who had succeeded in extricating themselves from Board control.
The Aborigines’ Welfare Board appointed District Welfare Offi-
cers (DWOs) to the towns where large populations of Aborigines
had recently settled, and told the officers to observe and report
on all Aborigines in the area. The means of control and social
change was to be the newly developed ‘Exemption Certificates’
which would be awarded to ‘deserving Aborigines’, those who
pleased the AWDB and so were said to be of ‘a superior intellectual
type’. These certificates were supposed to allow access to public
education, housing, services and facilities on the same basis as
white citizens.57

Aborigines had to apply and be recommended to achieve an
exemption, which meant proving to the DWO that they were
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willing to live separately from other Aboriginal people, to work
in approved ‘regular’ jobs and save for ‘approved’ purchases.
Home furnishings would be ‘approved’, for example but sharing
of wages with kinfolk or spending money for travel to maintain
extended family relationships would be definitely ‘disapproved’.
Denial or revocation of exemption certificates meant families were
more vulnerable to school segregations and to loss of their
children, were far less likely to receive Federal unemployment
benefits or old age pensions, and were denied access to hotels
and alcohol, which meant exclusion from the labour exchange of
many country towns as well as from the social network of the
rural male workforce.

Despite the high cost of not participating in the ‘exemption’
process, many Aborigines refused to be humiliated into applying
for what they called a ‘Dog Licence’. Between 1943 and 1964,
when the system lapsed, there were only 1500 applications for
exemption certificates out of a vulnerable population of 14 000.58
Yet even without co-operating, Aborigines faced increasing inter-
ference and surveillance as the widening network of DWOs
relentlessly inspected and judged rented homes and riverbank
shacks as vigilantly as any managed station hut.5?

The old system of ‘apprenticing’ children was said to have
been dismantled in 1939 but the power to remove children had
not been diminished, merely transferred to the Child Welfare
Department. The Welfare Board’s managers and DWOs (a
number of whom were ex-managers) continued to act as ‘friends
of the court’, advising police and Child Welfare officers on
Aboriginal home conditions and the desire of parents to
‘rehabilitate’ and ‘assimilate’. Increasing numbers of Aboriginal
children appear to have been taken in the 1950s and 1960s.
Although this is difficult to trace in the Child Welfare system,
the Aborigines’ Welfare Board homes demonstrated the increase:
there were only 170 children in the homes in 1951 but by 1961
there were 300. Fewer children were employed as domestics after
the war, although this continued to occur into the 1960s. More
often, children were fostered. First they were sent to ‘suitable’
Aboriginal families but after 1956 the Board began advertising,
successfully in its view, for white families to foster Aboriginal
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wards, thus increasing cultural and social alienation. Aboriginal
families were warned repeatedly in Welfare Board reports that if
they did not demonstrate a willingness to live like white people
their children would be taken.®®

NO BOOM FOR ABORIGINES: THE 1950s AND 1960s

The extension of Welfare Board interference in Aboriginal lives
occurred during the 1950s and 1960s at the same time as eco-
nomic opportunities again contracted. Once more, whole
categories of jobs were lost as technology and industry structures
changed. Mechanised harvesters, for example, eliminated the need
for many workers in the inland wheat and coastal corn industries,
while wheat silos eliminated the need for bag sewers. Trucks and
motor bikes reduced the need for horsemen and other stock
workers in both sheep and cattle industries, while road trains
eventually eliminated droving jobs. Irrigated agriculture offered
many seasonal harvesting jobs but Aborigines faced severe com-
petition in the Riverina from postwar European migration. Job
losses forced white rural working class families to move to urban
industrial areas but Aboriginal affiliations to land and kin meant
that many Aboriginal workers tried to stay on their lands despite
the economic changes.

In the 1960s, only one new crop generated many jobs: cotton
farming demanded chipping weeds out from between the young
crop plants. This was hard labour in poor conditions but at least
it offered some work for Aborigines who made up the majority
of the seasonal workers. In this industry, however, the increasing
use of herbicides and pesticides diminished the need for chippers
at the same time as it endangered them, and caused deterioration
of the land and riverine environment. This had implications for
continuing subsistence harvesting. Aboriginal fishing, for example,
was undermined in the 1960s when inedible introduced species
and intensive chemical-based agriculture damaged the native fish
supplies in the Darling and other rivers. This coincided with a
time when cash work decreased.?!. Ironically, the one introduced
species on which Aborigines had come to rely for food and cash
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income, the rabbit, was at this same time being decimated by
myxomatosis.

On the coast, the spread of white residential, leisure and tourist
development began to eat away at Aboriginal residence and access
to the coast for subsistence. Two targets of this pressure were the
Gumbaingirr people’s scenic home on Stuarts Island at Nambucca,
in 1955 and the Bundjalung lands at Yamba, in 1958. The Welfare
Board was prepared to accede to white demand by revoking these
and other remaining Aboriginal reserves. On the south coast there
was similar pressure. Jerinja Kooris, knowing about their Dangadi
relations’ loss of farming lands in the 1920s, were deeply alarmed
when the Nowra Council divided their reserve at Roseby Park
in the late 1950s with a road to facilitate tourist access. Loss of
reserve lands because of these pressures was most intense in 1955
to 1965, precipitating reluctant Aboriginal migration and reacti-
vating the land issue as a major platform of New South Wales
Aboriginal politics by 1960.62

The Welfare Board had never wanted to abandon the goal of
active concentration of the Aboriginal population. In the weak-
ening economic conditions, it could allow this process to occur
by attrition. Read® has described the Board’s refusal to maintain
accommodation and facilities on smaller reserves on the Wiradjuri
lands of the south-west, its bulldozing of houses while families
were unavoidably away on the ever lengthening seasonal work
tracks, and the revocation of the reserves themselves to force
people on to the few remaining managed stations. In other areas,
such as the Macleay Valley, Morris® has described a differing
situation, where newly appointed managers were imposed on the
people of previously independent reserves like Burnt Bridge and
Bellbrook. Although this latter strategy generated less population
movement, both processes marked an intensification of Welfare
Board scrutiny into and control over Aboriginal lives.

FAILED PROMISES TO DESEGREGATE: 1948-1969

The Board held out promises of improved conditions for Abor-
igines when it began constructing its postwar system. The most
attractive had been access to housing and education. The Board
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believed that when it offered houses it was offering the status and
improved health and material conditions of a ‘proper’,
‘respectable’ dwelling. The Board’s aim was to use such houses
as behaviour modification tools in themselves, to be inspected
constantly to ensure the Aboriginal residents had paid an adequate
level of attention and expenditure, made a proper commitment
to the material appearances of ‘stability’.®> The houses were to be
‘pepperpotted’, an arrangement by which the Aboriginal house
would be surrounded on all sides by white residents, guaranteeing
that there would be no Aboriginal neighbours. So ‘assimilating’
families faced constant scrutiny and judgement from their all-
white neighbours as well as from the DWO.%

For Aborigines, the offer was intensely attractive but for
different reasons. They were desperate for security of residence
in the area of their choice. Every shift in the economy and every
decision of the Protection Board since the turn of the century
had made it harder for Aboriginal people to stay in the town or
on the land where they had previously reached some equilibrium,
however tenuous, with the settler colony. The dispossessions and
dispersals of the 1920s, the constant threats to children, the
enforced concentrations of the 1930s, and the eviction orders and
bulldozers of the 1950s had caused a turmoil of forced migrations.

Even when people moved to the next town, seeking asylum
within their own country, they usually found only temporary
residence, in even less secure conditions than those which they
had been forced to leave. A few rural Aborigines had managed
to buy a block of land in town but many were lost to local
councils to pay for rates in years of unemployment. Most Aborig-
inal families were looking to rent but were confronted with an
informal and unspoken alliance between landlords, real estate
agents and local councils. There were sometimes slums on offer
but much of the time there was a strange absence of any rental
accommodation whenever Aboriginal people inquired.¢’

So the Welfare Board had a powerful attraction indeed when
it announced that if Aboriginal families could demonstrate that
they would live in ‘conformity to the standards of white people’
the Board would secure a house for them in town.®® Yet the
Board failed to fulfil this most central of its promises. The
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Aboriginal need for housing was acute: in 1949, the Board
estimated that 600 to 700 houses were required simply to meet
the current demand. In the following year alone, the Board built
60 houses on managed stations. But from 1946 to 1960, only 39
houses were built for Aborigines inside municipal boundaries. The
towns simply would not admit Aborigines and their usual weapon
was control over the sale of land. Suddenly no land could be
found for Board acquisition, or vendors of potentially suitable
land would inexplicably take their blocks oft the market, as at
Nambucca Heads in 1958. On the few occasions in which the
Board did succeed in buying land, as in Cowra in 1951, the
tradesmen who had been engaged to build the houses would be
intimidated by their fellow townsmen until they withdrew their
tender or the Board would be flooded by deputations and peti-
tions from local government and white residents.%”

The Welfare Board had failed to appreciate the depth of rural
commitment to segregation. This was an edifice which had been
built up from at least the 1880s, when Aboriginal people had
begun in numbers to demand access to the services and institutions
of the new liberal democracy being established. ‘Public’ schools
had been only the most formal of the closures. Over the years,
hospitals had been closed down to Aborigines and in particular
women had been made aware of this medical segregation. The
Protection Board attempted to intervene in Aboriginal health as
well as culture by sending increasing numbers of Aboriginal
women to hospital to have their babies. In response, white
townspeople demanded that labour wards must be denied to them.
Many Aboriginal women remember the discomfort and humilia-
tion of birthing on the hospital verandah or in a makeshift area
at the rear of the main buildings.

Leisure was strictly segregated, with picture shows, swimming
pools and tennis courts usually closed to Aborigines, and Aboriginal
football teams denied a place in the local competition, all on the
grounds of fictitious ‘health risks’. The limits of this ‘petty
apartheid’” were bizarre. White residents in Lake Cargelligo spent
the 1950s trying to preserve their “Whites only’ public toilet. They
demanded that the manager of nearby Murrin Bridge Station bring
the Aboriginal residents of the station into town for shopping for
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no more than two hours, so that they would not use the town’s
‘amenities’. Otherwise, the town demanded, the Welfare Board
must build a separate, ‘Blacks only’ toilet block, which was to be
surrounded by seating, so that Aboriginal shoppers would only be
allowed to rest in the same strictly limited area.”®

The keystone of this whole system was the segregation of
residential areas. Exclusion of Aboriginal people from the ‘real’
town meant they could always be defined as ‘outsiders’, like the
Murrin Bridge shoppers in Lake Cargelligo, and always denied
the access accorded to ‘real’ citizens. When the Welfare Board
boasted to Aborigines that it could provide them with ‘a house
in town’, they hoped to breach this fundamental core of the rural
structure of racial hierachy and power relations.

There were a number of factors operating during the Welfare
Board’s period which exacerbated white rural tensions and
increasingly hardened the resolve to defend the colour bar. The
Board’s reserve revocations had generated further population
movements which intensified town alarm where Aboriginal pop-
ulations were already rising in pursuit of seasonal work. Perhaps
just as significant were shifting economic conditions, with
employment declining sharply in 1958-60 in the Riverina and
north coast regions, and in 1966—69 in the western pastoral areas,
in both cases because of changing technology, mechanisation and
drought.”? This meant unemployment for white workers as well
as Aboriginal and led to a loss of white population to the cities
in these periods. This increased the insecurity of the whites who
remained, particularly those in areas of greatest economic decline.
Significant too was Aboriginal political pressure to desegregate
the towns, which had been mounting since 1956.

Certainly not all rural whites were opposed to Aboriginal
presence in towns. There was a small but growing body of white
rural support for desegregation, an oddly assorted network in which
some participants were Christian, some trade unionists, some Labor
or Communist Party members. The Board had fostered ‘assimila-
tion committees’ in the 1940s but by the late 1950s many had
come to criticise the Board itself for caving in to town opposition
to desegregation.’? Some members of these committees formed
effective lobbies inside local government ranks. At ‘Australia’s Little
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Rock’, Coonamble in 1960, an alliance of Aborigines and a few
townspeople succeeded where the Welfare Board had failed, by
acting in secret to buy a number of house blocks within the town.
A few of these white supporters went beyond the demand for
access to town services, and began to join with Aborigines to
criticise the whole basis of ‘assimilation’, recognising the cultural
and social costs imposed on families forced away from contact with
their communities to live in ‘pepperpotted’ houses.”3

Yet overall the entrenched resistance to residential desegrega-
tion was so powerful that the Welfare Board, in one situation
after another, failed to penetrate rural residential segregation. As
a result, the Board became the legitimator of that segregation.
The Board consistently resolved disputes by succumbing to town
opposition. It then either created reserves just outside municipal
limits and built houses on them, as at Gulargambone and Coffs
Harbour, or placed new houses on existing managed stations, as
it did at Cowra. As late as 1967 the Board was being forced to
acquire land by reservation on the outskirts of town boundaries.”*
Rural whites found that the Welfare Board could be relied upon
to keep Aborigines out of town.

The Board failed too in its promise to desegregate public
schooling, despite its claims in 1955 to be rapidly closing the
‘special’ poorly resourced ‘Aboriginal schools’. The frequent
result, documented well by Fletcher for Collarenebri’, was a
covert but no less powerful form of segregation. Aboriginal
children were allowed into the public school but then placed all
in one class, with no white students, and at times even allocated
separate playing areas fenced oft from white children. By 1961,
such internal segregation had contributed to the disproportionately
low numbers of Aboriginal children who stayed on till the later
years of schooling.”®

[t was apparent from very early in the 1950s that the Board
was being obstructed and failing in its goals. The Board admitted
that there was ‘strenuous local opposition’ in Cowra in 1951 and
‘fierce prejudice’ in Moree in 1952.77 Yet it was not prepared to
challenge local power structures openly and instead began to
blame Aboriginal people for its own failures. In education, the
Board ‘blamed the victim’, arguing that the poor retention rates
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exposed in 1961 were caused by the ‘fact’ that: ‘Aboriginal
children, as a whole, do not possess an intelligence quotient
comparable to that of their white counterparts.” It later retracted
this crude racist view in order to try to lay blame for the low
retention rate, just as inappropriately, on Aboriginal parents.”® In
housing, the Board’s reports from 1955 carried stern criticisms of
the ‘many’ Aborigines ‘who are content to live in substandard
conditions on the outskirts of towns’. Indeed, the Board now
pronounced that Aborigines themselves were to blame for the
prejudice against them: ‘The disadvantages under which they
labour, are largely attributable to their failure to make the best
use of the resources available to them.’7?

Only in 1967 did the Board admit that the major obstruction
to housing Aborigines in towns had been ‘local antipathy’, the
widespread and growing white resident opposition to desegrega-
tion.8Y

The Board then, from the 1940s into the mid 1960s, delivered
very few of its promises to Aborigines. Instead, it actually acted
to contain Aborigines, maintaining and even justifying segregated
living conditions and using exemptions and threats to children to
police Aboriginal behaviour. Like its predecessor the Protection
Board, the Welfare Board acted in the interests of the white
population.

ABORIGINAL PERCEPTIONS OF RURAL
SEGREGATION: HOUSES OR LAND?

Aboriginal views about each of these local struggles were seldom
recorded, although their interest was intense. Lismore was one
area in which articulate Aboriginal spokespeople and some alder-
manic allies ensured an airing of the issues in the local press. Here
the Welfare Board in 1957 attempted to acquire a few blocks of
land within the town to rehouse the Kooris of Cubawee but the
Municipal Council blocked the sale and the debate continued to
rage until 1961. The councillors and citizens who supported the
Koori right to have access to the town did so because they
opposed racial inequality and discrimination, as well as arguing
that the dilapidated housing and low-lying swampy grounds of
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Cubawee posed a health risk to both Aborigines and whites.3!
The Aboriginal statements suggested that they had differences
with their supporters as well as their opponents, and most
importantly that simple equality was not the fundamental issue to
them.

In 1959 Pastor Frank Roberts, Senior, a Bundjalung lay
preacher, attacked the allegations that Kooris all suffered from
hookworm and other health problems. He characterised the
attempts to move people away from Cubawee as another shirking
of the responsibility to provide decent services to the land which
his family and other Bundjalung people had been fighting to keep
for decades. Roberts demanded government action to resume
compulsorily any additional land required for Aboriginal housing,
irrespective of local government wishes, and summed up the
whole dispute with the sentence: “We have been robbed of our
heritage.’®> When Bert Groves spoke a few months later in
Lismore, he further clarified the issues from an Aboriginal per-
spective when he debated with local Church of Christ pastor, A.
Caldicott, who was seen as a moderate supporter of Aboriginal
rights. Groves demanded that:

pressure should be brought to bear on the Government to
force it to resume land for the aborigines, who were the
rightful owners of the land in the first place.

Pastor Caldicott: Do you think it just and right to resume land
belonging to others?

Mr Groves: The land belongs to the aborigines.83

Such statements suggest Aboriginal people saw these conflicts as
being about more than the right for all citizens to have equal
access to the nation’s resources. Beyond this, they saw the issue
to be one of their heritage, which they presented as consisting
of prior and continuing rights in land, and they located this in
the historical context of the repeated attempts to make them move
away from their chosen living areas within their country. Like
the earlier statements of William Cooper in 1887 and Fred
Maynard in 1927, the language of liberal rights carried additional
meanings about the traditionally-sanctioned rights of original
owners. This is how Pastor Frank Roberts expressed it: “We are
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members of a democratic people and therefore have a perfect
right to live in a place suitable for us.’8

RESISTANCE AND ASSERTION: ABORIGINAL
POLITICS, 1950s AND 1960s

Rather than the long boom experienced by many white Austra-
lians, the 1950s and 1960s were decades when New South Wales
rural Aborigines faced constriction of the job market, an increase
in bureaucratic surveillance and interference, the loss of more of
their reserve lands, and continued residential and educational
segregation. Aboriginal individuals and communities resisted these
processes in varied ways; for example, many refused to engage in
the exemption system, attempting to maintain their wide family
obligations despite obstruction and disapproval by managers and
DWOs.

Informal protest could widen to a broad and well-organised
mobilisation. Although residential segregation was often impen-
etrable, local Aboriginal protests against town colour bars were
widespread. Aborigines could challenge the petty apartheid of the
towns, but always at the risk of being branded ‘troublemakers’
and becoming the target of police and bureaucratic interference.
Barbara Flick has written movingly about the way her mother
and aunt in Collarenebri became outraged that their children were
being humiliatingly penned up behind rope barriers so far down
the front of the picture show hall that they were almost under
the screen. These two women confronted the picture show owner
in public, defied him by taking seats outside the barriers and
shamed him into taking down the ropes.5>

Such local acts of courage were supported by the continuing
work of Aboriginal political activists Pearl Gibbs and Bert Groves.
They campaigned through the Council for Aboriginal Rights
(CAR), based in Dubbo and with some Sydney trade union
support, although the white support of the 1930s had been eroded
by the Welfare Board’s early liberal rhetoric. Their protest meet-
ings gained some press attention for the appalling conditions
Aborigines were facing in north-western New South Wales, with
no town housing to rent because of white racism, no services to
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town camps because of local government reluctance to encourage
Aboriginal presence and no freedom under Welfare Board control
on the managed stations.3¢

This organisation assisted contacts between Aboriginal com-
munities protesting at local segregation and the increasing use of
the bulldozer, whether by local councils against the camps or by
the Welfare Board against reserve housing.8” By 1956 the Aborig-
inal activists had gained some urban support with the formation
of the Australian Aboriginal Fellowship (AAF) in Sydney. The
AAF served as a focal point for re-emerging white support and
in 1957 sent union representatives on a fact-finding tour to
Walgett to publicise rural segregation and tension.®® The Board
still controlled entry to reserved land but by this time Bert Groves
had been elected to the Aboriginal position on the Welfare Board,
and used his freedom as a Board member to enter reserves so he
could research and speak on behalf of both the CAR and the
AAF. This allowed him to make important contributions to local
struggles like that at Lismore in 1959.

Rent strikes are another example of the way local, informal
protest could widen into broader actions, this time in relation to
opposition to the Welfare Board. It had demanded rent from its
tenants, often for miserable unserviced huts, as a tool for educating
Aborigines to ‘accept responsibility’. Although these rents were
nominal, many people resented paying for poor quality housing
under conditions of intense scrutiny on their own land. Their
informal lack of co-operation already threatened to make the
system unworkable when in 1960, a group of residents on Purfleet
Station at Taree organised a formal rent strike. Led by Horace
Saunders, a fisherman with six children, a total of twenty Koori
families faced Board prosecution and eviction to demand changes.
They attracted the interest of sympathetic local whites, a number
of whom were active in either the Labor Party or the Communist
Party, and gained support from the powerful Newcastle Trades
and Labour Council. Eventually, in 1961, even the Board had to
admit that what it faced at Purfleet and elsewhere was not
financial irresponsibility but widespread civil disobedience in pro-
test, the Board conceded, ‘for dispossessing them of their lands’.8°

Other forms of resistance to the repression of the postwar years
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also occurred—resistances which were more ambiguous and
destructive. For some Aborigines, public expressions of defiance
were made by adopting forbidden behaviour, such as drinking,
despite (or perhaps because of) the continued illegality of supply
of alcohol to them. Chronic alcohol abuse was a constant factor
in Aboriginal life over these years but it was mainly confined to
mature men, and while debilitating, had not escalated to the scale
of later years. Again, for women, gambling on cards and bingo
were unquestionably seen as resistance to Welfare officers and
police but for some this resistance toppled over into uncontrol-
lable and self-destructive addiction.?”

Through the 1950s, Aboriginal political challenges to town
segregation and to increasing Welfare Board surveillance could be
seen as being within the framework of a civil rights campaign for
the equality of citizen’s rights, even though the housing and rent
issues for Aborigines were strongly linked to their assertion of
prior rights to land. By 1960, the issue of land itself had re-
emerged as an immediate and fundamental element of New South
Wales Aboriginal political agendas. As had been the case in the
1920s, the initiative for this reassertion of the land issue arose
from Aboriginal people in the region where land was coming
under renewed and intensifying threat.

In the late 1950s, this was the Bundjalung area of the far north
coast. Their rights to their lands were threatened during the 1950s
because of the final restructuring of the beef cattle industry in
the upper reaches of the rivers, around Woodenbong, Tabulum
and Baryulgil, and the extension of urbanisation and tourism on
the coast, as at Lismore and Yamba. The Bundjalung were,
however, in a strong position to articulate their growing concerns
about economic threats, reserve revocations and enforced urban
movements. They had an established network of Aboriginal-con-
trolled fundamentalist Christian churches operating throughout
the Bundjalung lands, led by lay preachers like Frank Roberts,
Snr, and his son Frank Roberts, Jnr, who was ordained as a pastor
in the Church of Christ in 1956. These forms of Christianity
recognised their people’s Aboriginal cultural values, encouraged
confidence in rights to land and endorsed the hierarchical author-
ity held by older Aboriginal people. The meetings held by the
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churches allowed opportunities to share common concerns about
land and political repression.

Another element in the strength of the Bundjalung were their
links with the Aboriginal people of the Armidale area, who were
encountering a supportive interest among academics at the Uni-
versity of New England. Finally, they developed contacts with
advocates of co-operatives, like the ‘red’” Anglican bush brother,
Alf Clint from Tranby College in Sydney, who argued that this
form of organisation was consistent with Aboriginal modes of
community management and would allow independent economic
development of Aboriginal lands.

Cabbage Tree Island, home of many branches of the Roberts
family, began its sugar farming co-operative in 1960, followed by
other Bundjalung communities.”! In that year, Alex Vesper, a
Bundjalung man from Woodenbong, rose to his feet at the annual
conference of the newly established national organisation to
support Aboriginal political action, the Federal Council for
Aboriginal and Torres Straits Islanders (FCAATSI). Vesper moved
for the agenda to be laid aside and then demanded that the
conference begin to pay immediate attention to land issues, calling
for security of tenure for Aboriginal people, support for their
rights to own land and compensation for all lands taken away.”2

Despite Koori protests, the pressure on land intensified: from
1957 to 1964, the major loss of reserves and land area was from
the Bundjalung lands. In 1964, six out of the nine reserves
revoked were on the north coast and five of these were high
country Bundjalung.?> These communities persisted with their
co-operatives but they were all badly undercapitalised, and so
could not yet meet the community’s hopes for economic inde-
pendence.?* The Bundjalung representatives on state and national
Aboriginal political organisations continued to demand that land
become the first item on any political agenda. They were not
alone. Kooris on the south coast added their voices to the demand
to reorient the Aboriginal political platform from equality and
civil rights only to one which made land a priority. The Jerinja
from Roseby Park in 1960, for example, called on the South
Coast Trades and Labour Council to support their campaign for
farming and residential lands to protect them from urban residen-
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tial expansion and tourist development.”> Their combined and
increasingly urgent demands for recognition of rights and needs
over traditional lands arose from the growing pressures within
New South Wales, and this south-eastern demand had forced a
shift in the FCAATSI platform before the Northern Territory
Yirrkala and Gurindji calls for land in 1963 and 1966.%¢ By the
mid-1960s, the coastal concerns about land loss were to be
matched by those of Murris in western New South Wales, who
were faced with loss of both reserves and access to land as the
pastoral industry again restructured and the Welfare Board closed
down remote reserves in favour of new, cramped ‘town
settlements’.

URBANISATION: VOLUNTARY AND FORCED

By the late 1950s some Aborigines had decided that the industrial
areas of the cities offered better economic, educational and
political conditions than the suffocating small rural towns. Their
migration was along paths trodden already by kinsfolk, so that
chain migration occurred to Sydney suburbs where some Aborig-
inal families had been living for decades. Redfern and Alexandria
were the most publicised destinations but Aboriginal communities
were also well established on the old Gandangara and Dharuk
lands of western Sydney. Conditions were poor, with many
Aboriginal migrants able to afford no more than crowded slums.
They met intense racism from real estate agents and local gov-
ernments at any signs of increasing Aboriginal population. What
was not present was Welfare Board control: the Board had never
developed a strong urban surveillance structure and it appeared
to find the task of monitoring complex and dense urban com-
munities just too difficult. Without the Welfare Board to contain
Aborigines, local government and white residents called on police
to control their presence and behaviour. By the early 1960s
Aboriginal concern about police harassment was becoming more
public as they were able to document the increasing raids on
hotels and homes.

The growing Sydney Aboriginal population formed supportive
networks which offered social and then later political organisation.
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The ‘Redfern All-Blacks’ football club was one such body, which
provided a vehicle for strengthening community links and also a
base for negotiating with predominantly white support groups like
the AAF. Ken Brindle, an activist involved in the ‘All-Blacks’
was central in mobilising and directing the Australian Aboriginal
Fellowship to address the pressing issues for urban communities,
notably accommodation and police harassment. Brindle himself
was savagely bashed by Redfern police when he tried to assist
the family of Patrick Wedge, a Wiradjuri man shot by police in
1963. The Council for Civil Liberties’ involvement in Brindle’s
defence and damages claim laid the foundation for later alliances
between urban lawyers and Aboriginal activists.”’

The Welfare Board had begun to recognise its own failure to
break into rural residential segregation by the early 1960s, and it
attempted to intervene in the stalemated conflicts between towns
and Aborigines by pushing Aborigines towards the industrial
workforce of the coast. While some Aborigines clearly chose
migration, at least temporarily, many others had continued to
assert their rights to live in the area of their choice, which was
often related to their traditional country and always to their
extended family relationships. From 1960, however, the Welfare
Board began to argue that young people and their families should
‘pull up roots’ and seek housing and training in the cities. In
1962 it threatened those Aborigines who failed to respond that
they would be forced off reserves and stations. In 1963, the Board
began to use the Housing Commission to acquire houses in urban
areas rather than in the rural towns with highest Aboriginal
populations and highest demand for houses.”® The intention was
made very plain to Aborigines: if you wanted a house at all, you
would have to move to Sydney or Newcastle.

At the same time, as the conditions under which Aborigines
were living had become more public due to agitation by Aborig-
inal and white groups, the Board made a final attempt to minimise
the isolation of some Aboriginal reserves and to be seen to be
addressing the health and housing crisis. Some large and remote
stations were closed and a series of housing settlements were
rapidly built on small pieces of reserve land at the edge of towns
like Brewarrina, Bourke, Kempsey and Moree from 1964 to 1966.
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All cheap and jerry built, this makeshift housing at least allowed
the Board to call them ‘town settlements’ rather than reserves.?”
These white towns had all won their battles to keep Aboriginal
families outside municipal boundaries but the Welfare Board then
simply dumped large Aboriginal populations in overcrowded and
poorly-built houses on the very edges of the towns, exacerbating
anxieties and tensions.

For Aboriginal people, this often seemed like a further entrap-
ment. For those at Brewarrina, for example, the move to West
Brewarrina meant the loss of access to hundreds of acres of reserve
around the old Mission, one of the worst losses of Aboriginal
reserve lands in the west. The new ‘town settlement’ was a slum,
poorly built on a treeless hill, and soon referred to by all as
‘Dodge City’. Fences and locked gates increasingly confronted
these Murris as access to pastoral lands closed down too with loss
of employment, and their growing sense of frustration was
expressed in the early 1970s in the political lament ‘we are landless

and landlocked’.100

CHANGING THE LAWS

The Aboriginal movements had been openly condemning the
cultural destruction sought by the ‘Assimilation Policy’ since 1958,
when Bert Groves reasserted, for the first time since 1927, the
cultural distinctiveness and values of Aboriginal societies.!0!
Aboriginal involvement in the AAF and the early meetings of
FCAATSI had encouraged the national, pan-Aboriginal perspec-
tive which had been so evident in the Aboriginal Progressive
Association of the 1930s. Since 1957, there had been strong New
South Wales Aboriginal support for the AAF campaign to change
the Federal Constitution to make the Commonwealth Govern-
ment responsible for Aboriginal Affairs, the fulfilment of another
platform of the 1930s movements. In the early 1960s, however,
the focus of political organising returned to New South Wales,
and the Aboriginal movements campaigned strongly during 1962
for the abolition of the Welfare Board and the dismantling of the
Assimilation Policy. They generated a debate about the relative
merits of ‘assimilation’ and ‘integration’ which continued in the
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press in the following years.!2 Major changes had already
occurred when the Commonwealth Government agreed in 1960
to grant pensions to any aged Aborigine, regardless of ‘caste’,
place of residence or ‘exemption’. The powers of the ‘Dog
Licence’ were now greatly diminished, and with them, the power
of the New South Wales Board to threaten and intimidate
Aborigines.

The remaining legal restriction was Section 9, the ban on the
supply of alcohol to Aborigines. After an effective Aboriginal and
AAF campaign, this too was removed in March 1963, taking with
it the final power of the Exemption Certificate. Regardless of
whether their abuse of the drug arose from despair or from a
form of resistance, given the destructive effects which alcohol had
had on some Aboriginal people in the past, this was an ambiguous
victory.19 Yet the level of Aboriginal drinking appears to have
been little affected. According to police reports to the Welfare
Board, those Aborigines who wanted alcohol before had been
able to obtain it at an inflated ‘black-market’ price from publicans,
and storekeepers sold methylated spirits to alcoholics.!%* This
avenue of abuse at least was closed off by legalisation, although
there were many towns where Aboriginal access to the normal
venues for social drinking has never been achieved, with Aborig-
inal drinkers instead confined to the least comfortable back bars
of many country pubs.

There are some figures available on arrests of Aborigines for
public drunkenness over the 1960s and early 1970s in New South
Wales. These suggest that there was not an increase in Aboriginal
drinking associated with legalisation of supply in 1963. Instead,
the substantial increase in alcohol abuse occurred in the early
1970s when Aboriginal employment in many areas had dried up
altogether and the level of confrontation between local govern-
ment and Aborigines had risen still further.'% Economic and
political issues were thus far more significant in exacerbating
alcohol abuse than legalisation of supply.

Through the early 1960s, there was growing urban support
for rural activism which challenged the segregation in picture
shows, swimming pools and pubs, all symptomatic of the funda-
mental residential segregation. The New South Wales Labour
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Council delegation to Walgett in 1964, for example, was widely
covered in the metropolitan press. It was not until 1965, however,
that there was major attention given to the issue. This was
generated by the Freedom Ride, a bus convoy organised by
Sydney University students and led by Charles Perkins. While
this event took its name from the civil rights activism occurring
at the time in the United States, Perkins’ bus travelled to the
sites of longest standing conflict between Aboriginal people and
white townspeople. In doing so it mapped out decades of Aborig-
inal resistance to rural segregation. The students’ tape recordings
and photographs of ugly confrontations in Walgett, Moree and
other towns over attempts to break the colour bar produced
chilling evidence for urban audiences of the racism in rural New
South Wales. It was also a very public announcement of a new
alliance between Aborigines in both urban and rural areas and
white students, who were later to become the lawyers and other
professionals staffing the 1970s Aboriginal-controlled organ-
isations. It contributed far more than the Welfare Board had ever
done to public awareness of the problem, and to the breaking
down of the petty but infuriating segregation of rural public
spaces. Residential segregation, however, was to be far more
persistent.

The years of previous campaigning, which culminated in the
direct action and high publicity of the Freedom Ride, forced the
New South Wales Government to hold a Select Committee
Inquiry into the Welfare Board in 1966. Its Report condemned
the Board but largely because it had not been assimilationist
enough, as it continued to foster Aboriginal communities by
allowing reserves to persist, when it should have been actively
‘pepperpotting’ families all over the state. The Report’s underly-
ing directions to the bureaucracy were therefore to continue and
indeed accelerate many of the very policies opposed by Aborig-
ines. Nevertheless, it spelt the end of the Welfare Board as an
entity. Its functions were dismembered and transferred to relevant
departments, such as the Housing Commission and Child Welfare
Department. The demise of the Welfare Board appeared a positive
step, and a new rhetoric of ‘integration’ replaced the earlier
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‘assimilation’ terminology. It seemed that political activism had
made a major impact.

Just as dramatic were the results of the long-awaited Federal
Referendum, which in 1967 won overwhelming support for the
proposals to recognise Aboriginal people symbolically by including
them in the general census count and to transfer responsibility for
Aboriginal Affairs to the Federal Government. Close analysis of
the voting returns showed, however, that the areas with the lowest
‘yes’ votes were those rural areas with large Aboriginal populations,
which had usually manifested the most entrenched discrimination
and segregation.! In New South Wales, the racial conservatism
of rural areas was being fanned into the open by the political
challenges of Aboriginal reassertion and by the growing sense of
insecurity as the Welfare Board was dismantled. This body which
had effectively managed and contained Aborigines for white towns-
people was now going. In reality, the diffusion of the sites of
control and surveillance to a number of other departments made
those powers greater and more difficult to fight. The large bureau-
cracy of the Housing Commission, for example, could much more
effectively force Aborigines to conform to ‘normal’ standards in
house use, rent and location than the smaller and more personalised
Welfare Board had been able to do. Yet for rural local government,
particularly in those towns with newly constructed and adjacent
‘town settlements’, the situation looked far less controlled than in
previous years. From the early 1970s rural media in western areas
began to call for more police, more control of Aborigines and
more ‘law and order’.17

THREATS TO SECURE RESIDENCE CONTINUE:
1970s

The Aboriginal political movement also expressed grave concerns
about the directions of New South Wales policy. Aborigines had
little real input into the new administration, the Directorate of
Aboriginal Affairs under the Ministry of Social Welfare. Although
an elected Aboriginal Advisory Council first sat in 1970, it had
no powers independent of the Minister, and in one of its earliest
acts agreed to the revocation of Kinchela Reserve. The pressure
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on Aborigines to conform to Housing Commission expectations
of nuclear family and urban living was intensifying, and the new
Directorate was found to be even more openly committed to
urban relocation than had been the Welfare Board. The recom-
mendations from the Directorate to the Housing Commission in
1971 show far more houses being constructed for Aborigines in
urban areas than in areas of highest demand like Bourke. Such
discrepancies demonstrated the distance between Aboriginal
demand and Directorate intentions.!'%3

Aboriginal concerns were not allayed when the head of the
Directorate, Ian Mitchell, initiated the Aboriginal Family
Resettlement Programme, a scheme to assist supposedly volun-
tarily migrating families. Aboriginal people suspected that
substantial pressure was applied to community leaders to attract
them with house and job offers in order to stimulate chain
migration and that the covert goal was the old Protection Board
one of closing down the reserves altogether, leaving atomised,
urban families rather than Aboriginal communities. At least 200
families had been moved in this way by 1980 but 25 per cent of
them had returned to their rural homes, and more were to do
so in the following years as employment opportunities in urban
secondary industry disappeared. The programme finally collapsed
due to urban unemployment in 1988.109

The anxiety generated among Aborigines in the early 1970s
by the recognition that they would continue to be under pressure
to leave their home countries if they wanted decent housing, was
heightened by the continued threats to reserve lands by revoca-
tion. The Bundjalung and South Sea Islander communities at
Fingal at Tweed Heads had come under sustained pressure for
tourist development in 1969, and only major lobbying by Aborig-
inal activists and wide print and television publicity had saved the
land. Other reserves looked even less secure. Some concessions
were made to reassure the most politically active communities
like Woodenbong that their reserve would not be revoked but
the Directorate was clearly not committed to maintaining what
little remained of the Aboriginal land base.
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WHOSE LAW? WHOSE ORDER?

To these concerns about the direction of policy were added the
very immediate concerns generated by increasing police harass-
ment, most noticeably in the inner suburbs of Redfern but also
in rural areas. Tensions were rising as local authorities, urban and
rural, expressed their insecurities. The alliance between Abor-
igines and urban professionals, first obvious in 1965, bore fruit in
the documentation of police harassment and violence in the early
1970s and then in the formation of the Aboriginal Legal Service
in Sydney in 1971, with branches established in rural areas by
1973.110 This New South Wales attempt to make the legal system
more accountable was influenced in many respects by strategies
being tried in urban African—American communities by groups
like the Panthers. Yet its central impulse and strategies were
responses to the realities New South Wales Aborigines were facing
in both urban and rural areas as police were being called on more
frequently to ‘manage’ Aborigines in the seeming vacuum left by
the Welfare Board.

The use of white professionals working under the direction
of Aboriginal people was untried in Australia. It brought immedi-
ate results by improving legal representation for Aborigines to the
level accessible to the urban working class.!!! To go beyond this
to challenge the widespread institutionalised racial discrimination
embedded within the legal system, more fundamental political
changes were needed. This was the basis in 1975 for the Aborig-
inal Legal Service (ALS) and the Central Australian Aboriginal
Legal Aid Service to call for a wide ranging national Royal
Commission to inquire into Police—Aboriginal relations, particu-
larly into the wider role of police as a body interconnected with
other institutions such as the state child welfare and health
authorities and local government.!'? The fall of the Whitlam
government in 1975 ended plans for such an inquiry until the
issue of Aboriginal deaths in police cells and gaols pushed the
complex matter again into prominence and generated the Royal
Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody in 1987.

As well as the problem of immediate interactions with white
society through the police, Aboriginal political concerns in the
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early 1970s had reflected the increasing pressure on land and on
the right to live in communities in the area of people’s choice.
This focus on issues of land and country was demonstrated in the
Tent Embassy, a demonstration initiated by New South Wales
Aboriginal activists in 1972. With inspired symbolism, the con-
cerns of south-eastern Aboriginal communities were aligned with
those of Aborigines from all over Australia. The increased pressure
on the incoming Whitlam government to make concessions on
Land Rights had effects outside Commonwealth territories too,
as the New South Wales Government thus renamed the Aborig-
inal Advisory Council the ‘Lands Trust’, although without giving
it any more powers and certainly no more land.

CHALLENGING RESIDENTIAL SEGREGATION

Aboriginal communities were using the newly available Com-
monwealth funds to more effect: the emergence of housing
companies in many rural towns reflected the assertion by these
communities that they intended to remain on their chosen coun-
try and have decent houses. As the rural recession deepened in
the mid-1970s, many rural areas lost significant numbers of white
residents, and the combination of vacant houses and some avail-
able funds for Aboriginal housing companies led to the first real
breakdown of rural residential segregation. The housing compa-
nies were thus able to buy up the empty houses in previously
white neighbourhoods.!'3 Such a process continues to be partial
and incomplete but to the extent that residential segregation has
been challenged, it has been Aboriginal housing companies which
achieved what gains have been made. Aboriginal goals have not
been to have ‘pepperpot’ housing, however, and they continue
to struggle with state housing authorities. These are now more
inclined, with federal funds, to build homes in the rural towns
where Aboriginal people choose to live but they still seek to
separate Aboriginal families and in general refuse to build on
Aboriginal reserve land.
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CONCLUSION: LAND AND SOVEREIGNTY

Beyond the limited success of the housing companies, Aboriginal
political action continued to focus on land issues through the
early 1970s. It gained strength from the public awareness of the
relative success of the land rights campaign in the Northern
Territory but was grounded in 200 years of very local Aboriginal
campaigns to regain traditional lands and reestablish an economic
base in the south-east. The New South Wales Aboriginal Land
Council was formed out of this movement in 1976. It included
veteran land rights activists from the coastal movements of the
1920s, people from the west who had experienced the enforced
moves of the 1930s as well as younger people involved in these
issues for the first time. This body successfully lobbied the New
South Wales Government to establish a Select Committee Inquiry
into land rights, and out of this came the recommendation for
land rights legislation in New South Wales which was eventually
passed in 1983.

A related idea was beginning to emerge by the mid-1970s.
This was sovereignty, an amorphous but powerful formulation of
a number of strands which had been developing in Aboriginal
politics. These strands included both criticism of the apparent
reforms of the 1970s and a strengthening of the reassertion of
Aboriginal culture and values.

Aboriginal mobilisation for equal and non-discriminatory
access to education, housing and other public services was increas-
ingly tempered in the 1970s by disillusion with an ‘equality’
which differed little from ‘assimilation’. It still spelled ‘the same
as whites” and denied Aboriginal aspirations to develop their own
cultural directions. The past decades had seen economic pressures
continue to erode Aboriginal opportunities for employment, and
government policy had in reality increased Aboriginal insecurity
about their children and their place of residence. ‘Equality’ was
often invoked in these circumstances only to make disadvantage
permanent. With this rising sense of disillusion was a rejection of
increased bureaucratic surveillance, well-established under the
Welfare Board and expanding ever more rapidly under the dif-
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fusion of Federal and State departments with whom Aborigines
were dealing after 1972.

This critique occurred at the same time as the developing
cultural reassertion of the 1970s which included not only an
appreciation of the rich quality of traditionally-based art and
knowledge but a recognition of the dynamism of urban-based
Aboriginal culture. Linked with the movement to regain lands,
the cultural reassertion of the 1970s offered positive alternatives
to the old ‘assimilation’ package still being offered. These trends
were accompanied by another with powerful implications. The
determination of Aboriginal people to gain access to educational
resources finally succeeded, even if slowly at first, and the decade
saw a growing number of Aboriginal lawyers and other profes-
sionals graduating and taking their places in either Aboriginal-
controlled organisations or in mainstream positions.

None of these trends were entirely congruent, and as in the
past, they have been refracted through the wide regional differ-
ences between Aboriginal community conditions. These were
further diversified by the consolidation of large Aboriginal pop-
ulations in Sydney and regional cities, despite the vulnerability of
these urban communities to industrial unemployment. The con-
cept of sovereignty developed influence and depth, as well as
ambiguities, from the tensions between all these strands: critique,
cultural reassertion and social change. These have continued to
interact in complex ways, forming and reforming to shape the
public face of Aboriginal political and cultural action throughout
the 1980s and 90s.
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Victoria

INCE 1802 when the party from the Lady Nelson surveyed

Port Phillip Bay for future European settlement, the indige-
nous peoples who became known as Aboriginal Victorians!, have
suffered from the colonial condition. As the Tunisian scholar of
colonialism, Albert Memmi, so clearly explained in the 1960s,
the colonial process reshapes both stranger and native into the
coloniser and the colonised.2 The forces of colonialism reshaped
Aboriginal Victorians into victims and voyagers.

As victims they were dispersed from their land, had their
economy and their traditional world ruptured, and their auton-
omy severely curtailed. Pride and independence often gave way
to dependence and self-doubt. Their world was never the same
because of the European presence. They could never again frame
their thinking without including the fact of the colonisers’ exis-
tence and power. However colonialism is never completely
victorious, for where there is power there is always resistance to
that power. Since 1802 Aboriginal Victorians have maintained
significant customary ideas and practices and continued to exercise
considerable control over their destiny despite the pressures of
colonialism. Colonialism is also strangely creative as well as being
destructive. Many Aborigines have been voyagers: to borrow a
term first used by W.E.H. Stanner in 1958 to describe Aboriginal
agency.> Many have voyaged into the new cross-cultural world,
exploring the possibilities and flexibilities of the Aboriginal-Euro-
pean interface to create new cultural forms.
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VICTORIA

ABORIGINAL COUNTRY LONG TIME AGO

Aboriginal people are no strangers to change, for their world has
been in a cycle of creation and recreation since Bunjil and Pallian
breathed life into figures of clay and bark to make the first people.
They taught these people to hunt and keep the law, before
dispersing them across the face of the land now called Victoria.*
Scientific, as opposed to traditional Aboriginal knowledge, poses
not such a creation but an ancient migration from south-east Asia.
Archaeologists presently identify a definite continuous Aboriginal
occupation of the Keilor River terraces near Melbourne for the
past 40 000 years.>

For perhaps 50 000 years, possibly much longer, Aboriginal
peoples in Victoria have responded to massive environmental
changes as significant as any in the last two million years. An ice
age with temperatures up to 15 degrees C cooler than today
forced them to use possum-skin cloaks, more adequate shelters,
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and different food sources. A warming climate 20 000 years ago
caused the extinction of the megafauna, changed Aboriginal food
supplies and caused a shift in totemic ideas. Rising sea levels
climaxing 9000 years ago, reduced Victoria’s area by a quarter as
the coastal plains were flooded forming Bass Strait. Clan lands
and boundaries were radically altered over generations. The
archaeological record reveals technological change over 40 000
years, from crude to finely-ground stone tools, to the adoption
of a bone and wood tool kit 5000 years ago.¢

Throughout 1500 generations, ten times the gestation of the
agricultural mode of production, Aboriginal Victorians shaped
their relationship to the land. By 1802 they had formed them-
selves into about thirty different cultural-linguistic groups. Each
linguistic group was composed of land-owning clans responsible
for the land and its fertility. Each clan owned particular stories
about the journeys and creations of the great ancestral beings.
The natural world was shaped by, and still contained, the power
of these great ancestors. People, land and ancestral beings were
bound together in a oneness through a totemic relationship. Each
person through their totem had power and responsibility to care
for land and living things.

Clan affiliations attached people to the religious world while
membership of bands organised the tasks of daily living. Bands of
several families foraged for a rich diversity of animal, marine and
vegetable foods with digging sticks, spears and other techniques.
When the eels ran at places like Lake Corangamite or myriads of
Bogong moths clung to dark crevasses in the High Plains, perhaps
500 people or more from many regional bands gathered to eat,
socialise and discuss the weighty business of feud, marriage or
ceremony. Others on the plains combined their labour to make
massive nets to catch duck, emu or kangaroo.”

Theirs was an affluent life—if affluence is taken to mean that
the basic needs of food and shelter can be easily met. Early
European observations of Aboriginal eeling, fishing, vegetable
gathering or possum hunting, reveal that a family could be fed
with less than five hours of work. The only penalties were that
the people had to maintain their population in balance and also
keep on the move lest the law of diminishing returns set in when

123



CONTESTED GROUND

a group remained in one place for too long.® Yet in the Western
District some groups about 3000 years ago overcame the problems
of sedentary life by developing hydraulic farming. By expending
considerable communal labour to build a complex system of stone
water channels, some of which were up to 500 metres long and
a metre deep, the Jaadwa, Tjapwurong and Gunditjmara peoples
of the region became semi-sedentary eel farmers. They built
villages of stone-walled, turf-roofed huts. One paddock near Lake
Condah contains the ruins of 146 such houses.’

The long evolved life on the land was not ideal but it was
probably closer to the ideal than achieved by many other human
societies. A possum skin cloak and bush shelter were not always
a comfortable protection against a Victorian winter, especially as
the people had no means of heating water. Food gathering was
a constant if not arduous task. Fighting between clans and domes-
tic strife was a reality, and sorcery gave the hint of danger to
every life. But kinship and local clever men could reduce such
threats.1® Over-arching all were the bonds of community, cere-
mony and the land, that gave each person a place in life and a
sense of relevance and purpose. Into this tight-knit, autonomous
world flowed the tide of European expansionism.

ENCOUNTERING EUROPEANS

The crew of Cook’s Endeavour spied land off Point Hicks in the
dawn light of 20 April 1770. Aborigines no doubt often saw the
Endeavour as it coasted south-eastern Australia, for Cook recorded
seeing their fires. Yet an Aboriginal-European encounter did not
eventuate on the Victorian coastline until the wreck of the Sydney
Cove in 1797 (of which we have few details), followed by a
meeting in 1802 when the Lady Nelson surveyed Port Phillip. Yet
before 1797 Aborigines felt the colonial sting of introduced
disease. The weight of evidence suggests that smallpox which
killed possibly half of the Eora (Port Jackson) people in 1790
spread southward along the rivers to much of central and western
Victoria. Oral evidence records people fleeing before the scourge
as scores fell, and sightings of pock-marked survivors by Euro-
peans record the spread of the disease. A further outbreak
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occurred in 1830. There is of course no certainty because of the
absence of an exact diagnosis, and some scholars remain scepti-
cal,!! but experienced contemporary opinion firmly believed it
was smallpox. If smallpox death rates of between 40 to 60 per
cent recorded among indigenous peoples overseas are applied to
Aboriginal Victoria, it means the pre-contact Aboriginal popula-
tion might have been not 12 000, as long thought but in excess
of 60 000 people.!2

Once Aborigines encountered Europeans, disaster often fol-
lowed. Violence flared between the Bunerong and the crew of
the British survey brig Lady Nelson at Sorrento in 1802. Curiosity,
ambivalence and one Aboriginal death, resulted from a meeting
at the Werribee River in late 1803 with Lt James Tuckey’s party,
which was surveying the bay for the abortive first European
settlement at Sorrento. When this settlement was abandoned in
1804, William Buckley, a convict runaway, was left behind to
make his own way among the Wathaurung near Geelong till
1835. His adventures were later graphically described in a life
story.!? Astonishingly, no further European settlement was
attempted until 1826, when Corinella on Westernport became a
military outpost for eighteen months. Then private enterprise in
the form of the Henty family at Portland in 1834 and Fawkner’s
and Batman’s parties at Melbourne in 1835, formed the first
permanent European settlements in Victoria.

In May and June 1835 John Batman surveyed parts of the bay
west of Melbourne and purportedly purchased 600 000 acres from
the ‘chiefs’ of the Kulin—the five linguistic-cultural groups of
south-central Victoria—on behalf of a Hobart syndicate of capi-
talists, the Port Phillip Association. Two deeds were drawn up,
allegedly signed, and payments of blankets, tomahawks, flour and
so forth were made. It was agreed to pay a ‘yearly rent of tribute’
in goods to the Kulin and their heirs in return for the land. By
this purchase the syndicate sought to force the government to
allow settlement of the southern coast and to play to the human-
itarian lobby in Britain by their gestures of purchase and fair
dealing. Governor Bourke moved swiftly to declare the purchase
null and void and uphold the Crown’s claim to eastern Australia
made by Cook in 1770. Any recognition of Batman’s parchment
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would be tantamount to an admission that the Aborigines, not
the Crown, owned the land and had the right to alienate it.!4

The Batman treaty is significant because it was the only
purchase ever negotiated between Aboriginal owners and Euro-
pean intruders. However, were the Kulin the victims of a cruel
swindle? The land exchanged for a yearly tribute of food and
trade goods was worth in European contemporary terms of
purchase a massive £150 000—at a time when a shepherd’s annual
wage was £50. One scholar has recently suggested that Batman
even forged the signatures of the Aboriginal ‘chiefs’.!>

However, questions of swindles and hoaxes overlook Aborig-
inal understandings of the agreement. Certainly the commun-
ication of ideas would have been difficult between the parties
despite the presence of Batman’s Aboriginal guides from Sydney.
Certainly the Kulin had no notion of land sales and would have
rejected such an idea if they did understand the Europeans’
desires. However, research by Diane Barwick reveals there were
clan heads of great status among the Kulin. Five of the eight
alleged ‘chiefly’ signatories of the treaty with Batman have been
identified as being clan heads.!0 If these ‘chiefs’ agreed to the
compact—even signed the parchment—what did they mean by
it?

In the 1840s the Aboriginal Protector, William Thomas,
observed the fanderrum ceremony by which visitors introduced by
brokers were given temporary use of Kulin land.!” Batman’s
overtures, complete with Aboriginal negotiators, gifts and concil-
iatory gestures, fitted into Aboriginal conceptions of negotiations.
While they may appear to us as victims of a poor deal, in their
terms they were landowners who it seems freely chose to give a
small band of strangers access to land in exchange for some
tempting items: flour, mirrors, beads and metal hatchets and
blades. They recognised the efficiency of the latter instantly.
Indeed, a week earlier Batman had peered into a woman’s string
bag and found a sharpened piece of iron hoop, obviously traded
hundreds of kilometres from New South Wales.!8

The Kulin were victims in this transaction yet voyagers too—
meeting strangers, controlling them through negotiation, and
gaining access to something novel of value. They were active
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agents who experimented in a new cross-cultural world. Some
have called Derrimut, who warned Fawkner’s party of an impend-
ing Aboriginal attack in October 1835, a traitor or collaborator.!?
Yet as a Bunerong clan leader he seems to have chosen negoti-
ation over violence as a way of dealing with strangers.2? Batman,
who duly made payments on the first anniversary of the treaty,
heightened the Kulin’s understandings of the agreement. Reci-
procity was their traditional governing principle and Batman fitted
their pattern. Gift exchange was continued between the Kulin
and Governor Bourke in 1837 and with the Aboriginal Protectors
when they arrived in 1839. Aboriginal voyaging can be seen too
in Marie Fels’ important recent study of the Port Phillip Native
Police. She reveals that the initial members of the force were all
clan leaders or their sons, who used their role as policemen to
enlarge their power and authority within Aboriginal society and
at the cultural interface.?!

Aboriginal accommodation and negotiation with white intrud-
ers did not always hold sway on the Port Phillip (after 1851,
Victorian) frontier but the earlier historical paradigm of white
violence and Aboriginal resistance drawn in the 1970s by some
historians is clearly too simplistic. This is not to condemn the
very important achievements of the first generation of Aboriginal
historiography but only to recognise that our understandings have
deepened throughout the 1980s. For instance, Michael Christie’s
Aborigines in Colonial Victoria 1835-86 (1979) made important
contributions, especially by challenging the stereotype of peaceful
European settlement and Aboriginal passivity.22

However, by representing Aborigines as resistance fighters in
the face of rapacious whites, he created a new and powerful
stereotype of a violent frontier. To do this he made a number
of questionable interpretations and omissions. First, like other
earlier scholars,? he exaggerated the Aboriginal resistance by
assuming to know Aboriginal motivation: namely a war of resis-
tance against European intruders. This is to suggest a single
motivation only, and one set in terms of race and a war for the
land—concepts alien to traditional Aboriginal thinking from what
we can know. Contemporary evidence suggests that some moti-
vation 1s unknowable, while other actions were in the traditional
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This portrayal of a violent encounter reveals a time when weapons
technology on the frontier was more evenly matched. C. MUNDY,
OUR ANTIPODES, 1852

mode of feud, and the upholding of Aboriginal law over ritual
or social transgressions.2* Secondly, Christie claims the Aborigines
were overwhelmed because ‘Aboriginal spears were no match for
settler’s guns’, whereas the facts of pre-1850 weaponry suggest a
more even contest.2> This claim leads onto a third, that 2000
Aboriginal people were killed in Victoria making it a violent
encounter. His figure is derived not from careful grassroots
calculations but the application of the top end of an 1888
continent-wide ‘guesstimate’ by Edward Curr that 15-25 per cent
of Aborigines died by the rifle. An Aboriginal death count of
2000 with only 59 Europeans killed by Aborigines, attributes to
Victoria by far the highest black/white death ratio of any Aus-
tralian frontier, whereas much evidence suggests it was one of
the least violent of frontiers.2® The Aboriginal death toll in
Victoria is probably about half what Christie suggests, although
Beverley Nance’s calculation of 400 seems too low. Certainly
Nance, who explores the role of sorcery and inter-se killings in
Aboriginal society, shows how Christie has under-emphasised this
traditional source of black deaths.?’
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Christie and others are correct to see the role of terror in
Aboriginal-European relations—a theme that continued beyond
the frontier, albeit in more subtle forms. But he and others of
the ‘violent frontier’ school underestimate the range of frontier
relations. Christie devotes only a paragraph to diseases (the great-
est killers of Aboriginal people), fails to recognise the role of
Aboriginal workers on the pastoral frontier?®, and overlooks the
diversity of black—white relations including friendships, sexual
liaisons and trade. A recent study of the Western District addresses
this diversity and reveals the complexity of frontier encounters to
reveal Aborigines as both victims and voyagers.2?

Far greater than violence was the impact of pastoralism which
in four years from 1836 transformed the economies of the
Aborigines of central and south-western Victoria. This pastoral
expansion—the most rapid in Australia, perhaps even in human
history—engulfed most of arable Victoria by 1850.3° Both hunting
and gathering and the pastoral economic mode range widely and
so there was direct competition over land and its resources: water
and grass. The sheep displaced kangaroos and other herbivorous
animals, and ate out the tasty murnong yams in several seasons.
Duck, emu and bush turkey retreated before the European
advance. While Aboriginal groups in marine and mountain ecol-
ogies fared better, those on the plains suffered greatly. William
Thomas, an Aboriginal Protector, wrote in 1844: ‘I do not think
that of the five tribes who visited Melbourne that there is in the
whole of the five districts enough food to feed one tribe.’3!

Here was genocide: not in deliberate killing as others have
argued (although this occurred too often) but in the unintended
clash of two incompatible economic systems as pastoralism ground
over the top of hunter—gatherer society. In wider perspective this
was a clash between traditional itinerant land use and modernism.
The six million sheep in Port Phillip and the farmers who
followed were cogs in the capitalist—industrial system that
stretched to the woollen mills of Yorkshire and to the jumpers
on the backs and the food on the tables of an expanding world
population.?? Introduced diseases were another unintended con-
sequence of contact. This is not to excuse the many killings but
to recognise the process for what it was.
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The outcome was swift for the Kulin and other Aboriginal
Victorians. In 1835 there were an estimated 10 000 Aboriginal
people in what became Victoria, while in 1853 only 1907
remained—a decline of 80 per cent in less than a generation.
Violence caused about 10 per cent of the losses, disease, malnu-
trition and infertility accounted for most of the decline.?? As this
disaster was acted out, the European population grew to 45 000
in 1850 and by the end of the 50s gold-rush decade, to 330 000.3

The British authorities did not stand idly watching this
destruction,’® but their efforts to keep the peace on the frontier
were often less than effective or even-handed. Cook’s act of
possession in 1770, without Aboriginal consent, had incorporated
Aborigines as DBritish citizens. One of the great colonial
rationalisations for dispossession was that Aborigines gained the
benefits of British civilisation, Christianity and protection. How-
ever, a British House of Commons Select Committee representing
humanitarian opinion, claimed in 1837 that ‘very little care has
since been taken to protect them [the Aborigines| from the
violence or the contamination of the dregs of our countrymen’.3¢
The humanitarian lobby which captured the British Colonial
Office at this time, caused Lord Glenelg, the Secretary of State
for the Colonies, to remind Governor Bourke in July 1837 that
Aborigines were subjects of the Queen and entitled to the full
protection of Her laws.37 The Port Phillip Aboriginal Protectorate
(1839—-49) flowed from this concern. The four Protectors under
the Chief Protector, George Augustus Robinson, were, without
coercion, to settle the Aborigines on reserves and teach them the
virtues of a sedentary, Christian life.38

However, protection and equality under the law proved
impossible in a cross-cultural situation. Language barriers, Aborig-
inal inexperience with the processes of British law, and the
prejudices of European judges, juries and defence counsellors, all
subverted the course of justice. Aborigines could not press charges
or give evidence because they were pagans, and at times they
were held co-operatively guilty for the crimes of others.3* Only
occasionally did the problems of cross-cultural law work to their
advantage causing the court to release them from trial.

The administration of the law could be arbitrary. Following
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Aboriginal reprisals on settlers in the Goulburn River area in 1840
Governor Gipps was pressured by the settlers to send a party
under Major Lettsom to apprehend those responsible. After a raid
in October on all the Goulburn people camped by the Yarra
River in Melbourne, 400 were marched at sword point to the
Melbourne Stockade. Protector William Parker secured the
release of all but 30. One of the remainder, Nerruknerbook, was
shot while attempting to escape: probably the first Aboriginal
death in custody in Victoria. Nine were sentenced to ten years’
transportation in a court that did not, could not, hear their
evidence. While boarding a ship for Sydney, they dived over-
board: leg-irons and all. One man was shot and recaptured, the
rest apparently escaped.*0

Cross-cultural justice was seriously flawed, despite good inten-
tions in London, because it was the law of the colonisers, and
this law was administered in a context of ethnocentric and racial
ideas. These ideas were rooted in western discourses since the
fifteenth century—about colour (given early expression in
Shakespeare’s Othello); about hierarchies and races of people;
about diversity of cranial capacity; and about savagery, paganism
and primitiveness—all of which constructed dark-skinned peoples
as inferior.#! These ideas which came as ‘cultural baggage’ to
Victoria were compounded by colonial experience as two phys-
ically, culturally and economically divergent groups fought over
land in an unequal colonial context. The tensions and frustrations
led to violence. David Wilsone, a Werribee squatter, deep in debt
and losing sheep to Aboriginal raiders, wrote home to Scotland
in 183940 that the Aborigines were ‘one link removed from the
orang-outang’ and should be exterminated.*2

Yet these views were contested by those who employed
Aborigines, those who had little trouble from them, and those
young squatters, like Edward Curr and George McCrae, who
counted them as friends. Katherine Kirkland at Trawalla Station
was shown by Aboriginal women how to use murnong roots and
sling her baby at her side as she worked. Many European men
fraternised with Aboriginal women, albeit often in an exploitative
way but some lived with Aboriginal women as companions as
well as bed-fellows.*3
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European colonialism devastated Aboriginal society and per-
haps predictably some fatalism resulted. In 1843 Billibellari, a
Woiworung elder and ‘signatory’ to the Batman treaty, told
William Thomas, the Aboriginal Protector, that many of his
people say ‘that no good have them Pickaninneys now, no
country for black fellows like long time ago’. Yet switching from
victim to voyager he added: ‘if Yarra blackfellows had a country
on the Yarra . . . they would stop on it and cultivate the
ground’.#

The British Government’s protective efforts ended with the
closure of the Port Phillip Protectorate in 1849 after a colonial
Committee of Inquiry deemed it an expensive failure. This
committee, completely bereft of ideas, recommended ‘that no
hasty steps should be taken towards the introduction of a new
system until more mature consideration can be given to the
subject’.*> Left to their own devices for the next thirteen years,
the Aborigines survived through pastoral and agricultural work,
supplemented by their traditional economy.

Although the gold rushes made them an even smaller minority
in their own lands, the demand for their labour boosted their
social standing. F. Jones, a Lucknow pastoralist, who was suffering
the loss of his labourers to the goldfields in 1853, wrote of his
Aboriginal workers: ‘wanting their services I could neither have
worked my sheep or secured my wheat crop this season . . . nor
indeed could I have carried on the ordinary work of the station
without their assistance’.*® Jones paid his Aboriginal workers,
although not at the European rate.

The Woiworung or Melbourne people made a significant
contribution to the labour supply in the Plenty Ranges, weeding,
harvesting and washing sheep. It was reported by William
Thomas, a former Protector and now sole Guardian of the
Aborigines, as being ‘of the utmost importance to the
community’. The young men in European-fashion scythed a
respectable tally of a half-acre a day, while the older men knelt
in traditional style to cut the grain. In the off-season they gathered
lyrebird feathers and possum skins in the ranges for sale in
Melbourne and lived off the land in the traditional way. Thomas
often met them on the road, travelling for their master or bringing

132



Aborigines often worked alongside Europeans on the Port Phillip
pastoral frontier. DETAIL FROM GOING TO WORK C 1850 BY S.T.
GILL (1818-1880) WATERCOLOUR, 249 x 33.4 CM, NATIONAL
LIBRARY OF AUSTRALIA

their guns to Melbourne for repair. Some owned horses and
others were ‘genteely dressed’.7 A small government ration depot
existed for their use at Warrandyte. Thomas remarked in 1857
that they rarely used its provisions but if ‘the blacks have been
at work around, would occasionally call, have a chat, ask for a
stick of tobacco, then wind their way to their employment’.8

These people seemed to have assimilated to European ways.
They certainly worked and dressed like rural labourers, owned
horses and guns, and spent their surplus on alcohol and tobacco
in the manner of pastoral workers. They were clearly independent
like many rural workers of their day in times of labour shortages.
However, when they took leave of their employers it was to
follow Aboriginal desires—to visit with the Bunerong of
Westernport, to travel to a ceremony or just return to their
country. In 1853 William Thomas wrote in some despair of these
workers:

the hook, axe, or bridle down, and all further of civilisation for
the day is over; off goes apparel and they bask under the canopy
of heaven as in their primitive wildness, evidently enjoying their
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freedom from encumbrance . . . such is their wandering
propensity, that all the kindness, entreaty or persuasion, cannot
secure them one day beyond their determination; and they have
lately been particularly cautious how they make bargains for
labour on this account.*’

The Woiworung still corroboreed with the Bunerong and fought
with the Gippsland people. In 1856 they even performed for the
diggers at the Queen’s Theatre, Melbourne, drawing audiences
for a week. Yet the shouts, their staccato, angular movements,
and the rustle of anklets of leaves at the theatre, came not from
several score of dancers as formerly but six men. By 1857 the
pressures of colonialism, disease, debilitation, violent death and
despair had reduced the Woiworung to seventeen and the Bun-
erong to eleven people.

It was with a sense of urgency that these people conceived
the need (as had Billibellari in 1843) for a place of their own.
Seven Kulin men from the Woiworung and Taungerong
(Goulburn River) peoples waited on William Thomas in February
1859 to seek his help to gain land on the Acheron River. The
men, dressed in the coarse jumpers and fustian trousers of rural
labourers, met with Gavin Dufty, the Minister for Lands a
fortnight later. The Argus reported:

they were all robust and well-made men, apparently equal in
physical power to the average of Europeans . . . Their
countenances were intelligent and animated. Their entrance into
the boardroom was made in an unembarrassed and quiet manner
and at a sign from Mr Duffy they seated themselves with an air
of grave courtesy.>”

Dufty, a prominent Irish nationalist and land reformer, who
appreciated the land hunger in these men’s eyes, and who was
influenced also by a February 1859 Select Committee report
calling for protective reserves, allowed the Kulin to select 4500
acres.®! The Kulin pioneered the site but were moved off after
protests by local European pastoralists. After three such moves the
Kulin ‘squatted’ on a traditional site on the Yarra flats near
Healesville in March 1863. They called it Coranderrk, after the
white flowering Christmas bush that flourished there.52
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UNDER THE HAND OF GOVERNMENT

A Central Board of Aborigines, the first of its kind in Australia,
was created in 1860 to proclaim Aboriginal reserves, and oversee
local protection committees and the distribution of funds. The
Board managed reserves at Framlingham (1861), Coranderrk
(1863), and indirectly controlled church mission stations at
Ebenezer on Lake Hindmarsh (1859), Ramahyuck at Lake Wel-
lington (1861), Lake Tyers (1861) and Lake Condah (1867) (see
map below). It also controlled several small reserves and ration
depots through a system of local guardians. The Board sought to
protect Aboriginal people by segregating them on reserves, by
educating and Christianising them, and by teaching them the
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virtues of hard work and agricultural self-sufficiency. The Board’s
paternal agents tried to coax people onto the reserves, especially
children considered ‘neglected’ or in moral danger. Most refused
such suggestions and by 1869 only a quarter of Victorian Abo-
rigines resided on the reserves.53

The Board wished to control Aboriginal movement and gained
this power under the Aborigines Act 1869 which reshaped the
Central Board into the Board for the Protection of Aborigines.
The new Board could prescribe where Aborigines should live,
and control their work contracts and their earnings. It could
remove Aboriginal children from their parents if they were
deemed in need of care, protection and education. The children
were removed to a reserve, usually Coranderrk, or an industrial
or reformatory school. Later regulations empowered the Board to
decide where children could be educated, and to direct children
to live in a dormitory. People defined as ‘Aborigines’ under this
1869 Act included those of full descent, and so-called ‘half-castes’
and their children who habitually associated with Aborigines.>*

While those on the reserves became victims of a protective
and paternal Act, which paved the way for other such legislation
in Australia, Aborigines also explored new ways of living. The
people at Coranderrk, favoured by the fertile Yarra flats and the
rare benevolent and non-interfering stance of the manager, John
Green, formed a model agricultural settlement.>> Green allowed
those at Coranderrk to manage the farm work and their own
internal affairs. They soon won acclaim for their pioneering from
numerous influential visitors and their hops won first prize at the
Melbourne International Exhibition. By the 1870s their houses
were said to be superior to many belonging to the surrounding
European rural workforce. Diane Barwick argues that the women
were important in this cross-cultural voyaging and she reveals
how many adopted Christianity and European material culture
with zest.>¢ On the other reserves there was a more regimented
management, and it seems fewer Aboriginal responses to cross-
cultural possibilities, as Aboriginal creativity was stifled.

Despite the Board’s ability to order Aboriginal people to live
on reserves, a police census of 1877 revealed that only 486 out
of 1067 Aborigines in the colony did so. However there was a
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continual flow on and off the reserves but usually they moved
only within the broad regions shown in the preceding map.
Indeed the people often formed a new identity based on the
reserve. They became Condah people, Lake Tyers or Coranderrk
people, for as time went on, the reserves were also their birthplace
and homes. Once the Moravian Mission at Lake Boga failed in
1857 the people on the Murray River had no local mission. Some
drifted to Coranderrk or Ebenezer while others eventually devel-
oped a Cummeragunja identity based on the New South Wales
reserve which emerged in the 1880s out of Daniel Matthews’
settlement at Maloga.57

The reserves and their hinterlands formed the beat of the
various regional groupings of Aboriginal people. They moved off
the reserve to seek paid work, some variety of life or leisure and
freedom from control. They went back to find the succour of
community and familiar places. As in traditional times their
movements were logical and regular. Particular pastoral stations
or country towns were frequented. For instance in the 1870s the
Kurnai based at Lake Tyers and Ramahyuck missions in Gippsland
developed a relationship with hop farmers, Alfred and Liney
Howitt of Eastwood. About thirty Kurnai left the missions annu-
ally to pick the Howitt’s crop. Liney Howitt recorded in 1873
that the Kurnai were the fastest pickers and ‘they are certainly
the best, not a leaf left in their bins—quite [superior| to the white
pickers in that respect’.>® They earned up to ten shillings a day
from the Howitts, equal to what they earned in a week at other
rural work. The harvest time, coming as it did in late summer,
provided a nice holiday as well as a lucrative interlude for the
Kurnai. They felt secure with the Howitts who received them
more warmly than farmers in surrounding country towns. Alfred
Howitt gained from the visits too, for he discussed traditional life
with the Kurnai and produced many papers and several books of
lasting value in anthropological literature.>?

A few Aboriginal men moved further afield. A dozen from
the Madimadi and Wotjobaluk people of the Wimmera and the
Mallee regions who worked in the pastoral industry played cricket
for Edenhope. An Aboriginal team was formed in the district and
it played exhibitions in Melbourne. Two players, Cuzens and
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Off to beat the English at their own game: the Aboriginal Cricket
Team, Sydney, 1867. Back row, from left: Tarpot, T.W. Waills
(coach), Mullagh; front row, from left: King Cole (foot on chair),
Jellico, Peter, Red Cap, Harry Rose, Bullocky, Cuzens, and
Dick-a-Dick (standing). MITCHELL LIBRARY, STATE LIBRARY OF
NEW SOUTH WALES

Bullocky represented Victoria in intercolonial matches. Promoters
sensing their crowd appeal organised an Australian tour and then
went to England in 1868, making it the first Australian team to
tour the mother country. They played 47 matches in England,
winning half, due to the skills of Lawrence, Cuzens and especially
Johnny Mullagh. An exhibition of Aboriginal sports followed most
matches.®® After the tour Johnny Mullagh voyaged on in white
ways, playing with the Harrow Club in the Western District till
1890. He was once asked by pastoralist Tom Hamilton why he
never married and he replied: ‘A white woman won’t have me,
Mr Tom, and I will never have a black one.’®! Did he mean
there were no available Aboriginal women or had he adopted the
values of Europeans? Mullagh died in 1891 aged 50 at his camp
on Pine Hills Station.

Once the Board gained greater powers after 1869, a struggle
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developed between the Board and the Aborigines centred on
Coranderrk. The Board sought to break up what it saw as a
troublesome and costly reserve, beginning with the forced resig-
nation of John Green. The people responded with letters of
protest, petitions, press interviews, deputations and even strikes
which occurred intermittently over a decade. They were sup-
ported by white sympathisers in Healesville and some radicals in
Parliament. The Aboriginal protests invoked a Royal Commission
in 1877 and a Parliamentary Inquiry in 1881, both of which
recommended Coranderrk’s retention and its refurbishment. This
unrest at Coranderrk encouraged lesser insubordination on the
other reserves.¢2

The Board, under fire from press, Parliament and Aborigines,
began to lose faith in its founding ideology—paternal humanitar-
ianism. The 1877 Royal Commission had already considered
whether Aborigines should be segregated on reserves or absorbed
into the community. There was considerable concern that reserve
life pauperised the Aboriginal inmates. The able-bodied should
be moved off to support themselves. This accorded with the
prevailing middle class philosophy of self-improvement and self-
reliance. Such a policy would also reduce the cost of reserves and
remove troublemakers. Besides, new Social Darwinist ideas
encouraged different policies for those of full and mixed Aborig-
inal descent, who it was claimed were at different stages of ability
and acceptability due to differing degrees of whiteness.%3

The Board framed the new Aborigines Act, 1886—a blend of
old segregationist and new inclusionist thinking. Under this Act
the reserves were to be retained for those deemed ‘full bloods’,
‘half-castes’ over 34, and their ‘half-caste’ wives and children.
‘Half-castes’ under 34 could live on reserves only under licence
from the Board. Those unlicensed were to move into the general
community but they could apply for rations, clothing and blankets
for seven years to assist their transition into the wider society.*
The Governor could make regulations for ‘the care and oversight
in the management or condition of half-castes, the apprenticeship
of children and the removal of orphans to institutions’. Regula-
tions were gazetted on 12 September 1890.65

The 1886 Act faced the real problem of what was to become
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of reserve communities, especially those which were not econom-
ically viable. At that stage only Coranderrk paid its way. However
it created a flawed and coercive solution. The artificial categorisa-
tion of Aboriginal people into ‘full bloods’ and ‘half-castes’ split
families. The forced departure of the younger ‘half-castes’
deprived the communities of their muscle power which con-
demned them to economic oblivion and eventual closure. For
instance the population of Framlingham fell from 94 to 35 after
the implementation of the Act, while at Coranderrk it fell from
120 to 60, leaving only 10 able-bodied men.%

Those forced off the reserves often squatted nearby in humpies,
although some of the Coranderrk exiles moved to the Maloga
Mission on the Murray and later settled at Cumeragunja. Just as
their rationing ended in 1893, they faced the worst depression in
Australia’s white history, which threw 30 per cent of Victorian
breadwinners out of work, at a time when there was no social
welfare except for private charity. Aboriginal people survived on
occasional work, bush tucker and with the secret help of those
on the reserves. A report in 1909 described those squatting near
Framlingham as being in ‘a wretched state’, although J. Stahle,
the manager at Lake Condah, reported that those near that reserve
‘make an honest livelihood for themselves and families’.¢” The
1901 Census revealed that others moved further from the main
reserves. Of the 652 Aborigines in the state, there were 46
Aboriginal people in Melbourne, 13 in the Colac-Geelong region,
16 about Ararat, 15 near Echuca, 8 in the Ballarat region, and
20 around Rutherglen-Benalla. Some of those off the reserves
were successful. William Thorpe at Cunningham (Lakes Entrance)
and George Thomas at Orbost raised large families in respectable
circumstances.®® But many others faced tough times. The Protec-
tion Board was forced to support distressed ‘half-castes’, and the
Premier John Murray amended the Aborigines Act in 1910 to
formally allow the Board to do so. However in practice aid was
confined in most cases to the winter months.

Regulations gazetted in 1890 under the 1886 Act enabled the
Board to send children, who were not orphans but who were
deemed ‘neglected’, to the care of the Department for Neglected
Children. They were sent for training: the boys to the Salvation
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Army farm school for wayward boys at Bayswater, and the girls
to one of several Homes where they were trained for domestic
service. The Aboriginal artist Tommy McRae, a Kwatkwat man
who frequented the Wahgunyah region, had his children removed
over six years from 1891.9 In 1900 eight other Aboriginal boys
and two girls were taken, trained and sent out to situations. James
Bray, the superintendent of the Salvation Army Bayswater farm
school, in 1900 reported on the type of young inmates with
whom the Aboriginal boys were forced to mix: ‘some are unfor-
tunately very vicious, and others are intellectually weak. But we
are labouring on, feeling sure that patient perseverance will
prevail.’’® The Protection Board’s vice-chairman, D. McLeod,
who visited the farm school, thought the Aboriginal boys
‘appeared to be very happy and content’ and undergoing training
sure ‘to make them upright and intelligent members of the
community’.”!

The Aboriginal population was under considerable stress in
these post-frontier years. Not only did the Board harass them,
and after 1886 broke up Aboriginal families but their population
levels plummeted. Their numbers declined by more than half in
the two decades after 1860: from 1907 in 1863 to 870 in 1882.
In 1901 they numbered 652 and their population fell to its lowest
level of just 586 in 1921. This decline stemmed largely from high
rates of adult and child mortality. Barwick found from details of
the deaths of 698 people on the reserves between 18761912,
that approximately two-thirds died under the age of 40, and 40
per cent died from respiratory diseases: mostly tuberculosis.
Women who bore children between 1857—1904 lost half of them,
those who bore children between 1885-1925 lost over a third,
and women who bore children between 1902-1944 lost a quarter
of their offspring. By the 1960s child mortality rates had declined
to 5 per cent, still twice that of the white population.”? These
mortality rates were caused by poor housing and hygiene and a
meagre standard of living both on and oft the reserves. Even the
model settlement at Coranderrk was in decline by the 1880s and
reserve housing has been inadequate ever since. Of course those
forced to live in bag humpies off the reserves generally suffered

high levels of ill-health as well.
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Population losses and the policy of absorption led to the
decline of most reserves. The Board’s decision to close them
down sealed their fate. Ebenezer was shut in 1902 and the Board
closed and sold most of the others by 1923. The residents of
Ebenezer and Ramahyuck, and most of those from Lake Condah,
Coranderrk and Framlingham were dispersed and the remnants
transferred to Lake Tyers in the early 1920s which was enlarged
and refurbished. However, a handful of elderly people were
permitted to remain at Coranderrk until they died, while a few
resisters squatted at Framlingham which remained unsold. Apart
from three annual reports in the 1920s, the Board ceased its annual
reporting to Parliament in 1912. Thus its management at Lake
Tyers remained closed to Victorian eyes.

MAKING A LIFE IN VICTORIA

The removal of Aboriginal people to Lake Tyers in Gippsland
where a strict regime operated, increased numbers there from 50
to about 250. The Aborigines Act 1915 and its regulations, con-
solidated in 1928, laid down that the manager was ‘to supervise
the good order and conduct of the stations’, their rationing, work
on the stations, and the ‘moral and social welfare’ of the inmates.
The matron was to visit dwellings daily and give instructions on
cooking, washing, sewing and to oversee the cleanliness of the
station. Those wishing to leave the reserve for work or social
reasons had to seek the manager’s permission. The Board and the
manager were instructed to discourage departures, and the grant-
ing of travel monies was only made in the most extreme
circumstances. People could be removed for misconduct or if
considered able, to earn their living oft the reserves. ‘Half-castes’
could live on the reserve under licence but were liable to be
expelled for insubordination. Those classed as ‘quadroons, octo-
roons, and half-caste lads’ were to leave the station at the age of
eighteen and were allowed to visit only at the manager’s discre-
tion, and for no more than ten days at a time.”3

Despite such rigid controls, oral tradition recalls there were
good managers at Lake Tyers. Captain J.A. Newman introduced
many economic and material improvements and encouraged the
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people to direct their internal affairs themselves. He only managed
Lake Tyers for two years from 1929 but remained in the district
and offered work to Aborigines who moved off the reserve. Major
Ronald Glenn, who was there from 1931 to 1945 was less well
regarded but he encouraged sport which gave the people pride
and a chance to leave the reserve temporarily. Also, some regu-
lations came to be administered in a lax way during the 1940s,
especially those requiring ‘half-caste’ residents to be licensed to
stay.

Overall, the reserve had a history of controversy. The inmates
continually subverted the system and occasionally went on strike.
Aboriginal, church, welfare and other interested groups, were
outspoken about conditions at Lake Tyers, especially after World
War II. From the 1940s the Board was continually on the
defensive as the Australian Aborigines’ League (see below), then
led by Bill Onus, criticised conditions, the lack of freedom and
the lack of a future at Lake Tyers.”* White support groups joined
the chorus of criticism. Yet Lake Tyers’ oral history recalls many
good times at this place they called ‘home’.7>

The 1920s marked the low point of Aboriginal numbers in
Victoria, different estimates ranging from 402 to 586 in 1921, a
point dangerously close to the extinction of a people. By 1933
estimates ranged between 1034 and 1229, before climbing slowly
to between 1796 and 2989 people in 1961.76

The large discrepancies in the population estimates reflect the
tenuous existence of the Aboriginal community off Lake Tyers
and beyond the control and therefore interest of the Aboriginal
Protection Board. These people lived in small communities, often
in fringe camps, in places traditionally familiar to them across the
state. For instance in 1926, families comprising 40 people were
living in make-shift housing by the Wimmera River near Antwerp
supporting themselves by seasonal work.”” Aboriginal breadwin-
ners and their families followed the cycle of fruit and vegetable
picking with its concomitant poor housing and health care,
intermittent wages and interrupted schooling. Those living outside
the Aboriginal Acts in Victoria had theoretical rights not enjoyed
elsewhere in Australia. They could drink alcohol legally if they
chose, their children could attend any state school and they had
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the franchise. Yet in practice, their itinerancy precluded them
from the vote, prejudice and reticence kept some from school,
and customary practices saw them refused alcohol at many hotels.

Most white Victorians knew little of the camping, itinerant
lifestyles of Aboriginal Victorians, and many of those who did
were hostile or indifferent to them. Nineteenth century ideas that
Aborigines were primitive and genetically inferior still thrived in
the 1930s and beyond. Such flawed thinking was encouraged by
scholars. For instance, the eminent Sir Baldwin Spencer, Professor
of Biology at Melbourne University, claimed in 1926 that the
structural simplicity of the Aboriginal brain meant ‘he is like an
overgrown child in matters of character and emotional expression’
and was ill-suited to higher forms of education.’

With the coming of Depression, one Aboriginal community
at Framlingham near Warrnambool, became newsworthy. In
December 1933 the Warrnambool Star exposed the appalling con-
ditions of 70 people who lived in bag huts adjoining the
Framlingham reserve. They had no assistance from the Board
because of their mixed descent yet did not get help from the
Sustenance Department because they were Aboriginal. Nor did
they receive child endowment or the old age pension. They
survived on dwindling amounts of rural work, rabbiting, and a
few dairy cows. Their children rarely attended school. J.A. Rollo,
Shire President, remarked that in Warrnambool ‘the colour bar
is very real. They are half-starved now and they are increasing
in numbers. Unless something is done the problem will become
acute. They may be forced to steal. It is not possible for them
to get work.’

The government and the Protection Board, together with a
local citizens committee, provided sustenance, a school was
planned, and some land was to be made available for farming.”?
The Herald commented in racial terms that the Board must accept
responsibility for ‘all those persons who had too much aboriginal
blood to hope to compete on an equable basis with white men,
or it must find some way of ridding the state of the squalid and
undesirable settlements which are growing up’.80

Others chose material hardship to escape the regimentation of
Lake Tyers reserve. For instance a number of families collected
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at a fringe camp, Jackson’s Track, near Jindivick in the Drouin
area. There, amidst material difficulties, Lionel Rose, future world
bantamweight champion, and others grew up. Euphemia Mullett
who raised twelve children there in the 1950s recalled:

Our house was made from bark, and the roof was made of bark
too but it never leaked. When it got older you changed the
bark. It was nailed onto wooden poles. The chimney was made
of scraps of tin. We used sugar bags, not glass, over the
windows and to partition the rooms. In the living quarters,
where we had to eat, we had a table made with four posts in
the ground. We used to sit on kerosene tins, or a box. We used
to have a dirt floor . . . There was no showers, or no running
water or anything. We used to get our water from the
creek—carry it up in kerosene tins, not buckets.8!

However, she added that the water was ‘better than the water
we get now’. Indeed, there was a great happiness at Jackson’s
Track despite the difficult conditions—for there was plenty of
bush to roam in, a school nearby for the children, and a close-knit
family life of singalongs, prayer meetings and Christmas parties.
Euphemia’s son, Russell Mullett, recalled, ‘we were free at
Jackson’s Track. Anybody could come and visit . . . the Manager
of Lake Tyers wouldn’t hassle us.’82

Some lived in materially better circumstances. Percy Pepper
and his family farmed a soldier settlement block at Koo-Wee-Rup
after his discharge from the First AIF. The family did well until
flooding and poor drainage forced them and other returned men
off their blocks. One of the sons, Phillip Pepper, who was married
on the eve of the Depression, survived it by cutting timber, bean
picking and doing ‘susso’ work on the roads.®? Joseph Wandin,
a Coranderrk descendant, trained as a teacher and was admitted
as an Education Department teacher in 1901—staying in the
service until 1950.

Despite being on the fringe, some Aboriginal people made an
impact on the wider society, notably in sport. The Herald football
commentator reported in 1929 that ‘for speed, dash, untiring
energy and spectacular leaping at the ball no player in Association
football surpasses Doug Nicholls, who has been one of
Northcote’s best men in the season’s matches’.84 The reporter also
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Unidentified Aboriginal camper
on the track in the Mallee, 1944.
HERALD AND WEEKLY TIMES LTD

referred to his athletic prowess. Lynch Cooper from Cumeragunja
won various sprint titles, including the prestigious Stawell Gift in
1928 and the World Sprint Championship in 1929. Those at Lake
Tyers also excelled. The cricket team were local premiers in
1933-35, and the football team were district finalists from 1934
to 1936.855 An Aboriginal football team played in a Melbourne
competition in the 1940s. Some had more local but equally
respected reputations. Pelham Cameron who died at the age of
79 at Dimboola, was reportedly ‘highly respected in the district’
a prominent local cricketer, footballer and rower.8¢ The Clarkes
of Framlingham also established reputations as sportsmen.8’ From
the 1930s Aboriginal boxers made their presence felt in the boxing
tents and in championship circles.®® Others contributed to other
forms of combat through war service.®?

Aboriginal politicians also emerged in the 1930s. The initial
impetus came from Cumeragunja residents who had moved to
Melbourne and settled in Fitzroy. The Cumeragunja community
had developed a fierce sense of independence fostered by eco-
nomic success and the influence of Thomas James, a Mauritian
of Indian extraction, who married into the community. James
was the Cumeragunja school teacher for 40 years to 1921, and
he developed a forthrightness in the people and the ability
through education to press their case.”0 Their independence was
reinforced by a weak Aboriginal administration from distant

146



The sporting children of Frank Clarke of Framlingham pictured
about 1915. From left, Norman, Jessie, Fleetwood and George.
The Clarke men would attend country sports meetings for enjoy-
ment and the chance to earn ‘a quid’ in a foot race or a boxing
match. AMY LOWE, WARRNAMBOOL

Sydney. James moved to Fitzroy in the 1920s and was outspoken
on Aboriginal affairs. For instance, in June 1929 he publicly
criticised discrimination against Aborigines in employment.9!
James’ brother-in-law, William Cooper of Cummeragunja, came
to Melbourne in 1930. In 1933 when aged 72, he organised a
petition to King George V. It called for Federal control of
Aboriginal affairs, for an advisory council including an Aboriginal
representative to oversee policy, and for an Aboriginal member
of Federal Parliament. Over 2000 Aboriginal signatures were
collected in all states by 1937 but the petition never left Australia.
The Federal Government decided that as the King had no control
over constitutional change it was pointless. Besides, the govern-
ment wished to avoid any embarrassment. Cooper formed the
Australian Aborigines’ League in 1934. He also conceived the
brilliant idea of keeping the 150th anniversary of Australia Day
in 1938 as a Day of Mourning which caught the attention of
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Pastor Doug (later Sir Doug)
Nicholls makes another point for
the Aboriginal cause. HERALD AND
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Prime Minister Lyons and inspired Aboriginal protestors 50 years
later. In the early 1930s Cooper also enlisted young Doug
Nicholls to the struggle. Nicholls became the inspirational force
in Victorian Aboriginal affairs for the next 30 years.”?

Those at Cumeragunja made another coup by striking against
the management of the New South Wales Aboriginal Welfare
Board in February 1939. The subsequent walk-off from the
reserve and the formation of a camp at Barmah received consid-
erable public support in Melbourne, with sympathisers taking car
loads of food and clothing to the strikers. Few of the strikers
returned to Cumeragunja and most eventually settled in bag and
tin humpies on the river bank at Mooroopna.”? They received
no official help as the Victorian Chief Secretary stated in anti-
quated racial terms, that they were not Aborigines: ‘they were
quadroons, octoroons and of like colour, and were ordinary
citizens, entitled to the benefits and privileges of citizens, also
their responsibilities’.”* Yet he ignored the reality that they
defined themselves as Aborigines and were seen and treated as
such by white Victorians. These fringe dwellers lived in
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stigmatised limbo—as Aborigines but not recognised officially as
such—until 1957.

Amidst growing criticism, the Bolte government in 1955
appointed Charles McLean, a retired chief stipendiary magistrate,
to enquire into the state of Aboriginal Victorians, their adminis-
tration and their place in the community. McLean reported in
early 1957 after visiting Aboriginal communities, interviewing
Doug Nicholls, Shadrach James, local and Board administrators,
teachers, police and others, and taking written submissions from
interested people and organisations.

McLean counted 1346 Aboriginal people living in Victoria:
about half the number estimated by anthropologist Diane Barwick
several years later.”> He reported that most rural Aborigines lived
in squalid humpy-conditions except for those at Lake Tyers and
Framlingham. Those in Melbourne lived in overcrowded slum or
condemned housing. McLean rejected any innate mental differ-
ences between Aborigines and whites. However, he ascribed their
lack of adequate housing, jobs, education and health, partly to
their inclination to rove, to drink, to share resources and to act
improvidently. He also ascribed it to white prejudice.

McLean, asked to consider ‘the absorption’ of Aborigines into
the general community, recommended new Aboriginal welfare
legislation. In respect to Lake Tyers, he called for a ‘helpful but
firm, policy of assimilation’. There should be a return to the spirit
of the 1886 Act ‘to encourage or force’ the able-bodied off the
reserve, and the reserve should be reduced twenty-fold to 200
acres, to be set aside for the care of those unable to fend for
themselves. The definition of ‘Aborigine’ should be widened in
the new Act to include ‘any person having an admixture of
Australian aboriginal blood’. For those not on Lake Tyers, he
recommended an ‘active policy of assimilation’ by a new welfare
board and its officers, to counteract the disadvantages these people
experienced in housing, education and employment. It was
a hopeful policy ‘directed to the social and economic uplift
of the aborigines throughout the State, to the end that they
may take their place in the ordinary life of the community’
and it mirrored Hasluck’s assimilationist efforts at the Fed-
eral level. However, McLean’s assimilationist drive meant that
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Aboriginal people had to become like ordinary Victorians: like it
or not they were to be remade.?® The Victorian Government
quickly passed into law the Aborigines Act, 1957 along the lines
suggested by McLean, ushering in a new era of bureaucratic
interventionism.

The new Welfare Board set about assimilating the state’s
Aboriginal people. Since Aboriginal humpies had been embla-
zoned in the press as the most evident ‘Aboriginal problem’, the
Board began to rechouse the people. It proudly opened the
Rumbulara Housing Settlement near Mooroopna in 1958. The
ten prefabricated concrete houses without internal doors, and with
slot-machine electricity meters, were to teach Aboriginal campers
to live in European houses. When they were deemed suitable
they could graduate to a house in town, amidst other Victorians.
A similar project opened at Manatunga outside Robinvale in
1960. However, by 1961 the Board abandoned this idea for
houses scattered in country towns. Here it met resistance from
white residents who objected to having Aboriginal neighbours,
for fear of declining standards and property values. The Board
finally handed its housing efforts to the State Housing Commis-
sion when its own tardy efforts were unable to keep pace with
increasing Aboriginal housing needs. The Commission continued
the policy of scattering Aboriginal housing in white areas, to
increase the chances of breaking Aboriginal kin networks and
forcing assimilation. Some of those at Lake Tyers were bribed
from the reserve with housing.”’

The Welfare Board also continued the policy, in place since
the 1886 Act, of absorbing the mixed descent population by the
removal of children. Albert Mullett recalled how his family kept
on the move in the 1930s to avoid the Board’s grasp.”® Aboriginal
singer Archie Roach was in and out of foster homes and institu-
tions until he was placed with a Scottish couple who brought
stability, if not a clear identity, to his life.”® Melissa Brickell was
taken from her mother by police who plucked them off the street
in Fitzroy. Melissa, aged six, allegedly looked ‘neglected’, and for
that ‘crime’ did the rounds of institutions for a number of years.100
It is unclear how many Aboriginal Victorians suffered similar fates.
Fortunately, the Aboriginal Protection Board of Victoria was
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moribund and inefficient from the 1930s, which led to fewer
Aboriginal children being forced into state care. However, in
1955 there were still 24 Aboriginal children in the Ballarat
orphanage alone and Diane Barwick reported there were over
150 Aboriginal children in state children’s institutions in 195657,
about 10 per cent of Victorian Aboriginal children.!0!

The Aborigines Welfare Board continued this policy of
removal as part of its aggressive assimilation policy. It is likely
that removal of children was a basic reason for the unsettled
element within the Aboriginal community. In 1974 Barwick said
of the Aboriginal family: ‘the majority of adults heading today’s
problem families, those most likely to lose their children, were
themselves reared in institutions and have never known the secure
affection of family life or experienced the socialisation processes
of their own community.’102

Archie Roach, who did not even know he was Aboriginal till
he was fourteen, became in his own words ‘a hopeless drunk’
until he developed an identity with the help of the Fitzroy
Aboriginal community. Melissa Brickell felt unloved and angry
through her teenage years until found by her mother.

The policy of removal was officially ended in 1968 by the
new Ministry for Aboriginal Affairs but the trauma of removals
would last for decades.!®® For instance, existing placements con-
tinued and some new ones probably occurred because the
Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency (VACCA) reported that
until 1977, 90 per cent of Aboriginal children placed in white
homes were eventually returned to institutional care. VACCA
was established by concerned Kooris in 1976. By 1978 it became
government policy to consult VACCA on all Aboriginal child
placements with the aim of keeping them wherever possible in
their family or the Aboriginal community.1%* The personal trag-
edies of removal remained unknown to most white Victorians
until the widely publicised case of Russell Moore (James Savage),
a Victorian-born Koori, who was convicted for murder in Florida
in 1989. After much legal argument about the trauma of his
removal from his mother when only four-weeks old and his
upbringing by a white family in the United States far from his
roots, his death sentence was commuted.!%5
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In the early 1960s a ginger group within the Welfare Board,
led by a Monash University academic, Colin Tatz, produced a
policy document which modified the hard assimilationist line and
allowed Aborigines to retain their cultural identity if they so
desired. However internal dissension and external criticism of the
Board, especially over the fate of Lake Tyers, led to the creation
of the Ministry for Aboriginal Affairs in 1967. This Ministry was
Federally funded, bulging with staff, including Aborigines, and
driven by a belief in social engineering. Its 1974 report boasted:
‘the Ministry believes that social engineering principles are as
fundamental as any relating to the physical sciences. The programs
which have been developed and maintained in this State, based
on these principles, are a clear demonstration of the validity of
this claim.106

This social engineering was to end with the merging of the
Aboriginal and white segments of the population as Aborigines
reached full equality and lost their identity. It was still assimilation
but with a softer face. However, by the early 1970s, Aboriginal
Victorians began to reassert their identity and run their own
affairs. The Ministry’s reports became increasingly defensive. With
relief—and the relief of those it sought to serve—its powers passed
to the Federal Department of Aboriginal Affairs in January 1975.
A small bureaucracy was later re-established. An inter-departmen-
tal committee was established in Victoria in 1979 to co-ordinate
Federal Aboriginal programmes in this state. In 1982 the Premier’s
Department established an Aboriginal-staffed unit to liaise
between the government and Victorian Aborigines. The depart-
ments of Health and Education also established Aboriginal
advisory units.

KOORI RESURGENCE

Until 1974 the Victorian Government sought to make Aboriginal
people into ‘ordinary Victorians’. However, Aborigines resisted
these efforts. Diane Barwick found that by 1960 ‘probably only
a half-dozen elementary families or households now scattered
throughout Victoria so completely assimilated or absorbed into
the larger society that their earlier identification and association
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with Aborigines is no longer meaningful to them’.197 The other
90 per cent (about 3000 people in 1960) continued to see
themselves as a distinct people. Many now called themselves
‘Kooris’—an imported New South Wales term—as distinct from
white Victorians, who they called ‘Gubbas’.'%® Yet, despite the
development of a pan-Koori feeling, historical regional loyalties
persisted to form three broad Koori groupings which remain
today: the Yorta-Yorta (Cumeragunja—Shepparton people), the
Ganai (Kurnai) from Gippsland, and the Western District people.
These groupings reflected family and historical affiliations which
in the 1960s created an in-marriage rate of 90 per cent. It is
likely that the drift to Melbourne has weakened these affiliations
and the regional ideas and suspicions upon which they are
based.1%”

Over five generations, colonialism has taken its toll on tradi-
tional cultural ideas. Recent investigators found few remnants of
language, religious ideas and rituals.!1® Aboriginal genetic heritage
was also diluted—Philip Pepper claimed there were only two
‘full-bloods’ in Victoria in 1985.111

However cultures are dynamic. Aboriginal people today are
not ‘traditional’, yet they are no less Aboriginal. They have a
strong culture and identity based on elements of their traditional
heritage and ideas formed by 150 years of both opposition and
accommodation to the European presence. Kooris retain distinct
kinship relations and tight family bonds which shape marriage,
household structure, family and child-rearing practices, and also
their ideas about reciprocity and sharing. Their dances and socials,
weddings and funerals, reaffirm their Koori identity. In the 1960s
only 11 per cent of married men and 27 per cent of married
women had married outside the Koori community, and those
who did so sometimes disappointed their fellow Kooris.'12 The
people still have a strong affiliation with the land, particularly the
reserve or region from which their family derived. Many still
believe in bush remedies, magical happenings and spiritual con-
nections with deceased kin. In this Koori world of common
understandings, most people put kin and family before self and
personal ambition.

This cultural bonding infused Koori political action over the
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past generation in defence of their heritage. In 1958 some white
Victorians, including Doris Blackburn and Stan Davey, together
with Doug Nicholls and other Kooris, formed the Victorian
Aboriginal Advancement League (VAAL). VAAL soon had an
office, a magazine called Smoke Signals, and a full-time field
officer, Doug Nicholls. Initially it fought Aboriginal inequality
and injustice on a wide front but it quickly began to concentrate
on Victorian matters. After much struggle the League provided
two Melbourne hostels for young people, a holiday programme,
and established a network of supporting branches. Its Kew branch
fostered a Cumeragunja farm project in 1965.113 In 1963 the
League led a vigorous and successful fight to stop the Welfare
Board dismantling Lake Tyers. Indeed, the government gazetted
it as a permanent reserve in 1965, and in 1971 the 4000 acre
reserve was handed over to about 40 members of the community
under communal freehold title. Under such title each member
held trust shares that prevented any future sale of the reserve if
any one member objected. However this victory was marred by
a protest march and petition from 213 other Koori people who
also claimed rights to Lake Tyers.!'* The Framlingham commu-
nity also received communal title to 500 acres of land under the
same Aboriginal Lands Act 1970—the first hand back of land in
Australia.

In 1962 the old Australian Aborigines’ League was reformed
as a separate Aboriginal branch of VAAL. This Aboriginal branch
developed a more political emphasis than VAAL’s earlier welfare
approach, which eventually led to a split and the Aboriginalisation
of the VAAL executive in 1969, amidst controversy and financial
pain. This upheaval reflected a growing trend for self~-management
and calls for land rights by Kooris. In January 1971, the Koori
artist Lin Onus and three other Kooris, occupied Sherbrooke
Forest. They demanded land rights, the protection of Aboriginal
culture and better welfare measures. Those at Framlingham
claimed 6000 acres of the forest adjoining the reserve. Following
Sydney trends, Aboriginal-run legal, housing and health services
emerged in Melbourne after 1972. There has been a continuous
creation of Aboriginal community organisations ever since.

All this activity reflected and fostered a resurgence of Aborig-
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inal identity. The word ‘Koori’, a secret, insider word, was first
used publicly in 1969 when a Koori Club was formed in Fitzroy,
and the word soon became a badge of pride. Various study
programmes arose to foster Koori self-esteem. One Koori high
school student from Victoria, Jill Johnson, wrote to the magazine
Identity in 1972:

Before the whiteman came to this country our wise men were
greater than the world’s best scientists, our tribesmen survived in
the most harsh conditions . . . but times have changed. We have
to show the Europeans that we are as good as they are, even
better. I am in a Black Studies Group which studies Aboriginal
culture and reveals many astonishing facts about our people . . .
Watch out, whiteman, these Aborigines are stepping out.!!>

In 1983 Worawa College, a residential school for Koori children,
was opened at Frankston and now operates from Healesville. It
provides a standard Victorian education with the addition that for
one hour a day the children study Aboriginal culture. After a year
the school noted academic improvement and a greater sense of
responsibility and independence among most students. One stu-
dent, Naomi Atkinson, stated: ‘I am glad to be with my own
people in this school where we learn our culture which is great.
[ have learnt more about my own people than I have learnt before
and 1 am now proud to be black.’’’® The development of an
Aboriginal consciousness was also reflected by the creation in the
1980s of the Koori Information Centre, the Aboriginal Cultural
Heritage Unit of the Museum of Victoria, and the Koori Oral
History Programme. A group of women in Collingwood founded
the Aboriginal History Programme and produced a series of
history pamphlets. Kooris are now voyagers in their own history;
demonstrating for themselves that their forebears were victims but
also active agents in their own making.

In 1991 there were 16570 Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander people in Victoria who formed 0.39 per cent of all
Victorians. Of these, 12 724 identified as Aborigines and 3846 as
Torres Strait Islanders. As no further breakdowns are as yet
available from the Australian Bureau of Statistics, regional popu-
lation distributions must be described from the 1986 Census. In
1986 almost half of the 12 610 Aboriginal and Torres Strait
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Islander people in Victoria (termed Kooris below as a shorthand)
lived in Melbourne. This proportion showed a marked urban shift
from the 1960s, when only one-fifth of Victoria’s Kooris lived
in Melbourne. In 1986, Kooris were found in all parts of
Melbourne but were below their state average in five-sixths of
Melbourne’s statistical divisions. They were most above their state
average concentration in the divisions of Fitzroy, Northcote and
Preston where they formed between 0.67 and 0.68 per cent of
the population—hardly a heavy cluster. In Healesville they formed
1.82 per cent of the population. Kooris were also spread thinly
throughout all country areas but were above their state average
of 0.31 per cent in the following centres: Traralgon (0.49 per
cent); Warrnambool (0.65 per cent); Mildura (1.55 per cent);
Orbost (2.02 per cent); Swan Hill (2.40 per cent); Echuca (2.65
per cent); Bairnsdale (2.68 per cent); Shepparton (2.70 per cent)
and Shepparton—Mooroopna (3.40 per cent).!??

Some indicators in the 1986 Census reveal the social position
of Kooris. In 1986 56 per cent of Kooris rented dwellings,
compared to 22 per cent of all Victorians, and 39 per cent owned
or were purchasing their home, compared to 71 per cent of all
Victorians. While 5.7 per cent of Kooris lived in caravans and
improvised dwellings only 0.25 per cent of all Victorians did so.
Whereas total Victorian unemployment was 5.6 per cent in 1986,
that for Kooris was four times as high at 24.1 per cent. In 1987
the 52 Aboriginal prisoners in Victorian places of correction
formed 2.7 per cent of the prison population, 8.68 times their
proportion of the population.!'® However, while Victoria had the
highest prison mortality rate of 4.3 deaths per 1000 prisoner years
from 1980-88 there were no Aboriginal prison deaths recorded
in Victoria in this period. Between 1980 and 1988 there were
three Aboriginal deaths in custody, all of them in police cus-
tody.!1? Aboriginal-police relations have often been difficult
according to studies in 1965 and 1980.120 However the appoint-
ment of a Koori as a police liaison officer in the 1980s and recent
moves since the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in
Custody have laid the basis for better relations.

In the first years of European contact Aborigines had their
land taken, their economy undermined, their culture attacked and

156



The distribution of Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders in
Victorian statistical divisions in 1986, including (in brackets) those
resident in named key statistical local areas.

devalued, and their population literally decimated. The Victorian
frontier may not have been as violent as northern frontiers but
the cultural and population loss was proportionally greater than
almost anywhere else in Aboriginal Australia, due to the pressure
of settlement and economic disruption. Aboriginal people lived
in the post-frontier world either on reserves under the paternal
and close eye of managers, or as fringe dwellers suffering severe
disadvantages in housing, employment, education, health, and
citizen rights. Between 1886 and 1920 their reserve communities
were broken up to absorb the people into the wider society. One
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Land Rights marchers, Collins Street, Melbourne, Australia Day
1976. DAVID SYME & CO. LIMITED

benefit was that the people (except those at Lake Tyers) were
less under the sway of white burecaucrats than Aborigines else-
where in Australia at the time, and theoretically had more rights
and freedoms than any other Aboriginal people. However, the
Aboriginal Protection Board was still a controlling force in their
lives like in other parts of Australia. Between 1869 and 1968
Victorian Aboriginal policy encouraged the removal of children
from their families to speed assimilation. This amounted to a
policy of cultural genocide. At best it was an ignorant, ethnocen-
tric and well-intentioned attempt to lift Aboriginal living
standards, and at worst, a racist attempt to end Aboriginal culture
and Aboriginal physical traits, through genetic mixing.
Aboriginal people also had to suffer the psychological and
social pressure of being a stigmatised fraction of the population—
powerless and devalued—and all the while struggling to maintain
a sense of who they were. The white colonial adventure made
these formerly independent people into victims but they always
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maintained some control over their lives, their culture, and their
sense of identity. They became voyagers in a cross-cultural world.

Colonialism has technically ended in Victoria with policies
that seek to give Aboriginal Victorians equity and justice, and the
right to maintain their distinctive cultural ideas. However, the
colonial legacy still remains, and will do so for at least another
generation. In 1986 Kooris experienced four times the unemploy-
ment rate of other Victorians, eight times the public housing rate,
and were twenty times more likely to live in makeshift housing.
Their ill-health was greater and their life expectancy was about
twenty years below other Victorians.!?! They suffered almost nine
times the rate of imprisonment of other Victorians. The colonial
mentality still lives in the recesses of many Victorian minds. Until
white prejudice and black inferiority is fully eradicated, Aboriginal
Victorians will not control their own making which began in this
land over 50 000 years ago, and will remain in the custody of
white power and at risk.
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Queensland

RECENT archaeological work in North Queensland has estab-
ished that Aboriginal occupation goes back at least 30 000
years.! Earlier sites are likely to be discovered in the future
although many of the most heavily populated areas were probably
on or near the ice-age coastline which ran along the outer-edge
of the Barrier Reef and were drowned as a result of rising sea
levels between 15 000 and 6000 years ago. Over several hundred
generations Aboriginal society adapted to and in turn altered its
physical environment, creating a way of life responsive to a wide
range of habitats: hot, dry savanna, dense tropical rainforest,
mangrove, dune and coastal wetland, and cool southern forests.
Along the north coast resident clans had long-term contact
with Torres Strait Islanders and traded artefacts and ideas with
Papuan society on the far shore of the Strait. Macassan seamen
fished the waters of the Gulf of Carpentaria and cured beche-de-
mer in camps established on the coast. The date of their first
appearance is unknown but it may have coincided with the first
visits by Dutch and Spanish expeditions in the seventeenth cen-
tury. By the early nineteenth century the sea-lane—the so called
inner-route—inside the Barrier Reef and through Torres Strait
was being regularly used by ships sailing between ports on the
eastern seaboard and those in South and East Asia. Clans living
on the off-shore islands had frequent contact with passing ships
which normally anchored every night while in dangerous reef
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QUEENSLAND

waters. Castaways like Eliza Fraser, James Morrell and Barbara
Thompson lived with coastal clans for varying periods of time.

The major land expeditions—those of Mitchell, Leichhardt
and Gregory—had far less impact on Aboriginal society than the
constant maritime traffic along the coast while the influence of
convict settlement at Moreton Bay was confined to its immediate
hinterland. But once the pastoralists pushed into Queensland from
1840 onwards their occupation of runs was extremely rapid.
Between 1840 and 1870 most of the easily accessible grazing land
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was stocked with sheep or cattle. In the 1880s the Queensland
squatters drove their herds across the Northern Territory and took
up land in the East Kimberley. The discovery, exploitation and
in many cases the abandonment of goldfields took place at an
equally frenetic pace. During the 1870s and 1880s diggers, includ-
ing many Chinese, rushed to the Gilbert, Etheridge, Mulgrave,
Palmer and many other lesser known fields. From 1856 this rapid
expansion of settlement took place under the aegis of settler-dom-
inated colonial governments (New South Wales until 1859 and
then Queensland) which displayed far less concern for the Abor-
igines than did the Imperial Government during the 1830s and
1840s. What is more, Queensland inherited the harsh racial
attitudes which had developed on the expanding southern fron-
tiers during the 1820s and 1830s.2

The pioneer pastoralists moved up onto the Darling Downs
expecting trouble and ready to use their guns to shoot their way
out of it. Many of them had had previous frontier experience
and had absorbed its ethos of violence. In letters to their parents
the Leslie brothers reported that, on their expedition to the north,
they were ‘taking plenty of firearms for fear of the blacks’. And
they used them. Eighteen months later they explained that they
‘never allow them [the Aborigines| to come about the station or
hold any communication with them except it be with a gun or
a sword’. Three years later the message was even more sinister,
with Walter Leslie writing: ‘Our shooting here is mostly confined
to the rifle and pistol used in defence of our men’s lives and
property.” Despite their weapons the Leslies were chronically
insecure. Patrick Leslie regretted taking his wife to Canning
Downs, explaining that, ‘I would not take her again into such a
situation for the fortune of a Peer. The constant dread of the
Blacks and the fearful risks one runs so far from civilised life is
enough to deter anyone from such a step.”®> While reminiscing
about the early years of settlement on the Condamine G.S. Lang
noted that he and his companions lived with their guns on hand
for ‘nearly three years’. When they bathed in the river, ‘carbines
and ammunition had to be on the water’s edge’.*

In 1848 the distant government responded to the continuing
conflict on the northern frontier by establishing a small Native
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Police Force under the command of Frederick Walker who
recruited fourteen young Aboriginal men from the Riverina and
after a brief training period they rode north.> They had an
immediate effect on conflict along the Condamine and Macintyre.
The troopers were particularly suited to the task at hand com-
bining the skills of both white and black—the ability to ride and
shoot and the capacity to live off the land, find water and track
their opponents even in the most difficult country. Walker saw
his role not as a participant in frontier conflict on the side of the
Europeans but as the agent of an impartial state who would
maintain law and order. He did not intend to carry ‘war into an
enemy country’ but to put the law ‘into effect against both white
and black without distinction’. The blacks were not to be treated
as enemies but as ‘British subjects who like armed Bushrangers
were defying the law’. But this was certainly not the way that
frontier settlers viewed the matter. Walker quickly discovered that
they believed that ‘a system of warfare ought to be authorised by
Government’.¢ It was a conflict of opinion which was resolved
decisively in favour of the settlers, a decision enhanced by the
grant of responsible government to New South Wales in 1856
and to Queensland on separation three years later. Each shift of
power—from Downing Street to Sydney and from Sydney to
Brisbane brought government closer to the frontier—politically,
intellectually and morally.

In 1859 there were just over 30 000 settlers in the colony.
The Aboriginal population cannot be accurately determined but
it may have been more than 100 000.7” The Europeans occupied
the south-east corner of the colony—a triangular slice of territory
bounded by the coast, the New South Wales border and a line
drawn from Rockhampton to St George. In area it was certainly
no more than 20 per cent of the total land surface.® The existence
of such a large area of ‘unsettled’ land promoted a sense both of
boundless opportunity and of mission to engage in ‘the great work
of reclaiming the wilderness’.? The editor of the North Australian
wrote in 1861: ‘Our mission is to populate and develop the
resources of the country . . . and that mission must be fulfilled.’10

A ‘“Working Man’ had written to the same paper a few months
earlier, explaining that ‘we are as yet but as the pionecers that
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precede the army in its march, clearing the forest, marking out
the roads for the main body of our countrymen to advance’.!!

The pastoral industry became the backbone of the economy,
providing 90 per cent of the colony’s exports and many members
of the first Parliament were squatters or had direct financial
interests in the industry. Unlike the colonists elsewhere in eastern
Australia before 1856, and in Western Australia until 1900, the
Queenslanders were released from the restraint which had been
exercised—albeit fitfully and often ineffectually—by the Imperial
Government and its local representatives. Despite many com-
plaints sent to England during the nineteenth century about the
treatment of Aboriginal people the Colonial Office regarded the
matter as an internal issue. Humanitarian opinion had some
influence in Brisbane—a Moreton Bay Aborigines Friendship
Society was established in the 1850s—but it was weaker than in
the southern cities. The two early attempts at missionary endeav-
our, the Roman Catholics on Stradbroke Island and the Lutherans
on the outskirts of Brisbane, had both failed by 1859. There was
little further missionary activity for 30 years. It was rare to find
anyone at the time who spoke out in favour of Aboriginal rights
to land, even to the usufructuary rights which the Imperial
Government had recognised in 1848 and which were incorporated
in Queensland pastoral leases after that date.!2

The violence which accompanied the settlement of the Darling
Downs and the Brisbane Valley continued on into the 1850s as
settlers pushed into central Queensland. The Aboriginal attacks
on Hornet Bank Station in 1857 and on Cullinlaringoe in 1861,
resulting in the deaths of 30 white men, women and children
shocked and angered the settlers and evoked demands for indis-
criminate revenge.'> The New South Wales Select Committee
set up to inquire into the Hornet Bank affair reported that they
were satisfied that there was no alternative but to carry matters
through with a strong hand, and punish with necessary severity
all future outrages upon life and property.4

Public opinion was even more inflamed. When news of the
deaths at Hornet Bank reached Ipswich ‘even those habitually
calm and merciful [were| often heard to advocate vengeance and
extermination’.’> A correspondent who wrote to the Queensland
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Guardian after hearing of the deaths at Cullinlaringoe argued that
the tribe must be punished. ‘Whether it numbers scores or
hundreds . . . the deadly bullet must do the work of the more
legitimate executioner—justice must triumph over law.’16

When the punitive expeditions, both official and private,
traversed large areas of central Queensland with guns blazing,
revenge clearly did triumph over law and the legal doctrine
honoured more in the breach than in the observance—that the
Aborigines were British subjects protected by the law. The tragic
events of 1857-61 ensured the future of the Native Police Force
which continued to ride the frontier until the first decade of the
twentieth century. When news of the deaths of the Wills family
at Cullinlaringoe reached Brisbane, a correspondent writing in
the Queensland Guardian argued ‘and now we can understand and
appreciate the value of [the Native Police] we thank Providence
for it and commend it to its work’.1”

Any pretence of strict legality or of even-handedness in the
activities of the Native Police was dispensed with. In January
1858 the Commandant E.V. Morrisset issued instructions to the
officers of the force which reflected the harsh new outlook. ‘It
is the duty of the Officers’, the tenth paragraph read, ‘at all times
and opportunities to disperse any large assemblage of blacks; such
meetings if not prevented, inevitably lead to depredation or
murder . . . .18

The instruction to disperse large gatherings at all times and
opportunities was not rescinded until 1896, 38 years later. If there
was ever any doubt about what ‘to disperse’ means it was dispelled
by the colony’s Attorney-General who told Parliament in 1861
that it was ‘idle to dispute’ that the term ‘meant nothing but
firing at them’.!” The frontier settlers had got the kind of force
they had wanted all along. A prominent squatter-member of the
1861 Select Committee on the Native Police declared that ‘the
natives must be regarded in the same light as inhabitants of a
country under martial law’. He believed that ‘from the natives
knowing no law, [nor| entertaining any fears but those of the
carbine, there was no other means of ruling them’.20

The activities of the Native Police Force did not obviate the
need for individual involvement in frontier conflict or preclude
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the widespread carrying of guns. On the frontier, men were
armed, often with rifle and revolver, while travelling and working,
and loaded guns were kept ready in the home.?! How many
individuals were personally involved in frontier violence is hard
to say. The use of brutal means both to gain control of the land
and when that was done, to ‘keep the blacks in their place’, was
widely accepted. The editor of the Rockhampton Bulletin remarked
in April 1876 that a ‘reckless disregard of the common rights of
humanity was far too often exhibited by men whose moral
sensibilities’ had been blunted ‘by too great familiarity with deeds
of blood in skirmishes which take place on our frontier
settlement’.22 Following a massacre by Native Police on the
outskirts of the mining town of Morinish, a local resident wrote
with deep concern to the Rockhampton paper:

One inevitable effect of these massacres continuing unpunished
and unrepressed will be, that the youth of the colony will grow
up with a reckless disregard of human life, which, in due time
will yield congenial fruit. Already the evil leaven has begun to
work. I have frequently felt grieved and indignant at the levity,
with which many of the colonial youth speak of those outrages
on the blacks.??

A high degree of tolerance of violence and atrocity prevailed in
colonial Queensland. It often caught the attention of observant
visitors, as was the case with the distinguished British colonial
official Sir Arthur Gordon who visited the colony in 1883. In a
letter to his friend the British Prime Minister William Gladstone,
he confided that while in Queensland he had met men of culture
and refinement, of the greatest humanity and kindness to their
fellow whites, ‘and who when you meet them at home you would
pronounce to be incapable of such deeds’ yet they ‘talk, not only
of the wholesale butchery . . . but of individual murder of natives,
exactly as they would talk of a day’s sport, or of having to kill
some troublesome animal’.24

One of the most disturbing examples of this callousness is
illustrated in the diary of Caroline Creaghe, written during a visit
to north-west Queensland in 1883 a month or two before Gordon
was writing of his concern to Gladstone. She was 22 at the time
and a child of the Australian elite—a daughter of Major General
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George Robinson and niece of two colonial governors. She had
recently married H.A. Creaghe, a member of the English aristoc-
racy. While staying on frontier cattle stations she made several
references in her diary to the local Aborigines. On 8 February
1883 she noted that on Lawn Hill Station the manager had 40
pairs of blacks’ ears nailed round the walls, collected during raids
after losses of many cattle speared by the blacks’. A fortnight later
on Carl Creek station she observed that when the men returned
from the run: ‘They brought a new black gin with them; she
cannot speak a word of English. Mr. Shadforth [the manager] put
a rope round the girl’s neck and dragged her along on foot. He
was riding. This seems to be the usual method.’

The following day she recorded that the woman was chained
up to a tree a few yards from the house. She was ‘not to be
loosed until they think she is tamed’.2> These incidents are
recorded in a matter of fact way without any indication of shock
or disapproval.

People who took a stand against racial violence were often
decried and abused. The squatter Ernest Thorn attempted to
frustrate a party bent on attacking an Aboriginal camp near his
property. As a result he got ‘a bad name’ which followed him
for many years and ‘rose up in judgement’ against him for many
years. He was, he recalled, branded as ‘a dangerous man’.2¢ The
journalist A.J. Vogan had a similar experience. Having exposed
the activities of the Native Police in a novel called The Black
Police he found that he had acquired powerful enemies. Writing
to the Anti-Slavery Society in London, he explained that as a
consequence his profession was closed to him, ‘marked man as [
now am’.2” The Catholic priest Duncan McNab informed a
Parliamentary Committee that in his experience he had found
‘too generally prevailing a certain disposition to regard and treat
as a fanatic, anyone who shows an inclination to advocate [the
cause| of the Aboriginals or to benefit them’.28

Both government policy and individual behaviour towards the
Aborigines were shaped by racial ideas which the settlers brought
into the colony with them and which in turn were influenced
by local developments. Belief in racial equality, which in the early
years of Australian settlement had drawn strength from both
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Enlightenment philosophy and traditional Christianity, had fal-
tered by the time that Queensland was separated from New South
Wales. Assorted schools of ‘scientific’ racism which flourished in
Europe and North America in the first half of the century were
finding favour in the Australian colonies in the 1840s and 1850s.
The establishment of responsible government in Queensland in
1859 coincided with the publication of Charles Darwin’s seminal
work On the Origin of the Species which, as a consequence of the
work of his many followers who adapted the concept of evolution
to explain the development of human societies, was ultimately to
have a major influence on racial thought.?”

The common view throughout the second half of the nine-
teenth century was that Aborigines were ‘savages’ who shared
common characteristics with ‘savages’ in other parts of the world.
This belief was deeply rooted in European thought influencing
at one and the same time those who advocated amelioration and
those who promoted much harsher policies. Settlers hostile to the
Aboriginal cause spoke and wrote of ‘the wretched characteristics
of our black population—their fearful superstitions, their bestial
tastes, their undisguised squalor and filth, their indolent habits and
their nomadic disposition’.3® But the views of the missionary
William Ridley, a so-called ‘friend’ of the blacks, appear to our
eyes to be little better. As a leading figure in the short-lived
Moreton Bay Aborigines Friendship Society, he wrote in 1856:

It had been remarked that they [the Aborigines] were the most
degraded and lowest race in the world. It must be admitted, so
far as he knew, that in some points they were singularly, and
also uniquely defective, as if some features of human nature
were waning, or else they were much demented.3!

From the very beginning of settlement it was widely accepted
that the Aborigines were doomed to extinction, a view bolstered
by experience in New South Wales and Tasmania and by gen-
erally available knowledge of earlier demographic disasters which
befell the Indian populations in the Americas. A writer in the
Moreton Bay Free Press argued in 1852 that the whole history of
colonisation proved that when a ‘country inhabited by savages’
was occupied by a ‘superior race’ the fate of ‘its original inhab-
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itants 1s from that moment sealed’.32 ‘The native race’, a corre-
spondent in the Brishane Courier explained in 1865, ‘will perish
before our advance as does the autumnal grass before a bush
fire’.33

Darwinian ideas gave strength to many pre-existing racial
ideas, linking them with the greatest scientific achievement of the
age. The concept of race was further embedded in colonial
thought, the various races being equated with the species in the
natural world.3* Increasingly the Aborigines were seen as members
of a less evolved, earlier race, a biological and cultural fossil
preserved by the isolation of the continent. The laws of evolution,
it was confidently assumed, were pushing the race to the brink
of extinction. There was little that could be done about it.
Contflict attending the expansion of the frontier could be seen,
in this light, as a regrettable but inevitable conflict of races out
of which the fitter would survive prepared for further evolution-
ary advance. A settler who professed strong sympathy for the
Aborigines told the visiting Norwegian scientist Carl Lumbholtz
that he would do anything he could to ‘ameliorate their present
wretched condition’ but nothing could be achieved ‘for it is an
immutable law of nature that the strong will prey upon the
weak’.3> A writer in the Queenslander similarly believed that the
callousness towards the Aborigines arose not from a lack of
sympathy but from a ‘firm conviction that their stage of civilisa-
tion is too many hundreds and perhaps thousands of years behind
our own to allow their race to thrive side by side with ours’.3¢
An even more significant statement of Social Darwinism was that
of Archibald Meston in a report to the government in 1889, a
few years before he was to exert a profound influence on the
protectionist policies adopted after 1897. ‘The Australian blacks’,
he insisted,

are moving rapidly on into eternal darkness in which all savage
and inferior races are surely destined to disappear. All effort to
preserve them, though creditable to our humanity, is a poor
compliment to our knowledge of those inexorable laws whose
operations are as apparent as our own existence. Their epoch of
time is near its termination, the shadows deepening towards
everlasting night. It is a mournful picture, that of the old
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inhabitants who for unknown ages have roamed the primeval
forests of this mighty continent, now moving off silent and
swift-footed into oblivion before the presence of the white
strangers.3’

It is much more difficult to describe what happened on the ‘other
side of the frontier’, given the large number of Aboriginal
land-owning groups involved and the general lack of evidence
available to us. However a composite picture can be pieced
together which conveys the overall situation while not necessarily
being true to every clan in the colony.’® Knowledge of the
Europeans undoubtedly preceded the advancing tide of settlement.
News about the mysterious powers of guns and the propensity
of white men to use them was spread far and wide. Many clans
had seen and hunted wild cattle well before the settlers’ herds
and flocks came over the horizon. Iron, glass and tobacco were
often in use well beyond the outer fringe of European settlement.
Even so the arrival of the first permanent settlers was an awesome
experience. Violence was not instantaneous or even inevitable.
Contact often began peacefully and in a few districts that situation
was maintained. Many clans attempted to avoid contact as long
as possible; others sought to establish amiable relations with the
powerful newcomers and absorb them within their networks of
obligation. But the situation was fraught with danger. So many
things could go wrong. Both white and black were stretched taut
with anxiety. Mutual misunderstanding abounded. Conflict over
women, access to water, use of land was endemic. Once violence
began it usually spiralled out of control and continued for months
and in some places for years where the rugged terrain gave the
tribesmen the advantage over mounted white stockmen and native
troopers. Recurrent skirmishing persisted for 50 years and took
many lives. At least 1000 Europeans died and perhaps 10 000
Aborigines although we will never know the true figure. Many
were wounded on both sides of the frontier.3”

The fighting came to an uneasy end everywhere sooner or
later. The pressures on tribal society were enormous. People had
lived for long periods gripped with chronic anxiety. They had
seen their kin gunned down. It became increasingly difficult to
sustain the lifestyle of the hunter and gatherer as the Aborigines
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Wooroora station Aborigines ¢ 1900 in the process of ‘coming
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were forced away from the river valleys and other surface water
into mountainous, arid or other marginal country. In his official
Report on the condition of the Aborigines in North Queensland,
Archibald Meston described one group who came to meet him
‘like hunted wild beasts, having lived for years in a state of
absolute terror’.# Individuals and small groups gradually ‘went in’
and attempted to come to terms with the white men, eventually
living more or less permanently in camps on pastoral stations or
on the outskirts of the pioneer townships.

The Europeans welcomed the end of hostilities both because
they had been costly financially and psychologically and because
in most frontier districts there were chronic shortages of labour.
Young men and women were soon absorbed into the white
economy. In the north and west of the colony, black stockmen
and women were the mainstays of the pastoral industry while on
the coast Aboriginal workers were of vital importance for the
pearling and beche-de-mer industries. Until the government
forced the issue in the early twentieth century, Aboriginal workers
rarely received wages but were paid in kind with varying quan-
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tities of food, clothing, tobacco, alcohol or opium. Their working
conditions were usually very poor and the use of violence—of
fists, boots and stockwhips—was commonplace and fully sup-
ported by public opinion in communities obsessed by the need
to ‘keep the niggers in their place’. When the local clans were
first ‘let in’ to Bowen the editor of the local paper warned his
fellow townspeople:

we must not cease to be firm and must take especial care to
show our black neighbours that whilst we are willing, nay
anxious, to hold our hands from slaughter, we are at the same
time determined to enforce at all hazards and by any means
submission to our laws and that any infraction of them will be
met with retribution prompt and severe.*!

Aborigines living on the fringes of white society were almost
completely powerless and received little protection from violence
and exploitation. Neither the law nor public opinion shielded
them from the ill-disposed, a writer in the Queenslander observing
in 1883 that ‘everyman seems to consider himself as quite justified
in carrying out the utmost vigour of the law towards an aborig-
inal, often for some very trivial and insignificant office’.42 In all
parts of the colony men were bashed, women raped and children
stolen from their families.

The fear engendered during Queensland’s ‘border wars’ con-
tinued to determine Aboriginal behaviour for a long time after
the shooting stopped. The local blacks, a settler noted in 1889,
‘have learnt in their terror to submit to anything that the
conquering race may choose to do’.# While visiting sheep and
cattle stations in the south-west, Archibald Meston informed the
Colonial Secretary of the situation he found:

Never before had I seen aboriginal men living under such
extraordinary terrorism, many of them fine athletic fellows who
could in case of a row have settled with their terrorisers in a
very summary fashion. But many of them had long been treated
as the dogs are treated and were scared into the belief that their
employers wielded the power of life and death.4*

By the late nineteenth century Aborigines had established fringe
camps on the outskirts of practically every town in the colony.
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The larger towns had two or three such settlements with a total
population of several hundred. The camps were characteristically
located a mile or two out of town—beyond the cemetery, the
Chinese gardens or the rubbish dump or on the other side of the
river. They were composed of clusters of humpies constructed
with an assortment of traditional building materials and cast-off
European commodities.

Camp dwellers scraped together a precarious living from what
could be gained by hunting and gathering in the immediate
neighbourhood and with food received from the townspeople in
return for work or sexual favours. The camp dwellers performed
a wide variety of tasks for townspeople who could not afford or
find white servants. Townspeople were always ambivalent about
the camps. They benefited from the cheap labour but they were
determined to keep the local blacks ‘in their place’. Individual
and vigilante violence was common, a Brisbane resident explain-
ing that when the occasion demanded ‘every private individual
takes the liberty . . . [to] administer a sound thrashing for offences
against the decency and peace of the neighbourhood’.#5 It appears
that a curfew was imposed in practically every town in the colony.
Southern visitors were often shocked when they saw the police
driving the local blacks out of town at sunset. Two sisters passing
through Maryborough were ‘deeply outraged at the way they
were driven down the street, like so many sheep or dogs, to the
water’s edge, when they plunged in and swam to the opposite
side [of the river|.*¢ The practice was, as the Gympie Police
Magistrate admitted, ‘doubtless illegal in itself’ but the government
usually turned a blind eye to action which had widespread popular
support.*’ In 1896 the Colonial Secretary Horace Tozer declared
his unqualified support for the police when they ‘removed’ the
Aborigines, arguing that ‘no law is necessary to justify this save
the law of necessity’.4

By the 1890s there was mounting humanitarian pressure on
the Queensland Government to do something about the plight
of the colony’s Aboriginal population which had dwindled to less
than 25 000.% In 1896 Archibald Meston, considered an authority
on the topic, was commissioned to make appropriate recommen-
dations®® and some of his suggestions subsequently formed the
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basis of the Aboriginals Protection and Restriction of the Sale of Opium
Act, 1897. While the creators of this Act may have seen it as a
solution to a short-term problem,>! the administrators had a
different idea and from the beginning used it as a device for social
engineering and control. It became the instrument with which
Aboriginal people could be stripped of the most basic human
rights. The Act was the first measure of separate legal control
over the Queensland Aboriginal people,? and it was far more
restrictive than any legislation operating in New South Wales or
Victoria at the time.>® Administrators were able to gain control
over Aboriginal affairs through the extensive use of regulations
which were made lawful through proclamation by the Governor-
in-Council. In this manner decision-making passed from the
politicians to the public servants. Most acquiesced with this
arrangement as the welfare of Aborigines was only one small part
of a busy minister’s portfolio. But not only did public servants
have responsibility for a huge amount of delegated legislation,
individual Protectors had extensive autonomy in administering the
Act and its regulations.

Provision was made in the Act for a system of Protectors who
were to inquire into cases of ill-treatment of Aboriginal people
and to generally supervise their employment. While this may have
appeared commendable at the time, it did provide the foundation
for State paternalism. Meston was quite definite about the type
of person who should be appointed to the position of Protector;
it should be someone who had the ability to instil fear into those
being defended.>* With a penchant for physical fitness and
strength,> Meston believed that Protectors should possess similar
qualities, arguing that no ‘white man can command the fear and
respect of the Australian black without an unmistakable manifes-
tation of superior physical and intellectual force allied to a liberal
disposition and evidence of some importance’.>¢

While Meston did not stipulate that police should act as
Protectors, he considered it necessary that the people filling these
roles should be invested with the powers of a magistrate. In this
manner they could legally deal with the injustices committed
against Aborigines. Initially it was decided to appoint police to
the position but in presenting the bill to Parliament, the minister

182



QUEENSLAND

made it quite clear that this was to be only a temporary measure
and he hoped that his successor would ‘make the system more
perfect’.5” In 1898 Police Commissioner Parry-Okeden was made
responsible for the general administration of the Act assisted by
Walter Roth in the north and Meston in the south. In 1904 a
separate administrative sub-department of the Home Secretary’s
Office was created to look after Aboriginal issues. At the same
time Roth was appointed the first Chief Protector of Aborigines
in Queensland.>®

The 1897 legislation made provision for the creation of a series
of reserves where Aboriginal people could be ‘entirely isolated
from contact with other races’.>® In deciding on the location of
these institutions, traditional land areas were ignored. For instance
Durundur, 15 miles from Caboolture, catered for coastal Aborig-
inal people as well as those from the western parts of the state,
while the reserve encircling Yarrabah Mission was to be extensive
enough to accommodate all North Queensland Aborigines. By
1897 there were already six missions operating; one at Deebing
Creek, 5 miles from Ipswich; one at Marie Yamba, 60 miles north
of Mackay; Yarrabah near Cairns; one on the Bloomfield River,
south of Cooktown; one at Cape Bedford, 14 miles from Cook-
town by water; and Mapoon on the mouth of the Batavia River.

In the more remote parts of the state Aborigines continued
to share their land with pastoralists, who believed they had
paramount right to the land as they would use it more produc-
tively. Although Queensland law did allow Aborigines the right
to hunt and cross any unfenced leased Crown land, which was
the status of almost all cattle properties, it was a right that was
rarely acknowledged by pastoralists.®® Despite their status as
Aboriginal Protectors, when there was a conflict of interest
between blacks and whites, police favoured the European inter-
ests. Station owners frequently received the assistance of police
in moving blacks from one location to another. For instance
Watson of Gregory Downs station wrote to the Police Commis-
sioner seeking assistance in having a dozen blacks who were
‘always prowling about the homestation’ removed to the Lawn
Hill Reserve.¢! It proved to be almost impossible to reconcile the
two types of land-use. Pastoralists particularly objected to Abo-
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influence of religion on Queensland missions. QUEENSLAND
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rigines camping on waterholes as it prevented cattle from drink-
ing.%2 Protector Galbraith of Normanton was adamant that
Aborigines should have access to waterholes: ‘To deprive them
of this right simply means wiping them out or driving them into
the smaller towns, where women must prostitute themselves in
order to enable the men and children to live. 63

In the eyes of the Northern Protector and his contemporaries,
the only practical solution was the creation of more reserves for
Aborigines in the remote areas. It was argued that in ‘the extreme
North, for instance, the formation of one large aboriginal reserve
of the whole of the Peninsula north of the Coleman and
Morehead Rivers . . . would answer the purpose without any
appreciable loss to the general revenues.’ o4

The new conciliatory approach had certainly made it more
difficult for Europeans to engage in the ‘dispersal’ tactics of the
nineteenth century but the cost to the Aboriginal people was
increasing containment on designated land not necessarily their
own. Protector Galbraith was only too aware that by 1904 the
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Act which had been intended to improve the lot of the blacks,
was working more for the benefit of the Europeans in the district.
He noted that the cases of killing, cattle-stealing and so forth
were rare and this gave white settlers more security. ‘Country
that a few years ago settlers would not take up, is now occupied
with impunity.” Conversely Aboriginal hunting grounds were
much more restricted.®

In spite of this situation, employers were far from happy with
the way the Act was administered. In 1904 and 1905 there was
considerable public debate—at meetings, in newspapers and in
Parliament—concerning its operation. By 1905 the main target
for employers’ attacks was Chief Protector of Aboriginals Walter
Roth, whom the editor of the North Queensland Register described
as ‘the best hated official in the Queensland Government
service’.%© In Roth’s eyes, the general opposition to his adminis-
tration was mainly due to his intervention into Aboriginal labour
arrangements.

The Act required employers of Aboriginal labour, from 1
January 1898, to enter into a written agreement in the presence
of a justice of the peace or a member of the police force.
Contracts were to contain particulars of the names of the parties,
nature of the service, periods of employment, wages or other
remuneration and the type of accommodation to be provided.
The aim of this legislation was to eliminate the serious abuses of
Aboriginal labour, particularly in the maritime industry. It is clear
that Police Commissioner Parry-Okeden wanted a deal of discre-
tion exercised in implementing the provisions of the Act; he did
not want the status quo disturbed. In reporting on the Act’s
operation in 1898 he noted that his ‘instructions to Dr. Roth and
to the various Protectors under [his] direction, have been to work
the Act in a conciliatory and generous spirit, causing as little
friction as possible’.¢” Roth however was intent on a much more
rigorous application of the Act and set about ensuring that all
employed, including those on cattle stations were properly signed
on. Individual protectors also had considerable discretion in
whether or not to enforce the signing of agreements, the portion
of the pay which had to be banked and how the savings were
spent.
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Although the original intention of the Act may have been
protection, within a short period its main thrust was the regulation
of employment. By 1908 the stated aim of Chief Protector
Howard was to obtain employment for ‘each and every individual
impressing upon them the desirableness of doing their best to
satisfy their employer, and at the same time saving some of their
earnings for a rainy day’.®® In addition, Aborigines were subjected
to ever increasing control because of the government’s desire to
close loopholes which employers might otherwise use.

With time, removal orders became the major mechanism for
controlling Aboriginal lives and it would appear that they were
used more rigorously in Queensland than in any other Australian
state. The number of people removed to missions and settlements
varied from year to year. In 1934 it was reported that 136 people
were forcibly relocated including 45 for their own protection and
62 because they were destitute and unemployed. ‘Half-caste’
children, particularly girls, were early targets for removal to
missions and reformatories. Roth argued that his chief aim was
‘to ensure the future welfare and happiness of the children
themselves’.®” Aboriginal people remember it differently. Jerry
Hudson of Mapoon recalled that, ‘the government took our
fathers and mothers away from our grandparents. Some were six
and seven years old. Well, you can guess how our dear grand-
parents felt about our mothers and fathers who they will never
see anymore . . . that’s one thing we will never forget until we
die.’70

While the 1901 amendment to the earlier Act made provision
for the removal of people deemed to be ‘incorrigibles’, by the
1920s Protectors were continually using removal orders to modify
behaviour. For instance Jimmy was removed from Gunnawarra
Station in 1922 for being ‘bad tempered and abusive’ and Aggie
from Gregory Downs for ‘poor conduct’. The Cardwell Protector
requested the removal of an Upper Murray man for causing
discontent among Aborigines by advising them not to sign agree-
ments. In another incident the Maytown Protector threatened to
send nine Wrotham Park Aborigines to Barambah if they did not
renew their agreements. The Charters Towers Protector recom-
mended the removal of a man to Palm Island Reserve because
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spearing cattle on Cape York Peninsula. NORTH QUEENSLAND
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he caused ‘discontent amongst those blacks who were under
agreement’.’! The threat of being removed to Palm Island caused
a great deal of anxiety amongst the Aboriginal population and
was just as pronounced in the more remote parts of the state.
Jack Punch remembered that ‘everybody was sort of frightened.
They used to think they’d be sent to Palm Island . . . They didn’t
know what Palm Island was. They thought it was a sort of Jail.’72

It was so easy to defuse potential trouble by removing oftend-
ers to Palm Island. The fate of Albert Hippi in 1923 markedly
illustrates this point. He was dissatisfied with the small amount
of money he could withdraw from his bank account while on
holidays in Richmond and organised a petition to the Minister
for Justice. “We do not ask that a big amount be paid to us in
one sum but that we be permitted to draw at least £1 a day
during our holidays,” he pleaded.”® As with most complaints, the
matter was investigated but no further action was taken. It was
however, somewhat alarming to discover Hippi’s name amongst
those being removed to Palm Island the following year. The
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reason given was that ‘he frightens women and tries to get
liquor’.7+

Once a removal order was obtained, Aborigines had no
redress; the Chief Protector advised the Under Secretary in 1937
that there was no provision in ‘the Aboriginal Protection Acts
for an aboriginal to be brought before a Magistrate and given a
hearing before being sent to a Settlement’.”> In many instances
Aboriginal people were unaware of the reason for their banish-
ment and it was not uncommon for people who were the victims
of a crime to be removed. A former protector explained that he
had sent blacks from the Gregory Downs district because they
were a ‘nuisance’. ‘They were being worked without pay and
were being bedded down,” he said.7®

Notwithstanding the numerous accounts of protectors readily
invoking removal orders, there are instances of protectors object-
ing to this action. The Annual Report for 1938 notes that 48
Aborigines were removed from the Burketown camp to
Doomadgee Mission because they were ‘destitute and too old to
maintain themselves in employment’.”7 Correspondence from the
local Protector gives a totally different view. When the matter
was raised with him in October 1937 he advised the Chief
Protector that he did not favour the proposal as it was not in the
‘best interests of the natives concerned’. He maintained that while
some were aged and infirm, others were not.”® One woman listed
on the removal order was not even at the Burketown camp; she
was living with her daughter and son-in-law in Camooweal.
Clearly Aboriginal people who came under the jurisdiction of the
Act had little choice in where they lived. Many opted to lived
on missions.

The presence of missions helped to alleviate some of the state’s
welfare obligations. Roth noted in 1905 that ‘the mission stations
are year by year becoming of greater assistance to the State in
dealing with the pauper aboriginal waifs and strays, adults and
children, on the most economic lines’.” There were some people
including Governor MacGregor who would have preferred to see
Aboriginal welfare handed over completely to the churches.
While he was governor he submitted a scathing report on the
government’s handling of reserves in Queensland.8 Others such
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as neighbouring pastoralists resented the missionary presence in
their area. Bowman of Rutland Plains Station drafted a letter
complaining of the impact of the Mitchell River Mission. “When
it first started’, he wrote, ‘the blacks about here were well behaved
and respected a white man; now they seem to think they have
a right to do what they like and go unscathed. In my opinion
and [ have a life’s experience amongst outside blacks—there will
be bloodshed before long.’8!

With missionaries’ attention focussed mainly on Aboriginal
children, there was a need for the construction of dormitories in
which they would be housed. Dormitory life was highly regi-
mented and spartan; it formed a ‘crucial part of a systematic
attempt to socialise Aboriginal children into new modes of
thought and behaviour’.82 Reflecting on the system, a former
Aurukun missionary said that they believed they were acting
wisely,

and only a few Aborigines seem to have ‘realised’ that such a
policy was undermining their social structure and dealing a heavy
blow to their culture . . . [Missionaries] saw the unhappy side of
Aboriginal life, the dirt and the consequent bodily ills, the
crippling sores, the blindness, the high infant mortality rate,
things that most anthropologists failed to see.®3

By 1934 two-thirds of Aboriginal adults on the west coast of
Cape York Peninsula, although still living in the bush, were under
the influence of the missions. On the east coast the only camps
were at Port Stewart and Cape Melville. The Chief Protector
noted in his report that those at Cape Melville were in the process
of being transferred to Lockhart River Mission and it was hoped
to ‘secure’ those from Port Stewart in the near future.’* There
were some officials who could foresee the problems in having
the majority of Aborigines living on missions where there was
‘limited scope for employment’.8>

The original Act had been open ended in regard to wages but
this was rectified in 1901. Aborigines employed on boats were
to receive ten shillings a month and those engaged elsewhere five
shillings. Notwithstanding the introduction of this legislation
many Aboriginal workers remained unpaid or underpaid for their
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services and this was a matter of some concern for the Northern
Protector of Aborigines.8¢ As there were insufficient police to
adequately enforce the payment of Aboriginal wages it was
decided to begin with the wages due to women. From 1904
money earned by them was to be paid to Protectors every three
or six months. All money collected was to be banked to the credit
of the employee in the Government Savings Bank with the
Protector as trustee. With the successful introduction of this
system for women, the practice of having men’s wages paid
through a protector was introduced in 1909.87 It was argued that
this not only ensured that Aborigines got the full benefit of their
labour but that it would be easier to instil the notion of thrift.
Protector Sweetman of Charters Towers claimed to have had
considerable success in this regard as he had been

trying to educate some of the boys up to a spirit of thrift and
save their money by showing the Savings Bank Pass-Book of the
gins wherein some have as much as £18: They express wonder
and surprise at so much money being the property of one gin. I
am opposed to aboriginals having much money to squander,
except a few shillings as pocket money but the native should get
the full benefit of his labour for a rainy day.88

From 1909 Aboriginal men’s wages were to be paid to individual
Protectors who had considerable discretion in determining what
proportion was to be banked and what was to be retained by the
employee as pocket money. In most instances deductions ranged
from 20 to 50 per cent ‘according to intelligence’. In 1915 it was
ruled that two-thirds of the adult wage was to be banked if
clothing was provided, one-third if not. For men and women
with families to support, it was recommended that only one-fifth
be paid to the bank.??

Although the initial idea behind bank accounts was to ensure
that Aborigines were properly paid, successive protectors viewed
savings as a form of insurance to tide workers over periods of
unemployment; this had the advantage of reducing the cost of
Aboriginal welfare to the state. Because of this, most Aborigines
found it a frustrating experience to withdraw money from their
personal savings accounts. The humiliation of having to wait
outside the police station all day was vividly etched in the
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memory of Marnie Kennedy who said that she would sit there
all day frightened to go away and get a feed for fear that you
would miss out. Then at 5 o’clock the protector would come

out and say, ‘Nothing today. Come back tomorrow’ . . . It was
just like a big kick up the ribs when it was your own money
anyway.?0

This was one of the tactics used to disempower Aboriginal people
and ‘keep them in their place’. The Member for the western seat
of Gregory told parliament in 1945 that he had:

seen the treatment that policemen have given them, not because
they desired to be cruel but because they wished to demonstrate
to the native that they, the policemen, were their masters. If
they had not done that, then the native would have assumed an
air of equality or superiority.?!

Protectors had no hesitation in vetoing purchases deemed by them
to be inappropriate. The Cardwell Protector expressed ‘shock’
when a newly married Aboriginal women applied for £4 from
her savings for personal items for herself and home. She was
advised that “You must be more prudent with your pocket money
that Mrs. Henry pays you for should you get sick your money
will be handy to you then. However as it is Christmas [ will let
you have [£1/5/- out of your Banking account to buy lollies
with.”92

Apart from compulsory savings taken out of Aboriginal wages,
a second deduction was made for the Aboriginal Provident Fund.
From 1919 all workers not living on reserves were to contribute
a portion of their wages for the relief of ‘indigent natives’.?3 There
seemed to be some confusion about the purpose of this fund. Was
it for needy Aborigines generally or for the benefit of those
temporarily unemployed who had contributed to the scheme? The
Chief Protector explained in his 1921 report that it entitled
contributors ‘to relief for themselves and dependants when in want,
out of employment, sickness etc’.?* This point was further clarified
in a circular to all Protectors in 1922. ‘Benefits are limited to
contributors to the fund and those actually dependent upon them
in distress, including widows.’?> The Department had consistently
maintained that this was the purpose of the individual savings
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accounts. It therefore seems likely, particularly in view of later
developments, that the Chief Protector himself was confused about
the purpose of the fund. By 1935 the State Government held
£293,549/4/11 of Aboriginal money in trust. It is small wonder
that the prevailing belief in the 1930s was that Queensland would
never surrender the management of Aboriginal affairs to the Federal
Government because of the loss of control over Aboriginal bank
accounts.”® Aboriginal people were given little opportunity to
manage their finances, even those exempted from the Act.

The provisions of the 1897 Act were to apply to all Aboriginal
people unless they were specifically exempted. To control their
own affairs they had to basically deny their Aboriginality. For
instance in 1912 representation was made on behalf of 22 Abor-
igines employed on cattle stations. Fifteen were ‘full-bloods’ and
automatically disqualified from applying for exemption from the
Act. Only one of the remaining seven did not ‘unnecessarily
associate with Aborigines’ and was therefore deemed suitable to
handle his own affairs.”” Even when Aborigines were granted
exemption, it did not mean that they had the same rights as
non-Aboriginal people. One well-known North Queensland
identity had a twelve months’ restriction imposed on his banking
account when he was exempted in 1932. Expecting this to be
raised at the end of the year, he entered into negotiations to
purchase a truck. However he found himself in an embarrassing
situation when the application for the release of his money was
refused on the recommendation of the local Protector. His
non-Aboriginal father-in-law was forced to appeal to the local
branch of the Country Women’s Association for help: ‘You all
know Dick as a decent fellow sober and hardworking courteous
in his dealings and meetings with all concerned. You all know
him as a good horsebreaker and as a man who is very fond of
his wife and children.’”s

These were indeed the attributes desired in Aborigines and on
the recommendation of the minister, the man was allowed /60
to service his debt. His account, however, continued to be
subjected to departmental control.

Although the 1897 legislation was based on the assumption
that the Aboriginal population would eventually disappear, by
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‘In town for Christmas’: the trip into Charters Towers at Christ-
mas time was a rare opportunity for Aboriginal workers to
personally have access to their savings accounts. NORTH QUEENS-
LAND REGISTER, 5 DECEMBER 1921

1924 with the Aboriginal and Islander population stabilised at
17 000 there was a realisation that this was not going to happen.
Of particular concern was the increasing number of part-Aborig-
inal people whose numbers rose steadily from 4052 in 1931 to
6451 in 1941.9° As a result, an amendment to the legislation in
1934 brought ‘half-castes who previously could not legally be
regarded as aboriginals’ under the provisions of the Act. There
were many instances of people being placed under the Act for
the first time in the late 1930s. The folly of such a decision was
recognised by some including the Chief Protector who confided
to his deputy that: ‘I am satisfied that the type of crossbreed seen
in my recent inspections, although now embraced by the new
Amendment Act, should not have such Act rigidly applied to
them in regard to their business affairs as though they had been
returned to the aboriginal fold.”1%0

Nevertheless before the legislation was changed countless
Aboriginal people experienced the ‘heavy hand’ of the Depart-
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ment. A letter from one such person outlining the circumstances
of his removal to Palm Island and the conditions on the settlement
was published in the North Queensland Guardian in 1937. A
resident of New South Wales, Saunders was sent to Palm Island
for being ‘an absconder and addicted to drink’. He maintained
that he was sent there because he would not ‘work under the
Aborigines Act and pay into the settlement’. He pointed out that
he ‘was transferred here to a penal settlement to remain here how
long I don’t know. I wish to get out of here as soon as possible.
[ did no wrong outside. The condition of living does not suit
me at all. I don’t get paid for the amount of work I do and have
very bad food. 10!

The acting superintendent advised the Chief Protector that
Saunders was ‘so little coloured and his bearing and intelligence
is such that he cannot be thought of as anything but a white
man’. He believed that Saunders ‘would be better regarded as a
white man and, if he offended against the law, dealt with in the
ordinary way’.102

New Aboriginal legislation was introduced in 1939 addressing
the ‘half-caste’ issue. The Director of Native Affairs!®? argued that
the main feature of the legislation was ‘the upliftment of the
civilised half-castes by automatically conferring freedom and full
citizen rights where their circumstances and associations qualified
them for such privilege’.1% For those people resident on settle-
ments there was no improvement in the repressive conditions
under which they lived.!1%> Heather Wearne has pointed out that
the tone of the debate in Parliament was significantly different in
1939 from 1897. She maintains that while the earlier legislation
grew out of a sense of guilt, this had clearly dissipated in 1939,
with the debate more concerned with making the institution of
reserves a success and ‘preventing the Aboriginal population from
disrupting white community standards’.10¢

Long before the 1939 legislation was enacted an increasing
number of Aboriginal people were incarcerated in these institu-
tions. As late as 1962 almost 10 000 Aboriginal people lived on
government settlements and missions with a further 17 652 living
on country reserves and Torres Strait Islands.1%7 As already sug-
gested, Palm Island, established in 1918, quickly gained a
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reputation as a ‘punishment place’.!9® People were transferred
there from all parts of the state and were often unaware of the
reasons for their removal. On government settlements, as with
missions, children were normally separated from their parents.
Fred Clay recalled that when his family was removed to Palm
Island in the 1930s the members were separated; his mother and
two sisters were sent to the female dormitory and the three sons
to the boys’ residence. “We saw each other only when permission
was granted. There was a white person there they called a matron,
you know. We had to get permission from her to visit the
dormitory and see our mother. Pretty stiff when you’ve got to
get permission to see your own mother. 109

Years before they were formally recognised in the 1939 Act
Aboriginal Police on settlements were used to maintain divisions
within the black population. Residents were well aware of the
injustice of such a system, Waillie Thaiday arguing that ‘the
policemen on Palm Island should not be called policemen . . .
They are only trackers from far away inland and they know
nothing about law, not a scrap. They never been to school and
all they do is what the superintendent tell them.’'!® The over-
whelming majority of incidences on the settlement were dealt
with by the Aboriginal Police and Courts where there was no
right to a defence lawyer and no provisions for appeals against
rulings made arbitrarily by the superintendent. On Palm Island
even children were gaoled for insignificant misdemeanours.
Marnie Kennedy recalled her experiences as a child in the late
1920s: ‘I was singing this song “Who Said I was a Bum™. I didn’t
know that the matron was coming through the dormitory. Next
thing I found myself in jail for the night because I was singing
that song and using the word “bum” .1

There seemed to be little logic in the way that punishment
was dispensed. One inmate reported that ‘a married man cleared
out with a single girl for a couple of days’. They were sentenced
to fourteen days gaol. After this the man was appointed to the
police force and the girl was sent to Fantome Island.!!2 In 1937
Tommy Ryan was charged with disobeying the orders of the
superintendent and sentenced to seven days’ imprisonment; Ted
Bosun, sergeant of police was charged with trying to commit
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suicide and allowed to carry on as police sergeant; Constable Ross
was found ill-treating his wife and when he reported the matter
to the superintendent he was told to go home and that it was all
right.113

A multitude of other practices compounded the sense of
powerlessness experienced by those Aboriginal people unfortunate
enough to be incarcerated on Queensland Aboriginal settlements.
All inward and outward mail was censored in much the same
way as occurred with soldiers in a theatre of war. From the 1930s,
Aborigines living on settlements had to obtain permission from
the superintendent before they could marry.!'* Even though most
residents had committed no crime, they had to have the
superintendent’s permission before leaving the settlement. All
residents could be ordered to work for 32 hours a week without
pay. For those sections of the Aboriginal community subjected
to increasing controls and regulations it must have been extremely
difficult to maintain a sense of self~worth.

From 1904 Torres Strait Islanders were also subject to the
provisions of the Act after it was discovered that white employers
were exploiting them. Once again this was a situation where the
victims paid the penalty for crimes committed against them. By
the 1930s administrators looked favourably on Islanders who
owned the largest pearling fleet in the north and marketed their
products through the Native Trading Station and branch stores.
As a result when new Aboriginal legislation was drawn up in
1939 it was decided that Torres Strait Islanders should be treated
differently in a separate Bill, a large part of which dealt with local
government. A departmental report noted that:

This Bill has been introduced to give constitutional effect to a
system of self~government which with sympathetic departmental
assistance, has been evolved by these people, and to direct and
assist them further towards perfecting such a system, at the same
time fully preserving their racial entity and protecting their
interests when such conflict with those of the European race.!!5

Like the Aboriginal Act, 1939, the notion of protection and
preservation was still an integral part of the Torres Strait Act. In
1946 provision was made for elected councils on mainland
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‘King George of Saxby Downs and
his consort’: some Aboriginal
workers were rewarded with King
plates for their service. This did
not prevent them ending up in a
government settlement in their old
age. QUEENSLAND PARLIAMEN-
TARY PAPERS, 1910, VOL. 3

reserves and settlements in a bid to have more uniformity between
the two Acts. However superintendents still controlled the pro-
ceedings of these councils when they were established. The
superintendent could, for instance, declare a candidate ineligible
‘for any reason whatsoever’.

By the 1950s it was becoming increasingly difficult to contain
Aboriginal resentment of white bureaucracy on some settlements.
When Roy Bartlam took over as Superintendent of Palm Island
in 1954 he enforced the rules and regulations much more rigor-
ously than his predecessor. Indignation at Bartlam’s authoritarian
style reached a peak in 1957; the catalyst was a disagreement
between Len Croker, the white hygiene officer, and Albie Geia,
an Aboriginal foreman. Eventually the whole island was drawn
into the dispute leading to a general strike of all workers who were
opposed to the administrative style of the superintendent. With
the situation at flash point Bartlam called in twenty armed police
officers from Townsville to arrest the six strike leaders. Without
any charges being laid, these men were sent to three different
settlements simply through the invocation of removal orders.!1¢

Apart from the protest by residents on missions and settle-
ments, those in towns who were less constrained by the Act were
also becoming more politically active. Two of the most powerful
identities to emerge from Cairns were Gladys O’Shane and Joe
McGinness,'!'”7 the latter subsequently becoming the Federal pres-
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ident of the Federal Council for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islanders (FCAATSI). This organisation and others such as the
Queensland State Council for the Advancement of Aborigines
and Torres Strait Islanders which was formed in 1958 were
important in putting Aboriginal issues on the political agenda and
giving Aboriginal and Islander people the confidence to voice
their grievances of the system. Evelyn Scott recalled that she

never thought the day would come when I could tackle
politicians, bureaucrats in government departments, and stand up
in universities and address students. When growing up as a child
in North Queensland I never thought I could achieve those
things. Meeting people like [Faith Bandler] and Dulcie Flower,
Joe McGinness and Kath Walker gave me confidence.!!®

In 1962 the State Government set up a review of Aboriginal
affairs and the recommendations from this committee formed the
basis of new legislation in which the general thrust was away
from protection towards assimilation.!'” The concept of Protectors
was abandoned in favour of the term District Officers who tended
to be clerks of magistrate’s courts rather than police officers. The
Director of Native Affairs became the Director of Aboriginal and
Islanders Affairs, superintendents were to be called managers and
the terms ‘settlement’ and ‘mission’ were to be replaced with
‘community’. Provision was made in Section 44 of the 1965 Act
for Aboriginal Councils and Courts and under the Regulations
of 1966, the structure of both institutions was to change. The
Councils on each of the designated communities'2 were to consist
of two assisted Aborigines to be appointed by the Director and
two assisted Aborigines to be elected by residents. The Council
was responsible to the manager for the conduct, discipline and
well-being of assisted Aborigines residing within the reserve or
community. Councils had the power to make by-laws, resolutions
and orders for the well-being and progressive development of
assisted residents. This appeared to be much more democratic
than the previous situation but in reality little had changed as the
Director could remove any of the members of an Aboriginal
Council and all by-laws had to receive the approval of the
Director before they were officially sanctioned.
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In 1971 the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations
once again came under the jurisdiction of separate Acts of
Parliament. A major feature of these Acts was the abolition of
the ‘assisted Aborigine’ category but the Department continued
to manage the financial affairs for those who requested that this
continue. Objectionable terms such as ‘full-blood’ and ‘strain or
preponderance of Aboriginal blood’ were dropped in favour of a
less complex definition of an Aborigine; ‘a person who is a
descendant of an indigenous inhabitant of the Commonwealth of
Australia other than the Torres Strait Islands’. However after years
of living under the cloud of the Act, these cosmetic changes may
have made little difference to Aboriginal people. In 1982, when
an Aboriginal man was asked if it would be possible to borrow
his 50 year-old exemption certificate to copy, his response was
‘No, no the government might ask for it.’

The 1971 Acts dealt almost exclusively with reserves specifying
who could and could not enter them. An Aborigine who wanted
to live on a reserve indefinitely or for a period of more than one
month, had to apply to the Council chairman. A residence permit
was then granted ‘if and only if’ the Council and the Director
were satisfied that such residence was ‘in the best interests of the
applicant’. If a resident left a reserve, the permit was automatically
terminated unless the departure was for a short term. Whereas
under the 1965 Act it had been difficult for residents to leave
reserves, under the new legislation it became difficult for them
to return. Garth Nettheim was concerned that there was a ‘danger
that any past repression in this matter may be superseded by a
sense of insecurity’. In his opinion neither condition was condu-
cive to achieving ‘the confidence of citizenship’.!2!

Mounting national pressure in the 1970s and 80s forced the
Queensland Government to repeal its 1971 legislation and replace
it with the Community Services (Torres Strait) Act and the Commu-
nity Services (Aborigines) Act in 1984. The most important aspect
of the new Acts was the granting of local government powers to
community councils. While Minister Bob Katter claimed that the
legislation reflected ‘the government’s desire to unfetter Aborig-
inal and Islander people in formulating decisions which affect the
development of their communities’, a number of restrictions were
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contained in the legislation. For instance, councils were required
to submit an annual budget to the minister who had the power
to reject it. Frank Brennan has observed that in general these
councils ‘were not viewed as responsible, elected councils expend-
ing their own funds but as public servants expending government
funds and therefore accountable to the Queensland government
through its officers’.1?22 An amendment subsequently introduced
by the Goss government has given the Aboriginal and Island
Councils more autonomy in financial accountability but many
other problems remain unresolved.

In the early decades of the twentieth century, Queensland was
seen as the authority in the administration of Aboriginal affairs.
With hindsight it was an accolade which clearly was misplaced.
A large proportion of the state’s Aboriginal and Islander popula-
tion has experienced institutionalism either on a mission or a
government settlement or community. Subjected to so many
changes, these people have been left, in many cases, insecure and
unsure of their identity. Moreover State paternalism has saturated
every piece of legislation dealing with Queensland Aborigines and
Torres Strait Islanders. The effect has been to slowly extract any
power they had over their own lives. It is a situation to which
four and five generations have been exposed, effectively crippling
initiative and self-esteem. The traditional authority of elders has
been replaced with the authority of the State. With the passage
of time Aboriginal people have been subjected to less overt
physical violence but there has been little improvement in the
recognition of their human rights. The destructive impact of
European colonisation is as evident in the twentieth century as
it was in the nineteenth.
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5
South Australia

OLONISATION of the region now known as South Australia

conformed to the pattern of dispossession and colonial set-
tlement imposed on other parts of the Australian continent. From
the European-Australian perspective, South Australia had some
unique features. The colony was established by a private com-
mercial company and land was distributed on a systematic basis
to private, free citizens. There were no convicts. However, for
indigenous people the process of alienation of land for urban,
agricultural, pastoral and mining development was the same as in
other regions.

Although Aborigines in South Australia were not subjected to
the systematic brutality of early Tasmanian colonisation, and
missed the harsh ironies of indirect rule using Native Police, they
did not escape thefts of land, violent conflict or high mortality
rates from introduced diseases. Government policies introduced
to control and manage Aboriginal people strongly resembled those
of other colonial and state parliaments, particularly Queensland
and Western Australia, although their implementation was perhaps
less doctrinaire than in those two states.

While the colonisation of South Australia was preceded by
much debate in Britain over how rights to land in the ‘occupation
and enjoyment of the Natives’ might be protected, in practice
they were afforded no more protection than Aboriginal rights in
any other colony. Ultimately the colonisation process and its
impact on Aborigines was determined by the type of settler
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SOUTH AUSTRALIA

capitalist development (for example, mining, agriculture) and
Aboriginal responses to it, rather than state policies.

Yet Aboriginal people did survive. Before tracing the familiar
stories of dispossession, discriminatory legislation, institutionalisa-
tion, and harsh treatment by the courts and police, it is important
to emphasise the capacity of suppressed peoples to triumph over

adversity through many generations.
The history of the Wilton family of the north Flinders Ranges

encapsulates the experiences of many Aboriginal people in South
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Australia: initial dispossession, economic change, the threat of
dispersal, periodic unemployment, Christian missions and govern-
ment interference, and, most recently, a return to control of some
of their lands and their own lives. Susie Noble, an Adnyamathanha
woman, was born at Owieandana in the Flinders Ranges in South
Australia in the latter part of the nineteenth century. Her gener-
ation grew up on land which they shared with non-Aboriginal
pastoralists, working for rations, supplemented by food they
gathered and hunted themselves. They learnt English, while
maintaining their own languages, rites of passage and beliefs. For
a long time they were relatively free from missionary influence
or government interference. Yet only a decade or two earlier
there had been a strong police presence in the district as the
Adnyamathanha fought to retain control of their lands and estab-
lished food sources. Susiec Noble’s uncle, Mount Serle Bob (also
known as King Bob) told stories of violence and resistance when
the first white men came to the Flinders Ranges. Those
Adnyamathanha who survived the first years of contact adjusted
their lives to new circumstances, until the 1890s brought eco-
nomic depression and drought. A number of pastoral stations
closed down, leaving Adnyamathanha people destitute and starv-
ing. The pastoral station, Mount Serle, initially acquired by the
government as a camel depot and transport centre for the far
north, became an Aboriginal ration depot, providing a tenuous
life support system.

Susie Noble was first married to Ti-Tree Jack and then to
Albert Wilton, but in 1909 she also had a son, Rufus, by George
Edinton, the white caretaker at the Mount Serle camel depot.
Rufus was brought up by his mother and his Aboriginal father,
Albert Wilton. His biological father tried, but failed, to have
Rufus taken from his Aboriginal family.! There were also attempts
to remove Rufus under the Aborigines Act, 1911, which allowed
children of mixed descent to be taken from their mothers and
placed in institutions. Susie used to darken Rufus’ skin with black
ochre so he would not stand out from the other children. So,
while the South Australian Government was quite remote from
the Flinders Ranges, decisions taken in Adelaide did impinge on
the Adnyamathanha.
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In 1914 members of the South Australian Royal Commission
on the Aborigines visited the Ranges and heard evidence from
Susie Wilton. She explained that children at Mount Serle needed
a school. Reading, writing and arithmetic would help protect them
against unscrupulous employers. She said she was not interested in
Christianity.2 Rufus never got the schooling his mother asked for.
But he did get full Adnyamathanha training culminating in the
wilyeru, or second stage initiation ceremony. He taught himself to
read and write while moving from one pastoral station to another
with his parents. As a young adult he continued to follow stock
work as it became available in the Ranges.

In the late 1920s another major crisis faced the Adnyama-
thanha—more drought, another Depression. Mount Serle ration
depot closed and most Adnyamathanha were out of work. They
established a settlement for themselves in the corner of a pastoral
station called Ram Paddock Gate, where they sank wells and built
cottages. Albert and Susie Wilton built their home alongside that
of Rufus and his wife Ethel.3 In 1929 the Adnyamathanha were
introduced to Christianity by a missionary from the United
Aborigines Mission (UAM), who also distributed rations, perhaps
saving the people from starvation. The missionary negotiated land
for a permanent settlement at Nepabunna which became the focal
point of Adnyamathanha community life. Both Albert and Susie
Wilton died at Nepabunna in the 1940s and Rufus lived there
for sixteen years. He met and worked with the anthropologist,
C. P. Mountford.

Rufus resented the missionaries’ interference in Adnyamat-
hanha ceremonial business and, when the elders discussed
discontinuing the ceremonies, he strongly favoured maintaining
them. Nevertheless the last initiations were held in 1947. By this
time Rufus had left Nepabunna in search of work. While the
missionaries realised they could not influence Rufus, they tried
to retain his children. They used the power of the Aborigines
Protection Board to force Rufus to return his children. His only
means of escaping the control of the Protection Board was to
apply for exemption from the Aborigines Act. Henceforth he was
not legally defined as Aboriginal. He could no longer visit family
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and friends at Nepabunna nor seek any form of assistance from
the Board.

Rufus worked at Leigh Creek coalfields from 1943-73, but as
Aborigines (even exempted Aborigines) were barred from living
in Leigh Creek township, his family lived at Beltana and he visited
them on his bicycle at weekends. In 1973 the UAM withdrew
from Nepabunna and an Aboriginal Council was elected to
administer the settlement, but Rufus never returned to live there.
The Adnyamathanha also gained control of the Nepabunna land
and the Mount Serle pastoral lease in the 1980s.

In the 1970s and 1980s Rufus worked closely with the
Aboriginal Heritage Branch recording Adnyamathanha sites of
significance, history and language as a means of ensuring the
continuity of this knowledge for posterity. He epitomised the
Adnyamathanha ability to respond to changing circumstances,
while maintaining strong links with the Adnyamathanha past.

Against the background of many similar stories of adaptation
and survival, this chapter surveys two linked processes. First we
follow the long process which Europeans called ‘the spread of
settlement’ but which Aboriginal people experienced as dispos-
session and subjection to a new political and economic hegemony.
Second we consider how that new hegemony was maintained
through legislation, institutionalisation and the judicial system.

COLONIAL SETTLEMENT AND ABORIGINAL
DISPOSSESSION

Although 1836 is the date generally given as the start of British
colonisation in South Australia, direct and indirect contacts
between Aborigines and non-Aborigines predate the establishment
of Adelaide as the capital of the new British colony.

Whalers and sealers had lived on Kangaroo Island since about
1803 and are known to have come to the mainland and abducted
women from the south-east coast and lower Eyre Peninsula. In
1829-30 Charles Sturt led an exploring party down the Murray
River, encountering many Aboriginal people along the river as
he went. He saw evidence that smallpox or some similar disease
had infected people along the river sometime prior to his expe-
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The Kuri Dance, George French Angas (detail from hand-coloured
lithograph). ART GALLERY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA 667G46

dition. George French Angas recorded that an epidemic, which
originated in New South Wales, had killed many people on the
lower Murray before any direct white contact, decimating whole
communities.* It is possible that the disease spread further through
South Australia, so that many Aboriginal people only encountered
Europeans after indirect effects of colonisation had caused major
disruption to their lives.

Permanent occupation of land in South Australia by the British
began in 1836. Governor Hindmarsh landed at Holdfast Bay and
established a town on the River Torrens which grew very rapidly.
In 1844, cight years after the British landed, South Australia had
a non-Aboriginal population of 17 366, which had increased to
85 821 by 1855.> Most of these people lived in Adelaide and its
environs. Almost from the time they landed they vastly out-
numbered the Kaurna people, who occupied the Adelaide Plains.¢
The intrusion of these outsiders onto the land of the Kaurna, the
Aborigines on the coast south to Goolwa and Encounter Bay,
and the people in the Mount Lofty Ranges, was devastating; many
died and no doubt some tried to avoid the devastation by leaving
the area.” Yet despite the disastrous effects of the arrival of the
British on the Kaurna, Aboriginal people from the Murray River
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were attracted to Adelaide. They came out of curiosity, to collect
rations and blankets (a substitute for their fur capes) and to take
advantage of the disarray of the Kaurna to move over their lands.
This pattern of devastation, revulsion and attraction continued to
be an ingredient of Aboriginal/non-Aboriginal relations for the
next century.

Although most Europeans came to South Australia by sea, in
the early years of the colony much of the livestock came overland
from New South Wales along the well watered route of the
Murray River. The overlanders who accompanied the stock had
no respect for the Aboriginal people over whose land they
trespassed. Many made unprovoked attacks on Aborigines,
‘marauding, shooting, molesting and abusing women as they
went’.8 The Aborigines along the Murray retaliated, attacking the
overlanders and driving oft stock. The colonists responded by
sending a number of punitive expeditions up the river, some of
which were repulsed by the Aborigines. In 1841 an expedition,
led by the Protector of Aborigines, went to Rufus River in New
South Wales where over thirty Aborigines were killed:

The firing commenced before spears were thrown on account of
inequality between the two parties; the natives at least were 150
strong whilst the Europeans had only thirty-six that could be
spared apart from the sheep, cattle and drays. Some natives had
two and three spears each, every spear being equal to a musket
if sufficiently near an object to be thrown, and to have waited
until the Natives were within that distance would have been to
expose the Europeans to certain defeat.”

This massacre was officially condoned and therefore well docu-
mented, unlike many mass killings of Aborigines in South
Australia. The incident also shows that Aboriginal people did not
passively accept the process of dispossession and destruction but
often made carefully planned attacks on the invaders of their lands.

From Adelaide Europeans moved out in search of land and
wealth. They almost immediately moved south to Encounter Bay
and Goolwa and by the early 1840s had extended eastwards. In
1846 there were 263 Europeans living south of Rivoli Bay.!0 This
south-east movement was accompanied by violent conflict as

214



SOUTH AUSTRALIA

Aborigines continued to try to defend their rights over land until
about 1848.11

At the same time colonists pushed north and west of Adelaide.
Copper mining and pastoralism were established on Yorke Pen-
insula in the 1840s. Europeans had also established a toehold on
Eyre Peninsula. In 1840 there were 190 Europeans in the Port
Lincoln district and 48 houses in Port Lincoln.'? Initial encounters
between the Aborigines and the intruders were particularly violent
in that region, a legacy of distrust engendered in the era of the
whalers and exacerbated by the rough, lawless behaviour of some
of the early settlers. The Nauo were determined to protect their
territory and they almost succeeded in forcing the Europeans away
from the lower Eyre Peninsula. But the Europeans persisted and
gradually occupied the western and eastern coasts of the Peninsula.
There was also movement into the interior of South Australia,
extending in the 1850s through the mid-north and the Flinders
Ranges to the salt lakes. Initial encounters in the Flinders Ranges
and to the north were also characterised by violence. Inabuthina
(also known as Pompey) was the most notorious of the Aborigines
who resisted European incursion through direct attacks on Euro-
peans, their stock and stores. In 1867 two missions in the salt
lakes area were temporarily abandoned because of fears of attack
by Aborigines.

By the 1880s, though, non-Aboriginal people were well
entrenched over much of South Australia, excluding only the
north-west and the western interior. They were continually
demanding more land, leading to pastoral runs being subdivided
into smaller blocks for agriculture in the late nineteenth century,
which increased pressure on many Aborigines. While Aborigines
could maintain many elements of their traditional life within the
pastoral economy, agriculture prevented movement over land,
forcing them on to missions or the outskirts of towns. Large
numbers of Aborigines died or were displaced by the pastoral
industry, especially in the north-east.

The distribution of Aboriginal people and land ownership—
usage patterns of the period prior to 1836 in southern South
Australia had been completely disrupted by the turn of the
century. There were two large communities at Point Pearce on
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Yorke Peninsula and Point McLeay on Lake Alexandrina in the
south-east. There were also a few families scattered through the
south-east and in the Riverland picking up seasonal work. Nev-
ertheless, Aboriginal people’s knowledge of their ancestors’ origins
was still extant.

On northern Eyre Peninsula, the west coast and in the Flinders
Ranges and other pastoral areas, Aboriginal people worked on
farms and stations or tried to live off the land. They supplemented
their own efforts with rations for the aged and infirm distributed
by the police at Koonibba and Killalpannina missions, Fowlers
Bay, at the Mount Serle camel depot, and by some pastoralists.

The north-west was the only area where Aboriginal people
had little or no direct contact with non-Aboriginal people. A few
exploring parties passed through the region in the nineteenth
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century and the telegraph line to Darwin was built, but there
were no permanent non-Aboriginal settlements. Nevertheless,
there were shifts of population since the 1830s, indicating that
non-Aboriginal intrusion had indirect as well as direct impacts on
Aboriginal people. In the north-west, population movement had
five phases: there was a movement south to Ooldea and the
transcontinental railway line from 1917 to the 1940s; Ngaanyatjara
speakers in the late 1920s moved from the Warburton Ranges
and the Gibson Desert in Western Australia to Laverton, Mount
Margaret, Kalgoorlie and Wiluna; by 1921 Antikirinya were
moving east from Granite Downs to the Oodnadatta area, and
Yankunytjatjara from the Everards were also moving east; and
into the area they previously occupied came the Pitjantjatjara from
the Mann and Tonkinson Ranges.!3

In 1921 a reserve of 73 000 square kilometres was declared in
the north-west to protect the Aboriginal people there from
encroachment on their lands. They had no legal control over
these lands, the declaration of the reserve was supposed to prevent
pastoral or mining activity on the land.!* Notwithstanding, the
first pastoral lease was established on Pitjantjatjara and
Yangkunjatjara lands in 1932 and other leases in the area fol-
lowed.!> These were originally used as dogging camps rather than
pastoral runs, so the initial contacts of the north-west people were
with doggers collecting dingo scalps. Scalps were collected from
the Aborigines in exchange for flour, tea and sugar.!¢ In 1937
Ernabella Mission was established to protect the Aborigines from
this exploitative contact, yet its very establishment intensified
contact between Aborigines and non-Aborigines. Earlier, people
from this region had been attracted further south to the east-west
railway line built in 1917. The ethnographer, Daisy Bates, fed
and protected these ‘remnants’, as she referred to them, at Ooldea
Siding from 1919 to 1934.

In 1933 the United Aborigines Mission established a mission
for these people at Ooldea Soak (a few kilometres from the Siding)
but by the early 1950s, this site had become uninhabitable, coin-
ciding with the establishment of the Woomera Rocket Range.
Soon after atomic tests at Maralinga and Emu began. These
incursions forced Aboriginal people away from the area. Thus, by
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the 1950s the process of invasion and dispossession, which had
begun in South Australia prior to 1836, had run its course.

Aboriginal people responded to the invasion of their lands in
many ways. Some resorted to direct physical confrontation by
attacking stock which monopolised water sources and replaced
their own native game or by directly attacking the Europeans. As
farmers and pastoralists became entrenched on the land and
Aboriginal life was increasingly disrupted, many Aboriginal people
tried other strategies to ensure their survival. Some made the
decision to move onto missions, accepting their protection and
acquiring skills which would facilitate their adaptation to the new
economic conditions. Missions also enabled people to continue a
communal life and retain a communal identity.

Others adapted their lives to the pastoral industry while
maintaining their religious life and close relationship to the land.
For over 90 years the Adnyamathanha of the Flinders Ranges
kept in touch with their past, while becoming skilled stock and
domestic workers.

More recently, Aboriginal people have confronted and infil-
trated the Australian political and bureaucratic system, demanding
that it respond to their unique position in this country. The
disruption of their lifestyle and the dispossession of their lands
sets Aboriginal people apart in Australian society, and, despite
concerted attempts to undermine it, the continuity of Aboriginal
culture and values provides a key source of strength.

The broad impact of colonisation on Aborigines in South
Australia is similar to that experienced by Aboriginal people in
other Australian states. South Australian Aborigines were dispos-
sessed of their land and then marginalised economically and
politically. But the process of settlement on Aboriginal lands in
South Australia had some unique features. Urban development in
Adelaide proceeded very quickly compared to other colonies.
Movement out from the urban centre took place in a relatively
orderly way. This reflected Edward Gibbon Wakefield’s ideas of
systematic colonisation, as well as South Australia’s establishment
as a separate colony, unlike Victoria and Queensland which began
with ‘illegal’ settlement.

In South Australia, the rule of law generally kept pace with
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expanding colonisation. Not that the rule of law was any guar-
antee of Aboriginal rights. The process of appropriation of
Aboriginal lands was condoned by the state and was supported
by para-military and police intervention.

The pattern of white settlement was dictated by the distribu-
tion of resources valued by Europeans and the accessibility of
those resources to markets and transport. Noel Loos has suggested
that there were three main resource frontiers in the colonisation
of northern Queensland: pastoral, mining and pearl fishing, and
that these had varying impacts on Aborigines.!” Colonisation of
Western Australia could also be said to be dominated by these
three frontiers. South Australian expansion, in contrast, was
directed from Adelaide, and in southern South Australia was
dominated by urban, agricultural and pastoral development (with
some mining in the 1840s). Northern and western South Australia
attracted pastoralists (mining did not have major impacts on
Aborigines until the mining boom of the 1960s).18
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The greater the density and concentration of European settle-
ment and resource use, the more immediate was the impact on
indigenous peoples. Urban development on the Adelaide Plains
with its density of population and intense use of the land resulted
in rapid dispossession of Kaurna land but low levels of violence.
Agricultural development also had an immediate effect of forcing
Aboriginal people off their land. Pastoralism was more compatible
with continued (although greatly disrupted) Aboriginal occupation
of their lands. It depended on Aboriginal labour over an extended
period and attracted a relatively sparse European population.
Aborigines, therefore, outnumbered the intruders in pastoral areas.
This asymmetry often resulted in high levels of violence exacer-
bated by European aggression and fear, in face of Aboriginal
defence of their land and other resources. The result of these
tensions was a more prolonged competition over resources than
in regions of dense European settlement.

MAINTAINING THE NEW ORDER

The process of settlement and dispossession in South Australia
took place over a century or more. At the same time authority
structures were developed to maintain this new order. This
development had four major phases. In the early years of the
colony there was some notion that Aborigines would be quickly
trained to assimilate and adopt the lifestyle of the colonisers. This
soon was replaced by a view that Aborigines could not withstand
the impact of a superior ‘civilisation’ and would die out, all that
could be done for them was to feed and protect them until their
inevitable demise. By the 1930s attitudes had changed. The
number of Aborigines was increasing, not declining, especially
people of mixed descent. The government worried that a group
of people who looked increasingly like white people but lived
and behaved like Aboriginal people was developing. To counter
this trend some argued that people of mixed descent should be
assimilated into the general population but it took another twenty
years before these policies were embodied in legislation. This
policy of assimilation was in turn modified in the 1960s to
‘integration’, predicated on the belief that Aboriginal people
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should be able to determine the rate at which they assimilated.
More recently a policy of self-determination has developed, allied
to multiculturalism.

In their broad application these changing policies parallel
developments in Western Australia, Queensland and the Northern
Territory but differ in fundamental ways from New South Wales
and Victoria. When the colonies of South Australia, Port Phillip
Bay and the Swan River Settlement were established in the 1830s,
the Humanitarian movement was at its peak in Britain. Anti-slav-
ery legislation had recently been enacted and there was optimism
that future British colonisers would have to acknowledge the
rights over land of indigenous peoples. But South Australia was
colonised by a private company and, despite the concerns of the
British Colonial Office, commercial considerations prevailed over
the land rights of Aborigines. The South Australian Constitution
Act was drafted by the South Australia Colonisation Commission
and not by the government, and was rushed through the House
of Commons with little debate.!® The preamble of the Act
declared South Australia to be ‘waste and unoccupied lands which
are supposed fit for the purposes of colonisation’.20

Although this Act was seen to be out of step with British
Government policy, the Colonial Office accepted it under pres-
sure. The Office tried to protect Aboriginal rights by insisting on
the appointment of a Protector who would ensure that land
occupied by Aborigines was only acquired if the Aborigines sold
it voluntarily. If they did not want to sell it, he was to protect
their right to occupy it.2! A clause was also included in the Letters
Patent which was designed to protect Aboriginal rights over land,

Provided always, that nothing in these Letters Patent contained
shall affect or be constrained to affect the rights of any
Aboriginal natives of the said Province to the actual occupation
or employment in their persons or in the persons of their
descendants of any lands now actually occupied or enjoyed by
such Natives.?2

Neither of these measures could override an Act passed by
Parliament and proved ineffective. Aborigines became citizens of
the new colony and subject to British law. A Protector was
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appointed, who acted more often in defence of non-Aboriginal
property than Aboriginal rights. At first, with the help of mis-
sionaries, Protectors attempted to educate and assimilate
Aborigines in European ways but soon they were involved in
‘pacifying’ the Aborigines, first through brutal police and citizen
action, then through distribution of rations.?> The German mis-
sionary, Clamor Schiirmann, who was appointed sub-protector of
Aborigines in Port Lincoln in 1840, found that his duties as a
Protector, which often involved assisting in the apprehension of
Aborigines accused of attacking whites, conflicted with his own
calling as a missionary. The high sounding intentions of the British
Government and the Colonial Office in relation to Aboriginal
rights to land were never implemented in South Australia.

In 1842 the Waste Lands Act was passed which enabled the
Protector of Aborigines to establish reserves for Aborigines. These
reserves, in line with the prevailing but short-lived policy which
anticipated that Aborigines would be ‘civilised’ and trained to live
like Europeans, were small. The intention was that Aborigines
would settle down on them and ‘cultivate the soil’.2* When this
did not occur, most of the reserve lands were leased to non-
Aboriginal farmers. By 1860 of the 8000 acres allotted as
Aboriginal reserves, most were leased out to non-Aboriginal
farmers, generating /1000 income which went into general
revenue.25 Nevertheless, there are at least two recorded instances
where Aboriginal reserve land was let to Aboriginal women who
had married white men. The first was Kudnarto from the Crystal
Brook area, who married Thomas Adams. But in each case when
the Aboriginal woman died the land reverted to the State and
did not pass to her children.2¢

By the late 1850s any remaining ‘humanitarian’ idealism about
state obligations to Aborigines had been extinguished in South
Australia due to a concern to cut governmental spending, and
also because of the prevailing belief that ‘primitive’ Aboriginal
culture could not withstand the onslaught of European
‘civilisation’ and was therefore doomed. This belief suited the
governmental purse and for the next 50 years government con-
fined its role to distributing food and blankets to aged and infirm
Aborigines through the police, pastoralists and missionaries.
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Rations were palliative but were also used to control Aborig-
inal movements and behaviour. Food was distributed to prevent
raids on shepherds’ huts or killing sheep for food, both common
causes of violence. Ration distribution also enabled the police to
get to know the Aborigines, so if trouble arose they could identify
them. In addition rations were used to control their movements.
After Eyre Peninsula settlers complained that a ration depot set
up near their runs would encourage Aborigines to come into the
area, the depot was moved beyond the area of settlement.?’ Later
in the century rations were used to control the supply of Aborig-
inal labour. Some pastoralists requested rations to entice
Aborigines to their runs so they would have a ready workforce.
Others wanted police to distribute them so as to keep large
numbers of Aborigines away from their properties. Distribution
of rations in towns was also controversial. Some police advocated
this distribution so an eye could be kept on Aborigines; others
believed that distribution away from town centres would discour-
age Aborigines from entering towns.

The administrative vacuum left by the government’s with-
drawal from financial and administrative responsibility for
Aboriginal affairs was partially filled by philanthropic and church
groups. A number of missions were established in the second half
of the nineteenth century, with the aim of segregating and
protecting the Aborigines in their declining years. These included
two missions in the salt lakes area in the north, Killalpannina and
Kopperamanna (1866); and, in the south, Poonindie (1850),28
Point McLeay (1859), Point Pearce (1868), and at the turn of
the century Koonibba (1898).

Poonindie was planned as an ideal Christian village, isolated
from both Aboriginal and European influence. Initially, recruits
were taken from an Aboriginal school in Adelaide (many of whom
came from the River Murray region) to continue their training
as farm and domestic workers. Only volunteers were taken to
Poonindie and most stayed there despite extremely high deathrates
and low birthrates in the first ten years. Later, local Eyre Peninsula
people were also admitted on a voluntary basis and children of
mixed descent were sent there over the years. Poonindie people
were, on the whole, dedicated to the institution, which was a
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self~sufficient farming community. It created a tight-knit commu-
nity of people from all over southern South Australia. Therefore,
these people were devastated when their home, for which they
had worked over decades, was closed down by the government
and subdivided into blocks for white farmers.

Poonindie stood both for Aboriginal people succeeding in the
non-Aboriginal world and white people’s determination to stop
them. The history of this mission has parallels with Cumeroo-
gunga in New South Wales, where Aboriginal people also lost
their land after establishing a successful farming enterprise.

Other missions initially attracted local Aboriginal people, who
moved onto the missions of their own volition. Some were
attracted by the availability of food and the chance to learn new
skills and a European education. For others there was nowhere
else to go as their land was taken up by non-Aboriginal people
for farming. Others used the mission as an occasional retreat from
unemployment, drought or harassment. Many were encouraged
by mission authorities to leave their children in mission dormi-
tories, to be educated at the school and indoctrinated in
Christianity. This also ensured that the parents were tied to the
mission, either permanently or returning periodically to visit their
children. Many left their children at the missions to prevent them
being taken away to Homes in Adelaide. For Aboriginal people
missions were often the best of the limited options available to
them and ensured that they retained a communal Aboriginal
identity, which the missionaries themselves had hoped to eradi-
cate.

Aborigines who were not associated with one of the mission
stations either lived independently from white people, obtained
casual work on farms and stations, or subsisted on rations distrib-
uted by pastoralists and the police. In the latter part of the
nineteenth century the police were generally the only government
representatives in outlying areas. Their work in relation to Abor-
igines included, not only law enforcement but also ration
distribution, census taking and implementation of government
directives.

By the early twentieth century white attitudes towards Abor-
igines were changing. It was acknowledged that the assumption
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that the Aborigines would solve the problem of their administra-
tion by disappearing was wrong, and that the number of people
of mixed descent was, in fact, increasing. A new era of racially
based policies opened. The mixed descent population increased
despite government and mission attempts to prevent miscegena-
tion. Aboriginal women were often taken from their people
without consent and forced to live with white men, or forced to
work as domestic servants where they were vulnerable to exploi-
tation by their male employers. Because there were very few
marriages between white men and Aboriginal women, the chil-
dren of these inter-racial liaisons were brought up by their
Aboriginal mothers and Aboriginal stepfathers. Aboriginal people
accepted children of mixed descent as Aboriginal. In Aboriginal
society the factors determining a person’s inheritance are complex
and not solely dependent on the identity of the natural father.
This adaptation was particularly easy in matrilineal societies such
as in the Flinders Ranges and the north-east of the state where
descent was determined through the mother but it did occur in
all Aboriginal societies.

Non-Aboriginal people, on the other hand, measured descent
in terms of ‘blood’. The racial terminology of ‘full-blood’, ‘half-
caste’, ‘quadroon’, ‘octoroon’ became common in South Australia
as it did in other states. Aborigines were perceived, not only as
being low on the evolutionary scale but as being disadvantaged
on biological grounds.

In 1911 an Act was passed to provide ‘for the better Protection
and Control of the Aboriginal and Halfcaste Inhabitants of the
State of South Australia’. Modelled on legislation passed by the
Queensland (1897) and Western Australian (1905) governments,
it stepped up government involvement in Aboriginal administra-
tion.

The Act established an Aborigines Department with a Chief
Protector at its head. As with the legislation on which it was
modelled, the Aborigines Protection Act broadly defined ‘Aboriginal’,
bringing large numbers of people of ‘Aboriginal’ descent under
direct government control. ‘An aboriginal’ was defined as ‘an
aboriginal native of Australia’ or ‘a half-caste’ married to an
‘aboriginal native’ or habitually associating with them, or a ‘half-
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School children at Ooldea, 1940s.

caste’ child under sixteen years. The Chief Protector was made
the legal guardian of all Aboriginal children under 21 ‘notwith-
standing that any such child has a parent or other relative living’.
With such powers the Protector could take charge of all ‘half-
caste’ children found ‘wandering and camping with aborigines’
and put them under the control of the State Children’s Depart-
ment.?’

The Act also gave the Chief Protector enormous authority
over adults. He could move them to a reserve or institution, (or
from one reserve or institution to another), control their move-
ments in and around towns, manage their property and finances.
Although these clauses were described as ‘protective’, from our
historical distance they appear to have been controlling. Every
aspect of an Aboriginal person’s life was open to control by the
state from the time she or he was born. There were only a few
protective clauses. It was, for instance, illegal to remove certain
classes of Aborigine (especially women and children) from a
district or reserve without authority. Many of these controls were
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enforced by the police, who had the often conflicting responsi-
bilities of Protector and law enforcement officer. The only section
of the Act which might have positively helped Aboriginal people
establish themselves independently was Section 18, which allowed
a block of Crown land ‘not exceeding one hundred and sixty
acres’ to be allotted to Aborigines or suitable land to be purchased
for them. Only a few people benefited, however. Those who
obtained land to farm had no security of tenure and therefore
had little incentive to improve it. An arbitrary decision of the
Protector could end their tenure. The prevailing attitude of the
time was that Aborigines should be kept on reserves administered
by non-Aborigines because they were incapable of living inde-
pendently.

The passing of the 1911 Act was followed by a Royal
Commission on the Aborigines which issued a progress report in
1913 and a final report in 1916. The Royal Commission
responded to general demands that there should be more direct
government involvement in Aboriginal affairs. It recommended
that four missions be taken over by the government as these
privately run stations lacked the resources to train Aborigines past
primary education.3?

But the main concern of the Royal Commission was to
distinguish between ‘full-bloods’ and ‘half-castes’. It recom-
mended that ‘full-bloods’ be separated from ‘half-castes’ and that
each live in a separate community and that ‘half-castes’,
‘quadroons’ and ‘octoroons’ be compelled to go outside their
communities and become self-sufficient.?! There was no recogni-
tion that these different ‘races’ were often part of the same nuclear
family.

Most of the Aboriginal witnesses before the Commission,
especially those from Point Pearce and Point McLeay, were
adamant that they wanted their own land to farm. Despite
recommendations by the Royal Commission that a few Aboriginal
men be given small farms as an experiment, Aboriginal people
continued to be denied access to land.

While legislation and policy were largely segregationist and
paternalist, there was occasional acknowledgement that these
policies were preventing Aborigines from becoming independent
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and self-supporting. This ambivalence continued well into the
twentieth century. It was not only government which displayed
this ambivalent attitude; non-government bodies similarly
imposed contradictory pressures on Aboriginal people. Koonibba
Mission administered by the Evangelical Lutheran Church of
Australia is one example. It wanted to maintain total control over
its Aboriginal charges while financial constraints on the mission
dictated that people had to move away in search of employment.
The Aboriginal people were vulnerable to controls established by
the 1911 Act and later acts of the 1930s. Only by staying at the
mission where they were supervised and ‘controlled’” were they
free of the threat of other interference.’?

When people moved away in search of work they lived a
camp life on reserves with no basic facilities or services. They
were often harassed by police or local councils for living in
unhygienic conditions. They could only find seasonal work. Their
children were often not accepted in state schools. Many hospitals
would not treat them when they were sick. In these conditions
many could not sustain an independent existence and returned
periodically or permanently to the mission. By the 1940s a few
people had made a permanent break with the mission but only
the most determined survived the harassment in the general
community. Yari Miller, who made a committed attempt to
establish his family in the town of Ceduna, wrote in frustration
to the Secretary of the Protection Board in 1946. He complained
that despite living independently of Board support, he and his
family were continually harassed by police and other officials.33
The Secretary to the Board responded with a threat: ‘the Board
has power to remove you to Koonibba if it deems such course
to be necessary but I sincerely hope you will so order your life
and those of the members of your family that you will become
a useful citizen.’3*

The purported aim of the 1911 Act, ‘for the better Protection
and Control’ of Aborigines was not fulfilled. From the Aboriginal
viewpoint the Act was all controlling with no protection. Yet its
implementation was not as draconian as similar legislation in
Queensland and Western Australia. While South Australian Abor-
igines did not enjoy the same freedom of movement as other
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Aboriginal men on the Murray River ¢ 1930. Judging by their
appearance and paraphernalia, they had joined the Australia-wide
march to rural areas in search of work. STATE LIBRARY OF SOUTH
AUSTRALIA SSL: M B22421

citizens, they were not forcibly removed to isolated institutions
as happened in Queensland (for example, Fraser and Palm Islands)
and Western Australia (for example, Moore River Settlement).
The Protectors of Aborigines in South Australia do not appear
to have been driven by the same commitment to racial ideologies
as Bleakley (Queensland), Cook (Northern Territory) or Neville
(Western Australia).

By the 1930s the emphasis of government policy began shifting
away from segregation and control towards assimilation of people
of mixed descent into the general population. Assimilation was
proposed on both racial grounds (through interbreeding Aborig-
inal ‘blood’ would disappear) and social grounds (Aborigines
would be brought up to the ‘standard of western civilisation’).3>
It took two decades for administrators and legislators to fully
implement such policies.

In the meantime, South Australia followed most of the other
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states when it introduced amendments to the 1911 Act. In 1939
both South Australia and Western Australia broadened the legis-
lative definition of Aboriginal, forcing more people under legal
controls. The Aborigines Act Amendment Act, 1939 brought all
Aboriginal people under one definition,

4.(1) Every person—

(a) who 1is of the full blood descended from the original
inhabitants of Australia; or
(b) who being of less than full blood is descended from the

original inhabitants of Australia (Section 5).

It then went on to make exceptions by establishing a mechanism
through which some people could be exempted from the Act and
‘cease to be an aborigine for the purposes of this Act’. An
exemption could be unconditional and irrevocable, or conditional
for up to three years. In Western Australia such exemptions
(introduced in 1944) were always conditional, even though they
conferred voting rights on Aborigines. In South Australia male
Aborigines had gained the right to vote when the male population
was enfranchised in the 1850s, and had maintained the right,
although few exercised it.3¢

The exemption system, like earlier methods devised for sepa-
rating people of full descent from people of mixed descent,
ignored Aboriginal familial and social ties. It also ignored cultural,
linguistic and historic differences between Aboriginal and non-
Aboriginal people. It caused great social dislocation and trauma,
splitting families and communities. Exempted people could drink
alcohol legally but were prohibited from living on an Aboriginal
institution or from ‘consorting’ with Aboriginal women other
than a wife. They could receive Commonwealth social services
but no assistance from the Aborigines Protection Board in the
form of rations or blankets etc. Many exempted people found
themselves caught between two societies and not legally a member
of either. Two examples will illustrate this point. A girl who was
exempted without her approval at the same time as her parents,
later married an Aboriginal man. She was refused permission to
live with his family on an Aboriginal mission while he was in
the armed forces and was compelled to live with her young
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children in the local town. In another instance a woman was
exempted so that she could receive a pension but when she
became sick the local hospital would not treat her because she
was Aboriginal and she could not return to live at the mission
where she could receive medical care because she was exempted.?’
There are many other examples of the no-man’s-land in which
people were placed through the exemption system.

A clause in the 1939 Act which caused Aboriginal people
much grief was the insertion of Section 34a which prevented
‘exempted’ men associating with Aboriginal women. There were
also provisions under the Police Offences Act which made it illegal
for Aborigines to associate with non-Aborigines.?® These provis-
ions ensured that if people attempted to follow the path of
assimilation, they were cut off from family, friends and associates
and had to carry a piece of paper proving their new racial identity.

By the 1950s the South Australian Government was actively
assisting Aboriginal people to move into the general community
by providing housing, education and other services which might
enable Aboriginal people to raise their standard of living. In 1954
the first Housing Trust standard house was built for the Depart-
ment of Aboriginal Affairs for an Aboriginal family and by June
1959, 60 houses had been built.?* The Department also advanced
money to Aboriginal people so they could furnish and equip their
houses and not appear disadvantaged. In other areas too, Aborig-
inal welfare was catered for away from Aboriginal institutions.
Increasing numbers of children were accepted into the state school
system. These changing expectations of Aboriginal living standards
put great pressure on the privately run Aboriginal institutions.
Administered on minimal government support, these institutions
did not have the financial resources to improve living condi-
tions—housing was substandard, education often below Education
Department standards and vocational training nonexistent. The
inability of private organisations to improve living standards drove
the government to take full responsibility for Aboriginal affairs.
In the 1960s and 1970s, at a time when the Western Australian
Government was relinquishing its tight control of Aboriginal
institutions to the churches, the South Australian Government
took over financial and administrative responsibility for all Aborig-
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inal institutions. In this and a number of other ways South
Australia began to take the initiative in reforming policies and
practice towards Aborigines.

Another, perhaps, unforseen result of Assimilation Policies was
a dramatic increase in Aboriginal arrest and incarceration rates
after the 1950s. In the 1850s Aborigines made up 4 per cent of
prisoners.*? In the 1860s the imprisonment rate was around 7 per
cent falling to an average of between 2 and 3 per cent for the
rest of the century.*! Figures for the years 1905 to 1930 on
admissions of Aborigines to gaols and prisons in South Australia
show that 2.4 per cent of admissions were ‘black and coloured’
people.*> There was an average of 40 Aborigines admitted to
prisons and gaols per year over the period. This represents less
than 1 per cent of the estimated Aboriginal population of South
Australia at the time.*? In the era of assimilation these figures
increased dramatically. By 1956 Aborigines accounted for about
13 per cent of admissions to prisons. This figure steadily increased
over the period to approximately 25 per cent of admissions in
1968—69.4 These percentages are much higher than for the first
30 years of the century and rise steadily over the period that the
Assimilation Policy was finally implemented and Aboriginal
people were encouraged to move away from segregated institu-
tions into the general community.

Despite this evidence of institutionalised racism, there were
major changes in the status of Aborigines in South Australia.
Legislation passed in the 1960s set the agenda for the reform of
Aboriginal administration throughout Australia. Aboriginal control
over their own affairs increased, based on a policy of ‘integration’
rather than assimilation. An approach ‘which recognises the right
of a person to decide his own future and enables him to make
the transitional stages at his own pace’.#> The policy emphasised
consultation with Aboriginal people and self-help and self-deter-
mination.

A landmark was the Aboriginal Affairs Act, 1962 (amended 1966
and 1968). Its stated aim was to ‘promote the welfare and
advancement’ of Aborigines. Most of the old ‘protective’ clauses
were removed from the legislation (Aborigines could, for exam-
ple, now buy and sell property freely). A section of the Act
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allowed the allocation of land to Aborigines and also made special
assistance available to Aboriginal people to help them establish
themselves in ‘primary, mechanical or business pursuits’. In addi-
tion, by 1965 the Act had legalised the drinking of liquor by
Aborigines throughout the state.*¢

The 1966 amendment to the Aboriginal Affairs Act allowed,
ahead of the rest of Australia, Reserve Councils to be set up
which empowered Aboriginal people to run their own institutions
and control entry to them. For the first time since 1836 Aborig-
ines in South Australia were legally able to run their own
communities. In the same year the Aboriginal Lands Trust Act was
passed, giving Aborigines some control over their own lands. The
Trust, a completely Aboriginal body with a non-Aboriginal
adviser, acquired all Aboriginal reserve lands but could only ‘sell,
lease, mortgage or otherwise deal with land vested in it’ if the
minister consented. This Act has been hailed as the first ‘land
rights’ Act in Australia.

The legislative and policy changes which took effect in the
1960s reflected gradual changes in attitudes among the non-
Aboriginal population but were also a response to Aboriginal
political action. Increasing numbers of Aboriginal people were
moving to Adelaide and other urban centres. There they had
greater access to politicians and other influential non-Aboriginal
people as well as the freedom to organise themselves. Aboriginal
women were especially quick to take advantage of these changed
circumstances. A number of them, including Gladys Elphick,
Maude Tongerie, Faith Thomas, and Margaret Lawrie established
the Council of Aboriginal Women of South Australia in the mid
1960s.47 The Council acted both as a self-help group, establishing
its own welfare and support services, as well as an effective
political lobby group. Gladys Elphick, for instance, had direct
access to Premier Don Dunstan and his photograph still hung
proudly in her house in the 1980s.

By the late 1970s Aboriginal political action was effectively
being pursued in the north-west of the State, culminating in the
Pitjantjatiara Land Rights Act, 1981, followed by the Maralinga
Tjarutja Land Rights Act, 1984. South Australia, however, does
not have any general land rights legislation to cover the entire
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state. These Acts were introduced after the land rights legislation
passed by the Federal Government for the Northern Territory.
Along with the Northern Territory Act, these two Acts represent
the strongest land rights legislation in Australia, giving freehold
title over large tracts of land, and the power to negotiate over
mining and other intrusions on that land.

Recognition of Aboriginal rights to land has taken two distinct
forms in South Australia. First, there are rights for people living
in remote, arid areas. These people, who lived on lands which
were not regarded as productive by non-Aboriginal people were
able to maintain strong traditions. They fought long and hard to
re-establish control over their lands. Their strong assertions,
refusal to give up, rapid appreciation of the Australian political
process and ability to manipulate it resulted in the passing of the
two land rights Acts. In contrast, Aboriginal people in the rest
of the state suffer two disadvantages not experienced by the
Pitjantjatjara and Maralinga people. Their traditional lands have
many more non-Aboriginal people living on them and their lives
have been more systematically disrupted over a longer period of
time. The land available to them is Crown land, highly frag-
mented and based upon historically demarcated Aboriginal
reserves administered through the Aboriginal Lands Trust, and
land procured through Federal Government funding.*® Aboriginal
people making land claims in this region insist that their historical
associations of the last century and a half are important to them
and must be recognised. At the same time they are fighting to
have their traditional rights to land recognised.

The 1960s brought dramatic changes to the legal status of
Aborigines and governmental interest in Aboriginal affairs, both
at the state and Federal level.#® In this period of liberalisation
many Aboriginal people moved away from segregated communi-
ties into towns and cities, where they could now obtain housing
and schooling for their children.

They took immediate advantage of the changing political
climate to establish a strong political presence in Australian
society. Some became prominent in public life, although no
Aboriginal person has as yet been elected to the South Australian
Parliament. Sir Doug Nicholls in South Australia became the first
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Aboriginal person appointed Governor of a state. Many more
Aboriginal people have joined the public service or found they
could act more effectively outside the formal political system.
They have worked with their own communities to establish better
living conditions, to improve standards of health and housing, to
ensure a continuation of their own culture and cultural identity,
to fight for land rights, to protect Aboriginal sites from destruc-
tion, and to create antidotes to the despair which can overwhelm
people who fear that the future offers no more hope for them
and their children than was offered in the past.

COLONIALISM IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA

South Australia has often been represented as progressive and
innovative in its administration and treatment of its Aboriginal
population. Certainly, in the early years of the colony there was
much discussion of Aboriginal rights but little action. From the
latter part of the nineteenth century until the 1960s, South
Australia followed the policy lead of other states, particularly
Queensland and Western Australia, although more moderate in
its practice than these two states. Since the 1960s, however, the
state has been in the forefront of reform in Aboriginal affairs.
People in the remote north and west have benefited most from
these reforms, mainly through land ownership and rights. Yet,
South Australia has a large urban-based population in the south
of the state which is still struggling for recognition of rights to
land and a quality of life equal to that of other South Australians.

The story of the Wiltons with which this chapter began,
highlights a range of Aboriginal experiences and responses to
colonial relations in South Australia. Within the colonial situation
in which Aborigines found themselves, many maintained a strong
community base, which protected them from some of the impacts
of colonisation—family cohesion was maintained, cultural infor-
mation was transmitted and contact with country continued.
Nevertheless this community base was always vulnerable to out-
side interference. Economically, the Adnyamathanha were, until
the 1960s, dependent on employment in the pastoral industry.
Although they were less affected than many other Aboriginal
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people, the threat of having children removed was often present.
The remoteness of the community and the discriminatory prac-
tices of both government and non-government agencies made
access to education, health, welfare, and housing facilities difficult.

The Adnyamathanha experience in the 1970s and 1980s stands
between the Pitjantjatjara of the north-west who have gained
control over much of their lands, and the people in the south
with virtually no access to land. The Adnyamathanha have gained
control of their own community organisations, won back partial
control over small tracts of land, gained access to services not
previously available to them and some obtained employment in
government authorities and Aboriginal organisations. They now
depend on government funding rather than the vagaries of the
pastoral economy and individual pastoralists. Government funding
carries with it a wide range of administrative and organisational
obligations imposed by funding authorities. So the guise of
colonial control has changed dramatically for the Adnyamathanha
but it has not disappeared.

Nevertheless, the history of the Wilton family indicates that
while colonialism continues to have an impact on the lives of
Aboriginal people, it is not the only factor which has shaped their
lives. While the history of Aboriginal/non-Aboriginal relations
needs to be understood in the context of colonial relations,
Aboriginal initiative and agency has never been overwhelmed and
continues to assert itself.
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Western Australia

UCCESSIVE colonial and state governments of Western Aus-

tralia adopted similar approaches to Aboriginal matters,
primarily facilitating settler land acquisition and the procurement
of cheap labour. Legislation and ‘settlers’ laws’ defined and con-
trolled many Aboriginal lives. Extreme positions were sometimes
tempered by humanitarian concerns but rarely were Aborigines
consulted. This chapter has a special focus on the various gov-
ernment inquiries, including Royal Commissions, which were
central to processes of administrative change.

Western Australia, as it became known, is the largest subdivi-
sion in the Australian continent. Geographically diverse, it
contains fertile regions in the south, arid conditions in the centre
and east and a tropical north. Such diversity provided excellent
conditions for pastoral and agricultural development, and rich
mineral deposits were also lucrative. Unimpeded mineral explor-
ation is seen as central to the state’s economy.

Varying periods and types of colonial contact, and the diftering
responses of various groups of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
people, have engendered a complex history. However successful,
much development has been non-intensive, and there are still vast
areas of the state where Aboriginal people predominate or are a
visible presence. A relatively large amount of land also remains
Crown land.
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PRIOR TO BRITISH INVASION

Aboriginal people lived in and traversed the area now identified
as Western Australia for at least 50 000 years prior to European
invasion in 1829. As in other parts of the continent, their
intelligent and responsible occupation and use of the environment
revealed a remarkable resilience and approach to human ecology
that has only recently been appreciated by many Europeans. In
Western Australia, Aboriginal land was divided into approximately
98 territorial blocs, excluding the Western Desert (the last area
to come under European influence), and the population has been
conservatively estimated at around 60 000.1

Cycles of Aboriginal life and death found expression in
Aboriginal Law, which derived from religious beliefs and practices
generally known as the Dreaming. A hunter—gatherer mode of
production led to small family groupings or bands. People trav-
elled in a range of environments, including coastal, desert and
riverine settings but mostly stayed in areas where they had
sociocultural, religious and economic ties. They sometimes met
with other larger groupings for ceremonial activity, dispute set-
tling and marriage organisation, and traded along routes like
wunan, which stretched across northern Western Australia and into
the Northern Territory.2

Land was of great importance to life and cosmology, providing
a connecting link between people, various plant and animal
species, and the Dreaming. Knowledge about relations to land,
kinship, religious rituals, political systems, hunting and gathering,
material resources and artefacts was transmitted via oral traditions.
Stories about the exploits of the mythic beings and spirit children
were recounted in ceremonial settings and were often accompa-
nied by dance, song cycles, visual and practical art.

Mythological accounts were also passed on in everyday con-
texts such as when families were hunting or fishing together.
Children were socialised by kin and learnt through observation
and verbal instruction. Some knowledge was restricted until
children reached adult status or until puberty, when they com-
menced initiation and eventually married. The use of resources
such as wildlife, roots, fruits, seeds, bush honey, wood, and water
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were managed efficiently, bringing about a viable hunting, forag-
ing and fishing economy. The exploitation of these resources took
place in accordance with seasonal or climatic changes where a
highly organised and nomadic lifestyle allowed for their timely
usage and regrowth.

An extract from the 1830 diary of an early European settler,
Anne Whatley, revealed British perceptions about kangaroo hunt-
ing amongst south-west Aborigines. Her surgeon husband, she
wrote, had enjoyed the honour ‘of dining with a party of Natives
who were assembled to eat a fine kangaroo they had speared’.
Whatley recounted how her husband was asked to trade a brace
of cockatoos he had recently shot.? This account reflects the early
potential for reciprocal exchanges between the two groups but
such attitudes proved to be all too rare among Europeans.*

THE BRITISH INVASION

The British colonisers initially invaded the south-west coast of
Western Australia in 1826, 38 years after the landing at Sydney
Cove in 1788; they settled permanently in 1829. The British were
not the first outsiders to land on the western coast of Australia.
Prior to 1826, the south-west was explored by the Dutch in 1658,
the British in 1791 and the French in 1803.

The British assumed that the dispossessed indigenous peoples
would ‘benefit’ from the extension of British justice to them. The
first governor appointed to the Swan River Colony, Governor
Stirling, proclaimed on its founding that:

the Right of the Natives to the Protection of the British Laws was
formally declared. On every possible Occasion their Equality, in
this respect with all his Majesty’s Subjects has been urged . . . [and
explained] . . . to those Classes of the Community who might be
most prone to act offensively toward them.>

Governor Stirling’s proclamation was directed towards the Euro-
pean settlers and made no effort to inform Aboriginal people that
their own beliefs, practices and Law had been usurped.

While ferra nullius defined the indigenous people as being
‘without property’ and therefore unable to contest British imposi-
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tion, some Europeans made their own observations. In 1836 the
European settler Francis Armstrong observed the land manage-
ment of south-western Aboriginal people. The land appeared to
be ‘apportioned to different families . . . [and was] . . . beyond
doubt an inheritable property among them, and they boast of
having received it from their father’s fathers to an unknown
period way back’. The predominantly patrilineal nature of land
succession was also noted by Bishop Salvado, a Benedictine monk
who established the first Roman Catholic Mission at New Norcia
in 1848.¢ But more generally, and often brutally, the colonisers
ignored Aboriginal interests in land.

Pastoralists, graziers and agriculturalists often baited or shot
wildlife, causing rapid depletion. Lamenting their loss, John
Watson, a member of the Nyikina language group, commented
that ‘lot of those things, such as kangaroos and emus were shot
out for nothing. They [Europeans] cut the kangaroo right down
because they said it was a pest.” He explained that the kangaroo
was ‘one of the real cultivators. Even though they were digging
up the roots of the grass to eat, kangaroos were making holes
which grass seeds would wash into. They actually helped to
cultivate those grasses.’”

European ‘settlers’ were enticed to the Swan River Colony
by decrees and advertisements that advised they would not have
to pay for their lands. Land grants were conveyed to them in fee
simple which would automatically be inherited by their descen-
dants, though they still had to meet certain conditions. All land
granted was to be cultivated or improved or could revert to the
Crown. The colonisers believed their own endeavours to expand
‘settlement’ and ‘develop’ the land were justified. One Western
Australian ‘settler’ in the north instructed his manager to shoot
at Aboriginal people, arguing that once they conceded defeat, ‘the
less bloodshed there will be—the less expense and the greater
security to property’.8 Europeans resented continuing Aboriginal
occupancy of land, especially their technique of ‘firing’ or
‘burning’ the bush. This practice ensured regrowth and flushed
out small animals during hunting and foraging expeditions. (Iron-
ically it had earlier created ideal conditions for pastoral and
agricultural development.)?
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Opposing views towards land ownership and use engendered
an often violent history. By the mid 1830s several tragic incidents
had already occurred around the most central point of colonial
administration, the Swan River Colony (which now encompasses
the Perth metropolitan area). In 1833 the south-west Aboriginal
leader, Yagan, was shot and killed and his smoked head removed,
to be placed on public exhibition in England. And in 1835 the
Pinjarra massacre by the colonial police followed a punitive
expedition led by Governor Stirling. Fatal clashes were also
reported in the York district in 1835 and 1836.1% Aborigines were
punished by imprisonment in some cases; from 1841 many
Aboriginal men were exiled to Rottnest Island, a penal institution.
A government recommendation was made to close the prison in
1903 but Aboriginal prisoners were not actually allowed to leave
until 1922. The cold weather and ‘crowded and filthy conditions
claimed many lives—nearly 400 Aboriginal men died there’.!!

Colonial violence is the strongest recurring theme in the
history of Aboriginal-European relations in Western Australia.
While violent behaviour between different Aboriginal groupings
occurred prior to colonisation, this took place in a traditional
context of retaliation and small-scale warfare, sometimes discussed
in Aboriginal narratives as the ‘wild times’.'2 Aboriginal infor-
mants have provided evidence of massacres that were not only
part of their forebears’ history but which had also taken place in
their own lifetimes. Such experiences are epitomised in the
following account: ‘We been hung out. Our people got shot,
even the mustering men. If we ran away the station people went
after us and put a bullet in us like dogs . . . we lost our country
through bullets, rifles and chains.’13

When disappointed gold prospectors in the eastern goldfields
region allegedly found their food pilfered by Aboriginal guides,
they retaliated by turning on some young Aboriginal women.
They captured and, ‘kept them chained to trees for their pleasure.
When the tribesmen retaliated with a night attack and a hail of
spears, the white men arranged a counter attack and relentlessly
massacred thirty warriors near a water hole.’*

European explorer A. W. Canning was accused of chaining
Aboriginal people in order to force them to reveal well locations.
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In pioneering an 800-mile stock route from Wiluna to Halls
Creek in 1906—1907, he arranged to liaise with local Aborigines,
attributing much of his success to their knowledge. Later ‘settlers’
continued to rely on Aboriginal informers as they further explored
and colonised the north of the state, largely via the Canning Stock
Route.®

Despite such reliance, Aboriginal people were treated atro-
ciously and some Europeans, like the Anglican Minister, Gribble,
campaigned vigorously for the recognition of their rights. He was
ostracised, however, for his views and eventually hounded out of
the colony. His condemnation struck a humanitarian chord both
locally and in Britain, giving rise to several future Royal Com-
missions and inquiries.'®

As the colonisers’ power increased, they took up more land
and the dislocation of Aboriginal people intensified. Dispossession
from homelands, violence undertaken with technologically su-
perior instruments such as rifles, and the introduction of diseases
to which Aborigines had no immunity, such as tuberculosis,
smallpox, influenza, and venereal disease, all combined to create
devastating effects. The indigenous people suffered alienation,
widespread violence and often fatal illness. While indigenous
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population estimates have inherent problems, one estimate of the
south-west Aboriginal population is that a people once numbering
around 13 000 (in the southern region) were reduced to 1419,
of whom 45 per cent were classed as ‘half-castes’ by 1901.17
Many Aboriginal people were coerced onto missions through-
out the latter part of the nineteenth century and the early twentieth
century. Belief in Social Darwinism and European supremacy led
to various forms of ‘de-Aboriginalisation’ and ‘evangelisation’. In
the south-west, the New Norcia Mission opened in 1848, and in
the north-west the Beagle Bay Mission opened in 1891. While
these were Catholic, other denominations established missions
throughout the colony during the proceeding hundred years,
including Busselton, Carrolup, Mt Margaret, Gnowerangerup,
Warburton, Moore River, Roelands, and Balgo Hills.!® Some
government settlements were not overtly identified as missions,
although they zealously carried out certain missionary-style func-
tions. Alfie Gerrard, who was removed from his family and placed
at the Moola Bulla Native Settlement (opened 1910) commented:

They [Native Welfare| picked up all the half-caste kids . . .
They didn’t care much for the full-blood, only for the halfbreed
. . . And we had to be Christianised. All new boys that came in
were flogged on the Saturday morning . . . I don’t know why,
don’t ask me why it happened . . . but they had to Christian
the boys by giving them a good flogging.1?

Such institutions trained Aborigines for certain types of employment.

Many European pastoral stations, agricultural developments
and pearl-shell fishing industries relied upon Aboriginal labour
from the 1840s on. Notwithstanding the introduction of convict
labour in 1850, Aboriginal people continued to be exploited as
cheap labour in a variety of tasks such as pearling, shearing, stock
work, fencing, gardening, domestic tasks, and general labouring.
In the late nineteenth century, Malaysian and Japanese pearl fishers
increasingly dominated that industry. Many developed intimate
relationships with Aboriginal women or used them as prostitutes,
leading to a prominent racial mix.

Some Aboriginal people established and ran their own farms
through the provisions of the state’s Land Act, 1898, where any
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‘aboriginal native or descendant’ could be granted a lease of up
to 200 acres. Haebich argues that specified conditions of occu-
pancy created ‘insurmountable’ difficulties for potential Aboriginal
applicants. Without security of title they could not borrow capital
from lending authorities, and consequently were unable to
develop and cultivate the land as did the Europeans.20

The Swan River Colony remained under formal colonial
administration longer than other colonised states. According to
Rowley, one result was that colonial patterns of indentured labour
applied longer. In Western Australia during the first decade of
the twentieth century, only 369 of 4000 pastoral workers were
employed under ‘agreement’ and the others were not entitled to
a cash wage. No legal responsibility existed to provide food or
accommodation.?! It was not until 1968 that such inequities were
seriously addressed.

The fact that European women initially formed only a small
proportion of the colonial population heightened the often brutal
sexual exploitation of Aboriginal women by European men. It is
erroneous to assume, however, that all relationships between
European men and Aboriginal women were entirely coerced.
Sometimes Aboriginal men were compliant with Europeans
regarding the sexual services of women but relationships of
affection and loyalty also occurred. Sexual unions between
Aboriginal and European women and men led to an increasing
number of mixed-descent children. Government concern about
‘miscegenation’ increased, and the institutionalisation of children
of mixed parentage and isolation from their own families led to
devastating long-term psychological effects. Nor was venereal
disease delicately handled. In 1908, the Lock Hospital Scheme
was established on Dorre and Bernier Islands oft the Carnarvon
coast. Aboriginal women and men, believed to be suffering
venereal disease, were taken there to be isolated from infecting
others, principally Europeans.?2 This scheme was to remain in
place for ten years.

RESISTANCE, COERCION AND ‘PROTECTION’

Striking expressions of Aboriginal resistance can be seen in the
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stories about Jandamarra, also known as ‘Pigeon’; many Aboriginal
narratives continue to recount his exploits. A member of the
Bunaba language group in the central Kimberley, Pigeon chal-
lenged the authority of the colonisers in a number of ways. He
carried out raids on sheep and cattle stock in the late 1800s and
evaded capture numerous times. In 1894, in what was known as
the Windjana Gorge Rebellion, Jandamarra was caught, along
with several others, chained by the neck and taken to Derby.
Eventually, he was released on the grounds that he assist the
police by working as a ‘police tracker’ and that he care for the
horses. The police became reliant on Jandamarra’s skills and
knowledge of the local country and he helped them track down
Aboriginal cattle killers. In the 1880s Jandamarra escaped from
his Derby police post and was killed by Mingo Mick, a ‘police
tracker’ from Roebourne. Jandamarra had witnessed many dra-
matic changes to Bunaba country but died before a large pastoral
station was finally established there.2

Through the Aborigines Protection Act, 1886, the government
sought to implement greater control and under the Protection
Board, appointed men as Protectors. Mainly drawn from police
ranks or local settlers, they were ostensibly there to ‘protect’
Aboriginal well-being. One of the major problems with the
Protector System was the dual role of being both a Protector and
a police officer.2* John Watson explained:

The police used to ride right down into the desert to capture
Aboriginal people and bring them back to work on stations. If any
of the station owners or managers told the police that they were
short of workers, the police would bring some of their captives
back to the station. In those days, the police were also the official
protectors. They used to give the station managers a permit to
hold them on the station, and to work them as they saw fit.2>

Station owners and managers were also given the status of
Protector. In many instances, as revealed by a Walmajarri man,
Eric Lawford, ‘the station manager could do pretty much as he
liked. That included the stealing of women.” While some stations
brought in their own rule of not employing single European
managers, ‘the rule only applied to the managers; there was no
attempt to stop the kartiya [white] stockmen and station hands
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from taking Aboriginal women’.2¢ Sexual relations between
Aboriginal women and European men were influential in shaping
race relations generally, including straining relations between
Aboriginal and European women.?’

Government concern about the increasing numbers of ‘half-
caste’ children, as they were described, resulted in greater
regulation and control of the Aboriginal population. John Watson
never had the chance to meet his two eldest brothers because
they were taken away before he was born. He goes on to stress
that:

My sisters and another brother were sent away to the Catholic
Mission School at Beagle Bay [on the western coast of the
Kimberley region in northern Western Australia]. My parents had
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no say in that, it was government policy . . . The police could
take away any Aboriginal child with bits of colour in them, any
kid with a bit of white blood in them . . . When it looked like
the younger brother and I were going to be taken away as well,
our parents got talking and decided they weren’t going to part
with us. So, whenever a police party came out to Mt. Anderson
[pastoral station in the West Kimberley| they sent us off to the
bush.28

John Watson further explained that his parents ‘sent us down to
our father’s and grandmother’s country with some old people . . .
that’s why I’'m able to speak my own people’s language and several
other languages’.

As in other parts of Australia, some people recall their faces
being smudged and blackened with burnt cork so that they would
be identified as ‘full-bloods’ and thus not removed from families.
And Haebich states that parents who lost children this way were
‘broken hearted’. She observed: ‘They frequently rebelled against
this and in 1911 an elderly woman in the Bremer Bay district
took to the bush with her grandchildren to avoid losing custody
of them.’?”

Targeting children was the most significant ideological and
practical means by which the colonial government attempted to
consolidate colonisation.?’

ATTAINING SELF-GOVERNMENT FROM THE
BRITISH

Although Western Australia eventually attained self-government
in 1890, the British Government continued to retain control over
Aboriginal affairs until 1898. Introduced into the Western Aus-
tralian Constitution in 1889, Section 70 allowed for the sum of
5000 pounds sterling for ‘the welfare of the Aboriginal Natives’ .
If and when the gross revenue of the colony exceeded 5000
pounds in any financial year, an amount equal to 1 per cent of
that revenue was to be substituted. In 1890, however, the then
Premier of Western Australia, John Forrest, challenged the
authority of Section 70, whereby the British Government retained
control over Aboriginal affairs. Whether or not his challenge was
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successful remains a significant and not entirely forgotten point
of contention.3!

Meanwhile the south-west was becoming an increasingly
attractive proposition for agricultural ‘settlers’. By 1903 the gov-
ernment had commenced an extensive and soon successful
programme of agricultural development, especially wheat, which
produced a profitable export.’2 Contemporary Aboriginal policies
and laws combined strategies of restriction and humanitarian relief.
Anxiety and controversy about the worsening conditions of
Aboriginal people were felt within the colony and also in Britain
where allegations of European brutality persisted. This concern
led to Government Inquiries and Royal Commissions.

COMMISSIONS AND INQUIRIES, POLICIES AND
LAWS

In 1883 the first inquiry was established to consider what was
described as ‘the Aboriginal problem’. Generally referred to as
the ‘Forrest Commission’ after the first premier, it inquired into
the treatment of Aboriginal prisoners on Rottnest Island, and the
various relief measures provided to the ‘poor and sick natives’.
Although revealing concern about social conditions, the Commis-
sion confirmed prevailing European beliefs that Aboriginal people
were ‘dying out’. In this and other commissions and inquiries,
non-interventionist approaches to ‘the Aboriginal problem’ were
underpinned by the view that there was nothing further the
Europeans could do but ‘smooth the dying pillow’.33 Pastoralists,
however, were anxious about the impact of depopulation upon
their cheap labour force.

Commencing late in 1904, the Royal Commission into the
Condition of Aborigines was held, headed by Dr W. E. Roth,
an ethnographer and the Chief Protector of Aborigines in
Queensland, considered a national expert on Aborigines. Roth
spent several months travelling the state observing conditions and
taking submissions, mainly from pastoralists. Of the 42 witnesses
from whom he took evidence, only two were Aboriginal people.3*
Roth’s Report to the government contained some compassionate
findings and progressive recommendations. He criticised unlawful

252



WESTERN AUSTRALIA

police practices, especially with respect to arresting and chaining
Aboriginal witnesses, and the system of indentured Aboriginal
labour.?> Yet Roth’s Report also reflected his ethnocentrism, and
overall, he recommended greater control of Aboriginal people.

Nonetheless, police and local newspapers were highly critical
of the Report. Eventually, a Select Parliamentary response to
Roth’s Report resulted in the Aborigines Protection Act, 1905. All
Aboriginal adults and children, including those labelled ‘half-
castes’, were included but provisions were made for certain forms
of exemption for those who were thought to have attained a
suitable degree of ‘civilisation’. Few people, however, were
granted exemption from the provisions of the Act, and this could
be revoked at any time.3¢

The Chief Protector of Aborigines had the authority to com-
pulsorily remove ‘part-Aboriginal’ children from their natural
parents, and to establish more government settlements, reserves
and missions where Aboriginal people could be contained and
controlled. The role of Protectors was reinforced and the police
were given power to arrest Aborigines without warrant for offences
against the Act. Many of the severe conditions imposed by the
1905 Act were not completely repealed until 1963. If not in lawful
employment, Aborigines were barred from towns and cohabitation
between European men and Aboriginal women was prohibited.37

Due to complaints by Europeans, the Minister for Education
authorised the wholesale expulsion of Aboriginal students from
most schools in the south-west during the early decades of the
twentieth century. Such action directly affected Nyungars, one of
the largest Aboriginal groups in that region, as John Kickett
explained in 1916 to the Minister of Education:

Sir, I wish you would let me Know if there would be any
Objection my Children attending the State School at Quairading.
Some time-agoe there were a few of them going Native
Children and Some were not Clean so the Schools Board put a
stop to them . . . I was thinking to Write first to you see what
you got to Say am living on My Block My children wants to
learn something I have been to School . . . this is my own
handwriting . . . Probbley this is the only letter you ever got
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from an Half-Cast . . . I want to Bring My Children up the
Best away . . . Sir do what you can for me.38

The Director of Education refused permission for Kickett’s chil-
dren to attend the local school at Quairading and recommended
that they could be sent to the ‘Carrolup Native Settlement for
the sum of 4s per week’, where they would be ‘properly fed,
clothed and educated . . . moreover it is a native school’.3

Allegations of maltreatment of Aborigines by an exploration
party along the Canning Stock Route led to the third Royal
Commission into Aboriginal matters. Its findings acknowledged
incidents of chaining Aborigines, feeding them with salt beef and
not providing water, and ‘running down prospective informants
with horses’ but it failed to lay any criminal charges and all
members of the Canning exploration party were exonerated.*
A. O. Neville, Chief Protector of Aborigines in Western Australia
from 1915, was a strict administrator of Aboriginal affairs; Aborig-
inal people today still often recall ‘the time of Mr Neville’, with
disdain.*!

The fourth Royal Commission was required to look into the
‘facts’ relating to the alleged killing and burning of Aborigines in
1926 in the Forrest River District of the Kimberley region.
Established in 1927, it was headed by George Wood, Magistrate
of the Local Court in Perth. It found that there had been at least
‘eleven natives’ burned as retaliation against the alleged murder
of ‘settler’ William Hay by a ‘native called Lumbia’. Yet only
cursory acknowledgement of the incidents was made and no one
was prosecuted.*2

Each successive inquiry led to amendments which further
enhanced the power of the Aborigines Protection Act, 1905. In 1934
H. D. Moseley was appointed to lead another Royal Commis-
sion.*3 Moseley’s recommendations led to the Native Administration
Act, 1936, which gave the Chief Protector of Aborigines almost
complete control over Aboriginal people’s lives. For example, any
wages earned were not to be paid directly to them. Some aspects,
however, were more innovative; native courts were introduced
to consider offences against Aborigines and ‘tribal law’ could be
taken into account in mitigation of the sentence, though there
was no right of appeal. Native Courts were disbanded in 1954,
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partly due to difficulties in ascertaining ‘tribal law’. The case of
Lumbia, charged with ‘unlawful killing’ of his wife, provides an
example of the ineffectiveness of the ‘Native Court’ system.
Despite official requirements, there was no representative from
Lumbia’s ‘tribe’ present during the court proceedings and instead
of the Commissioner of Native Affairs, the local publican repre-
sented the government. Lumbia was represented by the Officer
in Charge of the local hospital, who had no experience as an
advocate. No witnesses were called in his defence, and Lumbia
was eventually found guilty of murder, although he had been
charged for a lesser offence. Lumbia was finally pardoned because
of an error at law.%*

The Moseley Commission had discouraged any form of rec-
ognition of Aboriginal rights, responsibilities and aspirations. It
urged that Aboriginal camping grounds be entirely abolished and
replaced by settlements with separate schools. Moseley recom-
mended greater ‘protection’ of Aboriginal women but regulations
mainly limited women’s mobility; they were prohibited from
being within two miles of the mouth of a river or inlet between
sunset and sunrise. The Native Administration Act, 1936, following
his report, was based on the underlying principle that ‘the destiny
of the native of aboriginal origin lay in their ultimate absorption
by the people of the Commonwealth’. As in the Northern
Territory, the increasing number of mixed-descent people was
thus a special concern.

Missions and settlements with ‘native’ schools continued to be
generated to enable ‘absorption’. Moore River Settlement, also
known as Mogumber, was established in 1937; Roelands Mission
in 1938, and in 1940 Carrolup Settlement, which provided a
setting for the production of an innovative school of art generally
referred to as ‘the Carrolup artists’®, and in 1944 the Wandering
Mission. Settlement and mission life provided much of the foun-
dation for the contemporary relationship between Aborigines and
Europeans. Children were placed there for their own ‘good’ or
‘benefit’, according to government rhetoric, under the ‘guardian-
ship’ of the Chief Protector of Aborigines. While the number of
children removed in Western Australia has not been calculated,
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thousands of families were certainly affected. Aboriginal poet, Jack
Davis, wrote:

They have buried my past

those pink legislators

and stolen my name

They knew my mother was black
so they took me away

And pinned on a label

one that’s a lie*t

During the Second World War, Aboriginal people were perceived
as a security threat. Under National Security Regulations from
1942, Aboriginal employees over the age of fourteen years were
required to be issued with a ‘military permit’ in either red or
black; red indicated the bearer was believed to be ‘subversive’
and black that the bearer was deemed to be ‘trustworthy’.

In 1944 policies were designed to provide ‘citizenship rights’
for Aboriginal people. A Bill was lobbied for by various Members
of Parliament and others involved in Aboriginal affairs to give
‘those aborigines prepared to adopt a higher standard of living an
opportunity to uplift themselves’. This Bill eventually became the
Native (Citizenship Rights) Act, 1944 and it provided for the
granting of citizenship rights to Aboriginal people who could
prove, among other things, that they had adopted the manner
and habits of civilised life, could speak and understand English,
were not suffering from leprosy, syphilis or yaws, and were
reasonably capable of handling his/her own affairs.*” The granting
of citizenship rights could be suspended or cancelled if any of
these stipulations were not met and recipients had to carry a
certificate showing their exemption at all times. As in New South
Wales and the Northern Territory, many Aboriginal people
referred to this certificate as their ‘dog tag’. This trial citizenship
did not extend automatically from parent to child. As persons
from each new generation reached adulthood, they too had to
apply for citizenship and be subjected to the same official scrutiny.
People were left with very little choice; you could be a citizen
or an Aboriginal but not both.*8

Superficially, the movement toward greater citizenship rights
could be considered as a small step toward recognising Aboriginal
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humanity. While many Aboriginal men and some women fought
for Australia in the Second World War, as they had also done in
the First World War, they were still not entitled to vote or receive
pensions until the 1960s.

After the late 1940s it became increasingly evident that Aborig-
inal people were not ‘dying out’. They were able to resist and/or
accommodate some forms of European intrusion. They main-
tained oral traditions, kin obligations, knowledge about the
custodianship of land, performed ceremonial ritual, and harvested
natural resources. The adaptation and persistence of certain
Aboriginal beliefs and practices could occur because Aboriginal
people were segregated from Europeans in mission settings, on
settlements, on declared ‘Aboriginal reserves’ and seasonally on
pastoral stations. An insight into this process can be gleaned
through the comments of Lochy Green, a Mangala man from the
north-west:

That law business used to be held during the wet season . . .
The managers used to let the Aboriginal people alone during
that time . . . We used to set up our camp quite close to the
stations . . . We’d collect our rations for the week . . . Then
the law men used to call people from all the other stations to
come down for a big meeting.*?

This is not to imply that the force of dominant European
ideologies and practices could be ignored.

Assimilationist ideas started to influence inquiries and policies
from the 1940s on. Referring to the Moola Bulla Native Settle-
ment, a Native Welfare official thus argued that:

educational aspects will never be completely successful at this
station until it is possible to transfer the camp children to special
institutional accommodation and thus remove them from the
camp influence of the adult full-bloods, parents and otherwise

. . . Nomadic habits and tendencies must be eliminated if the
child is to be given a sense of responsibility sufficient to take its
place in the community both economically and in all other
respects.>?

In 1948, an ex-Commissioner of Native Affairs in Papua New
Guinea, S. G. Middleton, reorganised the Western Australian
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Department of Native Affairs, decentralising and expanding it. He
tried to loosen restrictions on Aboriginal people but mixed-
descent children continued to be removed from their families,
and he worked in with the missionaries to teach European
Christian values via a process of institutionalisation and evangelisa-
tion.>! Further changes were touted in 1953, when a state Labor
government passed the Native Welfare Act, 1954. While it
removed some of the more onerous measures of the prior legis-
lation—for instance, employment permits, prohibition on
Aboriginal people entering towns—it still legally sanctioned child-
removal and denied pensions and maternity allowances to any
person who was a non-exempted person more than ‘one-half
Aboriginal’. For an Aboriginal person to leave her or his employ-
ment of their own accord, remained an offence, as did marriage
without the permission of the Commissioner of Native Affairs
and Welfare. After 1963, restrictions eased and the State Housing
Commission was called in to develop a programme of
improvements in housing facilities in town and country areas.
The conditions of Aboriginal people generally lay outside the
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interest and knowledge of most Europeans throughout the 1960s.
Those who were deemed to be ‘Australian citizens’ because they
conformed with the criteria of the 1944 Act and thus gained
exemption from the requirements of the 1905 Act, were entitled
to vote in 1961. Unlike non-Aboriginal people, however, Abor-
igines were not legally required to do so until 1985. Drinking
rights were granted to Aboriginal people of the south-west of the
state in 1964 and to the north-west population in July 1971.

Despite the fact that Aboriginal men and women were making
a vital contribution to the Australian economy, as a non-unionised
and industrially weak labour force they continued to be denied
standard industrial conditions. They had primarily received a form
of remuneration through rations such as flour, tea, tobacco, and
clothing. Referring to the 1940s, 1950s and early 1960s, Eric
Lawford states that their pay as stockmen was ‘perhaps two shirts
and two pairs of trousers a year, working boots, hat, canvas swag
[bedding that could be rolled up], and a couple of blankets . . .
no money!’>> While a strike by Aboriginal pastoral workers in
the Pilbara region in 1946 raised the issue of social and economic
inequities, it was not until 1969 with the Federal Pastoral Industry
Award that many Aboriginal workers were theoretically ensured
‘equal wages for equal work’. The contribution of women is often
underestimated. Maggie Milangga, from the Western Desert
region of the state, explained, ‘I used to cook, used to ride horses
too—out on the muster. Night time we used to take turns
watching cattle: man and woman took turns. Talk about tired,
don’t say! 53

As in the Northern Territory, the change in the Award
structure meant that it was uneconomical for station owners to
maintain the same number of Aboriginal employees on full Award
Rates together with their dependants. This coincided with greater
mechanisation and fencing, and the introduction of helicopter
mustering. Many Aboriginal people were subsequently evicted
from stations while others, following kin, simply walked off.
Many were forced to set up camps outside rural town centres. A
hospital administrator at Fitzroy Crossing, one of the areas most
affected by the changes recounted:

The Award created a multitude of problems affecting the natives
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. as the stock work declined, more people drifted in . . . and
by the end of December there were some 500 people in Fitzroy
Crossing . . . Local names for this were and are the ‘ghetto’ or

‘refugee camp’.>*

Some workers, like Jack Britten, a Kija man from the Kimberley,
lamented the loss of patronage: ‘that [European] manager he . . .
never trying to belt em or he never trying to shoot em, nothing.
He was a good kartiya [white man]. That’s the way all blackfellas
bin like em, living la [near or alongside] him.’55

Relocation of Aboriginal people and labour utilisation most
profoundly affected the pastoral north-west, and the south-west
agricultural and farming properties.>°

AFTER THE 1967 REFERENDUM

Following the sweeping results of the 1967 National Referendum,
which enabled the Commonwealth to legislate on behalf of
Aborigines, and later the coming of the Whitlam Labor govern-
ment in 1972, Aboriginal policies changed. The Federal
Government began providing State assistance to support pro-
grammes to ‘upgrade’ Aboriginal education and living standards.
Yet such ‘assistance’ remained subject to European ideologies and
practice. The words of a Nyungar woman, living on a reserve in
the south-west, epitomises an Aboriginal perception about this
form of supposed ‘upgrade’:

One day some men from Native Welfare came along to our
camp and told us we were moving. We hardly had time to put
our things together. They put us into a house in town away
from our relatives. It was hard because it was different from the
house and living on the reserve. We had built a lot of that
house ourselves and though it was rough it was our home. We
went back later to have a look. But they had bulldozed it all
down. Some people say we were moved because the Shire
wanted the gravel there. We didn’t like the house in town. So
we left it to move to Perth to stay with some relatives. My
husband thought he might get some work up there . . . %7

In 1972 the Western Australian Parliament introduced the Aborig-
inal Affairs Planning Authority (AAPA), cementing co-operation
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between the Department for Community Welfare and the State
Housing Commission. The AAPA co-ordinated Aboriginal poli-
cies throughout the state, acted in an advisory and mediating role,
and administered the Aboriginal Lands Trust (ALT). The Aborig-
inal Heritage Act, introduced in 1972, ostensibly gave the Western
Australian Museum, through the Department of Aboriginal Sites,
the responsibility to protect areas of religious and cultural signif-
icance to Aboriginal people. The weakness of the Act was clearly
demonstrated during what is now well-known as the Noonkanbah
drama of 1980. The State Government amended crucial sections
of the Act in 1980, further weakening the legislation so that
mining exploration, through Amax, a multinational subsidiary
company, could proceed despite the protests of the Yungnora
people at Noonkanbah and their supporters. Dickie Skinner, a
Walmajarri man and spokesperson for the Yungnora people at
that time, comments on the ‘secrecy’ which took place with
respect to mining and government operations. He states:

Mining people came secretly and did not talk to the Aborigines.
Later people were going around mustering and they found
samples and told the old people. When Aboriginal people found
out about the holes [drilled for exploration purposes], they
wondered why the mining people didn’t come and talk to them.
After one year all the kangaroos disappeared and the people
knew they had gone back to the spirit hole because of the
mining.>8

The Federal Labor Government’s policy of ‘self-determination’,
while somewhat ambiguous, recognised in principle the ‘equal
right of Aboriginal people along with other Australians to deter-
mine their own future within the Australian community’. In 1975,
when the Liberal-Country Party Coalition replaced Labor, the
policy of ‘self-management’ was adopted. In Western Australia in
1974, yet another Royal Commission was established to consider
all concerns ‘affecting the wellbeing of persons of Aboriginal
descent in Western Australia’. L. C. Furnell, a Queen’s Counsel
and former judge of the District Court, drew heavily on docu-
mentary material, consulting little with Aboriginal people.>® In
1976 another Royal Commission, known as the Laverton or the
Skull Creek Commission, inquired into a police incident against
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Aboriginal people and, despite criticism of police evidence, it was
concluded that ‘no-one involved acted improperly’. The prior
historical legacy, however, could not be ignored.

While nothing can excuse what was done at Skull Creek . . . It
is obvious that many of the problems develop out of the
historical development of the relationships between Europeans
and the Aboriginal people whose way of life and culture have
been affected. The problems lie at the door of the whole society
and not just at the door of the police force or any other section
of society.®0

Greater Aboriginal independence resulted with the Aboriginal
Medical Service (established in Perth in 1973), and the Aboriginal
Legal Service (established in Perth in 1975). Regional resource
agencies, land councils, Aboriginal language centres and pro-
grammes, community schools, and outstations also emerged
throughout the latter part of the 1970s and continued to prolif-
erate throughout the 1980s. Some of these developments were
government funded, others received financial assistance from var-
ious church bodies and aid agencies, while other developments
were supported by independent Aboriginal communities and
organisations.

The Aboriginal Communities Act, for example, was instituted in
1979 with the aim of enabling certain Aboriginal communities to
institute and monitor their own by-laws. Also in 1979, the
Aboriginal Child Care Agency (ACCA) was established with a
brief to liaise between Aboriginal families and the Department
for Community Welfare (formerly the Department of Native
Welfare). Though not without their problems, government rec-
ognition of the need for community by-laws, and an organisation
such as ACCA, indicated a minor shift in the relationship between
Aboriginal people and the state.

In the Aboriginal Land Inquiry (ALI) of 1983, Mr Paul Seaman
QC was asked to consider the most appropriate form of title over
land for the use and benefit of Aboriginal people, what kinds of
land should be protected, issues of conservation and land man-
agement; the question of compensation and royalties, the
operation of the Aboriginal Heritage Act (1972—80), the relationship
of granted areas to resource development.®® The ALI carried out
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extensive consultation throughout Western Australia with Aborig-
inal people and other residents. But sectors of the mining industry,
who feared a decline in resource development, waged a rabid
anti-land rights campaign, and the Liberal Party Opposition
objected to any form of security of title for Aboriginal people.?
A Final Report was released in 1984 which, among other things,
recognised the extensive nature of Aboriginal relationships to land
and recommended the right of Aboriginal people to negotiate
about, and ultimately have the ability to say ‘no’ to mining on
their land. The ALI also recommended land rights legislation
claims to be heard by a tribunal. Ten days after public release of
the ALI’s report, the State Government rejected its findings,
replacing the report with its own set of principles. A drafting
committee was established which put together its own Aboriginal
Land Tenure Bill, but this was not supported by the majority of
Aboriginal people in Western Australia. Nonetheless, a Bill was
tabled in 1985, to be defeated in the Upper House. Meanwhile
the Federal Government proposed national land rights legislation
but backed down due to mining interests and an alleged lack of
popular support.®® Western Australia, then under a Liberal gov-
ernment, was one of the few states which refused to endorse the
Mabo-inspired Native Title Act, 1993.

CONCLUSIONS

In Western Australia, despite some humanitarian concern, ‘settlers
laws’ have always taken precedence over Aboriginal sociocultural
interests or economic and political justice. This has generated a
race relations history that will not easily fade from the state’s
social and political memory. The Royal Commission into Aborig-
inal Deaths in Custody recorded 32 deaths in Western Australia,
the highest number of deaths investigated by the Commission for
the period 1980-89. The deaths were especially disturbing con-
sidering that Aboriginal people currently constitute only 2.7 per
cent of the state’s total population at around 40 000 people.®* In
1993 the Western Australian Premier was the most vocal oppo-
nent of federal land rights, and mounted an unsuccessful High
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Court challenge to the validity of the Native Title Act in relation
to Western Australia.

A frontier development ethos amongst non-Aborigines con-
tinues to inform contemporary race relations. Over-representation
in the prison system, public and police over-reactions against
Aboriginal crime, racial stereotyping and anxieties about the threat
of Aboriginal land rights continue to endure. Western Australia,
however, is a state where the Aboriginal population is a visible
presence and even predominates in many areas. Its large tracts of
Crown land and areas of non-intensive development have often
meant Aboriginal people could maintain relatively close contact
with their traditional lands. Western Australian Aborigines have
been politically active in protecting sacred sites and persisting in
land rights campaigns. Western Australia has also produced
Aboriginal people who have made outstanding cultural contribu-
tions, bringing the experience of Aboriginal Australians to a wide
audience. These include writer Jack Davis, writer and artist, Sally
Morgan, and Jimmy Chi, creator of the powerful and optimistic
musical, ‘Bran Nue Dae’.65
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7
Northern Territory

The White people named this place Lake Nash but its real
name, its Aboriginal name, is Ilperrelhelame. Aboriginal people
own this waterhole. We look after this place as those before us
have always done. White people have got no right to push us
out . . .

They don’t own the country—we are the true owners. They
only brought in the cattle and horses and drilled bores on our
land . . .

I was born here at Lake Nash. I've always lived and worked
here. Even when I was a small boy, I worked with horses in the
stock camp. We Aboriginal people ran the stock camps on our
own. Lots of us were working then . . .

You should hear the real story—our story, not the
company’s. They can’t tell you the true story because they don’t
own the country. We are the real owners of this country—they
only manage it.!

HIS statement is by Harry Campbell, an Alyawarra man from
Lake Nash station north-east of Alice Springs. His commu-

nity fought for many years for a living area on the station, and
was at last successful. ‘They can’t tell you the true story because
they don’t own the country.” Campbell’s words indicate how
strongly the traditional life flourishes in the Northern Territory.

Several other features set the Northern Territory apart from

other areas of Australia. The proportion of White people? to
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NORTHERN TERRITORY

Aborigines and other races such as Chinese, Japanese and Malays
has been very different to that in the southern states. The nature
of the soils and climate made many areas useless for primary
production, so that much of the Northern Territory is even now
unoccupied by Whites. The Territory was developed intermit-
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tently. Large areas proved to be uneconomic and were abandoned.
Such differences continue to affect the history of the Northern
Territory. Partly because more uncontested land was available for
claim than elsewhere, more land was granted. The long periods
of very low White populations oftered comparatively little threat
to traditional lifeways.

A long period of Commonwealth Government control (1911-
78) attracted numerous critical observers, left an unusually large
quantity of records, and from time to time enabled progressive
legislation to be enacted which Federal governments hoped might
become a model elsewhere. The White population was so small
and, in some areas, so stable that many pastoralists, police and
missionaries are still remembered by Aborigines: in the 1970s
older Aborigines of the Victoria River district were still able to
name two policemen present in the area in 1896 and 1909.3
‘Punitive expeditions’, in which police and settlers rode upon a
camp at dawn and shot all the men, a practice which ceased in
southern states more than a century ago, are still recalled by living
people.*

The White presence in the Northern Territory has been
comparatively recent, and much smaller than elsewhere. Peter
Horsetailer, of Tara Community, could remember how his father
acted as a guide to Charles Chewings in 1909, in the same way
as Aborigines helped the Whites in the Sydney region a hundred
years before that.

Yeah, well two men bin comin’ with camel from Alice Spring.
They come here and find’em old feller mine, my father, longa
Barrow Creek. Longa old Telegraph Station. They bin pick’em
up that old fella. They ask’em him, “You want like to show us
country to go longa desert? We tryin to look that gold.’

‘All right then,” my father said, ‘All right. I'll take you. But
you know’em all that country to go through with the camel
because I don’t think we can get water now, I-I can show’em
where we can get water.”

Even areas generally thought of as ‘occupied’ were in fact often
inhabited by Whites for a short period only. Many commercial
ventures like sheep, sugar, rice, peanuts, tobacco and tropical fruit
were tried, but failed. The memory of these failures is now
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preserved only in the minds of the descendants of the original
inhabitants whose lands were, sometimes only temporarily,
wrested from them. Throughout the twentieth century most
Aborigines, like Harry Campbell, believed that the pastoralists
merely squatted on land that was rightfully theirs. Even the
findings of Mr Justice Blackburn in the famous ‘“Yirrkala’ case in
1971, has not changed their minds that the land is rightfully theirs
and has always been s0.6

Unlike the Whites, Aborigines have lived in Northern Aus-
tralia for a very long time indeed. Some Aborigines maintain that
they have lived in their land from the beginning of time, others
believe that, long ago, their distant ancestors came from over the
sea. The oldest ground-edge axes in the world, dating from some
20 000 years ago, have been found in Arnhem Land. In the mid
1980s an upper limit of occupation was thought to be about
40 000 years, which happened also to be the limit of the radio-
carbon dating method. Scientists testing old occupation sites by
thermoluminescence, a newer method of dating which does not
rely on the decay of organic material, have suggested a presence
of up to 50 000 years. There is no theoretical reason, according
to western-trained scientists, why Aborigines should not have
occupied Northern Australia for a much longer period than that.
The upper limit, on the basis of scientific knowledge, indicates
an Aboriginal occupation of not more than 100 000 years. Else-
where in the world modern humans have first been identified
distinct from other near-human forms at about this time, and no
scientific evidence indicates that Aborigines evolved separately
from all other modern humans.”

TRADERS AND EXPLORERS

The Aborigines of Arnhem Land encountered and worked with
Macassan trepang-gatherers from at least 1700 to the early years
of the twentieth century.® Relations seem to have been generally
harmonious, probably because the Macassans only came for a
period of each year, occupied areas not much further than the
beach, and traded with, rather than merely exploited, the Abo-
rigines. The Europeans intended to stay. If the first European
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explorers like Leichhardt and Stuart, and a few sea-borne ventur-
ers like those at Port Essington (1838), maintained non-hostile
relations with the indigenous people for most of the time, the
second wave of the European invasion was often marked with
violence. The excursions into the Territory from South Australia
in the 1870s degenerated into destruction of traditional living
areas, and many massacres. The Overland Telegraph Line, con-
structed in the 1870s, provided a route for gold miners as well
as pastoralists, and the gold rushes at Pine Creek (1872) and
Arltunga (1897) gave traditional owners little choice but to
co-operate with the miners after the local water, food and
firewood resources were destroyed.?

The second land route to the Territory was eastwards from
Queensland but European and Aboriginal evidence suggests that
here the initial friendly contact was often not even attempted. In
Queensland, where the ‘Black Police’ were brought to their most
deadly pinnacle of organisation and bushcraft, the pastoralists had
more or less determined their own relations with Aborigines.
Entering the Northern Territory via the ‘Barkly route’ from the
1870s they probably thought of the new grasslands as an extension
of Queensland where they could simply continue the same
methods of invasion and control.'® Nevertheless the domination
of the Whites was completed neither easily nor quickly. Many
areas officially known as ‘pastoral stations’ were not completely
controlled until half a century after the first incursions by Whites.

THE CATTLE INDUSTRY

The pastoral industry, which gave to the Northern Territory its
particular flavour of ringers (stockmen), enormous droving trails
and cattle stations the size of small European nations, also gave
a particular characteristic to race relations. Unlike many other
areas of Australia, Aboriginal men and women were not only
useful but vital in maintaining an economy which would have
been impossible without them. A typical large station might
employ half a dozen White people, (including the manager, head
stockman and book-keeper) one or two Aborigines of mixed
descent who took superior roles such as stock-camp boss, and
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twenty or more Aboriginal ‘ringers’. Though men did much of
the most dangerous work of culling and marking beasts, the
historian Ann McGrath notes that frequently women performed
hard manual labour such as road mending as well as working at
‘the big house’ (the station homestead) or cattle mustering; old
people swept the yard, chopped wood, and looked after the
garden; children learned to ride at six or seven years of age.!!
The economy was seasonal. The ‘wet season’ in the north, and
the summer shut-down in Central Australia was the signal for
Aborigines in station camps to ‘go walkabout’, and live off ‘bush
tucker’ for several months before being encouraged (or allowed)
to enter the station precincts in February—March.

The pastoral industry, however, could at no time compete
successfully with southern markets. Poor pastures, cattle diseases,
lack of water and meatworks, and enormous distances made sur-
vival almost impossible without government co-operation or direct
aid.'2 Several stations in Arnhem Land in the early years of the
twentieth century failed completely, while many others survived
only through their reliance on unpaid Aboriginal labour.13

The most remarkable feature of the pastoral industry was the
very large number of Aborigines associated with it. In the first
years after the establishment of a new station, Aborigines already
working would sometimes visit the bush people to explain that
the choice was either to co-operate with the pastoralists or be
shot at; those who chose to remain ‘myalls’ (bush people) were
forced into a life of guerilla warfare, or relied on their younger
working kinfolk to supply them with food at night.!* Nor were
the station Aborigines always friendly. The historian Debbie Rose
wrote of the bush people in the 1880s:

Increasingly the ‘enemy’ was not only the whitefellows but also
station blackfellows. Some of the station ‘boys’ and police
trackers were from far away; others were local. Some had
relations still living in the bush carrying on warfare and other
acts of subversion; many had had ceremonial-ritual and marriage
ties across this boundary of allegiances. Some were brutal; others
tried to minimise the violence.!>

People living on large government reserves frequently spent
periods in employment on adjacent stations. Aborigines of mixed
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descent living in or near towns found regular employment as
fencers or well-sinkers. Outside Arnhem Land, it is probably true
that every Aboriginal person in the Territory born before 1950
in contact with Whites and not removed from his or her family,
was involved in the pastoral industry in some way.

THE MISSION STATIONS

The earliest missionaries at Hermannsburg in the south (estab-
lished in 1877) and Roper River in the north (established in
1908) acted in part as Aboriginal protectors against the attacks of
pastoralists on the bush Aborigines. During the rule of the South
Australian Government over the Northern Territory (1863—1911),
missionaries were no more than tolerated but the Commonwealth
Special Investigator J.W. Bleakley argued in 1929 that the mis-
sions were ‘working on the right lines’ towards a responsibility
which was in reality the State’s, and ought to be financially
supported.1® By this time the Lutherans (Hermannsburg), Catho-
lics (Daly River, Bathurst and Melville Islands), Methodists
(Milingimbi, Goulburn Island, Elcho Island, Yirrkala), and the
Anglicans (Roper River, Groote Eylandt, Oenpelli) were estab-
lished in mutually respected ‘patches’. Unlike many southern
mission stations of the previous century, individual missionaries
stayed for long periods; the missions remained and in the 1970s
formed bases of new and independent communities even after
Christian influence had declined. Like the pastoralists, missionaries
brought mixed blessings. Almost all children raised on mission
stations before 1970 were likely to be separated to some degree
from their older close relatives. In this way they were deprived
both of traditional teachings but also of role models of parenting
and family life. Hagar Roberts recalled her days at the Roper
River Mission in the 1920s: ‘Missionary didn’t let us go, you see.
She bin learn us to speak, like, White man way. Know about a
White God story, teaching us to know what to do longa White
man way, that story. They didn’t let us go to mother and father.’t?
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COMMONWEALTH CONTROL, 1911

The Commonwealth Government, anxious to take seriously its
new responsibility of governing the Northern Territory in 1911,
commissioned the newly-appointed Chief Protector of Abor-
igines, Baldwin Spencer, to report on the Aborigines. Spencer,
who had wide experience as an anthropologist in the Northern
Territory, recommended that some 11 000 hectares be set aside
as Aboriginal reserves, a necessary procedure, he thought, ‘if any
serious effort’ was to ‘be made for their betterment’. His proposals
were generally accepted. Many of today’s large Northern Terri-
tory reserves were created at this time.!®

Spencer gave much thought to what extent customary (that
is, Aboriginal) law should continue to operate. He thought it
‘manifestly advisable’ not to interfere in matters which concerned
Aboriginal law or custom only. Spencer approved the Chief
Protector’s power to remove offending Aborigines to a place
other than prison. He understood that a sentence to Fanny Bay
gaol might be regarded as a mark of distinction and that some
prisoners emerged worse than they had entered.!®

In the regulation of the lives of Aboriginal town dwellers,
however, Spencer’s recommendations illustrated a long-standing
tension between laws to protect Aborigines from Whites and laws
to protect Whites from Aborigines. While his recommendations
for overseeing living conditions on remote stations were fairly
conscientious and sympathetic (though unenforced) Spencer
believed that in Darwin and Alice Springs it was the rights of the
Whites which must be protected. Under regulations of the Aborig-
inal Ordinance of 1911, Aborigines in those towns had to reside
with their employer or in ‘the [Kahlin] compound’. Spencer
recommended that no Aborigine be allowed to wander between
sunset and sunrise on penalty of being locked up for the night.
No Aborigine should leave Darwin nor be allowed to enter
without permission. Spencer thought it probable, however, that
‘in view of the scarcity of labour for domestic purposes, that the
numbers of servants would have to be replenished periodically’.20
Spencer’s concern for the welfare of traditional Aborigines in
remote areas, but for the welfare of Whites in the towns, set a
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precedent which arguably still remains entrenched in Northern
Territory legislation.

Seventeen years passed before the next major investigation of
Aboriginal living and working conditions. In 1928 the Queens-
land Protector of Aborigines, J.W. Bleakley, was asked by the
Commonwealth Government to report on the status and condi-
tions of Northern Territory Aborigines. Though he observed that
a small wage was occasionally paid to Aboriginal workers, very
little attempt was made to provide adequate shelter for station
workers as required by the regulations. Bleakley found it remark-
able that the pastoralists, though recognising their absolute
dependence upon the Aborigines, made no attempt to ‘elevate or
educate them, though this should enhance their value as
machinery’.2!

So the tension between controlling Aborigines and protecting
them was as apparent in Bleakley’s 1929 Report as it was in
Spencer’s of 1911. Like Spencer, Bleakley approved imprisonment
for Darwin Aborigines found wandering after dark, and disap-
proved of films, such as American westerns, likely to lower respect
for Whites. Yet further from the European settlements Bleakley
was rather more humane: he recommended that missions be
established in suitable areas, not to draw Aborigines unnecessarily
from tribal life but to ‘win their trust by kindly ministrations’. In
1929, though the most serious alarms were still caused by bush
people, (the ‘Coniston Massacre’ took place as Bleakley was
conducting his field work) the most restrictive legislation again
applied most of all to the people gathered around the towns.22

Merely identifying bad living conditions by investigators did
not guarantee that they would improve, and though Bleakley
recognised that regulations were virtually ignored in remote
regions he recommended no prosecutions or cancellations of
licences to employ Aborigines. It was scarcely surprising that
conditions probably deteriorated during the following decade.
The government was quite prepared, for instance, to give over
the Haasts Bluff Reserve to the pastoralists, and was only dis-
suaded from doing so after the well-known Christian medico, Dr
Charles Duguid, threatened to publicise the plan in England.?? In
1945, the Australian Investment Agency (Vesteys) asked the
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anthropologists R. and C. Berndt to investigate why the Aborig-
inal populations on its stations were declining. It was not hard
to find out, for Vesteys, like most other company stations, had a
much worse record of labour relations than family-owned stations.
The Berndts found apathy, hopelessness and acute malnutrition
in the station camps. There was a question constantly implied and
sometimes asked by the Aborigines: “Why should we breed more
children for Kadia [Europeans| to use the way they use us?’ At
Limbunya Station, only 10 out of 21 children survived the first
year of life. At Wave Hill, where the mortality rate was calculated
at 31.6 per 100, the Berndts reported that three births took place
during their period of study at the station. The first, unknown
to the White station community, was stillborn. The second was
normal but in the third case, mother and child died within a few
hours of each other. In each case the mothers had subsisted on
the standard ration of damper, beef and tea. At Birrindudu Station,
the Aborigines lived on dry bread three times a day and usually
a piece of goat meat. Twelve to sixteen people shared a three-litre
billy of tea.2*

Why did conditions remain so bad? Part of the answer lies in
the continuing phenomenon of official and unofficial support for
the pastoral industry at the expense of Aboriginal welfare, to the
extent of belittling or ridiculing critics of the pastoral regime.
The pastoralists often defended themselves by economic argu-
ments; the Western Australian, M.P. Durack stated that Aboriginal
stockmen returned to employment each year because they valued
food, clothing, tobacco and were willing to work for them.2>

Like government settlements in the south, a particular station
gave a person a local identification, so that a man called “Willowra
Freddie Jampijinpa’ might be known by the station he grew up
on (Willowra) as well as by his Christian and subsection or ‘skin’
name (Jampijinpa). In the absence of other areas where Aborigines
were allowed to gather, the stations became focal points of
population and community life. On most stations religious and
secular ceremonies were allowed at times which did not interfere
with the pastoral routine. Traditional teachings, languages and
stories often continued whatever the pastoralist’s wishes. Today
there are over one hundred smaller stations, or excisions, now
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designated as Aboriginal land, which have been carved off from
the older pastoral properties. These are occupied by Aborigines,
some of whom once worked on them under a White manager.

FRINGE-DWELLERS AND PEOPLE OF MIXED
DESCENT

In 1929 Bleakley repeated Spencer’s unexamined assertions about
the ‘degradation of the blacks’ camp’ from which ‘half-castes’
should be removed, and recommended that ‘No half-caste child
should be allowed to remain in any native camp’; the ‘best and
kindest thing’ was ‘to place them on reserves along with the
natives, train them in the same schools and encourage them to
marry among themselves’.2¢ The justification for such a policy
was that as the Northern Territory became more populated, those
people with an Aboriginal and White parent, colloquially known
as ‘half-castes’, would decline in proportion to the rest of the
community. In 1927 Patrol Officer Strehlow (the later owner of
the famous Strehlow Collection of Aboriginal artefacts) reported
that the Alice Springs ration depot was attracting ‘scores of
natives’ from all parts of Central Australia. In his judgement,
‘Ngalia, Ilpara and Pitjentara’ peoples were ‘useless, drifting
wreckage’, and likely soon to degenerate into ‘unemployable
hooligans, beggars and wasters’.2” Ten vyears later Strehlow
reported that the same ration depot was now attracting people
from the desert in ‘whole clans’. ‘It is a disgrace,” he wrote, ‘that
all these dirty camps are allowed not only to exist but to increase
at a place rich in press-reporters and frequented by crowds of
tourists.’2® Strehlow urgently recommended the establishment of
new reserves at Jay Creek and Haasts Bluff. During the 1920s
and 1930s, removals to the White institutions increased.

The anxiety of the Alice Springs and Darwin Whites at these
developments was indicated in the new Aboriginals Ordinance of
1933, which gave the Administrator powers of control even
greater than those which he already possessed. He could now
declare any place to be prohibited to an Aboriginal person,
remove him or her to any place in or beyond the Northern
Territory and nominate any mission station as a children’s insti-
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tution. The Chief Protector could order local removals, control
real and personal property, forbid marriage to non-Aborigines and
prohibit the possession of firearms.2?

At the same time the problem of ‘half-castes’ continued to
concern Alice Springs residents even more than the increasing
town camps. Despite Bleakley’s advice to remove ‘mixed-blood’
children to the large Aboriginal reserves, it was removals to White
institutions which were increasing during the late 1920s. The
original ‘Bungalow’, a tin shack occupied by a single family in
Alice Springs in 1913, had become by 1930 a large institution
housed at the old Telegraph Station two miles from the town.
Bleakley reported 64 children at the Bungalow; seven years later,
in 1935, this had risen to 106. The writer Ernestine Hill probably
did not exaggerate her claim made in 1933 that Aboriginal
children of mixed descent were being gathered in by police from
‘Port Keats to the Petermann Ranges’. In the institutions, she
wrote approvingly, the children were given every opportunity to
‘outgrow their heredity’. The intention was that the children
would be ‘encouraged to live white, think white and to marry,
if possible, into the white race, or failing that, with each other’.
She estimated that twenty years would pass before the end of the
story would be written.?® Twenty years later Bleakley’s total of
140 children held in official institutions had risen to 337.3!

Like other inmates of the Bungalow, the young Charles
Perkins absorbed the place of the ‘half-caste’ in the Northern
Territory of the 1930s. Sometimes he would climb over the fence
to the camp of his elderly full-descent relatives, to hear a few
words of his banned Arrernte language and to poke a stick into
a billy full of porridge before returning to the Bungalow for a
second breakfast. At other times he’d climb the ridge between
the camp and the town to peer down at the Whites who seemed
so strange, so powerful: ‘They were the bosses. The top people.
Never argue with them, always say yes, always be frightened. If
they come towards you, take oft.’32

The more the ‘mixed-blood’ Aboriginal population increased
the more anxious the Whites became. The very wide definition
of Aboriginality of the 1918-33 Aboriginals Ordinance ensured that
the Administrator or Chief Protector could bring a person of any
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degree of Aboriginal descent under legal control.?® In 1931 the
Chief Protector reported that it was a matter of social and
economic urgency to improve the living standard of ‘half-castes’,
since they were already one-third of the European population
and increasing rapidly. Accordingly, under a new directive,
illegitimate children of not less than 50 per cent European descent
would continue to be removed from the camps and placed in
Homes, ultimately to marry ‘higher-grade half-caste males and
whites’.3* The Northern Territory Chief Protector, Cecil Cook,
argued that if the Commonwealth followed a policy of laissez-
faire, probably all Aborigines would be extinct in 50 years. That
was impossible; therefore the policy of the Commonwealth was
to ‘do everything possible to convert the half-caste into a white
citizen . . . We have to absorb the Aborigines, as well as protect
them, or a little later the white population of the Northern
Territory would be absorbed by the black.?> Non-Aborigines at
this time probably made up no more than a quarter of the
population of the Northern Territory, and the frontier—the
violence, the living conditions of Whites as well as Blacks, the
rudimentary services—were at a stage which the southern states
had passed a generation before.

The Federal Government, which oversaw the Chief
Protector’s actions, followed rather more slowly. The 1939
‘McEwen Statement’ of Commonwealth policy was nominally
based on Aboriginal, not White, concerns. McEwen announced
that a Native Affairs Branch would be established. Under the
revised policy, all Aborigines, over many generations, would
become citizens but in the meantime only children with one
White parent would be removed.’¢ But back in the Northern
Territory, the Administration proceeded along its already well-
trodden course of taking into institutions Aboriginal children of
any ‘caste’ who came under notice.

ABORIGINES AND THE SECOND WORLD WAR

The most significant eftect of the Second World War probably
was to further integrate Aborigines of both full and part descent
into European mainstream. Some integration was compulsory:
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An Aboriginal orderly at 121 Australian General Hospital assists
in the treatment of Aboriginal sick and wounded in 1942. During
the war Aborigines were often treated with greater respect and
accorded good living conditions and pay. AUSTRALIAN WAR
MEMORIAL 27835

scores of children were sent south from the Centre and the islands,
and some did not return. Kwementjaye Jampijinpa of Willowra
Station recalled bringing in the bush people to Army camps by
the promise of rations if they came and shooting if they did not.37
Nevertheless many Aborigines in the postwar period retained very
fond memories of the war as an exciting experience, the time
they were treated equally with Whites with regular hours of work,
regular rations (including rice, potatoes, onions and soap) and a
regular wage (five shillings a week).38 Tim Japangardi recalled:

Treated pretty well, Army time, no cheeky [ie nobody harmed
Aborigines]. Nobody get cheeky. You know, they got provost
police, and soldier policeman, somebody get cheeky. You know,
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they never treat ’em wrong way. Some people never, never treat
an Aboriginal wrong way. That’s really kind.
Never. And the good fun always.3?

Unlike mandated New Guinea, Australia at no stage possessed a
truly colonial Aboriginal administration, with special courts and
measures to expose exploitation. Perhaps because such an admin-
istration might imply that potentially Aborigines possessed rights
other than those of ordinary Australian citizens. Nowhere was
this deficiency more clearly exposed than when an alternative was
presented, briefly, by the Army’s Inspector of Native Personnel
in 1945. In a summary of the Army’s work, the Officer quoted
Article 22 of the League of Nations Covenant which declared
the well-being and development of ‘certain’ peoples to form a
sacred trust of civilisation. He noted that Aboriginal service
personnel had become concrete workers, drivers, mechanics,
quartermasters, and hygiene supervisors. He claimed that bushcraft
was encouraged, as was the practice of traditional rituals—‘The
natives have certainly not been detribalised’. Aborigines could
arrive and leave at will except where health or security restrictions
applied. The Report concluded with the pertinent observation
that civilian authorities had now to ‘seriously consider’ bringing
Aboriginal living standards to the level of the Whites.

The Report was noteworthy for the implied internationalist
view that Aborigines might be as good as but did not need to be
the same as, White Australians. But when the Army withdrew
from all settlements and camps in 1946, it left its one thousand
Aboriginal employees with an uncertain future. The Administra-
tor, evidently unimpressed by this Report, noted an ‘acute
restlessness among certain individuals’ who would not remain in
long-term employment.*! The bureaucracy concluded that a firm
control should be reasserted. Yuendumu Settlement (1946) was
one administrative answer to the population shifts and ‘acute
restlessness’ caused by the war.

POSTWAR ENQUIRIES AND CONFERENCES

The administration was conscious of criticism of its lack of
progress towards better living conditions or in ‘training for
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citizenship’. In October 1945 the Native Affairs Branch, sent V.C.
Carrington to investigate Aboriginal living and working condi-
tions on the northern pastoral stations. Carrington reported the
working men ‘reasonably well treated’, though accommodation,
sanitation and ablution facilities for ‘non-workers’ was practically
non-existent. The majority of pastoral lessees paid no wages,
instead, as entitled under the Aboriginal Ordinance, they merely
supported the workers’ dependants and relations.*? In fact, he
argued, many people categorised as ‘dependants’ were actually
workers and ought to be reimbursed. Carrington recommended
that men over 21 be awarded the non-cash sum of two pounds
five shillings (70 per cent of the pastoral Award for non-Aborig-
inal males), and women ten shillings per week. Carrington
thought Aboriginal drovers were particularly exploited, since they
were highly skilled, were seldom off duty and travelled very far
from their homelands. He concluded his Report with the assertion
that were it not for the fact that Aborigines could leave at will
and were protected from ill-treatment, their position would be
little less than slavery.#? In reality both Carrington’s provisos were
frequently violated.#*

A serious consequence of the lack of payment was that
Aborigines, directed by McEwen eventually to become part of
one Australian community, were being given no practice in that
aspect of European society which distinguished it most sharply
from Aboriginal. But it was probably an increasing concern at
the denial of human rights to Aboriginal people at the United
Nations which caused the government to call a conference
between the Native Welfare Branch and the pastoral lessees in
June 1947, where it sought to extract an agreement from the
pastoralists to raise wages and improve conditions. Here the Chair
confessed that the government had failed to enforce the policy
which it had ratified at the League of Nations (the UN’s prede-
cessor). There was no legal sanction, for instance, for the practice
of penalising Aborigines for refusing to work or for going on
strike. The pastoralists opposed most suggestions for improve-
ments to ablutions, accommodation and housing. The new wage
structure was provisionally fixed at two pounds thirteen shillings
for a male worker over 21, and for an unmarried female at one
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pound twelve shillings and eight pence.*> In truth the Common-
wealth was arguing from a position of some weakness, having
generally ignored its own protective regulations for many years.
Like Bleakley, Carrington had discovered gross breaches of the
health, housing and ration regulations, but had not found it
necessary to recommend the revocation of the employment
licences of any of the stations which he visited. Nor was gov-
ernment supervision of the mission stations very much more
conscientious: in 1951 Winifred Wilson, a Commonwealth health
official, found that, in addition to the sixteen of the seventeen
pastoral stations she visited which provided rations rated nutri-
tionally as ‘D’ or ‘E’, the inmates of six out of ten missions also
received rations below internationally acceptable levels.*¢ A polit-
ical scientist, Colin Tatz, found that many missionaries still used
banishment as a punishment for ‘troublemakers’, although in
apparent contravention of Section 71 of the Ordinance which
forbade the deprivation of food, clothing or shelter.#” Nor, finally,
was the administration of the government’s own settlements in
some respects any better: Wilson found ten out of eleven settle-
ments also distributed ‘D’ or ‘E’ levels of food, with ‘E’ being
the worst grade possible in the scale.

THE 1953 WELFARE ORDINANCE

The early 1950s were looked upon as the beginning of a new
era in Aboriginal administration. In 1951 Paul Hasluck, the
innovative and idealistic historian and politician, became the
Minister for Territories. He believed that ‘for good or ill, the
future of Aborigines . . . lies in close association with the white
community’,*® and the planning of new legislation to govern
Northern Territory Aborigines was immediately begun. Pro-
claimed as a significant advance, the legislation embodied in the
Welfare Ordinance, 1953 was later criticised by the social scientist
Charles Rowley as ‘one of the last big efforts to use authoritarian
legislation to control the processes of social change’.#® The
Administrator could now declare any Aboriginal person a “Ward’
who, in his opinion, was in need of special care.®® Soon it was
apparent that an important purpose of the Ordinance was to
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Children under supervision of a teacher, Northern Territory,
¢ 1950. Note the symbols of Imperialism: the noticeboard contains
posters of the Queen’s Canadian visit, the young royal family and
Sandhurst Royal Military Academy. AUSTRALIAN INFORMATION
SERVICE

legally separate people of full-descent from those of mixed-
descent. On the passing of the new Ordinance, some 2000
mixed-descent people suddenly became non-Aborigines but some
15 700 Aborigines of the full-descent became Wards. Their names
were entered in the much-resented Register of Wards (known
colloquially as the ‘Stud Book’). They were now also subject to
a multitude of restrictions relating to the consumption of liquor,
the owning of property, movement, marriage and sexual relation-
ships.5? Families were split under quite arbitrary categorisations,
as Jack McGinness, a well-known member of the Darwin ‘Half-
Caste Association’ angrily told a public meeting:

I am a married man with seven daughters and two sons. Four of
my daughters were born before my wife and myself were

exempted [ie declared to be legally non-Wards]. They are classed
as non-exempted half-castes but the other children are classed as
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exempted. What a farce. Brothers and sisters having different
classifications. My second daughter married a white man and had
two children before the authorities discovered she was an
unexempted person. Under the Aboriginal Ordinance her husband
is liable to arrest and prosecution for consorting with a female
half-caste Aboriginal . . . You can see, gentlemen, that we are
worse than foreigners in our own country.>?

Nor was it only the government to blame for the break-up of
mixed marriages. Men returning to town were often shamed by
other Whites into ending a relationship. Bob Randall, who grew
up at the Bungalow and later at Croker Island, put the tragedy
of sudden break-ups into song:

On the mustering camps out bush you always kept me
By your side without no shame and no care
It seems to me like horses I am treated

Just used for the season and then let out to graze.

Black velvet, my darling, you used to say

I'll love you always please don’t go away

You taught me kisses that I never knew

Though my heart is breaking, it will never show®3

Compulsory separations of unapproved couples, and even com-
pulsory marriages, were most likely to occur on the large reserves
like Beswick (Barunga) and Warrabri (Ali Curung). These settle-
ments were designated not just as living areas but key instruments
in the shift from Black to White. Employees of the Welfare
Branch, as the new administrative section was known from 1953,
were instructed that the ‘only possible future’ for Aborigines was
assimilation, which involved the ‘discarding of tribal ideas, values,
traditions, loyalties and an acceptance of standards of conduct,
social conventions and general purposes of the Australian com-
munity into which the native will eventually move’.>* Nowhere
was the Australia-wide push towards compulsory assimilation in
the 1950s stronger than in the Northern Territory.

By the 1960s progress towards both the amelioration of living
standards and towards citizenship remained, to the Whites, dis-
appointingly slow. The Aboriginal infant mortality rate stood at
208 per 1000 in Central Australia, which was one of the highest
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in the world.55 On the settlements, selected families were allowed
to live in a ‘Kingstrand’, a verandah built around a small alumin-
ium hut on a concrete base. Those who managed their Kingstrand
satisfactorily might in time expect to exchange their ‘half-way’
house for a real house in Darwin, while those who failed might
be deemed to be unassimilable. The test was unfair, however,
since many people found Kingstrands disagreeable to live in. A
survey found one to be 9 degrees C hotter than a spinifex-grass
humpy at mid-morning.

In the 1950s the pastoralists and administration relied on a
similar ‘half-way’ principle to justify substandard wages and con-
ditions on pastoral properties. Abuses were common. The
Director of Welfare conceded in 1965 that only 20 of 200 pastoral
stations had made a genuine attempt to meet the legal require-
ments of employment: he did not state how many had actually
achieved them. Rowley in 1970 could not find a single instance
of revocation of an employment licence.> Tatz discovered only
one attempted prosecution of an employer for damages on behalf
of a ward.’” The historian Frank Stevens found the pastoral-
worker wage payable under the Wards Employment Ordinance was
only approximately one-fifth of the rate payable to Whites. One
week’s sick leave was granted to Aborigines instead of two to
Whites; eighteen food items rather than the 50 which Whites
received were provided in the ration schedule.® A multitude of
offences both against natural justice and against the Ordinance
and Regulations continued despite the ‘new era’.

Obviously there were local difficulties of inspection: six patrol
officers could not make much of an impression on 230 properties
spread over more than half a million square kilometres. Yet there
were much deeper issues than administration. Probably, as
Rowley argued, a few cancellations of employment authorities
would have ensured some improvements, but an insistence would
have involved enforcing and/or subsidising changes at the expense
of the national development agenda.’® Neither the local admin-
istration, nor the Federal Government, was prepared to do that.
The doctrine of terra nullius had set a particular perception, or
lack of perception, of the indigenous people. Aborigines, as it
were, did not exist before the invasion and those who survived
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were owed no rights except those of legal children who would
ultimately inherit no more than the rights of other Australians.
The view of the Aborigines as potential citizens, coupled neatly
with the theory of partially competent workers, was used perpet-
ually to delay hard decisions about awarding or enforcing equal
pay and conditions. Apparently by an ad hoc national consensus,
Aborigines were seen to be fundamentally unlike indigenous
peoples elsewhere.®® The ‘child-race’ theory (seldom rationally
explored as to its responsibilities rather than its exploitative
potential) allowed Aborigines no room for expansion as a people
independent of White Australia.

We have seen how, in the bureaucracy, White Australian
ideology and its economic motivations took precedence over
Aboriginal community or individual rights. In the postwar era
that same relationship was affirmed in sentences awarded to
Aboriginal law-breakers. Naturally there were humane pastoralists,
concerned Protectors and dedicated missionaries; but in the many
conflicts between an issue of law and order and the infringement
upon the rights of an individual, the judgement of the Courts
was almost certainly in favour of the Whites. In 1927 two
Methodist missionaries were attacked at Milingimbi for having
tried to prevent promised marriages, and for whipping those men
who resisted the missionaries. At the trial of the assailants the
Judge ruled that there had been ‘no provocation which would
amount to a defence in law . . . Aborigines in the wild condition
have to be controlled . . . The mission cannot allow its work to
be destroyed if not prevented by the actions of a few recalcitrant
natives.’®! Thirty-four years later a Papunya Aborigine, Johnny
Wheeler, resisting arrest, kicked and broke the settlement
superintendent’s rib. The Magistrate, in sentencing Wheeler to
six months hard labour, found that, although Wheeler had been
unlawfully taken into custody, it was nevertheless ‘necessary to
maintain the authority of a superintendent of a Welfare
settlement’.62

In many cases, however, Aborigines were able to exercise
freedom of choice in this period, even when they were under
the direct rule of superintendents or pastoralists. From the late
1950s, for instance Pintubi and Pitjantjatjara peoples began making
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A typical ‘shanty camp’ in the Northern Territory. Many of the
outstations started up like this. AUSTRALIAN INFORMATION
SERVICE L35417

their way from the Western Desert to settlements such as
Papunya. Although the migration has sometimes been regarded
as an example of forced assimilation, the anthropologist/patrol
officer Jeremy Long, who witnessed these events, insisted that the
exodus from the desert was voluntary:

The decisions to leave traditional country which the Pintubi and
their neighbours to the south in the Petermann Ranges took
were consistent with a tradition of opportunist exploitation of
resources when and where they appeared. It was not a helpless
‘drift’ but a series of highly motivated and purposeful moves . . .
If their migrations meant that they abandoned, for a time at
least, the care and use of the land they knew best, they also
allowed them to re-establish links with their relatives and
establish new ties to many more people and this maintenance
and extension of personal and ritual links was also a strong
tradition.®3
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THE ADMINISTRATION UNDER SIEGE

Southern and northern Aborigines like Doug Nicholls and Davis
Daniels began to combine as trenchant critics of the status quo.
The Northern Territory, alone of the big Aboriginal administra-
tive areas, remained under Commonwealth control, and the
administration was seldom far from critical analysis. The Council
for Aboriginal Rights was established in 1951 partly to investigate
allegations of human rights abuses in the Territory and Charles
Duguid brought his expert knowledge of Central Australian affairs
to his role of Chair of the Federal Council for the Advancement
of Aborigines (later FCAATSI) after 1956.4 The southern
organisations backed and publicised the Aboriginal initiatives, the
most celebrated of which was the walk-oft by 200 Gurindji from
Wave Hill Station in 1966.% Though sometimes portrayed as a
triumph of workers’ solidarity, the walk-oft is better seen in the
context of resistance to racially inspired poor pastoral conditions.
The historian Ewan Morris, investigating postwar race relations
in the Victoria River Downs Station—Wave Hill area, found six
instances of defiance, small strikes or fights between Aborigines
and Whites between 1946 and 1956, in nearly all of which a
racial element was specifically invoked. For example, in 1947,
several Aboriginal stockmen claimed they were just like Whites
and could leave their job whenever they liked. Stockmen at a
nearby camp followed suit by demanding extra supplies, and one
Aborigine told the head stockman, ‘“We are just as good as you

. whites’ before striking him.% Morris also identified various
disturbances at Lake Nash and Berrimah, which taken in consid-
eration with the better-known incidents in the Pilbara in 1946,
makes it clear that the mass walk-outs from Newcastle Waters
and Wave Hill in 1966, were not only the result of actions by
certain brave individuals but also evidence of a general growing
self~confidence as well as dissatisfaction with existing conditions.
The Wave Hill walk-off, therefore, may be described as the most
spectacular confrontation of this phase of postwar Aboriginal
resistance, less overtly aggressive than the spearings but no less
effective at striking the pastoralists at what was then their weakest
point, their labour supply.
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The walk-oft followed the judgement of the Commonwealth
Conciliation and Arbitration Commission the previous year that
Aboriginal stockmen, with some exceptions, must be paid the
same wage as non-Aborigines engaged in similar work by the end
of 1968.67

Co-operation between southern and northern critics in these
and other issues, in each of which Aborigines were prominent,
increased to some degree a ‘siege mentality’ on the part of the
Aboriginal administration. Suspicion grew following the establish-
ment of the Council for Aboriginal Affairs by Prime Minister
Holt in 1967. The Council, chaired by H.C. Coombs, was
anxious to make changes both in Aboriginal living conditions and
race relations but found itself frustrated by the local administra-
tion, which generally regarded advice from ‘Canberra’ as
interference. The Federal Government was itself split: the Depart-
ment of Interior arranged the transfer of additional mining leases
to the bauxite producer Nabalco on the Gove Peninsula, and
carried out negotiations with the Australian Investment Agency,
the owners of the Wave Hill pastoral lease and the Gurindji, as
if the Council for Aboriginal Affairs did not exist.® The tensions
were powerfully illustrated in Central Australia in 1969 when a
Welfare Branch officer complained of Aborigines wanting to buy
the Haasts Bluff Reserve, becoming ‘more independent’ and
‘losing all respect for authority’. It was ‘becoming dangerous’, he
wrote, ‘to reproach Aboriginals in a firm manner’. The Council
replied that such views were more appropriate to 1869 than 1969.
Coombs responded that the Aborigines were ‘not children or
prisoners but Australian citizens whom it is the Commonwealth’s
policy to help to full and equal participation in our society’.®”

It was a timely reminder that the sign of a successful policy
of assimilation might be expected to produce exactly such a
reaction to arbitrary authority rather than passive acquiescence in
the conservative spectrum of the European mainstream. The
disturbances demonstrated that Aborigines in the postwar decades
were indeed gaining the confidence necessary to take part in the
world of the Whites. Nevertheless the bureaucratic war between
the old administration on the one hand, and the Council for
Aboriginal Affairs, the Federal Council for the Advancement of
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders and bodies such as the
North Australian Workers Union and the Northern Territory
Council for Aboriginal Rights on the other, continued until the
Department of Interior was abolished by Whitlam soon after
coming to power in 1972.70

THE 1970s

For at least the following decade after Whitlam’s election the
view of both the Labor and Coalition governments favoured the
recognition of Aboriginal demands as the partly legitimate rights
of an indigenous people rather than those of an intractable welfare
problem. One of the government’s first actions was to approve
the purchase, on behalf of the traditional landowners, of Willowra
cattle station.

Most significant of 1970s developments was the Aboriginal Land
Rights (NT) Act, introduced by Prime Minister Fraser in 1976 but
based on principles laid down by the Whitlam government. The
Act established the Northern and Central Aboriginal Land Coun-
cils, and the mechanism of Aboriginal claim on reserve and vacant
Crown land to which traditional attachment could be demon-
strated. Though there were certain major exceptions, including
the Ranger Uranium Project Area near Oenpelli, the Act in its
recognition of indigenous rights was far in advance of legislation
in any of the states except South Australia. Mining royalties were
now available to Aboriginal traditional landowners, though it was
clear that both the Federal Government and the semi-autonomous
Northern Territory legislature (established by Fraser in 1978)
would block the transfer of land held to be especially valuable.
By 1981 Aborigines held over 30 per cent of the Northern
Territory total area under the Land Rights Act.”!

Another Aboriginal initiative which accelerated in the 1970s
was a return to homeland centres. In Central Australia people
began to return to traditional lands outside the cattle areas, in
some instances almost as soon as they had arrived at the large
settlements of Papunya and Yuendumu.’? In the north, early
outstation communities were established at Oenpelli, Goulburn
Island, Milingimbi and Yirrkala, and by 1987, though numbers
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This sign displays the strong anti-alcohol position adopted by
numerous Aboriginal councils. Many communities have declared
their residential areas ‘dry’ and anyone carrying alcohol into such
a township or ‘outstation’ can be fined. ATIATSIS N194.10

fluctuated through seasonal and other factors, there were at least
5500 Aborigines living in 328 Homeland Centres in the Northern
Territory.”? The number of Homeland Centres in other states was
very much smaller, indicating again that in this period the
Commonwealth Government, unhindered by State Government
objections, was prepared to set new benchmarks in the conception
as well as the mechanics of Northern Territory Aboriginal pro-
grammes. Yet the areas where Whites and Aborigines mixed
together in the greatest numbers—the towns and settlements of
the Stuart Highway—continued to resist the efforts of Canberra
legislators. At Alice Springs in 1975, nearly 500 people lived in
18 separate fringe camps almost entirely without water, sewage
or nutrition. Untreated trachoma, ear and skin infections affected
many of the population.”

It was the local Aborigines who began in the 1970s to grapple
with the continuing phenomenon of desert communities who had
wandered from, or had been forced to leave, their homelands and
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had sought sanctuary in the town. With government assistance,
Alice Springs Aborigines formed the Central Australian Aboriginal
Congress in June 1973 partly to attack what they described as the
‘national disgrace’ of the fringe camps. Unlike Strehlow in the
1930s, and the Northern Territory administration in 1946, the
Aborigines did not seek forced repatriation to distant centres nor
the further creation of large settlements. Instead, their starting
point was that most of the fringe campers were there to stay.
Remedies were in part practical: Congress organised 200 tents as
temporary accommodation and a daily pick-up service along the
Todd River for people needing medical treatment. They were
also psychological: Alice Springs Aboriginal leaders had recognised
what the White bureaucracies were much slower to grasp, that
the supply of endless welfare benefits alone would not give
Aborigines a pride in themselves or their heritage. By 1975, for
the first time Aborigines of full descent owned buildings in town,
sought their own federal funds and managed their own
organisations.’>

Not all the urban Whites of the Northern Territory were
content with the prospect of Aborigines living in towns. The
1970-80s, the period of substantial improvements in law and
federal funding, also saw a deterioration in race relations as
Aboriginal political and economic power increased. A particularly
offensive example of this more explicit racism was in 1978
scribbled on a wall of the bar at the Daly Waters Hotel: ‘For
Sale, Gas Ovens (German made) will accomidate at least 30
coons.’76

The graffiti was probably also a reaction to the long familiar
phenomenon of increasing town-fringe Aboriginal populations.
The rapid depopulations from many of the stations after the 1966
Award put an end to any further walk-offs which might have
followed the Gurindji strike. Though some communities, such as
the Mangarayi people near Mataranka, found new living areas
when ejected from the head-station, the more common result of
the equal pay legislation was massive evictions of the old station
populations which in turn created these bigger camps on the
fringes of all the towns of the Stuart Highway, and in some new
areas like Kununurra, Western Australia. Older people, unless
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successful in a land claim, could not return to their birthplace or
traditional country. Young people did not necessarily want to
return permanently. Just as the Western Desert people’s arrivals
caused punitive legislation at Alice Springs in the 1930s, the
growth of the fringe camps in the 1970s—80s caused similar
reactions. White townsfolk petitioned authorities to open new
settlements, asked for greater police protection, and tried to
remove the fringe dwellers by methods of doubtful legality. It is
alleged that in 1977 a police officer at Mataranka, describing a
town camp as unpleasant for tourists, warned the inhabitants to
leave, then set fire to the humpies and drove a truck over anything
that remained. Such town-camp dwellers often had been forcibly
evicted from stations, in this case the famous Elsey Station.”” The
anthropologist Diane Bell described how unalienated Crown land
near Tennant Creek, claimed by Warramungu people under the
Land Rights (NT) Act, was abruptly withdrawn from claim by the
Northern Territory Government while the hearing was in prog-
ress.”® The ‘two-kilometre rule’, by which no person may drink
in a public place nearer than that distance from a liquor outlet,
seems to have been enacted solely to keep Aborigines off the
streets.”?

THE NORTHERN TERRITORY IN CONTEXT

We began this chapter by outlining the ways in which the
Northern Territory was historically different from the rest of
Australia. Today the Northern Territory still remains substantially
different. More than 25 per cent of the population is of Aboriginal
descent. More than half of the still existing 50-100 Aboriginal
languages are spoken in the Territory.8® The Homelands move-
ment is probably more firmly established in the Northern
Territory than elsewhere, as is traditional bushcraft, ceremonial
life and cosmology. Because more Aborigines remained apart from
the Whites for longer, more people than in the southern states
retained a freedom to choose their futures. A greater distance
from mainstream Australia allowed men and women the psycho-
logical space to meditate upon and present powerful alternative
interpretations of their recent history. Hobbles Danayirri of the
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Victoria River District, for instance, chose Captain Cook as the
key representative of English institutions. He reasoned that Cook,
under direct order from England to exploit and abuse the Abor-
igines, carried a book of instructions to Darwin for distribution
to the settlers. Why else did the Whites behave so appallingly
towards the owners of the country:

[Cook] brought a book out from big England; brought a lot of
book from England to Sydney Harbour. And made a new
building. Put all the book and all the government too, from
England right there now . . .

[The book said] Right. If anybody get sick, anybody get
blind; anybody get blind, anybody get broken leg, [they] shot
him. And just work. That’s his law. because he took the land
from the people, Aboriginal people. Some of them alive yet,
running away. Lot of whitefellows come up from Darwin,
Sydney Harbour, look round, and they didn’t ask [Aborigines]
for their country. What for this mob wasn’t telling we [why
didn’t they explain], asking we, huh? And my people started to
work around, old people, and really frightened for the White
people coming from big England. They didn’t ask. And they
were really really sad, poor buggers.8!

Both the unattractive and attractive features of its past history of
race relations remain in the present Northern Territory where
Aborigines continue to be arrested in very high numbers.?2 On
the positive side, Aborigines own an increasing proportion of the
Northern Territory through the operation of the Land Rights
Act, though much of this land had been unused by the Whites.
It is the old Aboriginal stockmen and women who are now
showing Heritage Commission investigations where the early
White pioneers had their homes. The Land Councils wield con-
siderable national political and economic power. The Aboriginal
Areas Protection Authority makes negotiations between develop-
ers and traditional Aboriginal owners obligatory, leading to the
preservation of innumerable sacred places. Dozens of organ-
isations, such as the Central Australian Aboriginal Media
Association, Yipirinya School, and the Tangentyere Town Coun-
cil have shown a lead to other Aborigines. The Northern
Territory has produced many famous figures such as Albert
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Charles Perkins (centre) at the Aboriginal demonstration at the
opening of Parliament by Queen Elizabeth in 1974. As the
reigning monarch, Aborigines recognised the Queen as having
ultimate authority over the delivery of justice for Aborigines.
Despite the British takeover of Australia, she has not made any
strong statements about Aboriginal dispossession. COURIER MAIL

Namatjira, Rosalie Kunoth-Monks, Charles Perkins, Galurrwuy
Yunupingu, and Pat Dodson, Chair of the Federal Government’s
Reconciliation Committee. Mick Dodson held the key role of
Social Justice Commissioner and has been an outspoken concili-
ator in Mabo-related negotiations. Yothu Yindi is an
internationally known band blending traditional and rock music,
whose lead singer, Mandawuy Yunupingu, was Australian of the
Year in 1993. Darwin i1s a very cosmopolitan city in which
Aborigines and non-Aborigines marry more frequently and with
less adverse comment than elsewhere. The police have initiated
a number of remarkable changes including the appointment of
Aboriginal police. Perhaps most importantly, many Aboriginal
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leaders like Pat Dodson, Gallarwuy Yunupingu and Charles Per-
kins believe it is both desirable and possible for Aborigines and
Whites to live together, without the domination of one by the
other. Like Peter Horsetailer who was prepared to help Charles
Chewings find gold in 1909, Northern Territory Aborigines are
taking the lead in offering to share their civilisation. They believe
that if the offer is again rejected, it is the non-Aboriginal Aus-
tralians, not the indigenous people, who will again be the losers.
As Perkins stated:

My expectation of a good Australia is when White people would
be proud to speak an Aboriginal language, when they realise that
Aboriginal culture and all that goes with it, philosophy, art,
language, morality, kinship, is all part of their heritage. And
that’s the most unbelievable thing, that it’s all there waiting for
us all. White people can inherit 40 000 or 60 000 years of
culture, and all they have to do is reach out and ask for it.83
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Tasmania: 1

ODAY there are approximately 8000 Tasmanian Aborigines,

many of whom are politically active and who challenge the
assumptions of the white nation. Outspoken leaders such as
Michael Mansell have argued for a separate Aboriginal nation and
recognition of Aboriginal sovereignty. Although Mansell contin-
ues a long family tradition of struggle for Aboriginal rights,
anxious whites attempt to discredit him by asserting that his blue
eyes and fair skin prove he is ‘not a real Aborigine’. Others say
he is not a ‘real Aborigine’ because of his education and militancy,
a stereotype which he wittily rebukes.

As it is so widely believed that Tasmanian Aborigines disap-
peared from history, the survivors are under a greater historical
burden than the mainlanders. Their struggle is to be recognised
at all.? Recent Liberal governments continue to deny land rights
to Tasmanian Aborigines and in a recent parliamentary speech,
Premier Groom denied that Aborigines were subjected to geno-
cide or that they were ‘deliberately’ exterminated. Writer Robert
Hughes reinforced a racially-based cliche when he described
Tasmania’s history as the ‘only true genocide in English colonial
history’.2 Yet historian Lyndall Ryan reminded us that in terms
of the United Nations Convention on Human Rights, a form of
genocide indeed took place. Part of the problem with the term
‘eenocide’ is whether people are using it in reference to a final
destruction, or an intention to destroy, and whether ‘exter-
mination’ means fotal destruction. It is worth noting that in the
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early 1830s, the Colonial Secretary, Sir George Murray, observed
settler support for a genocidal policy, warning against its
implementation by the colonial government: ‘the adoption of any
line of conduct, having for its avowed or secret object the
extinction of the native race, could not fail to leave an indelible
stain upon the British government.”

307




' Truganini/‘Truggernana’, ¢ 1833—
40. Showing her necklace and
ceremonial markings on her fore-
head and arm, this portrait also
suggests the striking beauty and
presence which so enamoured
British male writers. DIXSON
LIBRARY, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW
SOUTH WALES

By 1837 the Select Committee on Aborigines reported that his
dire prediction had come true, as the ‘race’ had almost died out.

The physical appearance of today’s Tasmanian Aborigines are
a material manifestation of their continuing history, as in another
way, are their current political struggles. Their story is written
into their skin-colours, into their political campaigns, and their
poetry. Tasmanian Aborigines have a strong sense of having been
shaped by a particularly oppressive and destructive history, where
they were viewed as inferior and socially excluded. They are
aware of cultural difference and allegiance to distinctive commu-
nities. There are many family sagas, and most Tasmanian
Aboriginal families know of each other’s existence. Constantly
told they are an extinct race, knowledge of their past has been
crucial to their regaining an even stronger sense of cultural pride.

The story of Tasmanian Aborigines has indeed been one of
virtual destruction and attempted genocide but not of successful
extermination. Strangely, a total ‘disappearance’ was a tidier, more
comfortable history to serve the ambitions of white Australia, for
then colonial takeover was seen as complete. Western scientists
thought Tasmanian Aborigines the most primitive form of human-
kind. It followed that they must die out in the struggle for
‘survival of the fittest’. Their story could be seen as foretelling
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the eventual doom of Aborigines on the mainland and confirming
the inevitable demise of all ‘native’ peoples. Like tracts about the
American Indians such as The Last of the Mohicans (and the more
recent film Dances with Wolves), Charles Bonwick’s The Last of
the Tasmanians, published in 1870, dramatised the sadness of their
‘passing’.*

In the first half of the twentieth century, most westerners
thought that only ghosts of a ‘lost people’ remained. A 1940s
children’s book told of an encounter between the spirit of
Truganini and the small white boy ‘Digit Dick’ when lost in the
Tasmanian bush. Fortunately the melancholy though kindly spirit
led him to safety. Strangely, the white boy is heroic for keeping
the lonely spirit company.> After all, who could be lonelier than
the last of one’s people? Perhaps ghosts were easier to portray
and control than living humans. The myth of a Tasmania empty
of Aborigines was reinforced by such films as Rhys Jones’ The
Last Tasmanians and more recently the rock band Midnight Oil’s
song ‘Trucanini’. Midnight Oil, who have distinguished them-
selves as politically aware and even activists for Aboriginal causes,
apologised in early 1993 to the Tasmanian Aborigines, stating that
they had thought Truganini was indeed ‘the last Tasmanian’.

By contrast, the 1992 film Black Man’s Houses tells us a great
deal about the recent struggle of Tasmanian Aborigines to reclaim
their history by identifying the graves of their ancestors. The
white people’s power was corrosive; when they whispered
‘Aboriginal blood’, it meant something to be ashamed of, some-
one to reject. Such discrimination encouraged Tasmanians of
Aboriginal descent to stick together.

Before the British invasion of Tasmania, the Tasmanians prob-
ably numbered between three and four thousand, although the
number could have been higher. There were at least 50 bands,
organised into nine regional ‘tribes’ or wider political units. These
people regularly met, shared adjacent areas of land, exchanged
rituals and intermarried. Their movements and diverse hunting
and gathering activities varied regionally. The largest tribe was
the Opyster Bay people, which comprised ten bands, and totalled
over 700 people. Their territory spanned 7800 square kilometres,
covering 515 kilometres of coastline. They ate shellfish from
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estuarine beds, birds, possum, wallaby and kangaroo from open
forests and plains, and a wealth of vegetables. Various groups
travelled to exchange ochre, shells and necklaces and to obtain
the potentially intoxicating Eucalyptus gunii of the Big River
country.® Amongst the North Oyster Bay people, seasonal move-
ments took place in spring and autumn. They spent winter on
the coast and summer inland. The North Midlands country was
often visited, though usually they would return to the coast at
the end of January for sealing and muttonbirding. Another tribe,
the North East people, travelled to muttonbirding and sealing
areas in April and May. They also hunted emus, swans, ducks
and seals, and used the eggs of swans and ducks for food.
Echidnas, wombats, and ferns, roots and fungi were included in
the diet. From July to September, bands congregated around
lagoons and estuaries to collect freshly laid swan and duck eggs.

Cut off from the mainland for 10 000 years after the last ice
age, Tasmanian Aborigines adapted their culture to the environ-
ment. About 4000 years ago they ceased to eat scale fish and
stopped making bone tools. Stone tools were refined, however,
and along areas of the west coast, many people lived in village-like
settlements, where they could almost continuously exploit shell-
fish, seals, muttonbirds and kangaroos.” They also had a distinctive
appearance; they greased, ochred and twisted their hair and
applied reddish ochre to their skin.

Isolation made Tasmanians a culturally distinct people from
mainland Aborigines. Their languages showed links to the main-
land groups but also unique characteristics. The men carried fire,
and often wore ornaments consisting of the bones of dead kin.
Like mainland Aborigines, the women usually procured the staple
foodstuffs; they transported babies on their shoulders, and carried
water containers and baskets, digging sticks and stone tools.
Tasmanian Aborigines believed in ‘star gods’, a good spirit who
governed the day and a bad spirit who dominated the night. They
believed that a guardian spirit or ‘soul’ occupied their left breast
and went elsewhere after death.

Waves of white visitors were to have a dramatic effect on
their lives. While Abel Tasman’s expedition of 1642 made no
contact with Aborigines, that of the Frenchman, Captain Marion
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du Fresne in 1772, ended in conflict and misunderstanding, with
at least one Aboriginal person killed. Early visitors to Van
Diemen’s Land such as the French naturalist Labillardiere
described Aborigines in 1792 as peaceable, though in a state of
shock at sighting white men. They eventually approached, accept-
ing handkerchiefs and binding them round their heads. But when
shown a sword, they became terrified.?

M. Peron left fascinating accounts of the earliest encounters
between Aborigines and Frenchmen of the Baudin expedition of
1802. At Port Cygnet on the D’Entrecasteaux Channel, two
Aboriginal men joined the French. They were astonished by the
whiteness of the newcomers’ skin, and opened their waistcoasts
and shirts, reacting with ‘loud cries of surprise’ and ‘extremely
quick stamping of the feet’. They then gazed at the ship, its
timbers, construction, masts and sails. When one man was offered
a bottle of ‘grog’, he was shocked by the brightness of the glass,
threw it into the sea, then ignored it. A family group who joined
the members of the expedition attracted interest, especially a
woman in her twenties, who was:

of pretty robust constitution . . . entirely naked, with the
exception of a kangaroo skin, in which she carried a little girl,
who she still suckled. Her breasts, a little withered already,
appeared otherwise pretty well formed, and sufficiently furnished
with milk . . . The girl’s eyes had expression, and something of
the spirituel which surprised us . . . She appeared, also, to
cherish her child much; and her care for her had that
affectionate and gentle character which is exhibited among all
races as the particular attribute of maternal tenderness.”

Like the British observers at Port Jackson, Peron was fascinated
by the women’s appearance, referring to the charcoal which the
charming girl Oura Oura smeared on her cheeks as ‘the rouge
of these regions’. After its application, she appeared more confi-
dent, leading Peron to remark that the taste for ornament and
‘the sentiment of coquetry’ were ‘innate in the heart of woman’.
As a gallant gesture, before bowing to her beauty, Peron drew
off his glove; she was horrified, thinking that he had peeled off
his skin. When an old Aboriginal man invited the French arrivals
to a meal of cockels and mussels, Peron joined them, singing the
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‘Marsellaise’ and other ‘more tender airs’ which the party
approved with excited gestures.!® These first encounters were
times where each party gazed with intense interest if not amaze-
ment at the other. In retrospect these were moments to be
cherished: moments of promising warmth and openness, of rec-
ognition of a common humanity. They were rare times of mutual
trust between the indigenes and the foreigners and certainly the
last time the visitors, the strangers, would all return permanently
to their homelands.

The earliest regular visitors to Tasmania were less cultivated,
although equally interested in the Aboriginal women. The sealers,
who first arrived in 1800, were a rough fraternity of entrepre-
neurs. Initially ships were sent from the United States, Britain
and Sydney to take as many fur seals as possible; later this was
rationalised so that groups of ten to fifteen men would catch the
seals from November to May, then return next season. They
needed the peaceful co-operation of the Aborigines and keenly
sought female company. Only a few hundred men arrived each
year but it was an intensive industry, with over 100 000 seals
slaughtered for skins between 1800 to 1806.11 From 1804, whalers
also visited the D’Entrecasteaux Channel and in 1822 a temporary
whaling station was opened at Port Davey and others followed.

Local Aborigines customarily visited the islands for the
muttonbird season around May. At first wary of the newcomers,
they eventually began a trade in kangaroo and seal skins in
exchange for tobacco, flour and tea. Later, in an attempt to
integrate the white men into their society, women’s sexual
services were offered in exchange for hunting dogs, flour and
other gifts. Such payments had parallels in customary marriage
negotiations, and these new-style marriages had the potential to
be mutually advantageous. Since the sealers did not require large
areas of land or permanent settlements, there was more scope for
co-operative arrangements than in later phases of white occupa-
tion. Local bands incorporated the sealers into their own
economy; they met them upon arrival, held a dance then a
conference where women partners were allocated for the men.
For such purposes, Aboriginal men abducted women from
neighbouring bands, to be exchanged with sealers for sought-after
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commodities. Where possible, the local economy and inter-band
relations were thus adapted to take advantage of the sealers’
presence.

Often Aborigines had no choice. When the sealers failed to
obtain women voluntarily, they murdered Aboriginal men and
subjected women to abduction and rape. Gun-wielding raiders
made women submit by chaining, whipping or starving them. It
was not uncommon for girls of eight or nine to be forced to
cohabit with white men, as in the case of Jumbo, employed by
James Munroe. Another young woman named Moreterm-
orrerlunener, alias Poll, loyally cared for the invalid Charley
Peterson.!?2 Sealers and whalers often enjoyed the services of
several wives.

Aboriginal men like Mannalargenna also undertook voyages
with the sealers, although the women were preferred. They
performed all tasks associated with sealing, becoming indispensable
to the industry. One woman, Fanny Hardwick, could navigate a
schooner and ‘could hand reef and steer’.!> Women also supplied
the men’s diet, including shellfish, native vegetables, kangaroo,
and other necessities. Unwilling workers were brutally coerced:
one man called Harrington, had ten to fifteen women working
for him, each placed on different islands. If they procured insuf-
ficient kangaroo skins, he tied them to trees for up to 36 hours
and flogged them intermittently. When women defiantly resisted,
sealers murdered them in cold blood.'*

Sometimes the women preferred to be with the sealers rather
than face tribal punishments. They also avoided being removed
again by government agents. At Bruny Island, young women
frequented the whalers’ camps to obtain food and they were
sometimes in a strong bargaining position.'> Aboriginal men often
disapproved, complaining to white officials. George Augustus
Robinson, a builder and evangelist who led numerous expeditions
to liaise with Aborigines on behalf of the government, noted that
the men were fond of their wives and children. Women who
became captives of sealers or whalers could only communicate
with their men via smoke signals. As a result of the trade in
women, Aboriginal men faced severe difficulties finding partners,
upon whom they had previously relied for many things, including
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an adequate diet. Pondering the importance of women’s tasks,
Aborigines asked Robinson of his wife Maria’s activities in
England; did she swim in salt water and get crawfish and mut-
tonfish?16

Aboriginal men’s desperation to find women also led to serious
tensions between the clans and tribes. Dejection and loneliness
often set in, exacerbating sickness. Venereal and other diseases
were spreading rapidly and the death toll was high.l7” Resulting
infertility posed devastating consequences for the future, with
many women never producing any children, and of those born,
many died young. Of the nine women at Oyster Cove in 1869,
only two ever had children; one had a single child and the other
had two but all soon died. When asked why there were so few
children, one woman laughed abrasively; another asked, ‘“What
por? blackfellow, him all die.’!8

Convicts were transported to what was known as Van
Diemen’s Land from 1803. These included the toughest recalci-
trants, exiled anew. Until 1809, severe food shortages meant they
were encouraged to forage in the bush, leading to unrecorded
conflicts and brutality against Aborigines. Bushranging became
widespread, and Aboriginal women were frequently abducted as
partners.!'” The first large-scale massacre was inflicted by soldiers
at the official settlement of Risdon, near Hobart, on 3 May 1804.
A party of 300 Aboriginal men, women and children were
approaching the settlement, singing and carrying boughs as a
symbol of peace, when the military panicked and opened fire.
The assembly may have been about to conduct a ceremony, as
they were reported to be carrying numerous kangaroo carcasses.
Reports conflicted: one stated that the soldier who first fired was
suffering an overdose of rations’ rum; another alleged that a white
woman had been ‘ill-used’. British officers explained that they
feared the size of the Aboriginal party and had sighted spears;
another witness said they had waddies, not spears. Whatever took
place, the previously friendly Aborigines thereafter avoided the
settlement and were increasingly violent.20

Between 1807 and 1820, free agricultural ‘settlers’ arrived in
Van Diemen’s Land, and after 1822, a contingent of pastoralists
occupied the remaining land for sheep-farming. The free settlers
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used convict labour extensively. From a non-Aboriginal popula-
tion of 2000 in 1817, numbers rose dramatically to 13 000 by
1824, and 23 500 by 1830. The second wave of immigration saw
large grants of land given to pastoralists; by 1830 a million sheep
occupied Aboriginal lands, more than in New South Wales. The
speed and intensity of the pastoral invasion had devastating con-
sequences on Aboriginal life.

Many Aboriginal children were captured by whites and
brought up by white families. This was often justified as ‘saving’
them from barbarism or starvation. George Van Diemen was one
boy supposedly ‘found’ in the bush. Baptised and taught ‘letters
and prayers’, he was ‘weaned from his wandering habits’. He was
taken to England, partly as an ‘experiment’ to see if he could be
civilised. His mentors were pleased with their results but he died
prematurely in 1828. By 1817, at least 50 Aboriginal children
were being used as cheap labour in settlers’ homes. If the children
survived to puberty, they then rebelled, seeking their own people
or taking to the streets.2! Girls who drank, stole or prostituted
themselves were classed as ‘bad’, relieving onlookers of any
concern for their physical or mental well-being.

Settler attitudes hardened: they bragged of the number of
‘black crows’ they destroyed, and of killing Aborigines for dog
food. Stock-keepers wantonly fired at and killed Aborigines,
leaving the remains around their properties. Other terrible slaugh-
ters took place as ‘inoffensive’ camps of Aborigines slept. Chilling
stories abound. A white man called Carrots murdered an Aborig-
inal man in order to acquire his Aboriginal wife; he then forced
her to wear her husband’s head tied around her neck. Bonwick
told of two white men out shooting birds who sighted an
Aboriginal woman hiding in a tree. Her advanced pregnancy had
prevented her from fleeing with her kin. One of the men planned
to shoot but the other objected. Undeterred, he dropped behind
and fired at her. After a shocking scream, a new-born infant fell
from the tree.??

Aborigines resisted but at a cost of further violence, either
against them or their community. One Aboriginal woman who
was caught and chained to a log managed to slip the bullock-chain
from her leg and escape. Her captor was later found in a state of
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near-starvation, as he was used to relying on the food she
supplied. Another cruel abductor gave his traumatised captive a
flogging each morning with a bullock whip to ‘subdue her sulks’,
then tied her to a tree until his evening return. This man was
later found speared to death.??

Indeed, the Tasmanian frontier saw bitter struggles. The height
of the conflict was between 1824 and 1834, when increasing areas
of land were being exploited by sheep farmers. In the early period,
disease did not take as many Aboriginal lives as in New South
Wales, perhaps because they continued to obtain a good high-
protein diet with a good intake of vitamins. Frontier conflict,
however, was intense. It was much worse and within closer range
of townships than experienced on the Hawkesbury in the 1790s
but it was perhaps comparable to the Bathurst and Hunter Valley
regions in the 1820s. Specific revenge killing progressed to general
attacks on the British as a whole.2* One white observer recorded
that chiefs of bush clans had told him that they acted violently
against whites because ‘they and their forefathers had been cruelly
abused, that their country had been taken away from them, their
wives and daughters had been violated and taken away and that
they had experienced a multitude of wrongs . . . 2> One of the
great rebel heroes was Mosquito, who had been exiled to Van
Diemen’s Land after being held on Norfolk Island; he was
allegedly responsible for serious Aboriginal resistance in New
South Wales. His Tasmanian raids upon James Hobbs’ property
at Eastern Marshes in 1823 infuriated the white residents. With
a keen sense of British offensive strategies, he waited until the
muskets had discharged, then attacked the British. Governor
Arthur offered a reward for his capture but he was not caught
until an Aboriginal man, Tegg, tracked him. Although unarmed
and alone, Mosquito was shot in the groin before being brought
to trial for murder. He had desperately wanted to return to
Sydney but past promises for his return had not been kept. His
farcical trial offered him no translators and relied upon convict
witnesses. He was hanged on 24 February 1825.

According to Robinson, Tasmanian Aborigines exhibited a
‘Determined Spirit of Hostility’, with ‘acts of outrage’ committed
on the lives and property of non-Aborigines in every ‘settled’
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district. Massacres had led to their ‘bloodthirsty temper’; they
wanted to atone for aggression by murdering their enemies.2¢
Such Aboriginal men often eluded their pursuers, their tracking
and bush skills putting them at an advantage. Governor Arthur
thus wrote: ‘They suddenly appear, commit some act of outrage
and then as suddenly vanish; if pursued it seems impossible to
surround and capture them.” Rugged mountain and thick forest
areas provided excellent opportunities for Aboriginal escape from
British. The relatively small number of horses on the island and
British inexperience at rough mountain riding worked to their
advantage.?’ They also exploited the inefficiency of pre-1850s
European weaponry.

By the 1830s, Tasmanian Aborigines had a generation of
experience of the British and their weapons, and many spoke
English proficiently. Aborigines took a variety of items from the
invaders’ camps or huts, including guns, shot and powder. They
abused the invaders, shouting such things as, ‘Get out you white
buggers, what are you doing here?’2® A six-foot tall woman called
Walyer or Mary-Ann, was described as an ‘amazon’; the tribal
leader, she stood on a hill giving orders for the men to spear the
whites. Walyer swore at the white men, taunting them to come
out and be speared.?? She was considered very dangerous; she had
killed whites and was feared by her own people. Walyer attempted
to murder the sealers who were exiling her to Penguin Island.
She also plotted the murder of Turnbull, the man who transported
her to George Augustus Robinson at Swan Island, because she
wanted to steal his boat and return to the mainland. Robinson
separated her from his other captives, for he saw her as able to
incite a mutiny. He also prevented her from rejoining her clan,
whom she would rally for aggression.30

Successive governors had been in a bind. Their first interest
was the settlement’s success but the influence of the anti-slavery
movement meant they must appear to have humane sentiments
towards indigenes. Governor Collins thus condemned the
‘abominable cruelty and murders’ suffered by Aborigines. Gover-
nor Davey wrote in 1813 that he ‘could not have believed that
British subjects would have so ignominiously stained the honour
of their country and themselves, as to have acted in the manner
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they did towards Aborigines’.3? Occasionally someone was pun-
ished: one white man for exposing the severed ears of an
Aboriginal child who had been mutilated, one man flogged for
cutting oft the finger of an Aboriginal person. No white man was
ever brought to trial, however, for murdering an Aborigine. With
a background of humanitarian concern regarding the treatment
of slaves in British Honduras, Governor George Arthur’s arrival
in 1824 looked auspicious. Yet he underestimated Aborigines. He
blamed murders of whites upon the corrupted ‘civilised’” Aborig-
ines and attempted to establish native institutions. Aborigines
refused to stay there, for they did not want to move permanently
off their country, or be separated from their children. Following
the colonial policy in Canada and the Cape Colony of southern
Africa, Arthur imagined a large reserve on the north-east coast.
Fearful of Aboriginal attacks, the British tried to justify their plan
by resort to Christian teachings about ‘husbanding’ the land.

In April 1828, Arthur’s Proclamation of Demarcation had
ordered a ‘temporary separation of the Coloured from the British
population of this Territory’ but it was the Aborigines who were
forced to depart. A line of military posts demarcated the settled
districts. With the aid of the soldiers and well-armed constables,
all magistrates and others were to effect ‘the retirement or
expulsion of the Aborigines from the Settled Districts of this
Territory’. If persuasion did not work, Aborigines were to be
captured. Thenceforth they became ‘prisoners’, treated, so the
proclamation read, ‘with the utmost humanity and compassion’.
Force was to be used with ‘the greatest caution and forbearance’
but it was to be used. Aborigines were to be captured, with
whatever consequences. In order to travel in their own country,

Opposite: Governor Davey’s Proclamation to the Aborigines, 1816.
Many slightly different versions of this illustrated order were
hand-copied or hand-coloured. It is dated as ¢ 1828-30? The text,
suggestive of black American creole and pidgin English, reads:
““Why Massa Gubernor” said Black Jack “You Proclamation all
gammon . . . How blackfellow read him eh? He no learn him
read book.” “Read that then” said the Governor, pointing to a
picture.’ MITCHELL LIBRARY, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH
WALES
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Aboriginal leaders had to possess ‘a General Passport signed and
sealed by Governor Arthur’.32 Although clothed in acceptable
humanitarian rhetoric, the actual intentions of the proclamation
could not be disguised. Aborigines were to be considered enemy
aliens in their own country, and if they survived capture, were
to be interned—first by imprisonment and later by convincing
them to adopt a European lifestyle in a confined area.

When hostilities continued, Arthur declared martial law against
Aborigines in the ‘settled districts’ in November 1828. This
declaration of war authorised the military to shoot any Aboriginal
person upon sight. Martial law was to stay in force for three
years.33 Arthur set up six roving parties to hunt down or capture
the 200 Aborigines residing near settled districts. Some were
caught and gaoled, or conscripted to work in the parties.

Arthur justified his actions to the Colonial Office:

All the Aboriginal Tribes of this island with which we are
acquainted, except the tribe who visit Brune Island, are actuated
with one common purpose of murdering the white inhabitants
whenever met with . . . their attacks had been unhappily
attended with a degree of success . . . well calculated to produce
the great state of alarm which appeared to be felt generally by
the interior settlers and servants in husbandry.3*

Attacks against white women and children caused the most
extreme responses. Aborigines were blamed for their own fate;
writing to the Hobart Town Press, Gilbert Robertson criticised
Aboriginal men for their role in prostitution and Aboriginal
women for their willingness. Associated murders were blamed ‘as
much to the depraved taste of the aboriginal as to the moral
turpitude of the Whites’.3>

Military operations now extended to remote districts. In 1830
a bounty was introduced with five pounds for every adult Aborig-
ine captured, and two pounds for each child. Warfare by the Oyster
Bay and Big River Aborigines against the settlers led to a full-scale
military expedition. In October 1830, the notorious ‘Black Line’
was established. Every able-bodied male colonist, convict or free,
was to form a human chain which would move across the settled
districts, forming a pincer shape which would be cordoned oft by
military forces. The aim was to drive Aborigines oft their lands to

320



TASMANIA: 1

the Tasman Peninsula. On 7 October, 2000 free men, 500 troops
and 700 convicts were assembled. For three weeks this intimidating
force beat through bushes, built defensive huts and battled pouring
rain. But they captured only two Aborigines and shot two. Various
groups may have been driven away and a dozen more captured
afterwards. Obviously Aborigines had been vigilantly watching
whites and had prior intelligence of the event.’® Once again, it
seemed that the Aborigines had temporarily beaten their foe.

Humanitarians, newspaper commentators and even those most
involved in conquering the Aborigines, had uneasy consciences.
By 1832 Governor Arthur regretted the horrific violence of
settlement, blaming the lack of an initial treaty. Stating that this
was ‘a great oversight’, he urged that in any future colonies, an
understanding should be reached before settlement commenced
and that land be purchased from indigenous people.?” After
describing a ‘diabolical outrage’ against men and women, George
Augustus Robinson wrote in one of his journals:

Thus it is that their wrongs are handed down from generation to
generation. The children have witnessed the massacre of their
parents and their relations carried away into captivity by these
merciless invaders, their country has been taken from them and
the kangaroo, their chief subsistence, have been slaughtered
wholesale . . . Can we wonder then at the hatred they bear to
the white inhabitants? This enmity is not the effect of the
moment. Like a fire burning underground, it has burst forth. We
should make some atonement for the misery we have entailed
upon the original proprietors of this land.38

An 1836 article in the Hobart Town Times stated:

They have been murdered in cold blood. They have been shot
in the woods, and hunted down as beasts of prey. Their women
have been contaminated, and then had their throats cut, or been
shot, by the British residents, who would fain call themselves
civilized people. The Government, too, by the common
hangman, sacrificed the lives of such of the Aborigines . . . to
its shame be it recorded, in no one instance, on no single
occasion, ever punished, or threatened to punish, the
acknowledged murderers of the aboriginal inhabitants.3?

Yet British invaders were deeply threatened by their courageous,
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strategically ingenious adversary. Between 1824 and 1831, at least
60 British were killed by Aboriginal people in the Big River
district alone. They speared sheep and cattle, burnt homes and
wheatstacks, raided huts and stole firearms. On the other hand,
the Big River people suffered dreadfully, with some 240 of them
killed. Of the 300 alive in 1823, only 60 remained by 1831.
Women had been abducted, and many others shot. About 700
Tasmanian Aborigines were killed by violence, and about 176
British were killed by Aborigines. While the indigenous people
came off far worse, they mounted an effective resistance, killing
more of the British than elsewhere—a ratio of one British to four
Aboriginal people as compared with one to ten elsewhere in
Australia.*© Umarrah, a North Midlands leader, explained that the
murders of whites were intended to stop them driving kangaroos
off their hunting grounds. Aborigines continued to wage war in
the areas of British settlement, even when their numbers were
depleted.

Desperate to improve the colony’s image to prospective set-
tlers, Governor Arthur had wanted to contain Aboriginal
aggression by forcing them to relinquish their traditional lifestyle,
which demanded extensive land-use. Capture was his chosen
technique. In July 1829, three women were thus caught, treated
‘kindly’ then told to distribute presents to their tribe. Released
from their detention, they were delegated to ‘assure them of the
friendly feeling of the government towards them, and invite them
to be conciliated’. The female ‘embassy’, as he saw it, brought
in the chief and nine men for clothing and food but the mission
was declared a failure, as the group soon plundered their providers
and deserted.*! Arthur later decided to obtain a missionary who
would gain the sympathy of Aborigines and convince them to
move to a reserve from which they could not escape. The rhetoric
of ‘protecting’ their welfare sounded better than ‘confinement’ or
exclusion from their own lands. The project to curb Aboriginal
assaults was thus referred to as a ‘friendly mission’. In 1829,
George Augustus Robinson was employed on 100 pounds a year
to help the friendly Aborigines on Bruny Island and to make
arrangements for those captured from settled districts.

Robinson’s diaries provide important insights into the tragedies
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endured by the Tasmanian Aborigines. His records also reveal the
extent of depopulation. At Bruny Island, he found only nineteen
Aborigines from tribes which six years previously had numbered
160. Even those who had agreed to co-operate with whites had
been 1ill-treated. Nelson, the leader of the island, suffered
attempted rapes by the soldiers and her husband was shot dead
when attempting to escape. Robinson set up a mission station
along South Pacific lines, distributed clothing and convict rations.
None of these arrangements were conducive to good health; the
death toll was shocking. Where possible, Aborigines left when
illness struck, some moving to a nearby whaling station. Bruny
Island Mission failed and in 1831 the survivors were moved to
Gun Carriage Island but they died of sickness, depression, con-
finement. Flinders Island Settlement was then established in 1835
with 123 residents but by 1838, 59 people had died. Despite
illness, they were expected to work hard; the women collected
heavy loads of thatching grass and the men built roads. Robinson
claimed they were superior to white men at this work.*? Arguing
that they were suffering ‘mental irritation’, Robinson lobbied for
the Tasmanians to accompany him to his new job in Port
Phillip,** so fifteen more Aboriginal people were taken from
Tasmania.

Writer Viviene Rae Ellis saw Robinson as a mesmeriser of
Aborigines, who tricked them into capitulation, especially agree-
ment to surrender their country. Henry Reynolds disagrees,
arguing that they were not passive dupes; the process was one of
active Aboriginal negotiation. They agreed to move to an island
only on the firm condition that their needs would be fully met,
including their requirement to make regular return journeys to
the mainland. They were not to know that this verbal contract
would be broken. Robinson knew Aborigines were insulted by
interference so he gained their trust by taking an interest in their
language, customs and welfare without overtly trying to change
them. Robinson was to ‘work on their feelings’ then resort to
whatever was required to ensure ‘their voluntary submission to
the British yoke’.## Whether this truly comprised ‘conciliation’ is
highly debatable, as the outcome was already decided.

By 1829, Robinson estimated that only two or three hundred
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‘Woureddy’ of Brune Island
¢ 1833. Truganini’s husband
appears a forceful, strong and dig-
nified man. DIXON LIBRARY,
STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH
WALES

Aborigines had survived, far fewer than fearful white ‘settlers’
imagined. Robinson gained important intelligence regarding
which Aborigines had committed recent murders, and their strat-
egies of warfare. He formed especially close relations with
Truganini, whom he first met as a seventeen-year old, and for
whom he did not disguise his sexual attraction. She was reported
by many observers as good-humoured, with a beautiful face and
body. Her father, Mangana, was chief of the Bruny Island tribe.
Truganini’s life was indeed tragic; as a small child, her mother
was stabbed to death by British men, then her two sisters were
kidnapped, and one of them, Moorinna, was later shot dead by
a sealer. At the age of sixteen, when her promised husband tried
to save her from abduction, she watched as he was mutilated and
drowned.4> Between 1830 and 1834, Robinson travelled with a
party of about thirteen Aborigines, including Truganini,
Wooraddy, who later became her husband, his sons Peter and
Davy, Truganini’s companions, Pagerly and Dray, and a British
escort party including fourteen convicts. They journeyed around
the coastline and interior of Tasmania attempting to locate and
negotiate with the remaining Aborigines.*¢ By 1831, several
Aborigines from New South Wales were brought in to act as
trackers and intermediaries in the roving parties. Others were
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released from gaol on condition that they work in the expedi-
tions.*

During their west coast journey, Robinson began a sexual
relationship with Truganini, whom he called ‘my Lydgugee’. Her
devotion and their intimacy became a subject of discreet com-
ment. Robinson secretly mentioned ‘pargener’ or kissing in his
own journal of 1837, perhaps to keep the affair from his wife
Maria,*® but probably more so from his own employers. Truganini
knew that she would have better survival chances if she stayed
with Robinson, who she understood to be a powerful man in
the new social order. She became Robinson’s mistress to achieve
a political alliance and protection, and when Robinson failed to
fulfil them, Wooraddy tried to kill him.#* Truganini refused to
mediate with certain Aboriginal people; when travelling in the
Big River region, a woman from that group mediated with the
locals. Truganini criticised Robinson’s strategies and later flouted
his authority. On an 1839 journey with Robinson to Port Phillip,
she absconded, raided and looted shepherd’s huts, and successfully
tracked down and shot one of the whalers who had abducted her
sister eleven years earlier.5¢

When Truganini died in 1876, it became legend that she was
the last ‘real’ or ‘full-blood’ Tasmanian Aborigine. This was not
true, however, as another woman living with a sealing community
on Kangaroo Island, Suke, lived until 1888. Fanny Cochrane-
Smith also survived her, living until 1905, but on the basis of
contemporary genetic theories, scientists believed that Fanny
could not be a ‘real Aborigine’. Count Strzelecki’s theory pro-
pounded that an Aboriginal woman could not give birth to a
black child if she had produced a white man’s child, like Fanny’s
mother. In 1884, Fanny successfully gained title to 300 acres of
land and a government annuity, which she saw as compensation
for the loss of Aboriginal land.5!

The surviving Aboriginal communities mainly inhabited cer-
tain islands off Tasmania. Most, like the Cape Barren Island
community, were descendents of the Aboriginal women who
lived with whalers and sealers.>2 In 1871, the colonial government
offered those living on Cape Barren Island blocks of land, and
gave Aborigines exclusive rights to the muttonbird rookeries on
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The Conciliation by Duterrau. A dramatic sketch of Robinson
befriending and negotiating with different Aboriginal peoples,
1835. Truganini stands in the background. According to Benjamin
Brau, his etching was part of a ‘National Picture’. MITCHELL
LIBRARY, STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Chappell and Big Dog islands. Muttonbirding was an integral part
of the economy and lifestyle of many Aborigines. They continued
traditional movement patterns, valued singing, and pursued crafts
such as making shell necklaces. In 1881, land was reserved for
their occupation but they had no security of tenure, leading some
to depart to Flinders Island.>3

Nor did the geographic isolation of island life guarantee
freedom from interference, for the Anglican bishop, Charles
Bromby, objected to their lifestyle, demanding they become a
‘settled community’ that tilled the soil. Missionaries imposed their
notions of ‘civilisation’ and godliness upon an often unwilling
community. When Edward Stephens, a missionary school teacher,
arrived on Cape Barren Island in 1890, the community of 110
people soon objected to his attempt to control their lives. Extreme
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tensions and mistrust arose, with islanders withdrawing their
children from the school, accusing Stephens of adultery, being
intoxicated in front of the school children, and even of attempted
murder. Hilarious rumours spread about the night-shirt clad
Stephens singing ‘God save the Queen’ on the roof of the toilet,
then engaging in drunken revelry with the Bishop. Stephens was
indeed having a horrific battle with his alcoholism, and contem-
plated suicide. After he suffered a nervous collapse, his son Charles
replaced him, only to face a resurgence of islander resistance. The
residents had rejoiced in driving his father away and formed an
Islander association, rather pointedly stating that they did not want
to become ‘like white people’. They knew how to goad young
Stephens by testing him on his own terms; one strategy was for
parents to wait outside the school checking his punctuality against
the school clock. By 1899, Stephens despaired, telling the Bishop
that the Aborigines would give ‘more trouble than the Boers are
giving Great Britain’.5*

Unlike all the other colonies and later states, the Tasmanian
Government had no specific legislation concerning Aboriginal
people. It was the Islanders’ agitation which led to some relevant
enactments. Insecurity of tenure continued to trouble them, for
they were often criticised for their land-use styles, and knew that
white graziers and other settlers were eager to take over their
island lands. The Aborigines actively campaigned for indepen-
dence and less restrictive allocation and conditions regarding
blocks of land. In 1911, they sent a petition to Parliament; having
a strong sense of community identity, they objected to young
women being entitled to blocks because they did not want
outsiders marrying into their community in order to acquire
land.5> In the 1930s they lobbied against further missionaries,
stating, ‘we decidedly object to people coming here to save us
. . . . Instead, they wanted work.5¢ Although not well off, the
people supported each other, and enjoyed sharing sports days,
dances and hunting excursions. Nonetheless, they were closely
policed by the school teacher, who enforced regulations regarding
visitors and behaviour on the island.

The Cape Barren Island Reserve Act, 1912 represented an
achievement in its acknowledgement of Aboriginal existence and
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occupation. While it officially entrenched the belief that Islanders
were the only Aboriginal people or descendents of such in
Tasmania, their hold on the land remained insecure, and from
1945 the leases of many families were cancelled. The Reserve Act,
1945 was intended to phase out the reserve by 1951, ensuring
its residents would become part of the wider community. As part
of the assimilation policy, the Islanders were thus encouraged to
leave—sometimes by the offer of a house, or the withholding of
social service benefits. On the one hand, the State Government
claimed there were no Aborigines, yet they accepted federal grants
to rehouse them. Unemployment, withdrawal of government
spending on the island, concern for their children’s future, and
several poor muttonbird seasons all contributed further pressure
towards mainland migration. Aborigines were relocated to small
run-down houses in suburbs such as Invermay and Mayfield
Creek, and allocated unskilled jobs. They often suffered over-
crowding, poverty and discrimination by employers, police and
in public places such as hotels.>”

Many Aborigines refused to leave Cape Barren Island, taking
out leases or merely ‘sitting’ on the land, arguing they had already
paid for it after the 1912 Act and would not pay again. They
also believed they deserved compensation because their country
was taken over by the whites.>® By the 1960s, the Social Welfare
Department was offering them jobs and homes in Launceston and
many accepted.’® Government policy continued to encourage
them to relocate, whilst the Islanders argued for redevelopment
of the island. Rifts developed between those who had refused to
leave the islands and those who left for jobs. Discrimination
against Aborigines also led many to deny their ancestry. As Albert
Deverall recalled, ‘If people could get away with passing as white,
they did. It saved a lot of heartbreak.’®® For many other Aborig-
ines, the experience of discrimination led to a stronger sense of
self~identity. Their island bases or origins gave Aborigines a strong
sense of shared community and they returned regularly.

Official Aboriginal population figures reflected changing state
policies towards Aborigines. Before 1967, Aborigines were not
counted in the National Census, and any other enumeration
excluded Aborigines according to ‘caste’, with anyone below
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‘octoroon’ omitted. In 1971, 675 Aborigines were enumerated,
by 1976, 2943 and by 1986, this had jumped to 6712.6!
Tasmanian Aborigines, especially those based on the Tasma-
nian mainland, strengthened their political activities, establishing
the Tasmanian Aboriginal Centre in 1973 and the Aboriginal
Legal Service as bases for political action, struggles for education
and justice. They also agitated for Aboriginal studies in schools
and at tertiary level. Land rights and recognition of sacred sites
became a central part of their struggle. Sites of former reserves
such as Oyster Cove, Cape Barren Island, Wybalena, Cape Grim
and other islands had associations with massacres and the ‘decline
of our tribal ancestors’. So far the claims have had only marginal
success. Aborigines object to having to pay for hunting or fishing
licences, as they see these as traditional land-use rights.®2 A 1976
land rights claim was presented to State and Federal Governments,
and in the following year, at Wrest Point Casino, Michael Mansell
presented a petition to the Queen. In 1978 an ‘Aboriginal
Parliament’ was set up in the parliamentary reserve. The State
Government established an Aboriginal Affairs Study Group to
consider certain requests but consultation with Aboriginal people
was 1inadequate.®® After 1978, some land was acquired: this
included Trefoil Island, 20 hectares of Cape Barren Island and
some blocks in Launceston, purchased through the federally
funded Aboriginal Land Fund Commission. These properties
became important bases for community and political development.
Traditions such as muttonbirding continue.®* Aboriginal fam-
ilies return to the islands for the season, often in their own sailing
boats, where the birds are plucked, cleaned, cooked and pre-
served. Wild berries and vegetables such as grass-tree centre,
pig-face and she-oak nuts sometimes accompany the feasts.
Muttonbirding is a family activity and a direct link with the past.
Ida West remembers the dances held after birding. “You had to
shampoo your hair, wash it two or three times before you could
go to the dance. You never could get rid of the smell of the
birds or the feathers.’®> Older Aborigines still teach children about
native foods and bush medicines. They remember their child-
hoods, and reminisce about catching wallabies, possums and
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echidna and collecting choke apples, wild potatoes, fern roots,
and shellfish.

Ida West’s family—the Everett-Armstrongs—Iliked fishing,
though the ‘old folk’ now advised they should only eat fish ‘with
scales on’. Ida West has her own brand of spirituality which
combines Christianity with belief in premonitions, ghosts, and the
spirits associated with graves and land.®® For her, such spiritual
feelings authenticate the past in the contemporary landscape.

Aboriginal heritage was recognised by the High Court in the
Franklin Dam case in 1983, where ancient archaeological sites
played an important role in the argument against the dam’s
construction. Justice Murphy argued that their preservation could
strengthen Aboriginal identity and promote tolerance of Aborig-
ines amongst the general community. ‘Because of the attempted
genocide of the Aboriginal race in Tasmania, which extended to
their customs, tribal structures and culture, a law aimed at the
preservation, or the uncovering, of evidence about their history
is a special law with respect to the people of that race.’

Counsel for the Tasmanian Government argued that the Tas-
manian Aborigines were extinct but the majority judgement stated
the significance of sacred sites and land to Aboriginal people.®?
Despite active Aboriginal campaigns, including marches and pro-
tests, and the support of the 1989 Labor government, the
Legislative Council rejected the Aboriginal Lands Bill 1991 and
the Liberal government, elected in 1992, closed down the Aborig-
inal Affairs Policy Unit and refused to support land rights, even
withholding its federal funding from the Tasmanian Aboriginal
Land Council .

Another important Tasmanian-led struggle has been ‘bone-
rights’; that is, the return of the bones and preserved anatomical
parts of Aborigines acquired by Australian and overseas museums
during the nineteenth century in the name of science. Tasmanian
Aborigines see this as a continuing insult and a desecration of
their ancestors’ remains.

Despite her dying pleas that her body not be mutilated or
displayed,® Truganini’s body was exhumed two years after her
death and eventually put on show at the Tasmanian Museum and
Art Gallery between 1904 and 1947. In the 1970s, a campaign by
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Aboriginal activists succeeded in having her remains returned. A
hundred years after she died, Truganini’s wishes were finally
enacted; in May 1976 she was cremated and her ashes later scattered
over the D’Entrecasteaux Channel near her birthplace.’ In 1984
the introduction of bone rights legislation meant the return of
skulls and other skeletal material, to be disposed of by members
of the Aboriginal community.”? Overseas campaigns have been
more protracted, and while some remains have been returned,
hundreds of items are still held by British museums alone.

In 1980, a research report commissioned by the Tasmanian
Aboriginal Centre found the community suffered problems of
unemployment, alcoholism and ill-health. In many walks of life,
Aborigines considered they were treated unfairly because of their
‘race’.’2 In recent decades, Aborigines have been over-represented
in courts and gaols. Although the Aboriginal Legal Service led to
some improvement, relations between police and Aborigines were
often tense.”> Aboriginal women complained of being verbally
abused as sluts and whores by arresting officers, reflecting histori-
cally-shaped stereotypes. For generations, police and white over-
seers had enforced white law in Aboriginal communities. The
deaths by hanging of the young men Glenn Clark and Mark Revell
whilst in police custody reveal deeply troubled lives. A 1988 survey
showed that Aborigines were over-represented in police custody
at five times the rate of non-Aboriginal people. Hal Wootten, the
relevant Commissioner for the Royal Commission into Aboriginal
Deaths in Custody, found that Tasmanian authorities lagged behind
other states in acting to improve the situation.”*

There can be no understanding of the contemporary situation
of Tasmanian Aborigines without an attempt to comprehend their
past. For these people bear a strong sense of pride about Aborig-
inal history and a sense of pride in Aboriginality today which
permeates their current sense of community. As Jimmy Everett
wrote in his poem, Yes, I know what you mean:

Am I Tasmanian Aboriginal,
my bloody oath I am

What! Not Black enough,

well that don’t mean a damn.
Only part Abo is what they say,
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you really are a charm.

Is it my leg, my head, my foot, or is it my right arm.
Oh! I see, I'm not full blood,

well that’s a funny thing.

Always thought I was full of blood,

a pumpin’ like a spring

Why is it that if I get drunk,

and stagger down the road.

I’'m called a drunken blackfeller,

that boozing is my code.

But! If I conform and show my wit,
and still claim I'm a Koorie.

Whites deny my right as one,

and deny me my identity.

Oh! You say 'm not one of those,
and I know what you mean.

Then how come you distinguish those!
YES, I KNOW WHAT YOU MEAN75

Tasmanian Aborigines have produced substantial educational
materials about their culture, including school kits, oral history
interviews, and the publication of Ida West’s Pride Against Preju-
dice. All have strengthened their common sense of identity.
Forums for Aboriginal prose and poetry included the Tasmanian
Aboriginal Centre’s Pugganna and Black Action.

Despite a horrifying history, Tasmanian Aboriginal people did
not in fact suffer as many massacres, poisonings, or ambushes as
those elsewhere in Australia. But whereas the murder of whole
tribes or groups of Aborigines on the mainland could go unno-
ticed, the finite nature of the island of Van Diemen’s Land made
their rapid decline more obvious. Nineteenth century scientists,
with their keen interest in racial hierarchy, encouraged interest
in the ‘genocide’ story, and their speculation raised the value of
Tasmanian skulls. This is not to deny the sufferings of Tasmanian
Aborigines, which were great. Nowhere else in Australia was such
a frightening concept as the ‘Black Line’ tried, nor such a
wide-ranging mission of ‘conciliation’ intended to force them to
quit their lands.

It is paradoxical that in the island state of Australia, the
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This painting by John Glover recorded the Hobart Aboriginal
people who were sent to Great Island, 1832. DIXON GALLERIES,
STATE LIBRARY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Aborigines only survived on islands away from the main island.
From the early nineteenth century, islands were used to exile the
toughest recalcitrants or to isolate sufferers of contagious discase.
Islands were also seen as appropriate places to isolate Aborigines
to ensure they were not just fringedwellers but totally exiled from
colonial society. Today many Tasmanian Aborigines again live on
the mainland but identification with smaller islands, especially
those in the Furneaux group, remains significant. Indeed, island
links are crucial identifiers; anyone claiming origins from mainland
Tasmania is viewed suspiciously by their fellows, who believe
only islanders survived.

Greater insights into Tasmania’s history from Aboriginal per-
spectives might enable more Australians to know what Jimmy
Everett means. Aboriginal studies courses and historical research
by Tasmanians such as Errol West and Vicky Matson-Green will
greatly assist that process. For while Aboriginal ‘blood’ is biolog-
ical nonsense, the metaphor is meaningful. Blood was lost and
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blood remains. There is still bad blood between whites and blacks
in Tasmania.

During the campaigns of the 1970s, the majority of Tasmanians
were found to support land rights and to strongly back the return
of bones from local museums. But atonement is controversial,
and, as indicated by the grudging attitude of Mr Horman, a
former Commissioner of Police, in response to the Underlying
Issues Paper of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in
Custody, white denials have not lost their momentum. This
Commissioner argued that white families who lost their land
suffered similarly; he also rejected that the pain of Aboriginal
dispossession could be passed down through so many generations.

Tasmanian Aborigines had to live with the contradiction that
while their existence was denied, they suffered the same discrim-
ination as Aborigines elsewhere.”® They have not yet had their ent-
itlements recognised. Despite the denigration by past writers about
their ‘primitive culture’, and past classifications as ‘half-caste’/out-
cast, they are still very proud.”7 While the tragic ghosts of the past
may never be laid to rest, today’s Tasmanians are ‘real’ Aborigines,
testimony of a long struggle for survival. It is good to know them;
they are people of blood, bone, intellect and a lot of guts.
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Tasmania 2:
“You cannot deny me and
mine any longer’

A MESSAGE:

Pallawah! identity cannot be denied any longer. Such attempts
will not be tolerated. The Pallawah community has taken control
of that right. No longer will questioning of Pallawah identity be
permitted. For it is not up to non-Aborigines, be they
parliamentary ministers, bureaucrats, public servants, media
personnel, teachers or the average person in the street, to
determine the terms under which me and mine exist and grow.
You cannot take our identity from us whiteman because you
didn’t give it. Our mothers and fathers of 2000 generations gave
us this, and we will carry it with pride and determination,
regardless of the persecution and prejudice heaped upon us
because we dare to identify as we choose rather than how you
dictate. We have a responsibility to our mothers and fathers of
the past as well as to our generations of the future to continue
the struggle for our freedom and we will. You cannot change
who we are by mere rhetoric for our heritage is stronger and
older than your words, written or spoken.

Since invasion Tasmania has sought to rid itself of the ‘Aboriginal
problem’. The first and most obvious means were via the atrocities
of rape, massacre, dispossession and persecution. This was the first
attempt at genocide against the Pallawah. These events have
previously been well documented by historians and will not be
dealt with in detail here. Then there was the establishment and
perpetuation of the belief that the Pallawah had passively submit-
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ted their lands to the invaders. There was also the myth that
when Truganini died, a race had been entirely exterminated. The
instigation of the policy of assimilation was the second attempt
at committing genocide.

The most prolonged attempt at ridding Tasmania of the
Pallawah has been to challenge our very existence through a
denial of identity. This is the latest attempt at genocide. Many
non-Aborigines hope it will prove to be the final solution. But
be warned, the Pallawah community will no longer tolerate the
continued injustice of past government policies and historical
inaccuracies. Pallawahs now demand that our cultural and racial
history be recognised as being an unbroken, continual survival.
The Pallawah community from now on will set the agenda for
our future and rewrite history from an Aboriginal perspective.

The ancestors of today’s Pallawahs fought with tenacity and
guile in an attempt to keep their lands. The perception that the
Pallawah meekly submitted to the British invaders is based upon
historical writings, which were in the majority authored by the
invaders themselves. Such writings gave birth to racism that
became embedded in language and is perpetuated through the
spoken word. It eventually became institutionalised.

The writings of early colonial Tasmanian history were biased
and racist, with good reason. The written message was an instru-
ment used to sustain racial propaganda, in order to ensure the
continued perception of British superiority and the rightness of
the illegal invasion. But more than that, it developed a negative
view of Pallawahs which was (and still is) maintained through
language use. Such propaganda motivated people to go forth to
new colonies and ‘settle’ them.

Men perpetuating atrocities and taking illegal possession of
land, by definition do not say or write positives about the people
towards whom they are inflicting torture and death with the
intention of committing genocide.? Such an action asserts that the
victim is scarcely more deserving of better treatment, and perpet-
uates the notion that they bring about this action themselves by
their savagery, brutality and lack of intellectual capacity. Ethno-
centrism and justification of actions, through religion and science,
provide the basis for the development of stereotypical perceptions.
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Thus ideas, such as the Pallawah meekly submitting to the British
invaders, are perceived and then continually perpetuated through
language.

In this way Aboriginal defence of land, women and children
was/is viewed as treachery and bloodthirsty ferocity.?> Concepts
such as this take away the nobility and justification for the
struggle. Instead they allow the struggle to be viewed as an action
with no direction or consequence except to kill for the sake of
killing and to accommodate cannibalism, as was mistakenly
reported to be the case with the Pallawah.* Broome supports the
concept that British perceptions of black being evil, primitive and
savage were rife during this violent period of Australian history.>
Such notions were instilled and continually reiterated by colonial
authorities to invoke the desire to colonise, possess and dominate.

The notion of meek submission by the Pallawah persists today
despite the current writings of such notable historians as Reyn-
olds, Pybus, Ryan and Broome, and the efforts of contemporary
Pallawah society to dispel such fallacious ideas. The reason for
this is that racism is embedded in the sociology of Australian
society and is continually perpetuated through the spoken and
written word. Racism has become an integral part of Australian
identity through the good old Aussie joke, the education system
which until recently continued to teach the lie of terra nullius,
the White Australia Policy, the nepotism which became
entrenched in the white male societal system, the media, and the
government, specifically within the bureaucracy. It is interesting
to note that within all of those systems the white male dominated
and held the power, as they did in the period of colonisation.

The most damaging word in relation to this issue is
‘settlement’. Settlement brings forth connotations of peace and
negotiation, taking away the brutality of invasion and the bravery
of the Pallawah resistance. Pallawah resistance to invasion and
oppression was diverse and adapted over time according to cir-
cumstances. Initially the invaders were welcomed and attempts
were made to accommodate them into the Pallawah kinship
structure. This was done with the expectation of the reciprocation
of rights and fulfilment of obligations on the part of the British
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invaders. These were expected in exchange for the concessions
made by the Pallawah, such as allowing the British access to land.

An example of the attempt to accommodate the invaders, and
consequently tie them into the traditional laws of the Pallawah
pertaining to kinship and reciprocal obligations, was the giving
of women. Broome states that the Aborigines quickly recognised
the need for women by the invaders and offered them, with the
expectation of ‘establishing kinship and reciprocal ties in a tradi-
tional way’.¢

Tying the British into traditional reciprocal obligations and
kinship concepts was an attempt by the Pallawah to accommodate
the invaders in Pallawah territory and consequently to ensure that
the land, so sacred, would still be available to them. This action
would also protect the women and children because they would
still be within Pallawah society and have all the protection which
that implied. If this plan had worked it would have given the
Pallawah control over the lives of the invaders in such a way that
they would, by necessity, be required to obey the tribal, social
and spiritual laws of the group. If they chose not to obey, the
Europeans would have been subjected to the same rigorous laws
as the Pallawah themselves.

Accommodation, as a means of defence and offence, was
attempted in many different forms, however the British did not
see that it was necessary to reciprocate, especially in terms of
land-use and the taking of the women and children. To the
British, their right to land was divine. It had after all, been
theologically and scientifically determined and justified.”

Pallawah resistance began in 1804 in response to the atrocities
committed against them. Robinson and York suggest that the
Pallawah were extremely talented, skilful and tactical fighters,
provoking fear in the psyche of the invaders.® The Pallawah
developed techniques to undermine the superior fire power of
the British and quickly adapted to European weaponry by obtain-
ing guns.

The ability to adapt to extremely diverse and threatening
conditions is a measure of the bravery and intelligence of the
Pallawah. Adaptation of fighting techniques was common.
Through careful observation the invaders were seen by the
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Pallawah to be at their most vulnerable after having emptied their
guns of ammunition. It was at this stage that the Pallawah chose
to attack, often wreaking havoc amongst the enemy.? The Euro-
pean need for women was also used as a means of setting up an
ambush. The women acted as decoys to lead the European men
into situations where the advantage was with the Pallawah. Other
tactics were spearing of sheep and cattle, and the feigning of
attacks at significant places to draw the enemy away from the real
target.!0 These examples show the Pallawah’s ability to gain an
advantage against a more powerful force. The indication is that
they quickly adapted to the lifestyles, needs and technology of
the invaders in order to use that knowledge to the best advantage
in the defence of land and kin.

Racist language, both written and spoken has, throughout
history, been used in an endeavour to suppress knowledge of the
bravery of the Pallawah resistance. This effectively denied recog-
nition of the Pallawah ability to adapt to the prevailing
circumstances and turn negatives into advantages. Reynolds
demonstrates this when he quotes a ‘settler’ who wrote that, ‘their
whole art of war . . . consistfed] of a concealed silent and
treacherous attack’.!! The Cooktown Independent, a widely read
newspaper of the day, takes the same attitude, ‘there was not a
particle of manhood or even brute bravery about the aboriginal,
his weapons being treachery patently nursed’.'? Words such as
these undermine the tenacity and strength of the Pallawah war-
riors and their style of warfare, much of which required quick
and effective adaptation to previously unknown situations.

As ecarlier stated, the perception of meek submission was
developed and sustained through the use of the English language.
It was used in the rationalisation of the invasion, attempted
genocide, destruction of cultural and ceremonial practices, and
the dispossession of land. Language set the scene to portray the
British invaders as the active agents of history and the Pallawah
as the passive victims. The concept of settlement provided the
vehicle with which to achieve the goal, whilst this strange
interpretation of history loudly voiced the opinion that the
Pallawah way of fighting was cowardly and treacherous. Language
was used to embed racial attitudes in the mind of society and for
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white society to continually renew and justify its actions. The
finality of such terms as extermination and genocide negate the
adaptiveness, versatility and resourcefulness of the Pallawah.

The other forum used to attack Pallawah identity was the
political structure which has initiated propaganda in order to
develop racist social attitudes. Government policy has persistently,
throughout Australian history, socialised the majority of the pop-
ulation to question Pallawah identity. As a consequence, the
Pallawah community has become entwined in a battle for their
own identity, and, indeed their very existence.

The current Federal Government’s definition of Aboriginal
identity has very strict and clearly stated criteria, which was
developed and based on the values and ideals of the dominant
society. Under that definition a person who identifies as an
Aborigine must:

e Dbe a descendant of the original Australians;
e identify as an Aborigine; and
e Dbe accepted as such by the community in which s/he lives.!3

This requirement of identifying gives the power to determine
who is and who isn’t an Aborigine to the dominant class, the
descendants of the invaders of this country. But this European
value-laden attitude also places the responsibility of daring to
identify squarely on the shoulders of the Aboriginal communities.
The Aboriginal people must deal with the social and political
implications of a situation which renders them economically
powerless, unless they comply with the rules of the dominant
society. Aboriginal organisations are constantly held to ransom
through the threat or the actuality of withdrawing government
funds unless they take this ideology on board. In the past and
now Aborigines have been dependent on the whims of the
powerful white society in regard to their identity and place in
Australian society.

Errol West, a well-known Pallawah, says that this definition
was specifically developed in order to retain the essence of the
segregation and assimilation policies. He states that, ‘Each of these
policies has an ideal, and as an active intention, the elimination
of the Aboriginal people as a distinct group. The constant debate
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on the legitimacy of an individual’s claim to Aboriginality, and
subsequent power to accept or deny such a claim by white
bureaucrats, confirms that view. !4

Aborigines have had their identity shaped by European power
brokers since invasion. Power is a process of control. As a direct
result of this control, the invaders not only determined but
dictated Aboriginal identity. Attwood says that, ‘the basis of the
coloniser’s power lay . . . in the possession . . . and . . . expro-
priation of land as an economic and cultural resource’.!> This
proved to be an ideal means of protecting the interests of the
invaders at the expense of the indigenous people. The continued
denial of the existence of the Pallawah, as a distinct race, was
intended to prevent any claims for sovereignty, land, compensa-
tion, and economic independence. Pallawah society was totally
dispossessed of its country.

During the invasion and up to the mid-late 1800s Aboriginal-
ity was defined by the dominant powers as being culturally based.
It was at that time politically expedient to extinguish the racial
identity, which they did by a mere flourish of a pen in legisla-
tion.!¢ This appears to have been a deliberate political strategy
employed to cut ties to land by making Aborigines British
subjects. Overnight the indigenes were expected to forget all that
tied them to their past—all that made them whole, spiritually and
physically. In their attempt to sever Pallawah religious and spir-
itual ties to their country and sacred places the Europeans
effectively denied Pallawah sovereignty. A further consequence of
that was the severence of economic links to the land. Once these
ties were destroyed the way was made clear for the British, and
subsequent descendants or migrants, to claim the land without
conscience. For, if there was proved to be no distinct race who
could lay claim to the land, it became a matter of course that
the British Crown owned Tasmania.

The process of dispossession, along with the implementation
of segregation, made the Pallawah dependent on European so-
ciety. The total disempowerment of today’s Pallawah is the result.
The traditional economy became almost non-existent and the
Pallawah were forced to approach the British invaders for per-
mission to use any land. This eventually meant a life of forced
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settlement on Cape Barren Island for the majority of the Pallawah
population—in isolation on a reserve. It was a matter of out of
sight, out of mind. For the remainder it meant living on Flinders
Island, where racism was rife, or living in suburban Tasmania,
and in many cases denying their identity in order to survive.

Adaptation to European economic values became necessary.
The Pallawah communities on Flinders and Cape Barren islands
did adapt economically and survived. However, the concept of
racial identity continued to be submerged by representatives of
the government. The stereotypes of ‘half-caste’, ‘quarter-caste’
and ‘part-Aboriginal’ began to be internalised by the communities.
The government of the day had apparently rid European society
of the ‘Aboriginal problem’, at least racially. This is demonstrated
by a Pallawah from Cape Barren Island who, when interviewed
for the film The Last Tasmanian, said that there were ‘no full-
bloods’ left in Tasmania, in fact there probably weren’t even any
‘half-castes’. On the other hand, the Pallawah communities were,
whether deliberately or not, employing strategies which would
ensure that their uniqueness would be retained. They were
developing a very strong cultural identity, and began calling
themselves Islanders. The Pallawah people were being socialised
into accepting the dominant society’s definition of Aboriginality.

The Pallawah Islanders became intent on focusing on the
‘white blood’ which ran in their veins. They clung to their unique
traditional cultural practices while integrating European values and
practices. They were told that white was good and black was bad
and internalised that idea.l” Attwood says that the Aborigines
demonstrated a ‘willingness to adopt some of the mores of
colonial bourgeois society and in doing so apparently began to
gain a different sense of identity’.!®* An argument against that,
however, is that the Pallawah were forced to accept European
values in order to ensure the survival of their race. Thus they
were involved in a process of strengthening their existing identity.
What other options were available when they were incarcerated
and policed to the extent that they were? This does not demonstr-
ate a society weakened but one strong enough to recognise that
in some matters you adjust and use what you can to your
advantage.
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There is no doubt that during this time the Pallawah were
influenced by European social and racial doctrines. Darwin’s
theories in On the Origin of Species were influencing not only the
way Europeans saw Aborigines but also the way Aborigines saw
themselves.!® During this period it became socially important to
be able to say that you had more white blood than the next
person. Auntie Ida West relates a story in the film Black Man’s
Houses of how the community used powder on their skins in
order to look whiter.20 White says that Darwin’s theories gave
the British justification for the oppression practiced.?! Perhaps the
British viewed Darwin’s theories as being totally acceptable,
probably as justification for their attempted genocide of the
Pallawah peoples.

The negative racial identity of the Aboriginal people, espoused
during this period was acceptable to European society. As long
as people were not identified, or identifying, racially as Pallawah
there could be no claim to the land stolen during the period of
dispossession. It was essential politically, socially and economically
to maintain the policies which would determine the identity of
the Islanders who had descended from the original Pallawah. The
Europeans defined an identity for the Aborigines which was
‘heavily contingent upon their own approval’.22

This policy of segregation was developed to control a group
of people on the basis of their racial origin or heritage. Discussions
became focussed on the racial bloodlines of the group. Many
Pallawah today see that the aim of this policy was to divide the
larger groups into smaller ones, each with their own identity based
on the amount of ‘white blood’ they had—the white blood
component being the positive force whilst the Pallawah blood
was to be viewed as negative and considered little more than
‘animal’. (That was dependent upon the notion that such a
difference is measurable.) In this way the very ‘humanness’ of the
individual was questioned and determined. Errol West views this,
in what he terms blood quantum ascription, as the ‘basis of the
labelling of Aborigines as “half-castes” or “quarter-castes” etc’.2?
While the authorities thought or hoped that this attitude would
divide and conquer, it actually gave the message to the Pallawah
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that no matter how much ‘Aboriginal blood’ individuals had,
everyone was equally Aboriginal.

The policy of segregation in Tasmania was developed to
separate people of Pallawah descent from members of European
society and to give legal status to the removal of Pallawah children
from families. The intention was that once the children became
adults, they would integrate into European society by taking on
the white Australian work ethic and marrying whites, preferably
from the lower classes, and so eventually breed out the Aboriginal
race.?* West voiced the opinion that the stealing of the children
for ‘enculturation into the white civilised worlds of the British
and the Christians was a major aim’ of the Segregation Policy.25

This policy was achieved in Tasmania by making Cape Barren
Island a reserve in order to isolate the Pallawah from European
society. Pallawah incarcerated on the reserve were controlled by
European laws and values. Those Pallawah not resident in the
Cape Barren Island Reserve were also controlled but in a less
regimented and authoritarian manner. They were, nevertheless,
required to gain permission to visit family on the reserve and had
to be off the reserve by sundown. These restrictions had devas-
tating effects on the families of the reserves inmates. Morton
Green was one such person who was directly affected by the
controls put into place to keep inmates of the reserve separate
from the Pallawah on the outside. Morton Green, who is my
father, was required to gain permission to visit my mother, who
was a reserve inmate, in order to court her. Dad had to leave
the reserve by sundown and return to Flinders Island.2¢

Some of the Pallawah residents of the reserve eventually
internalised the concept of who they were that had been imposed
on them by the dominant European culture. But at the same
time, a political awareness was beginning to develop; the struggle
was intensified to have Cape Barren Island declared as Pallawah
land and to claim the muttonbird islands as a cultural and
economic base. This struggle was seen by some Pallawah Islanders
as central to their racial and cultural identity, and economic
independence.

During the period between the late 1800s and the early 1900s
it became even more important to retain a strong, distinctly
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My maternal grandparents, Arthur and Alma West, taken soon
after their marriage during the segregation period. VICKI MATSON-
GREEN

Pallawah cultural heritage. This chapter of Pallawah history wit-
nessed the development of a real sense of pride in themselves.
This is evident in old photographs of the period where people
were ‘nicely attired’. The oral traditions often told of the clean-
liness of the people with the words, ‘She was so clean you could
eat off her floor’. Ties to the land were being reinstated, as was
a recognition of their own uniqueness as a distinct race. Unfor-
tunately, this period also witnessed the development of conflict
within the community. Some of the community still clung to the
concept that having more ‘white blood’ made them better socially,
while another group began to take pride in their Pallawah history,
and racial and cultural identity.2’

At all times since the invasion the Pallawah Islanders kept
intact many cultural aspects of their ancestral heritage, despite
strong opposition by white authorities. Kinship was central to
their society and with that came obligations to others. Despite
conflict which may have been lying under the surface, the
Islanders kept in place those cultural practices which helped
develop and maintain their unique identity.
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My father, Morton Clare Green,
and Bernard Maynard on Cape
Barren Island in the late 1920s.
VICKI MATSON-GREEN

During the 1950s the Assimilation Policy was developed and
put into place. This policy was an attempt to fragment the
Aboriginal community. According to Errol West, ‘the major
thrust was to whiten completely the habits and philosophies, (such
as the “pagan” beliefs of Aborigines) and to Christianise them,
only not “save’ them but destroy Aboriginal culture at the same
time’.28 The policy of removing children, which will be discussed
in more detail later, was maintained.

In the opinion of contemporary Pallawah society, the political
agenda in the 1950s was to weaken and obliterate the Pallawah
community into non-existence. The Pallawah Islander community
was growing stronger. They became politically aware and began
to demand rights based on their racial heritage and their total
dispossession which took place on invasion. The fightback had
begun. They began to recognise the need to become economically
independent in order to dictate and control their futures. Murray-
Smith says that the Aboriginal Islander community sent,

petitions and letters . . . [to] the Land Department . . .
protesting at the distruction of mutton bird rookeries, appealing
against eviction orders, asking for the reservation of rookeries for
half-caste use, drawing attention to illicit robbing of graves and
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even petitioning the governor to reserve Flinders Island for the
Islanders.??

The government’s agenda of assimilation was to break down this
new-found strength. Before and during this period the Cape
Barren Islanders were economically isolated.?® As Aborigines they
were not entitled to any Social Security benefits, and the gov-
ernment refused to spend any money on the Island to create
employment. This was based on the convenient myth that there
were no Tasmanian Aborigines.

The government’s belief in this myth is intriguing given that
Cape Barren Island was an Aboriginal reserve, established and
maintained in that context by an Act of law, and simultaneously,
the Tasmanian Government was applying for and receiving grants
for Aboriginal programmes for having established an Aboriginal
reserve. (This information has been told by the Elders many times
within the Pallawah community however I do not know what
grants were being referred to, with the exception of the Remedial
Reading Programme. Under this programme funding was avail-
able for Aboriginal children at the school on Flinders Island,
however when our community became aware of it we found out
that the funds had been used instead to provide non-Aboriginal
children with remedial assistance.)3!

The government used the following strategy to justify taking
our children. They would enter a house, look through the
cupboards, find no food and take the children. The point to
consider is, with no employment, no benefits and social isolation
because Cape Barren Island was still a reserve, what were people
supposed to do? They survived very well on their traditional
tucker but this was not acceptable to the authorities.

The population on Cape Barren Island had put in place
initiatives to create some economic base for their community.
The men had become proficient boat builders, seamen and
fishermen.32 They also began tin mining on the island. Their
produce was often taken by ship to Launceston for sale. But
despite these highly commendable initiatives the authorities
refused to recognise the Islanders’ right to keep their children.
In one family alone (that is in European terms aunt’s and uncle’s
children) fifteen children were removed and placed with white
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foster parents. The authorities did not consider any member of
the Aboriginal community to be an appropriate foster carer, for
which our kinship structures are clearly designed to cope. Often
these children ended up being little more than slaves but the
official explanation was that the children deserved a better chance
at life.

The repercussions of such government actions are still being
felt by our community today. In the past four years, eight of
those children, now adults, have found some of their brothers
and sisters, three in the last year. They are currently suffering a
terrible trauma: trying to find out who they are, and when they
do, trying to fit into a family on terms which will suit all parties
concerned. Other children are being told that they are Aboriginal
and were fostered out but cannot make contact with their families
for whatever reason.

The other intention of the Assimilation Policy was to forcibly
remove families from Cape Barren Island to integrate them into
urban white society. Many families, including my own, were
promised employment and housing in Launceston and Hobart if
they left the islands.?®> The Cape Barren Island Reserve Act was
revoked in 1951 in order to encourage people to move to the
major European areas of settlement.3* The aim was to break up
the community; through fragmentation the resolve to fight would
be weakened. With integration the government hoped that a
gradual breeding out of the Pallawah race would occur. But the
bureaucrats responsible for policy development again underesti-
mated the Pallawah strength and determination to maintain their
identity.

Despite being uprooted in a major way yet again during the
1950s and early 1960s, the people removed from the islands in
order to assimilate, congregated in areas such as Ravenswood and
Invermay and maintained the kinship structures as well as the
unique cultural activities. Thus a new Pallawah community
emerged. Families travelled en masse to the islands each
muttonbird season to continue important cultural traditions and
to secure a meagre economic subsistence. This also allowed oral
histories to be passed on, kinship obligations to be fulfilled and
ties to place reinstated. The Assimilation Policy didn’t work. The
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Granny Mary Maynard and Uncle Vern Maynard holding his
daughter (identity of third person not known) at 1 Bedford Street,
Invermay in Launceston, Tasmania. Many of the ex-Reserve
inmates gathered in Invermay during the assimilation period.
Granny Mary was my paternal great grandmother. VICKI MATSON-
GREEN

Pallawah community didn’t want to assimilate and the majority
of the white population didn’t want to include these people in
their community. And so the Pallawah community became estab-
lished on the island of Tasmania once again.

According to J. Everett,?> it was the period of assimilation
which highlighted the conflict regarding Aboriginal identity
within the Pallawah community. Recognition, by the Pallawah
community, of the conflict did not occur until the 1970s after
the Assimilation Policy had dispersed most of the Pallawah Cape
Barren and Flinders Islanders, and during the growth of the
Aboriginal struggle for identity, social justice and land rights.

Assimilation, for the first time, brought the Islander families
into contact with other Pallawah families who did not have a
historical association with the Furneaux Group of islands. The
blending of different Pallawah groups led to internal conflict. As
far as can be ascertained the question of who is or isn’t Pallawah
in the contemporary Pallawah community began when the old
established Islander families were confronted by the descendants
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Waiting for the boat to go mutton birding on Babel Island.
Standing at the rear of the group is my father, Morton Green,
and standing on the right hand side is my sister Ruby. In the
background are the tin shacks the Aboriginal people lived in on
the foreshore at Lady Barron on Flinders Island. VICKI MATSON-
GREEN

of Fanny Cochrane-Smith in Hobart and Dolly Dalrymple’s
descendants on the north-west coast. In the words of June
Sculthorpe, a descendant of Fanny Cochrane-Smith, at a com-
munity discussion on identity (at the Tasmanian Aboriginal
Centre on 6 June 1993), ‘It wasn’t more than five years ago when
anyone living south of Launceston wasn’t considered Aboriginal
by the Bass Strait Aboriginal community.’

This exemplifies the seriousness of the situation. Another case
involves an Elder who, when questioned about her identity, and
asked to provide evidence to a government department, said that
she felt like a vacuum inside. She commented ‘I now know how
our old people felt when they were taken to Wybalenna and
stripped of their identity, last century.” In the words of Errol
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West, ‘The more things seems to change, the more they stay the
same. 30

Since the death of Truganini, the Islanders had considered
themselves the only Tasmanian Aboriginal descendants, and gen-
erations were constantly told in their oral histories that they were
unique and the last of a proud race of people. To be suddenly
confronted by two other large community groups who also
considered themselves Aboriginal, created an air of tension which
started their questions regarding proof of Aboriginality.

Two historical events added to the burden for those who
wanted to establish their identity through their family trees but
couldn’t because of a lack of available records. The first was the
publishing of what has commonly come to be known in the
Pallawah communities as the ‘Stud Books’, Bill Mollison and
Coral Everitt’s Tasmanian Aboriginal Genealogies compiled in 1978.
It has created much anger and hurt within the Pallawah commu-
nity. First, many untruths were printed, causing conflict, pain and
harm to many individuals. People who are genuine descendants
of Pallawah are questioned about their rights to claim their
identity. Government departments and members of the general
community use this work to deny the identity of some of those
who claim Aboriginality. The worst aspect of Mollison and
Everitt’s work is that it is assumed to be a comprehensive and
detailed documentation of all the descendants of the ancient
Pallawah, through to the time that it was written. This is not
correct.

Governments have almost required the general populace to
question Aboriginality but more insidious than that, Aborigines
have also been socialised to question the identity of his or her
contemporary. In Tasmania in particular, the focus is directed
towards this question because of the myth that Truganini was the
last Tasmanian Aborigine and the race was extinct.

The second event which has created conflict is a paper recently
found in the government archival records indicating that there
were far more Pallawah in the state, than was always thought
since the time of Truganini’s death. Felton mentions Mary
Patches, an Aboriginal woman who lived in Launceston in the
early 1890s:

354



TASMANIA: 2

During the last part of the nineteenth century there were many
Aboriginal people living in places such as Launceston, Hobart,
Tasman Peninsula and the North-West Coast. However, it is
very difficult to find out much about these people. Often there
were no written records . . . Many of these people were not
accepted by the white people, were discriminated against when
they tried to get jobs and so were usually very poor.37

It must be remembered that this was happening at the time that
the government was acknowledging Aboriginal Islanders as the
only ‘part-Aboriginal’ people in Tasmania. At no stage was this
other group acknowledged. It appears that now some of the
descendants of these people are beginning to surface and demand
the right to identify as Pallawah. Other members of the Pallawah
community are not accepting them, partly because they believe
the information they have been fed, and because they are unable
to prove their Aboriginality through a family tree. This is obvi-
ously because no records were kept of their ancestors, therefore
how can they prove their connection.

The political and social renaissance of Aborigines during the
1960s, gave Aboriginal people some social restitution. Suddenly,
various government grants and programmes became available to
people because of their Aboriginal heritage. For many Pallawah
families this meant at least food on the table. In Tasmania it also
meant that for the first time our community was recognised as
Aboriginal by law under the Federal Government policy regarding
Aboriginal identity. Many people became fiercely protective of
their identity and the programmes which offered some financial
assistance.

The media must take some responsibility for the false percep-
tion which emerged—that Aborigines could get money for almost
anything as long as they were identified as Aborigines and were
accepted as such by the Aboriginal community. The other falla-
cious point is that Aborigines were perceived by the media as
being privileged and receiving more social welfare dollars than
other disadvantaged groups. These fabrications created conflict
within and outside the Aboriginal community. Many Pallawah
today, if asked why it is important to them that people supply a
family tree to prove Aboriginality, will respond with ‘“To stop
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whites from getting Aboriginal money’. This was a response from
a 19-year-old student attending the Bridging Course at Riawunna,
the Centre for Aboriginal Education at the University of Tasma-
nia, when asked that very question recently in class. The fact is
that programmes funded for Aborigines are also funded for non-
Aborigines but under a different name. Aborigines, as individuals,
do not receive benefits, in some form or other, which other
Australians are not eligible for. However, there are several
instances where whites have been eligible for benefits, including
land, which Aborigines were not considered appropriate to
receive, even in recent times. An example of this was in the
1960s when the Tasmanian Government began the Soldier Set-
tlement Development Programme on Flinders Island where
returned soldiers were given large parcels of land to develop. The
grants which enabled this to happen were based on a very low
interest rate. Uncle Ken Everett, a Pallawah Elder, applied for
one of the farms as he was a returned soldier. He was refused on
the grounds that he was Aboriginal and not fit to own land.38
Instead, the Tasmanian Government imported returned soldiers
from New South Wales.

It is time that the Aboriginal community in Tasmania, and
the rest of Australia, took their destiny into their own hands and
demanded the right to determine their own identity.

Unfortunately many Tasmanians cling to the myth that
Truganini was the last Tasmanian Aborigine in order to deny the
indigenous people of Tasmania the right to identify as such. The
saddest aspect of this process is that the various governments have
manipulated the thinking of the Pallawah in relation to identity.
Pallawah people have been taught to question their own contem-
poraries. The interesting point here is that Aboriginal identity, as
dictated by government policy, is based on economics and has
been since invasion. That will not change until Aborigines all
over Australia, and particularly in Tasmania, gain land rights,
sovereignty, and become economically independent. It is only
then that Aborigines will be free to determine their own identity
and say, without fear, I am an Aborigine and I’'m proud of
it, without the expectation of retribution or question from
non-Aborigines.
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Contested ground:
what is ‘Aboriginal
history’?

HEN the then Prime Minister Bob Hawke launched the
Penguin Bicentennial History of Australia on the grassy banks

of Sydney Harbour in January 1988, a delegation of Aboriginal
protesters ensured that it made quite a splash. An Aboriginal man
hurled the book into the waters below and the television cameras
rolled. The soggy copy was retrieved by a participant in the book
launch and duly autographed. The Aboriginal spokespersons com-
plained that this officially endorsed book did not tell their side
of the story. Indeed, anticipating possible criticism, its non-
Aboriginal author had stated that he did not attempt to present
‘Aboriginal history’ because he could not write on their behalf.!
On Australia Day, 26 January 1988, Aborigines from around
the country, including the remotest parts of Australia, converged
on Sydney’s Hyde Park to celebrate their physical and cultural
survival. Speakers Gary Foley and Galarrwuy Yunupingu ridiculed
the relatively puny achievement of 200 years, pointing out that,
having occupied the country for at least 40 000 years, Aborigines
could be celebrating not their first but their 200th Bicentennary.
[t was an optimistic message, for Aborigines today suffer high
rates of poverty, unemployment, alcoholism, imprisonment, dis-
ease, infant mortality, and premature death. That same January
evening Aboriginal people gathered at La Perouse, named after
the French expedition of 1788 and now home of a major urban
Aboriginal community, to share sacred ‘Dreaming stories’, to
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Aboriginal Protest on Australia Day, 1988. This protest was centred
around Sydney Harbour, near where a re-enactment of the arrival of
the First Fleet was to arrive and where Aborigines staged their own
version of the landing. JOHN FAIRFAX PHOTO LIBRARY

Galarrwuy Yunupingu, Chair-
man of the Northern Land
Council. NATIONAL LIBRARY
OF AUSTRALIA
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dance, sing and make music shaped by generations of people who
lived in distant Australian landscapes.

These events highlight not only the vexed question of the
place of Aborigines in Australian history generally but also the
problem of modes of transmission and authorial voice. Questions
of power relations, of colonialism, nationalism and the political
functions of such historiography are also central to the debate.
Indeed, the very term ‘Aboriginal history’ is problematic.
Amongst academic historians, and now the general public, it has
come to signify historical writing where the predominant subject
matter concerns Aboriginal people. Aborigines, however, argue
that the only true ‘Aboriginal history’ must be written by Abor-
igines. Some non-Aboriginal historians concur, defining
themselves as historians of Aboriginal-white relations, claiming
they have never attempted to write ‘Aboriginal history’.2 Others
have decided to write only of textual representations—of the way
non-Aborigines perceived or constructed the notion of Abor-
igines—and without actually writing about them as people.

The term also implies further questions: who are ‘Aborigines?’
A general category for indigenous people, ‘Aborigine’ was applied
by Europeans to describe the indigenous people of Australia. The
term ‘Aborigine’ is a historical construct, a product of time and
of changing consciousness.> Prior to the arrival of Europeans,
there was no unified indigenous consciousness nor use for a
general term. Australian indigenous people now apply the term
‘Aborigines’ themselves, though, as shown in earlier chapters,
those of the south-east prefer ‘Kooris’ or ‘Murris’, designations
for their own people, as an Australia-wide category of identifica-
tion. In pre-contact societies and in more traditional societies
today, black Australians identify according to clan or band associ-
ations, sometimes dubbed ‘tribal’. Regional diversity is indicated
by the more than 500 languages spoken throughout the continent
in 1788, and clan affiliation was flexible according to marriage,
changing population and ecology.

Nonetheless, the term ‘Aboriginal history’ prevails in its wider
usage as denoting history about Aborigines and by Aborigines—in
print, art, voice and song. Its ambit is shifting and open to debate.
In my opinion, the term usefully identifies a genre of writing,
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although it is a pluralistic one, without clear boundaries or
prescribed authors. But then I am writing as a white female
historian, trained in the academy in the liberal humanistic tradi-
tions of thought and knowledge. This chapter reflects this by the
pre-eminence given to traditional academic ‘historiography’ over
popular and Aboriginal traditions. I first look at the texts, the
‘history books’, which have been written almost exclusively by
non-Aboriginal, mostly male, authors. Then I turn to Aboriginal
history-making, and finally explore historiographical and political
issues and debates about the discourse.

No consideration of the term ‘Aboriginal history’ could be
complete without also questioning the meaning of the term
‘history’. In the western cultural context, it is used for both
academic and popular forms of historical representation, particu-
larly written. As Lenore Coltheart argued, ‘the moment of
Aboriginal history’ differs from the European version, for

history is our familiar blend of the European ideas of time and
knowledge and a ‘natural’ product of our system of thought.
History is our second nature, the context of experience for our
praxis, as for our contemplation; the source of explanation for us
as political agents in public and in private.*

Men have made themselves the stars of the drama. Although
subject to increasing challenge, ‘history’ encapsulated a linear
notion of time, and the concept of unvarnished truth, or ‘the
triumph of logos over mythos’. ‘Aboriginal history’, originating
in an oral tradition, thus forces us to reflect upon the cultural
specificity of ‘history’ as understood by westerners.

But before focussing further on such problematic issues, a
survey of the place of Aborigines in the earlier historiography
will be provided. In the journals kept by the British men who
arrived on the ‘First Fleet’ in 1788, (published in the 1780s and
90s) their meetings with Aborigines were described in fascinating
ethnographic detail. Whilst these works were travellers’ narratives
rather than professional histories, they displayed a strong interest
in the unique and exotic nature of the indigenous people of
Australia, an interest shared by their reading public. Their physical
appearance, rituals, adornments, economy, gender behaviour,
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morality, and interactions with the white men, were discussed
alongside philosophical questions regarding the contemporary
notion of the ‘noble savage’. The journals of Lieutenant David
Collins and Surgeon Watkin Tench were especially readable, and
provided an important source for future writers, including histo-
rians.>

While Australian historiography in a formal sense was still in
its infancy by the early nineteenth century, these efforts did not
ignore Aborigines. J. Bonwick’s First Twenty Years in Australia told
the story of individual Aborigines such as Bennelong, who proved
capable of ‘civilisation’; ‘failed’ attempts at ‘uplift’ were also
described. Bonwick wrote:

The settlement of Australia was formed without any
consideration of the claims of the natives, or scarcely a
recognition of their existence. They were too weak to present
opposition, and too degraded to excite sympathy. [my italics] The
assumption of absolute jurisdiction over the new territory
followed the occupation, just as if it had no previous inhabitants.¢

G.W. Rusden’s History of Australia, published 1883, discussed
Aboriginal-white relations as part of its introductory chapter
‘Natural Phenomena and the Australian tribes’. Rusden acknowl-
edged the violence and rapid population decline, especially
focussing on Tasmania. An apparent trend towards extinction in
Tasmania confirmed the emergent ideology of Social Darwinism,
proving the ‘inevitable’ consequences of colonisations. Rusden’s
was one of the last general histories to address frontier brutality
and the moral issues of dispossession of the indigenous people.
He tackled the issue of national guilt, arguing that ‘by nearly half
a century of contempt for justice’, public opinion has been so
debauched ‘that Aboriginal rights were denied’. Rusden held the
whole community responsible for the slaughter which continued
in frontier regions as he wrote. More commonly, however,
Australians were told they should not trouble themselves about
the ‘disappearance’ of Aborigines. H. G. Turner’s History of the
Colony of Victoria concluded that its treatment of Aborigines
should result in ‘no serious stain’ on the colony’s reputation.’
The earlier histories therefore used Aborigines to underline the
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strangeness or otherness of the new land and as a ‘backdrop’ for
the coming of ‘civilisation’. The hostility of indigenous peoples
was emphasised to show the difficulties of conquest; frontier
conflict was thus inescapably part of life as were ethical questions
concerning land ownership.

By the turn of the nineteenth century, Aborigines were being
increasingly expunged from published histories, and historians
turned their attention to explaining away the ‘convict stain’ of
white Australia’s foundations. The trend was typified by Arthur
Jose’s bestselling History of Australia from the earliest times to the
present day (1899), which opened with an image of Australia as
waiting to be ‘discovered’ and ‘colonised’, then followed by a
chapter entitled ‘Filling in the Map’, as though the land was a
series of blank spaces waiting to be pencilled in by Europeans.
In referring to Captain Cook’s journey to Australia, Jose blames
the ‘blackfellows’ for being unco-operative with the ‘friendly’
expedition. While Jose’s section on New Zealand is a story of
indigenous and coloniser clashing in warfare, his reference to
Aborigines is to dismiss them as ‘so small and scattered that their
claims were rarely considered’.® Indeed, S.H. Robert’s influential
History of Australian Land Settlement (1924) started with British,
not Aboriginal occupation. Reference to their presence, while
minimal, sweeps them further into irrelevancy: ‘Their grievances

. were usually the result of their own ungovernable disposi-
tions and their failure to see any sense in the white man’s laws
of property.” A. de Brune’s Fifty Years of Progress in Australia
1878—-1929 (1929) proceeds as though the continent was empty.
Overlooking the bloodshed of conquest on Australian soil, the
story’s climax comes with the Great War of 1914-18, from whose
‘blood-stained battle-fields’ a new nation supposedly emerged.
Such studies of Australian history thus presented European men
as actors—discovering, exploring, settling, fighting.

With the Federation of the Australian colonies as a nation in
1901, historians had a new agenda. Not surprisingly, they wanted
to reflect contemporary goals and aspirations and bolster positive
self~images. Twentieth century historians, including the labour
‘radicals’, were inevitably engaged in nation building and the
construction of the unifying mythologies necessary to buttress it.
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National immigration policies such as the “White Australia Policy’,
designed to keep out Asian migrants, also served an ideological
function in reinforcing the concept of an all-white nation. Despite
its unusual acknowledgement of ‘the Invasion of Australia’, W.K.
Hancock’s Australia (1930) denied the Aboriginal presence by
repeatedly referring to ‘empty’ and ‘uninhabited’ lands and ‘virgin
plains’. Whilst his assessment of the inevitability of Aboriginal
destruction is tempered by criticism of those British who did their
‘wrecker’s work with the unnecessary brutality of stupid children’,
he simultaneously blamed humanitarians for being unable to agree
on policy for the ‘black man’s preservation’. While rather naive
to assume that any one policy was a cure for the havoc wrought
by colonialism, Hancock more convincingly argued that Austra-
lians were unwilling to commit the necessary ‘hard thought and
hard cash. Australian democracy is genuinely benevolent but is
preoccupied with its own affairs. From time to time it remembers
the primitive people whom it has dispossessed, and sheds over
their predestined passing an economical tear.’®

Until the 1970s, most general histories of Australia forgot to
shed even the token tear. Despite its comprehensive mission,
Gordon Greenwood’s influential Australia: A Social and Political
History (1955) only mentioned Aborigines in passing. Manning
Clark’s Short History of Australia (1964) stressed the offerings of
British civilisation, and after chapter one Aborigines faded from
the story. Building on an evolving mythology, Douglas Pike’s
Australia: the Quiet Continent (1966) depicted Australia as ‘a lonely
land’, ‘the remote continent’, and contended that nothing dra-
matic or bloody ever occurred on Australian soil. A.G.L. Shaw’s
The Story of Australia (1967) spoke in negatives; Aborigines could
offer ‘no serious resistance’ due to their ‘primitive culture’; they
‘knew nothing of agriculture’, had ‘no permanent settlements’,
had ‘no domestic animal but the dog’. Humphrey McQueen’s A
New Britannia (1970)10 represented a critical turning point, for
although he did not provide a detailed discussion on Aborigines
on the grounds that too little had been written about them, he
recognised racism as central to Australian history.

In 1968, it was the anthropologist W.E.H. Stanner who, in
the prestigious Boyer Lectures, challenged ‘The Great Australian
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Silence’—on the story of Aborigines. His survey of historical
writing revealed a terrible neglect of the topic, leading him to
argue that:

inattention on such a scale cannot possibly be explained by
absent-mindedness. It is a structural matter, a view from a
window which has been carefully placed to exclude a whole
quadrant of the landscape. What may well have begun as a
simple forgetting of other possible views turned under habit and
over time into something like a cult of forgetfulness practised on
a national scale.!!

Australian history as a separate study evolved alongside burgeoning
nationalism, unashamedly written as the story of colonialism
victorious, with varying degrees of deference to the British
Imperial founders. The easiest way to tell such a tale without
sounding callous was to forget the vanquished altogether, and
certainly not to allow the uncomfortable possibility that the nation
was founded upon dubious sovereignty. Equally influential was
the author’s subjectivity; as white male authors, they undoubtedly
imagined a similar audience. Aboriginal people’s meagre educa-
tional opportunities ensured that few would read these texts, let
alone write them. Deaf to the few public voices of Aboriginal
protest, the historians wrote within the comfortable western
mind-sets of the dominant society.

The disciplinary boundaries of history and anthropology were
also to blame. With the rise of anthropology in Australia during
the early twentieth century, an artificial demarcation arose
between those who studied the ‘primitive’ blacks, and those who
studied the ‘progressive’ white past. The domination of the British
structural-functionalist school of anthropology in Australia led to
an emphasis on reconstructing past cultures, with its static cultural
model deflecting attention altogether from processes of change.
In the quest for ‘traditional’ society, fieldwork and analysis
ignored both past and present economic and social environments.
Although exhibiting some humanitarian concern, anthropologists
such as A.P. Elkin attempted to nurture cosy research relationships
with government policy makers and the pastoralists upon whose
land many Aborigines resided. To these men, such charged issues
as colonialism and indigenous exploitation were anathema.!2
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When female ethnographers such as Olive Pink!3 tried to combine
scholarship with strong activism, her work was judged a threat
to the status quo and the power-brokers refused its publication.
The female protectors that Pink proposed to prevent Aboriginal
women from sexual exploitation, threatened the attractiveness of
outback employment for white males. Thus the anthropological
establishment reinforced the notion that Aborigines, whilst having
a static ‘past’ to uncover and preserve, did not have a history.

The establishment in Canberra of the Australian Institute of
Aboriginal Studies in 1963—64 as a research centre did little to
alter this, for its purpose was not to study change but essentially
to retrieve what might otherwise be ‘lost’. Anthropologists, lin-
guists, and experts in material culture dominated the
establishment; only ‘prehistory’, or history prior to white contact
had its own special advisory committee and a mere sprinkling of
historians were members of the Institute. When historians’ interest
in ‘Aboriginal history’ strengthened, they were viewed as
untrained and unsuitable for research on Aborigines. Although
there is now a History Committee, Fellowships at the Institute
have rarely been held by historians, and in past years, historical
researchers have sometimes met difficulty in gaining support due
to lack of anthropological training.'4 Aboriginal writers in various
fields complain that they, too, have trouble being taken seriously.

Specialist historical analysis of Aboriginal-white relations first
appeared in the 1970s, in the tracks of important Aboriginal rights
campaigns in the late 1960s, including the Gurindji’s strike for
equal wages and land rights. Effective lobbying by Aboriginal
spokespeople like Oodgeroo Noonuccal (previously Kath Walker)
in the lead-up to the 1967 Referendum further raised the con-
sciousness of white Australians. They were also influenced by
developments in the United States and decolonisation movements
in Africa. Influenced by Althusser, Marcuse and the New Left,
academics questioned progress models and committed themselves
to activist scholarship. Recognition of the absence of Aborigines
in Australian historiography thus led to a wealth of enthusiastic
research.

In 1970, the political scientist C.D. Rowley published a
pathbreaking historical trilogy, entitled The Destruction of Aboriginal
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Society, Outcasts in White Australia and The Remote Aborigines.
Rowley humanely appraised state administration of Aboriginal
affairs, especially via government policies and the law. He keenly
understood the political ramifications of breaking the silence:

No adequate assessment of the Aboriginal predicament can be
made so long as the historical dimension is lacking; it is the
absence of information . . . which has made it easy for
intelligent persons in each successive generation to accept the
stereotype of Aborigines as an incompetent group.!®

Frank Stevens, author and barrister, analysed the history of racism
in Australia and issues of wage equality, especially in the northern
pastoral industry. Peter Biskup’s Not Slaves Not Citizens (1973)
was another excellent study of state policy regarding Aborigines.
Raymond Evans’ work on Queensland Aborigines in Exclusion,
Exploitation and Extermination (1975) applied sociological models
to an analysis of racist ideology and practice.'®

The belief of such authors, however, in the universality of
humanistic and Marxist paradigms, left their cultural bias as author
unchallenged, and led them to portray Aboriginal people as passive
victims. Rowley and Biskup’s near exclusive reliance on official
sources meant that Aboriginal people’s perspectives were ignored.

In The Black Resistance (1977)'7 Maoist authors Robinson and
York similarly took no account of the different world-view of
Aboriginal peoples, despite their efforts to present Aborigines as
fighters rather than victims. They modelled Aborigines as a
guerilla-style resistance, even turning a woman into a man to suit
their cliched warrior paradigm. Nonetheless, a book which por-
trayed Aborigines as actors rather than helpless victims made a
timely impact.

Some important work was published in the prestigious main-
stream journal, Australian Historical Studies, now brought together
in a volume edited by S. Janson and S. Macintyre entitled Through
White Eyes (1990)!8 This selection shows that the first relevant
articles—Mulvaney’s excellent descriptions of changing attitudes
towards Aborigines from 1606—1929—did not appear until 1958.
A long pause followed until 1973, the year after the Aboriginal
Tent Embassy was erected outside Canberra’s Parliament House,
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then several important articles appeared in the 1980s. None were
by Aboriginal authors.

Most importantly, however, a specialist journal Aboriginal His-
fory has been devoted to the subject since 1978. The product of
the tireless efforts of its first editor, the late Dr Diane Barwick,
from its outset the journal was characterised by a pluralistic
definition of ‘Aboriginal history’ and the encouragement of con-
tributions from Aboriginal authors and co-authors. A survey of
editions reveal only a small proportion of Aboriginal-authored
articles but a more substantial number collaborated with Aborig-
ines who shared their life stories or perspectives. The journal also
fostered an interdisciplinary approach, with contributions from
anthropologists, linguists, archaeologists, prehistorians, cave art
experts, musicologists, geographers, educationalists, archivists, and
librarians.

Enriched by the insights offered by several disciplines, Henry
Reynolds’ The Other Side of the Frontier (1981)! was an extremely
important monograph, for it attempted to portray the story of
the frontier from Aboriginal vantage points, to get into the minds
of Aboriginal people, and to acknowledge ‘difference’. Aboriginal
reactions to sighting the first white men, and their responses to
frontier violence, were driven by their cultural imperatives,
including Aboriginal belief and law. This book was indeed an
attempt to present the perspective from ‘the other side’, the one
which historians had thought could not be told due to inadequate
evidence. While Aborigines had little control over the manufac-
ture of historical records, Reynolds scoured the documents to
find snatches of their voices recorded in newspapers, parliamentary
papers, police and court records. Collecting then threading
together evidence from throughout Australia, he created a patch-
work picture of wider patterns of colonialism. Critics pointed out
the need for closer regional studies, while others had doubts about
Reynolds’ resistance model and frontier paradigm. Reynolds’
frontier implied rather firm boundaries, with Aborigines placed
on ‘the other side’ as noble, and any who co-operated with the
colonisers presented as collaborators. Reynolds made great prog-
ress in challenging the western mind-set, yet perhaps he gave
some the impression that a white man could fully articulate
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Aboriginal perspectives. He stated that he was not a dispassionate
scholar but instead motivated by a desire to change an ignorant,
racist society. The following year Richard Broome’s compassion-
ately written Aboriginal Australians appeared. It provided an
excellent general synthesis of existing historical work and made
sensitive use of Aboriginal perspectives.

Lyndall Ryan’s The Aboriginal Tasmanians2® was a detailed study
located mainly in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth century
materials. She sensitively took into account the feelings of the
Aboriginal communities with whom she worked and intelligently
portrayed the experiences of female Aborigines. My ‘Born in the
Cattle’: Aborigines in the Cattle Industry (1987)2!1 departed from
preceding interpretations, being described as using a dynamic
cultural model and containing a more complex notion of power
relations.?2 Here Aborigines were shown to inhabit both sides of
the frontier. They agreed to work for the white men and women
and indeed Aborigines excelled at stockwork, a highly prestigious
activity, and domestic tasks, including caring for and virtually
bringing up the manager’s children. Working for the coloniser
did not mean that they were traitors to their own people; they
did not suddenly think ‘white’ but rather incorporated the cattle
world into their own cultural frameworks; it was ‘no shame job’
and they worked for rather different reasons than Europeans might
envisage. Unfamiliar with cash, they wanted a regular supply of
food for their kin, and to continue to live upon, have access to
and ‘look after’ their traditional lands. Born in the Cattle also made
gender a central category of historical analysis?3, focussing upon
the division of labour and the sexual relationships between col-
oniser and colonised. The inter-dependence created by such
intimate relationships was shown to be central to frontier dynam-
ics, further breaking down any stereotype of a fixed frontier
boundary. Given the predominance of white—black unions in
frontier regions, it was indeed problematic to ascertain who was
on which side of the frontier during sexual intercourse!

Born in the Cattle was substantially shaped by the collection
and incorporation of oral history interviews with Aboriginal and
non-Aboriginal cattle-station workers. This enabled the piecing
together of richer detail on the everyday labour routine of
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Aborigines, and a greater understanding of Aboriginal cultural
explanations for their work experience. In many ways, the
research process enabled Aborigines to teach their history them-
selves. Their perspectives played an important role in shaping the
questions asked of other evidence. Blurring occurred, however,
between the voices articulated; was the author acting as a vehicle
for the perspectives of Aboriginal interviewees, or was it her own
voice as historian the reader heard? Those engaged in oral history
collection often find it difficult to contradict their informants’
accounts due to the nature of the relationships formed, and
expectations of trust which arise. Tim Rowse argued that I had
not paid enough attention to the influence of nostalgia in the
accounts of older surviving station workers.2* Attwood was espe-
cially suspicious of the value of oral history.2> Rowse and later
Attwood argued that my involvement in land rights work led to
an effort to stress continuing traditional land associations. Also
controversial was my contention that cattle station Aborigines
were ‘never truly colonised’2¢, an assertion which demanded more
careful definition of terminology and theory.

Marie Fels’” study of the Port Phillip Native Police Good Men
and True (1988) applied cultural history models and close ethno-
graphically-informed textual readings. She tended to attribute a
great deal of autonomy to the Native Police, pointing out how
they mediated between cultures. The next significant study was
Bain Attwood’s The Making of the Aborigines (1989).27 Drawing
upon his research into Aboriginal missions in Victoria, he argued
that Aborigines were more ‘made’ than making, more
‘determined’ than determining. Attwood argued that nineteenth
century Aborigines were being ‘constructed’ as people by a
dominant culture. Jan Kociumbas also dissents from the ‘agency’
model, arguing that, ‘Like other oppressed people, they had no
power to determine the choices available to them.’?8 Her work
is heavily structured according to Marxist paradigms which tend
to encapsulate all oppressed groups as victims.?? Ann Curthoys
has also argued for balance in this regard.?® Like Reynolds,
McGrath and Fels, Attwood was influenced by insights from a
variety of disciplines, and drew upon intensive doctoral research,
though with more overt reference to his historiographical influ-
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ences. Distinguishing himself from other scholars on the grounds
of being an ‘outsider’, a New Zealander rather than Australian
born, and not being politically active, he claimed a greater
monopoly on ‘objectivity’.

Recently Reynolds also published some influential works on
the question of land tenure and frontier violence, especially The
Law of the Land (1989), and Frontier (1987), which questioned the
terra nullius doctrine.3! Drawing upon a wealth of recent scholar-
ship, Reynolds’ more recent With the White People (1990) is a study
of Aborigines in a wide range of employment relationships with
the colonisers. It allows for a more flexible frontier paradigm and
slightly more recognition of the importance of gender relations.

General histories have not yet managed to integrate the story
of Aborigines into their analysis. Those published in the 1970s and
1980s made only token mention of Aborigines, including the
widely-used New History of Australia edited by F.K. Crowley. A
People’s History of Australia since 1788, edited by J. Lee and V.
Burgmann, employed Left-wing and labour historian’s perspec-
tives, and included a number of articles on Aboriginal issues. The
largest team project, the Australians series, invited Aboriginal dis-
cussion and participation, hoping to provide a history for everyone
and about everyone. Authors of several volumes included Aborig-
inal content but Aboriginal people were reluctant contributors.32
Its 1938 f‘slice’ volume included the much-praised article on
Aboriginal activism ‘Day of Mourning’ by Langton and Horner
and a collection of Aboriginal oral histories.3® The Oxford History
of Australia devoted a special volume to pre-1788 history, which
has not yet appeared, and authors of other volumes attempted to
interweave ‘Aboriginal history’ into the texts but it is only a key
theme in the 1770-1860 volume by Jan Kociumbas.?* In the ‘view
from the window’ of the general histories, Aborigines are only just
starting to be seen, though the collaborative feminist history,
Creating a Nation, represents a departure.3>

ABORIGINES MAKING HISTORY

For many Aboriginal people, the only ‘Aboriginal history’ they
recognise is that compiled by their own people. There are as yet
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no general histories of Australia written by Aborigines, and very
few publications which claim to be all-encompassing regional
histories.3¢ Biographies and autobiographies are the most common
form of Aboriginal historical writing. They contain a hitherto
untold story, which readers are happy to absorb without the
mediation of further historical interpretation. But within this
medium, there are many possibilities. Biographies of ‘outstanding
Aborigines’ first appeared in the 1970s and 80s: the story of
well-known civil rights activists such as Kath Walker, Stradbroke
Dreamtime, Margaret Tucker, If Everyone Cared and Charles Per-
kins, A Bastard Like Me, artist Dick Roughsey, and of ‘ordinary
people’ such as Jimmie Barker (told by Janet Mathews), Marnie
Kennedy, Ella Simon, Elsie Roughsey, Phillip Pepper, Ida West,
Alice Nannup, G. Ward, and Ruby Langford.’’

Sally Morgan’s best-selling My Place (1988), while not a ‘work
of history’ in the academic sense, was a compelling autobiograph-
ical narrative, a journey of discovery and a detective story whose
main theme was family history. It included large slabs of oral history
told in the words of Morgan’s older and more traditional Aboriginal
relations. This work received many accolades and won virtually
every available literary prize. Since then, the market for Aboriginal
autobiography has expanded, and new books are regularly coming
out which narrate the story of Aboriginal women, men and
families. Some of these have been compiled with the assistance of
non-Aboriginal editors, in the style of Two Worlds of Jimmie
Barker.3® For academic historians, these works also present new
historical data—a wide range of examples from which common
threads and diversity of historical experiences emerge. The Aborig-
inal critic Mudrooroo criticised Morgan for borrowing European
narrative styles®, presumably because this perpetuated cultural
hegemony.

But Aboriginal publications have distinctive qualities; kinship
and loss of family are especially prominent. Tucker’s If Everyone
Cared fits this category, and more recently Ruby Langford’s Don’t
Take Your Love to Town. Edwards and Read’s The Lost Children
contains stories of thirteen New South Wales people and their
struggles to find their Aboriginal parents or kin. Take This Child
also contains stories of child-removal in the Northern Territory.
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More culturally-traditional northern Aborigines such as Ngabidj
and Paddy Roe have recorded life stories via white intermediaries,
and these also tend to emphasise stories of people’s relationships
to land and landscape. Cohen and Sommerville’s Ingelba and the
Five Black Matriarchs, the story of generations around the New
England district of New South Wales, i1s another example of the
land-based narrative, with a biographical format.*0

It 1s worth pondering why Aborigines choose the biographical
form for expressing their stories. Partly it may reflect a reluctance
to speak about what has not been personally witnessed or what
lies outside one’s own clan area. Biography might have been
chosen for its ability to touch a nerve, to get a message across.
Dominance of the biographical medium can also be explained by
the relatively few Aboriginal graduates. While limited educational
opportunities have meant that most Aboriginal people had little
choice, other Aborigines reject university training as a bastion of
colonialism, determined to achieve their ends without being
subject to such western hegemonic institutions.

Aboriginal students are more likely to choose law, anthropol-
ogy, or medicine. Some recent graduates, including those with
interdisciplinary backgrounds such as Marcia Langton, Gordon
Briscoe, Noel Pearson and Jackie Huggins have continued their
historical writing. But such talents often find they are called
upon to fulfil senior executive positions in policy making,
or decide to spend their energies working with their own com-
munities rather than becoming career-path academics.*!
Universities thus suffer a ‘brain-drain’ of Aborigines with histor-
ical expertise.

Aborigines make history mainly outside the academies. Unlike
the disciplines of anthropology or linguistics, history is considered
a non-exclusive discipline, because its language or theory is not
specialist, and because wider social perceptions of history stress
its accessibility to the general public. (For example, newspaper
articles constantly refer to ‘history in the making’, ‘historic
moments’; people enjoy historical television series and films.)
History can be shared by storytelling, songs and art, so does not
require high literacy or educational standards, and can be taught
to people of varying ages.
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This probably explains why, of all the conferences held by
Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies
(AIATSIS), ‘Aborigines Making History’ (1988) was one of the
best attended by Aboriginal participants. They came from diverse
backgrounds: educators at pre-school, primary, secondary and
tertiary levels, genealogists, family historians, bureaucrats, and
activists. Many were in some way involved in the practice of
history; a group of Collingwood women had set up an Aboriginal
History Group and had already published historical pamphlets.
Others practised history by researching, writing or teaching, and
saw such knowledge as intrinsic to their identity as Aborigines.
They viewed history as something which belonged to them all,
in which they could participate through sharing their personal
experiences or acquired knowledge, through researching family
history, by recording the reminiscences of older people. Some
participants had studied at university level, often in general
Aboriginal studies courses, or education, linguistics, literary crit-
icism or anthropology. Most participants had picked up their
historical skills through community involvement or actually prac-
tising history. Had they not been Aboriginal, they might be
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dubbed ‘amateur historians’ but given the special value and
purpose of history by Aborigines, this label is not only elitist but
quite inappropriate.

Many writers, including numerous older women, were most
interested in writing the specific histories of their families and
clans, emphasising genealogy rather than social history. While
these less ambitious histories do not generally discuss the wider
impact of power relations, they certainly raise consciousness,
strengthening a sense of distinctive identity, boosting self-esteem
and preserving cultural knowledge for their descendants. Many
family histories have been published, especially by the govern-
ment-backed Aboriginal Studies Press, alternative presses and
increasingly by commercial publishers.

The historical novel is another form chosen by black authors.
Monica Clare related the exploitation of a young Aboriginal girl
in Karobran. Colin Johnson’s Dr Wooreddy’s Prescription for Enduring
the End of the World, based his story of frontier brutality in
Tasmania, and Eric Willmot’s Pemulwuy dramatised the story of
an Aboriginal warrior who led battles against the British in their
early New South Wales settlements.#?> Philip McLaren’s Sweet
Water, Sweet Land told of brutal massacres and cultural exchanges.

Where historical circumstances have led to greater dislocation
from their land and traditional culture, Aborigines are more likely
to see ‘Aboriginal history’ as a means of retrieving that lost past,
of piecing together an often romanticised ‘lost culture’. The
personal and political are fused. History is used as a means of
explaining the personal pain suffered by their parents or near kin
and for their current underdog status. Like the white history
which excluded them, ‘Aboriginal history’ can serve pan-Aborig-
inal, nationalistic ends, for it enhances the anti-colonial struggles
for recognition as an indigenous nation and for land rights
generally. This might be termed ‘oppression history’ but Aborig-
inal stories such as that of the drover Amy Laurie and matriarch
Ida West’s Pride Against Prejudice often stress survival themes.+

‘Aboriginal history’ is thus used as a means of political con-
sciousness-raising, affirming a shared sense of oppression, and a
way of resolving identity problems caused by state interventions
which broke up families and communities. Aboriginal ancestry
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need no longer be denied; the deepest hurts of bureaucratic
cruelties can be aired. Children can learn why their parents
refused to talk about certain issues; to open the locked doors is
both saddening and empowering. As movingly rendered in books
such as Morgan’s My Place and C. Edwards and P. Read’s The
Lost Children**, to discover the truth of the past, the pain of the
past can heal. Improving self~knowledge and self-esteem can mean
greater individual and community well-being.

The preceding discussion of history by Aboriginal people has
been chiefly concerned with an end-product which is written
down or published. Aboriginal people are a very diverse group,
and approach their history from varying vantage points and in
differing cultural styles. As Aborigines were a pre-literate people
prior to the British arrival, they had no place for the ‘written
history’ or even the recorded events which westerners usually
assume to be ‘real history’. The thousands of Aboriginal people
in more remote regions still maintain a qualitatively different
relationship with their own history. With more continuous rela-
tionships with land, language and culture, they see ‘Aboriginal
history’ as a living tradition, of which written or published
versions are a recent development. Nonetheless, Aboriginal elders
are deeply concerned about their younger generation’s loss of
interest in traditional law, and consider the continuing life of ‘the
Dreaming’ and education about land and history as essential to
their survival as a people.

Another way of looking at ‘Aboriginal history’ is thus as
something quite ancient, a complex and diverse tradition which
has ensued for at least 50 000 years. This is the history which has
been transmitted through the generations, not just ‘orally’ through
spoken stories but through dance, music and song. Song cycles
linked country, stories and people throughout the land. The
Aboriginal philosophical and religious tradition or ‘Dreaming’
included creation stories relating animals, plants and humans
together within the same landscape. Aborigines in northern and
central Australia now swap Dreaming stories on cassette tapes or
at large gatherings to which they travel by car, 4-wheel drive
vehicles and bus. Dreaming stories are also told via traditional
paintings and engravings on stone, patterns on sand, ‘story sticks’,
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Northern Territory Land Commissioner Kearney with Pharlap
Dixon during Murranji Land Claim Hearing, 1983. Aboriginal
men and women have shared many traditional stories as part of
the land claims process in the Northern Territory. R. BLOWES

and modern forms of painting on bark, canvas and paper. Tradi-
tional children’s stories have also been translated into English and
illustrated by Aboriginal artists. Some communities have also
embraced film, video and multi-media CD-Rom. ‘Traditional’
forms of Aboriginal history are far from static, reflecting and
explaining ever-changing contemporary circumstances.

Northern Aborigines such as the Mudbura and Gurindji tell
stories of the coming of the first white men to their regions, sagas
of exploration, settlement and Aboriginal negotiation with the
newcomers. They explain how the arrival of white men dramati-
cally altered their prior relations with their land, sustenance and
women. Such contact sagas are referred to by Aborigines as ‘history
stories’, or merely ‘before’. Some can be verified as accurate
accounts, enhanced by unique Aboriginal understandings of events.
Others, such as the Captain Cook myths, have attained a more
mythologised form, where the white intruders become symbols of
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chaos and law-breaking. Other sagas formulate distinctive Aborig-
inal paradigms of colonialism—explanations for their current place
in the world.* Although quite distinctive, they have partly evolved
out of a dialogue with white Australian historiography, often
conveyed via the classroom. For example, school children are told
that ‘Captain Cook’ was the first white man to come to Australia.
It is therefore extrapolated that whenever a first white intruder
appears in the landscape, he will be called ‘Captain Cook’.4¢ Names
become symbolic, characters archetypal. ‘Dreaming stories’ about
sites in the landscape have also merged with some Christian
traditions, such as the story of Noah’s Ark.*’ Narrative style and
the principles behind them deserve much further analysis but to
do even a little justice to these forms of history requires much
further study. That historians in Australian universities have not
engaged in an analysis of traditional Aboriginal historical practice
is a serious omission.*® Such explorations could provide stimulating
challenges to the discipline.

POLITICS OF BLACK AND WHITE

Several Aboriginal spokespeople have contended there must be
no further appropriation of their history. Only Aborigines should
write ‘Aboriginal history’. All others should stay out. White
historians have based their careers, got Doctorates, made money
out of books by ripping off Aborigines of their life stories, of
their evidence, of their history. Only Aborigines should gain.
Only Aborigines know the ‘correct’ interpretation of their past.
Only Aborigines can understand Aboriginal minds, and Aboriginal
reactions.*’

White historians sometimes reacted defensively to such attacks,
partly because it threatened them with redundant specialisations.
Others have been troubled because they hoped to prevent the
damaging effects of black exclusion from Australian national
history; to them ‘Aboriginal history’ is part of the story of
humanity. They value the potential power of the white historians’
voices: the impact of Geoftrey Blainey’s Triumph of the Nomads®®
in heightening public awareness of Aboriginal cultural achieve-
ments, Rowley’s exposure of their dispossession and oppression
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and Reynolds’ calculation of the death rates on the frontier, the
creative responses of Aborigines and the dubious justice of ferra
nullius. Historians should perhaps be more self~conscious of the
culturally-specific nature of their liberal missionary zeal>!. On the
other hand, it is unfortunate that many talented historians, includ-
ing highly-motivated students, shy away from the field because
they fear offending Aborigines or being accused of not minding
their own business.

The great diversity in Aboriginal culture and historical experi-
ence and their relatively few historians could mean that
blacks-only ‘Aboriginal history’ might reflect the experience of a
regional or political minority. This could be exacerbated by the
dominant myth of ‘the authentic Aboriginal voice’, for like ‘the
feminist view’, one Aboriginal author is often taken by outsiders
to be representative of all, leaving no room for divergent political
positions. While a generalist account of Aboriginal history by an
Aboriginal author will undoubtedly be published before too long,
Aboriginal scholars like Michael Williams and Noel Pearson are
committed to following traditional protocol and avoid setting
themselves up to represent knowledges to which they cannot
claim.>?

There are still many areas of potential conflict between Abor-
igines and non-Aboriginal researchers. One of these is access to
records, for on the grounds of privacy, Aborigines are demanding
full control over who inspects archival records concerning their
people. This is an understandable position as it follows decades
of the State exerting control over their private lives. Many things
have also been insensitively published by anthropologists and other
academics, including photographs or names of the recently
deceased or sacred materials. Aborigines have every right to
mistrust white promises. Yet to ‘lock up’ this information from
non-family members threatens to keep the lid on an already
censored past. It threatens to deny access to vital knowledge
relevant to understanding colonial power relations.

Of more concern to ‘traditional’ communities is the propriety
of knowledge-sharing according to the principles of Aboriginal
law. The European concept of knowledge as universally access-
ible, fundamental in institutions such as universities and libraries,

380



WHAT IS ABORIGINAL HISTORY?

did not apply in pre-contact Aboriginal society. Information about
Dreaming stories, land and ceremony were available according to
gender, kinship classification, land ownership, and age. Important
cultural information was for those worthy, ready or appropriate
to receive it. In a special sense, knowledge was power but it must
not get into the wrong hands. Knowledge bore importantly on
custodianship of land, power over production and reproduction.
To share secret knowledge could empower the receivers but
endanger its articulators.

Like all peoples, Aborigines thus have many different histories.
Some are more militant in interpretation than others. Some are
extremely conciliatory, leading white radicals to say their political
consciousness has not yet developed. Some Aborigines want to
co-operate with non-Aboriginal researchers; some don’t. Some
people have very clear political agendas, others see education and
culture as something separate from politics. Some believe that
only elders can tell history stories; others believe anyone who
knows them can do so. Revisionism and critique is also emerging
in the ranks of Aboriginal writers, for example the work of Jackie
Huggins, Mudrooroo, Paul Behrendt and Michael McDaniel.

Aboriginal spokespeople want their children to be taught about
their own past in the school system. Some demand that it only
be written about and spoken by Aborigines. This poses a serious
dilemma for non-Aboriginal teachers who believe they must
incorporate the story of Aborigines. Collaborative teaching
approaches with increasing Aboriginal control are becoming more
common, especially at tertiary level. Koori-controlled courses at
Monash, New South Wales and Macquarie Universities have used
texts written by Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal authors, and called
in a variety of Aboriginal speakers. White historians are increas-
ingly inviting Aboriginal guest lecturers to contribute to any
relevant courses. White historians willing to teach or co-ordinate
courses on Koori history have often interpreted their role as that
of caretaker, awaiting a suitable Aboriginal applicant at a later
date. This has often worked well, though students have sometimes
had to suffer a constantly changing front-person. Aboriginal lec-
turers, although highly valued and sought after, have been offered
little job security and had to work in locations distant from their
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home community. They have then confronted difficulties in
fulfilling the multiple demands of students, of their local commu-
nities, and of the academic community. The Aboriginal Resource
Centre of the University of New South Wales, directed by Paul
Behrendt, presents an excellent model. Achieving some continu-
ity, it independently runs its own courses, makes input into
campus-wide subjects and runs a busy centre which makes knowl-
edge of Aboriginal matters highly accessible.

Positive discrimination towards Aborigines has enabled many
outstanding individuals to supply invaluable perspectives within
universities but it also raises difficulties for others. Should Aborig-
inal historians be admitted to postgraduate degrees or promoted
to lectureships within the history discipline without receiving any
basic formal training? Is it justifiable because it offers the oppor-
tunity to sink or swim, or does it put them at a disadvantage,
setting some people up to suffer from feelings of inadequacy or
inevitably fail? Is the role-model function of such appointments
more important than their historical skills? Or do Aboriginal
people offer a qualitatively different history and sophisticated and
unique skills which cannot be judged by the same standards?

While many Aboriginal scholars prefer the disciplinary auton-
omy of ‘Aboriginal Studies’ rather than having to conform to the
parameters of a single discipline, Aboriginal voices are increasingly
finding places to be heard within ‘mainstream’ historical accounts.
For example, Aboriginal author Jackie Huggins has participated
in A People’s History of Australia, Through White Eyes and Gender
Relations in Australia.>® More importantly, Aboriginal groups are
assuming greater control over the dissemination of knowledge
about them. Tranby College circulates a list of books approved
by black educators. Aboriginal education or other special officers
have been appointed to the Australian Museum, the Powerhouse
Museum, the National Museum of Victoria, and Aboriginal com-
munities have set up their own cultural museums or ‘keeping
places’ in Adelaide and various rural locations.

In attempting a new sensitivity, non-Aboriginal historians face
the danger of overcompensating, being so over-concerned about
offending Aborigines that they refuse to disagree with any person
of Aboriginal descent. As Marcia Langton has pointed out, to not
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engage in debate with Aboriginal scholars is both condescending®*
and cowardly. Yet some white scholars are justifiably fearful of
presenting ideas which might not conform with the political
campaigns of the most high-profile Aboriginal spokespersons;
indeed they fear informal ‘blacklisting’, receiving scathing reviews,
being branded racists or banned from the black-approved books
lists. With Aboriginal representatives now increasingly consulted
by University appointment panels, career opportunities can be
tangibly damaged. Sometimes such advice rightly penalises insen-
sitivity towards Aboriginal issues but it can also reflect
misunderstandings or misinterpretations which can stem from
different orientations to knowledge and different educational
levels. Applying a set of rules to such appointments is problematic.
Fear of going against current political adages may inhibit exchange
of ideas, and sometimes those who do not fear offending others
have some very useful ideas. No one has a monopoly on ‘truth’,
and often the only way to advance knowledge is to suggest
interpretations beyond the currently perceived ‘truths’ or wis-
doms. So while acknowledging the need for historians to be
politically sensitive, this should not mean censorship.

While history is inevitably political and historians of Aboriginal
history have been forced to face this from the outset, it is no
easy task to recognise one’s own place as part of an ongoing
colonial process. White historians are inevitably part of the group
oppressing Aborigines. To be challenged on this can be an
educational experience, enhancing awareness of one’s own soci-
ety, the process of history and history-making.

Many white historians have worked alongside Aboriginal
people on projects of vital current concern to their communities.
Indeed, historians in the ‘Aboriginal history’ field have a high
participation rate in public or applied history. Often they have
been employed by Aboriginal bodies or government organisations
with Aboriginal staff, been expected to work with cultural sen-
sitivity and to deliver the required product. This represents a shift
in power relations, for Aboriginal organisations are in the role of
employer and historian as service provider. At the same time, the
historians’ expertise is respected and they are awarded some
authority and independence.
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Heather Goodall acted as Historical Advisor during the Royal
Commission into British Nuclear Testing at Maralinga in Central
Australia and has worked for numerous Aboriginal organisations,
including Tranby Aboriginal Co-operative College, the Western
Aboriginal Legal Service in New South Wales and the
Pitjantjatjara Council in Western Australia. Henry Reynolds has
advised various Land Councils, including the Cape York Land
Council, and has taken an active role in land rights reform. Peggy
Brock worked on an Aboriginal Sites Register for the Aboriginal
Heritage Branch of the Department of Environment and Planning
in South Australia.?> The editor of Aboriginal History since 1990,
Peter Read, began researching ‘Aboriginal history’ as part of his
teaching job with Aboriginal children in the Northern Territory.
He collected oral histories there and later in Cowra, New South
Wales, and published a book on the Wiradjuri people. In
between, he worked for Link-up, an Aboriginal organisation set
up to trace parents or children separated mainly by state policies,
which until the 1960s, had advocated separating children from
their families to ‘train’ them as cheap domestic labour and in the
benefits of ‘white civilisation’. In 1990 Read was called upon to
give evidence in the Californian murder trial of the Australian
Aborigine, James Savage, who was taken from his young mother
at birth, adopted and later deserted by white missionary parents.
From 1979, the author advised and acted as expert witness for
the Northern Land Council for several Aboriginal land claims.
Lenore Coltheart, Ray Evans and Kay Saunders also advised
Aboriginal Land Councils. Rae Frances and Bruce Scates collab-
orated with the La Grange Aboriginal community to erect a
monument in Fremantle which would take issue with a nearby
explorers’ memorial; it would commemorate ‘All Aboriginal
people who died during the invasion of their country’.5¢
Historians of Aboriginal history became the first to play a major
advisory role for an Australian Royal Commission when from
1990-91 they contributed research papers and advised the Royal
Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody. Its National
History Project, co-ordinated by the author, engaged consultant
historians Peter Read, Richard Broome, Peggy Brock, Errol
West, Henry Reynolds, Heather Goodall and Dawn May. In
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1994, historian Tom Stannage (who earlier worked on the Seaman
Inquiry in Western Australia) and Bob Reece conducted research
relating to the Native Title Act, 1993.

Historians’ involvement in Aboriginal politics has led to their
being branded ‘bleeding hearts’, liberals or missionaries but
experience with ‘real life’ has led to a growing sensitivity and
awareness of cultural complexities: it has allowed historians to
hear what Aborigines actually want rather than what others
assume they want. Although some historians, such as Marie Fels
and Bain Attwood, have eschewed involvement in Aboriginal
politics, the practice of history has already involved them. Att-
wood, for example, tutored in an Aboriginal studies course at
Monash University run by Aboriginal linguist Eve Fesl, and
Aboriginal critics have responded sharply to his ideas.” Whether
white historians work alongside Aborigines or not, in taking part
in any historical dialogue on this topic, they are inevitably caught
in the web of ongoing power relations, cultural clashes and
conflicting nationalisms.

Such entanglement can mean positive attempts to shift the
balance of power between whites and blacks, as has also taken place
within the academies, in teaching. Despite its career problems,
Aboriginal history as practised within the traditional history dis-
cipline has a special vitality and originality. The reasons for this
are linked with the way it has borrowed insights from other
disciplines, especially ethnography, linguistics and archaeology. It
also leads the way in venturing towards ‘cultural history’, the
successor of social history. Such recognition implies that Aboriginal
history has not been marginalised as an obscure specialisation but
is recognised as leading the discipline in new directions. The quality
of recent works has been recognised by the award of numerous
prizes, including human rights, literary and historians’ awards.58

Historiographical questions become especially pertinent in an
atmosphere of political engagement. These include whether a
separate, an alternative field of study is warranted and whether it
is methodologically possible to write ‘Aboriginal history’ in seg-
regation. In my view it is impossible to analyse post-contact
history in an isolated manner, for it is essentially relational. Just
as feminist historians are recognising the need to understand
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masculinity and wider social power structures, historians interested
in ‘Aboriginal history’ must explore the interface between the
cultures, between coloniser and colonised. But the question of
position, and of perspective, allows for many different vantage
points. Some, like Evans and Saunders, have categorised it as part
of the history of ‘race relations’.5® Many would quibble with using
the term ‘race’ at all; others have referred to ‘culture contact’. In
the Australian context, the historical importance of Aboriginal—-
white relations requires that ‘Aboriginal history’ be integrated into
the story of mainstream Australian history. A shift of paradigm is
required, an incorporation of ‘Aboriginal history’ into an Austra-
lian history which is truly one of colonialism: one which analyses
the economic, social and cultural conflict between indigenous
peoples, the colonised, and the colonisers, as central to national
settlement, development and nationalism.

DISCOURSE AND DIALOGUE

‘Aboriginal history’ is constantly under challenge. One dilemma
is whether white authors cease to collect Aboriginal life stories.
Aborigines have argued that this violates their privacy. Others
point out that the story is inevitably ‘channelled’ via the white
interviewer, with cultural bias shaping the questioning and
responses. A second dilemma is whether white authors should
cease to analyse ‘Aboriginal history’, on the grounds that this is
a continuing appropriation of Aboriginal intellectual property.
Perhaps they should only write about what whites did to Abor-
igines, not how they responded.

White authors have put their names to books where they have
edited Aboriginal stories. Should they be authors or ghostwriters
or co-authors? What is and should be their status? Are they
facilitators or creators? Aboriginal oral histories have often been
mediated through white authors, and this has become a subject
of much literary criticism. In the late 1970s, early 1980s, Bruce
Shaw collected and edited the stories of Ngabidj, Banggaiyerri
and various other men of the Kimberley region in Western
Australia. Ngabidj’s story, My Country of the Pelican Dreaming is
an invaluable source, allowing insights into the traditional world
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of an elder in the context of a volatile and changing frontier
region. Ngabidj, who died before the book was published, told
his story in English, which Shaw transcribed and rephrased into
more ‘readable’ English for the imagined ‘general reader’. Main-
stream literary critics claimed the Aboriginal-colloquial style of
Shaw and Ngabidj’s narrative was too obscure for the general
reader, whilst Aboriginal critic Mudrooroo accused Shaw of too
much interference with the text, attacking such writing as ‘cap-
tured discourse, captured lives’. Mudrooroo argued that an
Aboriginal audience was left out of Shaw’s category ‘general
reader’, though this is somewhat dubious given the range of
English spoken amongst Aboriginal groups throughout the coun-
try. Reading the Country used a contrasting strategy, presenting the
words of Paddy Roe like poetry; the pauses are signified by new
lines not punctuation, and little obvious editorial intervention.
Mudrooroo argued, however, that the words are still trapped and
subordinate to the artworks of Krim Benterrak and the philo-
sophical discussions by Muecke, who studied in Paris and cites
the ideas of G. Deleuze and F. Guattari on nomadology and the
influence of French theorists such as Foucault, Barthes and
Derrida.®® Muecke’s presentation of Roe’s words (in Aboriginal
English, a type of creole) are an attempt to avoid intervening
with his words, yet his control over the form of the book, with
instructions on how to read it, introductions and conclusions,
inevitably privilege the voice of the white, highly educated male
author, who unlike Paddy Roe, spoke cultured English as his first
language.

The collection of oral history by white or black historians
necessitates an intensely personal confrontation with the past, or
more accurately, the individuals’ different pasts. The power rela-
tions between interviewer and interviewee are constantly under
examination. Aboriginal interviewers are now collecting valuable
oral histories, which effectively places more control in Aboriginal
hands but issues of power relations are still relevant.®? The
Aboriginal author, Bill Rosser, interviewed ex-drovers and pas-
toral workers in his Dreamtime Nightmares.®2 His angle of
questioning showed marked differences of perspective to his
Aboriginal interviewees, at least one of whom classed him as a
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‘white man’. His behaviour and skin colour had led to this
perception, underlining the varying definitions of ‘Aboriginality’.

Power relations are even more problematic when the inter-
viewer 1s non-Aboriginal and part of the colonising class. Heather
Goodall argued that the best way to prevent the exploitative
mining of Aboriginal evidence by historians, was for interviewer
and interviewee to collaborate in the historical analysis, with the
historian sharing, maybe training the interviewee in her special
skills. Though commendable, Goodall’s position might only be
applicable where there is shared ground regarding cultural out-
look, education and age. It does not resolve the problem of whose
voice will be used for the final presentation. Further, her argu-
ment could imply that the trained historian holds the more
‘sophisticated’ interpretation, one which tends to deny cultural
difference and assume the same interpretation should be reached.

Anthropologist Diane Bell whipped up great controversy when
she co-published with an Aboriginal collaborator Topsy Napurrula
Nelson in Women’s Studies International Forum. The topic itself
was highly sensitive, about rape within Aboriginal communities.
Aboriginal women, including Marcia Langton and Jackie Huggins,
were outraged by the article, and various detractors spoke on The
Coming Out Show on ABC National Radio, on 18 May 1990.
The debate hotted up further when the editor of WSIF refused
to publish a protest letter by twelve Aboriginal women. In her
critique of the affair, Jan Larbalestier argued that despite Bell’s
assertions of cross-cultural collaboration, Bell as the privileged
white academic was the one who located Nelson’s voice in the
text. Her voice was the authoritative white voice, the active
voice, which she also placed in opposition to other ‘hostile’
Aboriginal women who she accused of not speaking out. By
setting up the ‘traditional’ credentials of Nelson and positioning
her as the ‘authentic Aboriginal’ voice, she thus invited the anger
of black women. In emphasising women’s shared oppression, Bell
paid inadequate attention to difference, the need to consider the
power relations of such collaboration, the forum for and mode
of expressing its results and especially the need for Aboriginal
women to formulate a distinctive voice.®® Bell responded by
arguing that her Aboriginal critics, like her collaborator, had
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powerful voices, and feared that Larbalestier’s assertions would
only mean a reversion to silence.%*

To what extent will white authors really collaborate on an
equal footing with Aboriginal historians? Nervousness on the part
of some white authors about ‘Aboriginal’ topics could draw them
to acquire Aboriginal co-authors. The practice might become
merely a method of enhancing the white author’s political cre-
dentials. The power relations implicit in such interactions, and
the nature of the collaboration, must be more clearly articulated.
Different types of contributions may be made without assuming
either party is more important than the other but the readers are
entitled to know to whose voice they are listening. It is important
that collaborations do not cease but also that they be real, so that
the dangers of tokenism do not arise.

Other scholars have attempted to create a safe haven by
avoiding any discussion of Aboriginal experiences of history.
Instead, they focus purely on critical studies of European repre-
sentations of Aborigines, sometimes assuming that this topic
relieves them of any obligation to include or co-operate with
Aboriginal authors. Some indigenous people criticise such highly
theorised studies as attempts to ‘rise above’ their concerns and
render their writings ‘inferior’. Typifying such studies is Power,
Knowledge and Aborigines, edited by John Arnold and Bain Att-
wood.%> Although many of its authors earnestly discuss the
importance of indigenous voices and the politics of co-operation,
there is no editorial reference to Aboriginal authors being invited
to contribute to its analysis.®® Power, Knowledge and Aborigines only
admits Aboriginal representations in the cover art, thus perpetu-
ating the type of primitivist trope it set out to critique. That is,
Aboriginal people belong to the world of the visual, of colour
and sensation rather than that of the intellect, words and theory.
Despite good intentions, a retreat to studying ‘our representations
of them’ can exaggerate the boundaries between ‘us’ and ‘them’,
thus leading to a form of intellectual apartheid.

In debates about form, content must not be forgotten. There
are still many important themes which demand further explora-
tion. The evolution and meaning of Aboriginal identity is
attracting increasing attention from scholars such as Beckett and
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Attwood, and the results will be interesting. The gender dimen-
sion of colonialism has been largely ignored, and much more
needs to be done on the ways in which Aboriginal men and
women and relations between them were portrayed by white
authors at different historical junctures. Trans-cultural relation-
ships between the sexes also require further research: the
relationships between white females and black, the relationships
between white men and black, and the relationships between the
genders of different societies. Where sexual unions occurred, what
happened to the children and what sort of family cultures
emerged?®’ As stated in the introduction, comparative studies are
important, not only between different colonies and states but
between regions, between mission and cattle station people,
reserve residents and labourers living outside state controls (and
often outside archival records). Furthermore, with the approach-
ing centennial of Federation, we need to explore Aborigines’
exclusion and conditional inclusion into the nation. We cannot
understand the history of the Australian nation until we under-
stand this.

‘Aboriginal history’ can be heard or read in many different
ways—as a form of further colonialistic appropriation and exploi-
tation, or as a means of decolonisation, of constructing Aboriginal
nationalism, as a history for human rights, as a way of gaining
control over the past and present, as a way of holding onto the
land. Some might still see it as ‘objective’, politically disinter-
ested®® scholarship. Yet it can be a means of gaining a balance,
with cultural exchange and a sharing of power as intrinsic to the
making of history. In many ways, therefore, the process is as
important as the product. The history of Aborigines in Australia
is an interactive one, and it is also part of the story of the wider
cosmos. Colonialism could not be confined to either an ‘Aborig-
inal world’ or a ‘white world’, for cultural change means
cosmological vantage points were ever changing. A multiplicity
of perspectives is therefore required.

As we have seen, ‘Aboriginal history’ challenges the very
parameters of history as a discipline; it highlights its cultural
embeddedness, and it throws up many questions regarding the
nature and universality of knowledge: the importance of the
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interpreter and participant’s perspectives, its ownership, manufac-
ture and dissemination. The controversial nature of ‘Aboriginal
history’ for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal practitioners has
led to a special liveliness—a healthy introspection balanced by
outward application of their expertise to the public sphere, which
have necessitated interactions with contemporary Aboriginal com-
munities.

Like the term ‘Aborigine’, ‘Aboriginal history’ is a site of
conflict; it can be a site of exploitation, of privilege, hegemony,
a meeting point, a site of separation, of coming together, of
continuous tradition, of cultural resurgence. Like all historiogra-
phy, it may be dated, burdened by outmoded paradigms and
culturally bound. Equally it can be a site of cultural exchange
and learning, on the edge of evolving, of understanding, of
speaking, dancing or dramatising, something beyond itself. Colo-
nialism, as typified by conflict over land, bodies and minds,
created ‘Aboriginal history’ as pluralistically understood today.
Traditionally a history rooted in the soil, ‘Aboriginal history’, like
the very land of Australia, has become, and will continue to be,
contested ground. The contest shapes the differing perceptions of
what history is, of what the historical questions are. But this
contest can involve collaborations which attempt to challenge
wider power relations. The common ground of ‘Aboriginal
history’ must remain a speaking place, one of co-existence and
dialogue between all kinds of Australians. Hopefully the great
Australian silence will not again shade the island continent, or its
island state. On the land’s edges, I hope there will still be places
where history books fly like fish into the water below. Beyond
will be further sites where histories, glittering and horrifying, will
be salvaged. Released from their drowned muteness, they will ask
questions of the dead and the living.
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